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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

House or CoMMONS,
Tuesday, March 18, 1952.

Resolved,—That the following Members do compose the Standing Com-
mittee on Agriculture and Colonization:—

Messrs:

Anderson Darroch MacLean (Queens)
Argue Demers Major
Arsenault Diefenbaker Masse
Aylesworth Dinsdale McCubbin
Bater Dumas McLean (Huron-Perth)
Bennett Fair McWilliam
Black (Chateauguay- Fontaine Murray (Oxford)

Huntingdon-Laprairie) Gauthier (Lapointe) Murray (Cariboo)
Blue George Proudfoot
Breton Gour (Russell) Quelch
Browne (St. John’s West) Harkness Richard (St. Maurice-
Bruneau Hetland Lafleche)
Bryce Jutras Roberge
Cardift Jones i Ross (Souris)
Catherwood Kent Stewart (Yorkton)
Charlton Kickham Welbourn
Clark Kirk (Antigonish- White (Middlesex East)
Corry ' Guysborough) Whitman
Cote (Matapedia-Matane)Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth) Wood
Courtemanche Laing Wright
Cruickshank MacKenzie Wylie

Ordered,—That the Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization
be empowered to examine and inquire into all such matters and things as may
be referred to them by the House; and to report from time to time their obser-

vations and opinions thereon, with power to send for persons, papers and
records.

MoxnpAay, April 28, 1952.

Ordered,—That the Report of the Canadian Wheat Board for the ecrop
year 1950-1951, tabled on March 18, 1952, together with the Report of the Board

of Grain Commissioners for 1951, tabled this day, be referred to the said
Committee.

TUESDAY, April 29, 1952.

Ordered,—That the subject of the prevalence of foot and mouth disease in
the Province of Saskatchewan and its attendant ramifications be referred
immediately to the said Committee.

TUESDAY, April 29, 1952.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Stewart (Yorkton) be substituted for that
of Mr. Studer on the said Committee.
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2 STANDING COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, April 30, 1952,
Ordered,—That the said Committee be granted leave to sit while the House
is sitting.

Ordered,—That the said Committee be empowered to print from day to
day, such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the Committee, and that
Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto. >

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Decore be substituted for that of Mr. Clark
on the said Committee.

Attest.
LEON J. RAYMOND,
Clerk of the House.

REPORT TO THE HOUSE

WEDNESDAY, April 30, 1952.

- The Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization begs leave to
present the following as its

FIRST REPORT
Your Committee recommends:
1. That it be granted leave to sit while the House is sitting.

2. That it be empowered to print, from day to day, such papers and
evidence as may be ordered by the Committee, and that Standing Order 64 be
suspended in relation thereto.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

ARTHUR J. BATER,
Chairman.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, April 30, 1952.

The Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met at 11 o’clock
a.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J. Bater, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Bennett, Black
(Chateauguay-Huntingdon-Laprairie), Blue, Browne (St. John’s West), Bryce,
Catherwood, Charlton, Clark, Corry, Cote . (Matapedia-Matane), Darroch,
Diefenbaker, Dinsdale, Dumas, Fair, Gauthier (Lapointe), George, Gour
(Russell), Harkness, Hetland, Jutras, Jones, Kickham, Kirk (Antigonish-
Guysborough), Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth), MacKenzie, MacLean (Queens),
Major, Masse, McLean (Huron-Perth), McWilliam, Murray (Oxford), Murray
(Cariboo), Quelch, Richard (St. Maurice-Lafleche), Ross (Souris), Stewart
(Yorkton), Welbourn, White (Middlesex East), Whitman, Wood, Wright, Wylie.

In attendance: The Right Honourable J. G. Gardiner, Minister, and Mr. J. G.
Taggart, Deputy Mirfister of Agriculture.

The Clerk read the Committee’s Orders of Reference.

On motion of Mr. Clark,—

Resolved,—That the Committee recommend that it be granted leave to sit
while the House is sitting.

On motion of Mr. Whitman,—

Resolved,—That the Committee recommend that it be empowered to print,
from day to day, such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the Committee.

On motion of Mr. Wood,—

Resolved,—That a sub-committee on agenda and procedure, comprising the
Chairman and nine members to be named by him, be appointed.

The Committee proceeded to consideration of the prevalence of foot and
mouth disease in the province of Saskatchewan
On motion of Mr. Murray (Cariboo) ,—

Resolved,—That the first witness heard be Mr. J. G. Taggart, C.B. E Deputy
Minister of Agriculture, to be followed by Dr. Thomas Childs, Vetermary
Director General, and Dr. C. A. Mitchell, Chief of the Division of Animal
Pathology, Department of Agriculture.

Mr. Taggart was called, heard regarding the organization of the Depart-
ment and questioned.

The Chairman named the following members to the sub-committee on
agenda and procedure: Messrs. Argue, Charlton, Hetland, Laing, McCubbin,
McLean (Huron-Perth), Quelch, Ross (Souris), Stewart (Yorkton).

At 1 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

AFTERNOON SITTING

The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J.
Bater, presiding:

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Bennett, Black
(Chateauguay-Huntingdon-Laprairie), Blue, Breton, Browne (St. John’s
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4 STANDING COMMITTEE

West), Bryce, Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Darroch, Decore, Diefenbaker,
Dinsdale, Dumas, Fair, George, Gour (Russell), Harkness, Hetland, Jutras,
Jones, Kent, Kirk (Antigonish-Guysborough), Xirk (Digby-Yarmouth),
MacLean (Queens), Major, McLean (Huron-Perth), McWilliam, Murray
(Oxford), Quelch, Richard (St. Maurice-Lafleche), Ross (Souris), Stewart
(Yorkton), Welbourn, Whitman, Wright.

In attendance: The Right Honourable J. G. Gardiner, Minister, Mr. J. G.
Taggart, C.B.E., Deputy Minister, and Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director
General, Department of Agriculture.

On motion of Mr. Bennett,—

Ordered,—That the Committee print, from day to day, 1,000 copies in
English and 200 copies in French of its minutes of proceedings and evidence
relating to the prevalence of foot and mouth disease in Saskatchewan.

The Chairman tabled a copy of Sessional Paper No. 169 F, which was
ordered to be printed as Appendix A to this day’s minutes of proceedings and
evidence.

Examination of Mr. Taggart was continued.

Mr. Taggart filed Report of Inspector, Declaration by Inspector and Licence
for Remowal of Animals from Infected Place, all dated at Regina, Sask., Decem-
ber 28, 1951, which were ordered to be printed as Appendix B to this day’s
minutes of proceedings and evidence.

- Mr. Gardiner was called and questioned.
Mr. Taggart retired.
Dr. Childs was called and heard.

At 6 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Thursday, May 1, at 11
o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS,
.Clerk of the Committee.



EVIDENCE

APRIL 30, 1952.
11.00 a.m.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please, gentlemen. I will ask the secretary to read
the order of reference in connection with these meetings and other subsequent
meetings.

CLERK oF CoMmMITTEE: Tuesday, March 18, 1952, Resolved that the following
mémbers do compose the Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization,
and the members are listed.

On the same day, ordered that the Standing Committee on Agriculture and
Colonization be empowered to examine and inquire into all such matters and
things as may be referred to them by the House; and to report from time to
time their observations and opinions thereon, with power to send for persons,
papers and records.

On Monday, April 28, ordered that the Report of the Canadian Wheat
Board for the crop year 1950-1951, tabled on March 18, 1952, together with the
Report of the Board of Grain Commissioners for 1951, tabled this day, be
referred to the said committee.

On Tuesday, April 29, ordered that the subject of the prevalence of foot
and mouth disease in the province of Saskatchewan and its attendant ramifica-
tions be referred immediately to the said committee.

On the same date, ordered that the name of Mr. Stewart (Yorkton) be
substituted for that of Mr. Studer on the said committee.

(Sgd) LEON J. RAYMOND,
Clerk of the House.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the next order of business will be a motion recom-
mending that the committee be granted leave to sit while the House is sitting.

Mr. Crark: I move that the committee be empowered to sit while the
House is in session.

The CHAIRMAN: You have all heard the motion. What is your wish?
Carried.

A motion will now be in order recommending that the committee be

empowered from day to day to print such papers and evidence as may be
ordered by the committee.

Mr. WHITMAN: I have the pleasure to move that the committee recommend

printing from day to day such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the
committee.

The CHAIRMAN: You have all heard the motion. All in favour?
Mr. WrIGHT: What number of copies will be printed?

The CHAIRMAN: I think the number of copies to be printed will be decided
at a later meeting, after this report goes into the House.

What is your wish on this motion?
Carried.

Now we should have a motion to appoint a steering committee comprising
the chairman and nine members named by him. 3
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6 STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. Woob: In order to have the work of the committee run more smoothly
I think we should have a steering committee consisting of about ten members,
including the chairman, and I move that the chairman be authorized to select
a committee consisting of ten members of this committee.

The CHAIRMAN: You have all heard the motion. All in favour?

Carried.

Now we will come to the procedure. For the information of the committee
I would now state that we have with us this morning Mr. J. G. Taggart,
Deputy Minister of Agriculture, who would be prepared to give a brief state-
ment on the organization of the Department of Agriculture for the purpose of
making clear to the committee the place and function of each of the divisions
concerned with the control of animal diseases.

Following Mr. Taggart, it is suggested that the committee hear Dr. Thomas
Childs, Veterinary Director General, who is the professional and administrative
head of the Health of Animals division.

Following Dr. Childs, it is suggested that the committee hear Dr. C. A.
Mitchell, who is chief of the division of Animal Pathology.

Would some one move that that would be the procedure to start the
inquiry?

" _ Mr. MurraY (Cariboo): I so move.

The CHAIRMAN: Moved by Mr. George Murray. You have all heard the
motion of Mr. Murray that the procedure as suggested to start the inquiry
be adopted. All in favour? Opposed?

Agreed.

Now we have to decide on the next meeting, the business and witnesses
to be called. I presume we will take that up at the conclusion of this meeting.

Mr. FAIR: Mr. Chairman, when dealing with that matter, I suggest you
get a larger room than this one, because there is here a danger of contamination
of foot and mouth disease and we have to look out for that.

The CHAIRMAN: As I said, we have Mr. J. G. Taggart, Deputy Minister
of Agriculture, with us this morning.

Mr. BRowNE: That is a practical suggestion that was made about getting
a larger room. Those of us who are standing would like to sit down. Is there
any chance of getting more chairs or getting a larger room?

The CHAIRMAN: I am sorry, but the large railway committee room is being
occupied this morning. It is regretful, but we are rather short of rooms.

Mr. BROWNE: I suppose, then, we can get some more chairs?

Mr. J. G. Taggart, Deputy Minister of Agriculture, called:

The WiTNESS: Mr. Chairman, it has been suggested that a brief statement
on the organization of the Department of Agriculture, with particular reference
to the place of those divisions concerned with the control of disease, would be
helpful to the committee. Accordingly, I shall try to give you that brief
statement. First, the department consists of operating units which might be
described as commodity divisions. These divisions in turn are grouped under
administrative heads on something approaching a functional basis. The main
groups are, and I am thinking of the regular departmental organization, Pro-
duction, Marketing, Experimental farms and.Science Service. In addition,
there are the other administrative groups having to do with rehabilitation,
marshland and prairie, and the price of Support function of the Prices Support
Board and the Prairie Farm Assistance Act, but I am not mentioning them
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further because they have no part to play in this particular examination. The
production division or Production Service, rather, is the one within which the
Health of Animals division functions. The other major divisions in that
production service are Livéstock and Poultry and Plant Products. These
divisions, all of them, deal with production matters or matters that affect
production. In the main, they have to do with the promotion, control and pro-
tection of animals and crops, and not with the marketing, and not with scien-
tific research. They are, therefore, mainly enforcement and administrative
divisions. The Health of Animals division of the production service, then, is
a division of the department which administers the Animal Contagious Diseases
Act, the Meat and Canned Foods Act, and all of the regulations made under those
Acts. They are essentially a protective and enforcement organization. Now,
the other main division to which you may wish to direct your attention is the
Animal Pathology division, whose main job is research into animal diseases
and all the things related thereto. In addition, that division does routine
testing and checking and supplies laboratory services generally to the Health
of Animals division and some other divisions that require that type of service.
I repeat, the main function of the Animal Pathology division is research into
animal diseases. I should have told you, Mr. Chairman, that the Health of
Animals division is headed by Dr. Thomas Childs, who is described as Veteri-
nary Director General, while the Animal Pathology division functioning within
Science Service is headed by Dr. Charles A. Mitchell, who is chief of that
division with laboratories not only in Hull, where the headquarters are, but
at various other points across the country. Therefore, you will see from this
brief statement respecting these two divisions that the one, the Health of
Animals division functioning in the production service has to do with protective,
regulatory and control measures, while the Animal Pathology division func-
tioning in the science service has the main job of conducting research, and
the secondary job of providing laboratory and technical services to other
divisions.

Perhaps only one other point need be made in order to make this whole
position clear, and that is that the heads of the two divisions to which I have
referred, namely, Dr. Childs and Dr. Mitchell, report respectively to Mr. Young,
who is director of the Production service, and to Dr. Neatby, who is director
of the Science Service, and those officers in- turn report to the deputy. The
grouping of divisions to which I have referred was made in 1937-38, and the
purpose of that grouping at that time was to bring together research and scien-
tific organizations in one broad group, and administrative and enforcement divi-
sions in another broad group.

Mr. Chairman, I have made no reference to the marketing service, and
I think perhaps I need not take the time of the committee to do that. If
there is any question respecting what I have said, of course, I shall be ready
to answer it. Now, it is my duty of course, Mr. Chairman, to produce at your
request any of the officers of the department whom you may wish to examine,
and to produce any documents or information which we have that the com-
mittee requires—subject of course to whatever rules govern these documents.

May I offer one observation with all respect. If and when you come to
examine the veterinarians, of whom there are a considerable number «in
the line of responsibility, would you give us as much notice as you can of
when these men will be required. If it can be done we would appreciate it
a good deal if each man could be examined fully and discharged quickly
so that he may return to his duties. I make that request and I feel sure the
committee will go as far as the committee can possibly go in meeting it.

Now I have nothing further unless some questions are to be asked.
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The CHAIRMAN: Does any member of the committee desire to ask any
questions?

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. I would like to ask Mr. Taggart one or two questions. He has told
us that Dr. Childs and Dr. Mitchell report to Dr. Young and to Dr. Neatby
and that they in turn report to him as deputy minister. What was the date of
the first report received by you, through those gentlemen, Mr. Taggart, in
regard to the outbreak of some disease among animals in the Regina area?
—A. I do not think I can give you the exact date, Mr. Chairman, because the
first information came to me verbally from Dr. Young and it would be during the
first week of February.

Q. And up until that first week of February then, Mr. Taggart, you had
received no report regarding the outbreak of disease among animals in the
Regina area?—A. No report that made sufficient impression on me in any
event to stay in my mind. So, if there was an earlier report I have no
recollection of it.

Q. I am not suggesting there was. And, during the period from the
27th of November until this date early in February, did either Dr. Young
or Dr. Neatby give you to understand that there was anything serious among
cattle in that area?—A. No, I had no report at all that I recall prior to the
first of February.

Q. And about what date or approximately when was that in February,
that you received the first report?—A. The first report of a disease which later
turned out to be foot and mouth disease, reported as stomatitis, would be
within or before the first week of February. If I had to fix a date it would
be about the 2nd of February or the 3rd.

Q. Did you then have occasion to interview Dr. Childs or to talk the
matter over with him or Dr. Mitchell?—A. Shortly after that with both of them,
yes.

Q. With both? When was it on the first occasion, as far as you can remem-
ber, and I know how difficult it is, that you discussed this question with Dr.
Childs?—A. It would be within a week of when I first had the report from
Dr. Young.

Q. In looking over the documents that were brought down yesterday
there was a reference on January 4th to a communication from Dr. Childs to
Dr. Christie regarding a report made by Dr. James. Was that report of
Dr. James brought to your attention at all until after your first conversation
with Dr. Young or Dr. Neatby as the case may be early in February?—A. No,
I never see those routine reports unless I ask for them specially.

Q. Those reports were not brought to your attention?—A. That is correct.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions?

By Mr. Browne:

Q. I would like to ask the deputy minister from whom that verbal report
originafed regarding the disease? Did it come from the laboratory or from the
field?—A. It came to me from Dr. Young, the director of the productio
division. ‘

Q. Where did it originate? Who was he reporting for? It came through him
to you?—A. Yes, and he in turn, according to the routine, must have received
it from Dr. Childs.

Mr. WRIGHT: As a result of any reports you received was there any action
vou took with regard to this yourself, as deputy minister?

The WriTness: No, I took no special action at the time Dr. Young first
reported to me that this vesicular stomatitis was in Regina; but at that time
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Dr. Young informed me of what action was under way and it seemed to me to be
sufficient—so I gave no further directions.

Mr. STEWART: When you say you took no action there was action taken
by other officials of the department?

The WiTNEsS: Correct. The action was reported to me and there was
nothing further I could do at the moment.

By Mr. Wright:
Q. What particular action was taken as a result of this report?—A. The
quarantining of premises and the examination of surrounding herds—and all
the checks that were in progress at that time.

Q. What date was that first order?—A. I am afraid I cannot give you from
memory the date of the first quarantine. It is on the record and I think it
will be produced by Dr. Childs.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Did you, Mr. Taggart, discuss with any of your officials in February
as to what should be done with samples from infected animals—whether those
samples should be subjected to tests within the area where the disease was
prevalent or whether they should be sent to the Hull laboratory?—A. I do not
think I discussed that point in detail with the officials. It was reported to me
that tests and checks were being made.

Q. You were never aware of any discussion or any arguments or any
differences of opinion as to whether certain tests should be made in Saskat-
chewan or whether certain other tests should be made at the Hull laboratory?—
A. The only discussion I recall was that tests were being made in the field—
had been made in fact—before the matter came to my knowledge at all. I do
not recall any further discussion at that time.

% Q. Were you made aware of the type of tests that were being made in
Saskatchewan?—A. In a general way, yes.

Q. But no one ever suggested to you while that particular type of test
was being made that some other tests should be made and samples sent to the
Hull laboratory?—A. I do not recall that those points were raised specifically
with me.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Well, Mr. Taggart, tests were made in the field and, according to the
records produced yesterday, on February 14th there was a telegram from
Dr. Carlson, assistant district veterinarian, advising that vesicular specimens
were being forwarded by air express. Then, on February 15th there was a
wire from Dr. Childs to Dr. Christie countermanding the gathering of specimens
and the delivery of such specimens to Hull for analysis or examination. Was
a matter as important as the countermanding of instructions that had already
been given by Dr. Carlson to Dr. Christie—was that matter brought to your
attention in order to get your authority or to discuss it with you?—A. No, I
had no knowledge.

@. That would be a very important stand to take—countermanding a
course of action that had been decided upon, would it not?—A. It was an
order dealing with a technical point and in the normal routine that would
not come to me.

Q. Well, is it not a fact the symptoms of stomatitis and the symptoms of
foot and mouth disease are very much alike?—A. I am so informed but I have
no knowledge on that myself. I have never seen either one.
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@. But the danger of an outbreak of foot and mouth disease is one that the
Department of Agriculture guards against with every care—every Department
of Agriculture does that does it not?—A. That is quite true.

Q. And when a question as important as that had to be determined, such
a matter would not be brought to your attention at all being of a technical
nature?—A. That is correct. It might be but it is not necessary that technical
decisions be submitted to the deputy for approval or otherwise.

Mr. ARGUE: Mr. Taggart, Dr. Childs sent out a telegram to Dr. Christie
as referred to, countermanding the sending of specimens to the Hull laboratory,
and on February 25th Dr. Mitchell reported foot and mouth disease as a
result of the tests that had been made. Would you tell me what happened
to Dr. Childs’ order that specimens should not be tested—when they were
in fact tested?

The WITNESS: Mr. Chairman, these are matters which are not strictly
within my knowledge and I would prefer the committee to get answers
from men who know them.

Mr. STEWART: Dr. Childs will be the next witness.

Mr. MurrAaY: Might I ask whether there was any communication from
the province of Saskatchewan’s Department of Agriculture or from the
University of Saskatchewan regarding this outbreak?

Mr. STEWART: Prior to February 15th?

The WITNESS: I do not remember any communications from the province
to my office prior to that date. There were subsequent to that but I do not
remember any prior to that. :

Mr. ARGUE: But there were reports made by at least one provincial
government to the Federal Department of Agriculture in Regina that there
was a contagious disease in the Regina area?

- The WITNESS: I cannot answer that question, Mr. Chairman. I have
no personal knowledge of that and as I was just saying I have no recollection
of any report or document coming to my office.

By Mr. Murray:
Q. They have veterinarians in that department at Regina?—A. Our Health
and Animals branch? -
Q. No, at Regina, for the province of ,Saskatchewan?—A. They have
provincial veterinarians and there are veterinarian professors in the university.
Q. This was occurring right in the shadow of the parliament buildings
in Regina?—A. A short distance away.

Mr. ARGUE: So a return to the federal branch, as I understand the inform-
- ation given out, was made by the provincial veterinary, and he was following
the Animal Contagious Diseases Act. Animal contagious diseases are the
responsibility of the federal department, as I understand it. The obligation
of the provincial department is to make a report to the federal department;
and that report was made; so they fulfilled their obligation.

Mr. MurraY: (Cariboo): I would like to ask the deputy minister if
this report had been made to him from the provincial authorities?

The WIiTNESS: Well, as I have said, T have no recollection of any reports
having come to my office during the early stages of this trouble. I did have
correspondence subsequently from the provincial deputy minister.

Mr. BROWNE: When that wire was received on February 2nd or 3rd,
was it suggested to you that it might be foot and mouth disease?
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The WiTNESS: It was suggested at that time that the symptoms of this
disease were similar to those of foot and mouth disease; and accordingly
further investigation was made immediately to determine what the disease
was.

Mr. ARGUE: Can the deputy minister tell us whether he on the men in
his department—

Mr. JuTrRAS: Mr. Chairman, might I suggest that when the members
ask questions they rise, because it is absolutely impossible for us to hear the
question being asked.

Mr. ARGUE: My question is this: did the deputy minister or his department
receive at any time a request from anyone, either in the department or outside
the department, either a veterinary or a layman, that the proper tests should
be made, such as would be done if the disease happened to be foot and mouth
disease?

The WiTnEss: I do not believe that I am able to answer that question in
full, Mr. Chairman. I cannot recall off-hand communications that are in the
departmental files, especially in the Health of Animals division files on that
matter. What I am trying to tell the committee is what I have knowledge of,
personally; and I presume that is what you want me to do.

By Mr. Ross:

Q. Have you a veterinary located in Regina, representing the federal Health
of Animals branch?—A. Yes. Dr. Christie is there; he is the district veterinary
in Regina.

Q. Has he any other veterinary assistants in the field there?—A. Oh yes;
there are a number of other veterinaries who are normally in that province and
who work under Dr. Christie’s direction. But, of course, the force has now been
greatly augmented by other men having moved in.

Q. Would you know the name of the chief provincial veterinary who is
located there?—A. I am sorry, but at the moment I do not recall his name. Oh,
Dr. Johnson, I believe, is the provincial veterinary.

Q. You would not recollect, or you would not have a record of when the
officials were notified or called in connection with this outbreak?—A. I have not
that information at hand; but I think it is in.our records and can be produced
by the officials who have the documents, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. BrRownNE: When did you first report this verbal information that you
had received from Dr. Young, to the minister? Did you do it in writing?

The WiTNESS: I reported to the minister. He was in the west at the time;
that was about the 18th of February.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: You say he was in the west?

The Wirness: He had been in Saskatchewan and he had gone to the west

coast. My communication to him was addressed to Victoria. Vancouver, and to
Seattle.

Mr. CotE: May I ask a question?
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. CoTe: There was an article which appeared in Maclean’s magazine. Was
it right or wrong, in the opinion of the witness.

The WiTnNESS: I am afraid that I cannot answer that.

By' Mr. Browne:

Q. Was it by message or by letter that you communicated with the min-
ister?—A. By letter.



12 STANDING COMMITTEE

Q. In view of the severe manner in which the Department of Agriculture
has always looked upon foot and mouth disease, and in view of the danger of it,
do you not think that you should have communicated with him before?—A.
Possibly; I might have been guilty of having delayed in advising the minister
of what the situation was.

Mr. STEWART: Is it not a fact that there never had been, in the history of
Canada, an outbreak of foot and mouth disease before this?

The WiTnEss: I think that is true. But I have been told there was an out-
break in one case in 1870, I think it was; but again I have no personal know-
ledge of that, either.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Is it the custom of your Health of Animals branch in Regina, when a
contagious disease is reported there, to notify your office in Hull to determine
whether the disease is what it is reported to be, or not; or do you make use of
the laboratories of the University of Saskatchewan for that purpose?—A. That
is a technical question which I think might be better answered by Dr. Childs
or by Dr. Mitchell. But in general I would say that if a laboratory diagnosis is
required, very frequently I am told that action would be taken at Hull, but not
necessarily so. I think the division does use other laboratory facilities at times.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions?

By Mr. Wright:
Q. In this case, were any samples submitted to the University of Saskat-
chewan at any tlme"—A I am not aware of any; but I cannot answer that
question for sure.

The CrAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Charlton.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. As I understand it, you were first appraised of this situation early in
February, either on the 1st or the 2nd day of February?—A. About those dates,
yes; I cannot recall the date exactly; it was given to me verbally by Mr. Young.

Q. You were told by Mr. Young at that time of this difficulty verbally, as
I understand it?—A. That is right.

Q. Dr. Childs did not get in touch with you personally, at all?—A. Not
prior to those dates, that I can remember.

Q. And did you consult any other official of any other branch at that time
in view of the seriousness of the situation, Dr. Mitchell, for instance, or any
other veterinary who might be in a position to give you advice?—A. Mr. Young
informed me at the time that he was in communication with Dr. Mitchell; but
I do not recall having communicated with Dr. Mitchell at that time.

Mr. Cote: There must be something wrong, Mr. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment, Mr. Cote; please let Mr. Charlton finish his
questioning.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. I realize the position you are in, not being a veterinary yourself, and
leaving that entirely with the officials of the branch; but after all, Mr. Taggart,
you are the deputy minister and it is partially your responsibility, as I under-
stand it; yet there was nothing done from the 2nd of February until the 13th,
I believe. One of the other officials in the department arranged for these
samples to be brought down; but there was nothing done in the meantime
from the 2nd to the 13th.—A. I do not understand what you mean by ‘“nothing”.
The division of the Health of Animals was active in studying and examining
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and attempting to determine what they were dealing with; but I was not
active in that field because that is not my field and I am not qualified to do
that.

Q. I realize that; but was there anything to your knowledge done from
the time you were first informed on the 1st or 2nd day of February, or did any
other official of the department do anything particularly to make sure that this
disease was not foot and mouth disease until February 13 when action was
taken?—A. Well !

Q. That represents a period of almost two weeks.—A. Veterinaries on the
job were actively examining cases and attempting to make tests to determine
what they were dealing with.

Q. But as far as we have the evidence in the House, there were no tests
made in that time, no actual animal inoculations made, other than clinical
examinations; there were no animal inoculations made from the 1st of February

to the 13th?—A. That information can be disclosed by the examination of
Dr. Childs.

By Mr. Murray (Cariboo):

Q. When did the United States government clamp on the embargo?—
A. On the 25th of February.

Q. Did you have any communication with them prior to that date?—
A. Yes. The United States government, I think, were informed on the 23rd.

Q. The 23rd of what?—A. The 23rd of February.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. The deputy minister has not any documents before him; but I noticed
that on February 18 there was a wire to Dr. Childs in Saskatchewan informing
him that Dr. Shahan would arrive in Regina on Wednesday.—A. I may be
wrong in my dates.

Q. I mention that, because it is an earlier date.—A. I am sorry if I made
an error; I have it in my records somewhere, but I have not got it with me.
But subject to correction, Mr. Chairman, I think the communication went from
our External Affairs Department to Washington on the 18th of February.

- Q. That is why I did not want Mr. Taggart, when he did not have his
records before him here, to be in error. Now I have two small matters. One
is in regard to this disease known as stomatitis. Have there been frequent
outbreaks in recent years in Canada, or have there been any outbreaks to your
knowledge, since you have been deputy minister?—A. None to my knowledge
in that period of time. But I have been informed that there was an outbreak
in Saskatchewan—again subject to correction—I think, in 1938 or 1939.

Q. In 1938 or 1939?—A. Dr. Childs can give that information, I think.

Q. Then, passing on from that point, once the disease was of such a
nature and had such symptoms, it. would be difficult to ascertain whether it
was stomatitis or foot and mouth disease without examination. Would you
not have expected your departmental official to have made an instant examina-
tion with a view to ascertaining whether it was a serious disease, and a
dangerous disease, or merely an innocuous one?—A. I expected that was being
done.

Q. Yes, but it was only after the event that you found that there had been
considerable ‘delay? Let me put it this way: in the records which were brought
down yesterday only in answer to a request for the production of all com-
munications that passed between the veterinary officials, either provincial or
federal, and the federal Department of Agriculture from the 17th of November,
the only records produced—and they would be complete records—was one of
December 28th from Dr. Christie to Dr. Childs, about the cattle in the Burns
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packing plant; and on December 29, from Dr. Christie to Dr. Childs in which
the question was asked what the source of infection was; and on January 4,
1952, from Dr. Childs to Dr. Christie that he is sending Dr. James’ report;
and then from January 4 until February 12 there is not one record of any
communication having taken place either by the provincial or the dominion
veterinaries with the department in Ottawa. Does not that delay from
January 4 to February 12, without one communication, indicate that someone
was not as careful as he should have been?—A. As I pointed out, Mr.
Chairman, I received information about this disease possibly in the first days
of February, and my information at that time was that active steps were
being taken to diagnose the disease. There was apprehension at that time,
although not very direct apprehension, that the disease might be foot and

mouth.
Q. Now, that verbal communication that you had was with whom?—A.

Mr. Young. -

Q. Mr. Young; and did you keep a memorandum of the communication
he made to you on that occdsion; or, do you recollect what it was?—A. I did
not keep a memorandum. Mr. Young merely reported to me that there were
several cases of vesicular stomatitis at Regina, or in the neighbourhood of
Regina; that a number of cases appeared to be getting more serious and more
numerous; that the veterinary officials were concerned; that they were taking
special steps to make sure of their diagnoses; that the evidence up to that time
supported their earlier diagnoses, that the disease was vesicular stomatitis.

Q. He also told you that the diagnosis may have indicated that it may
have been stomatitis?—A. That is my recollection.

Q. Is that correct?—A. That is the report, the verbal report I received.

Q. And did he say which of the veterinarians gave the report that it was
in fact vesicular stomatitis.—A. No. The only veterinarians who made a report
at that time as I recall it were those three; Dr. Childs, Dr. Christie and Dr.
Carlton-—that was the report from Dr. Christie.

Q. And Dr. Young told you that these three veterinarians were in agree-
ment that it was stomatitis?—A. I would not be as specific as that. The report
was general; and I think mention was probably also made of other officers
who had made direct examinafion and had reached the same conclusion.

Q. Mention was made by Mr. Murray to the fact that there were
veterinarians in the provincial government service. Were there any of these
veterinarians of the provincial government service called in by the federal
veterinarians to examine the situation and decide the action to be taken? To
your knowledge?—A. Well, not to my personal knowledge. The reports I
received in connection with this disease have been reported to them and there
have been some consultations.

Q. When you say there, that is the report they made to Dr. Childs?—A. I
have no personal knowledge of that.

g Q. After you had this conversation with Dr. Young, how long after this

was it that Dr. Young or anyone else reported to you that their first diagnosis
was proven to be inaccurate, or suspected to be inaccurate, and that instant
action would have to be taken?—A. I do not know that I can fix the date exactly
as to the record, but my impression is, I think that Dr. Childs—it would be
around the 15th of February.

Q. So that between the first time that Dr. Young made his first report
on the 15th of February you heard nothing more from Dr. Childs, or anyone,
that indicated the probability of its being other than stomatitis?—A. Except for
the apprehension which had developed about the diagnosis.

Q. He expressed apprehension that it might be foot and mouth disease
then for the first time, to your knowledge?—A. I think Mr. Young, he was the
first man who discussed the matter with me; and, later on, of course, I did
discuss it with Mr. Young and Dr. Childs together.
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Q. So, on the first occasion Dr. Young brought the matter to your atten-
tion, did he say that he suspected the possibility that it might be foot and
mouth disease?—A. It was on that occasion that he told me the symptoms were
similar to those of foot and mouth and, therefore, there was some possibility.

Q. And did you suggest that they conduct a most careful examination,
instantly, and immediately, without delay.—A. I asked whether that was the
case and I was assurred it was. .

Q. And he told you that everything was being done that could be done?—
A. That is my recollection.

Q. Did he tell you what had been done up to that time? Had he reported
it to you?—A. In a general way; I was told of the earlier cases that had been
reported and diagnosed; the results, at least, of the diagnoses—reported,
quarantined and released.

By Mr. Quelch: 1

Q. I would like to ask Mr. Taggart a question. During the various stages
of the development of this disease was there any request at any time, either by
Dr. Neatby or Dr. Young, of taking any action in his official capacity; and, if so,
what was the action asked for, and what action was taken by the deputy
minister?—A. Dr. Neatby is not in this discussion at all. He was absent from
Ottawa. Your point there, I take it, sir, is in connection with Dr. Mitchell and
Dr. Neatby?

Q. Yes—A. Dr. Neatby being absent any communications would be
directly between Dr. Mitchell and myself, or Dr. Mitchell and Dr. Young; or
between Dr. Mitchell and Dr. Childs, of course; therefore, your question is, did
Dr. Young ask me to take any action which he himself was not able to take.

Q. Yes, which he did not have the authority to take.—A. I do not remember
anything of that sort, in the earlier stages at any event; later on, as it came
to applying ministerial order$ and the like, of course, they were beyond the
authority of the officers concerned and the orders were signed either by myself
or by the minister or acting minister.

Q. Did you at any time refuse to act on their recommendations?—A. I have
no recollection of that.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Mr. Chairman, I have one other question I would like to ask about
Dr. Childs. As I understand it now, the first- consultation you had with Dr.
Childs was in the early part of February, the first consultation you had with
him?—A. Right.

Q. And that is the first intimation you had that there might be reasonable
doubts, that foot and mouth disease might be present?—A. Yes.

Q. Who was it that advised you?—A. Dr. Young, first.

Q. He advised you to that effect?—A. Yes.

Q. Did Dr. Childs mention it?—A. He was present when the first report
came in from Dr. Young over here.

Q. From Dr. Young verbally.—A. Dr. Childs was present at that time.

Q. That was the first time that you were actually in private consultation
with Dr. Childs?—A. It would be a few days subsequent to Mr. Young’s first
verbal report. It might have been one or two days, a very brief period—within
a week.

Q. Within the first week?—A. Yes.

Q. And then did Dr. Childs intimate to you that there might be some
reasonable doubt, that it might be foot and mouth disease?—A. He said then,
or shortly after, but the possibility was in the conversations.

Q. That was previous— —A. That was the reason why the matter was
reported to me. If it had remained stomatitis I presume I would not have
heard about it until I read the annual report.

56816—2 :
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Q. As I understand it that was previous to the 19th of February 1952?—
A. The matter of the doubt was transmitted to us.

Q. There was some doubt in your mind?—A. That is as far as I recollect it.

Q. Then, Mr. Taggart, may I ask you, would it not be naturally part of
your job that a matter as important as this would be reported to you?—A. No.

Q. Did you not receive the weekly reports?—A. I do not receive any
routine documents of that kind.

Q. Wasn’t that strange, that you should not have received that information
at an earlier date? Is it not strange that either Dr. Childs or someone else
should have had occasion to ‘consult with you, that it should not have been
brought to your attention? By Dr. Neatby?—A. As I said, I did not know at
the time I had my meeting with Mr. Young that Dr. Childs was away.

Q. You did not know that Dr. Childs was away from the office?—A. No,
not so far. The matter came up in discussions later on but I did not know that
he was away. I did not see the doctor. I do not ordinarily see the documents
for people going on holidays.

Q. Were there any other veterinarians, either from Saskatchewan or from
Ottawa, who got in touch with you at any time previous to your knowledge—
previous to these samples being arranged to be sent down from Saskat-
chewan?—A. No. As I said, the first knowledge I had of stomatitis—vesicular
stomatitis—was from Mr. Young in the early part of February; and I had no
communication from anybody in Saskatchewan at that time that I can
remember.

Q. You did not have any reports from any other veterinarian?—A. No, 1
did not.

Q. After having heard from Dr. Young that it might be foot and mouth
disease you did not ask any other veterinarian at all?—A. No, not personally.

Q. Did you have some talk with Dr. Childs? When was that?—A. It was
a few days later, I cannot give you the date exXactly; but they admitted that
perhaps it was the same thing. The actual meeting, Dr. Childs came in and
I had a meeting.

Q. That was a few days after?—A. Yes, and I think Dr. Hall was present
at that meeting; although, I am not sure of that.

Q. Well now, may I ask any additional veterinarians whom you have
mentioned made any representations to anybody that this was not foot and
mouth disease, that it was merely stomatitis?—A. I don’t remember any
representations of that sort, coming to me directly.

Q. At any time previous was there any doubts that it was actually foot
and mouth disease at this time—official evidence and so on?—A. There was
doubt of some kind.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. There is just one other question I want to ask in regard to this, now
that the deputy minister is here. A lot of this work was being done in the field
by the officers of your department, investigation was being made; when any-
thing of that kind is taking place is it not customary, when reports are being
made—they, knowing what is taking place—is it not customary that reports
are made regarding these investigations by these people to their departments
‘through the senior officers of the department to the administrative head?—A.
Yes, that is the practise; but it would depend on the nature of the work.

Q. Take in the division of Animal Diseases on a matter as important as
this and an investigation being made, would you not expect that the reports
would be made to the departmental heads from time to time as to what was
taking place?—A. The routine is that the district veterinary reports to the
veterinary director general weekly, I believe.

Q. I see, and that would be Dr. Christie?—A. Dr. Christie and Dr. Childs.
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Q. Dr. Christie and?—A. Dr. Christie and Dr. Childs; or Dr. Christie, one
of them. Dr. Christie is the head of the Regina division. .

Q. No, the reason I am asking you that is thisr You mentioned, very
fairly mentioned that as time went on and the disease became more gengrgl
and other cases were springing up. Would you not have expected Dr. Chr1§t1e
to have reported to Dr. Childs in this weekly report what _he was finding,
what was taking place— the extension of the disease, its extension and so on?—
A. Yes.

@. And that would be the reason for bringing this to your attention. Now,
from January 4, 1952, until February 12, there is no report whatsoever.
Doesn’t that strike you as being most strange?—A. There should be reports, I
think they are sent in weekly, weekly reports from Dr. Christie.

Q. Well, the request I made was this, for a copy of all communications
that passed between the veterinary officials, either provincial or federal, and
the federal Department of Agriculture; and the return that I got shows that
there is not one communication between January 4 and February 12. If the
return is correct would you not regard that as a rather serious dereliction of
duty on the part of those investigating this matter?—A. There should be the
routine weekly reports. ;

Q. And if there are no such reports do you regard that as concrete
evidence that somebody was not discharging his responsibility?—A. I would
like you to ask Dr. Childs that question about the weekly reports. I have no
personal knowledge of that because I do not see them.

Q. And would you not also expect on the records some letters or com-
munications from Dr. Childs, in charge of this branch, advising these officials
in Regina of the seriousness of the situation should they be mistaken in their
diagnosis?—A. Yes, I should think so, unless it would be that during that
particular period of time they regarded the disease as having come under
control. As I recall it, the spread and the increase in seriousness of the trouble
became evident along in February, about the second week in February, I
should think.

Q. There were no extensions of the field of the disease during January?—
A. As I recall it, a number of the quarantines were lifted in mid-January on
the assumption that the disease was under control.

Q. I would just bring one matter to your attention and then I am through.
I now come to a telegram, which I shall read, .and then I will ask you about it.
It is dated February 15, 1952, and addressed to Dr. Christie, 2827 Regina Avenue,
Regina:

Understand Dr. Hall in collaboration with Dr. Mitchell has issued
instructions for collection and forwarding to laboratory, Hull, material
from animals suffering from infectious vesicular condition. Those
instructions definitely countermanded. Definite diagnosis must be made
on premises where disease exists. Understand another horse has been
inoculated. Hold quarantines tight and await results horse inoculations.
Self on statutory leave when instructions collect material for laboratory
examination issued by Doctor Hall. Wire acknowledgement immediately

T. Childs, Veterinary Director General

Now, Dr. Hall and Dr. Mitchell were the veterinarians in the field, were
they not?—A. Dr. Hall would be acting in Dr. Childs’ absence.

Q. And he would be in Regina at that time?—A. Dr. Hall would be in
Ottawa acting in place of Dr. Childs. :

Q. And Dr. Mitchell would be in the field?—A. He is head of the Animal
Pathology laboratory in Hull and would be at Hull, or elsewhere, on duty at
that time, but not in Regina.

Q. Not at Regina?—A. Not necessarily at Regina. He would not neces-
sarily be at Regina. .

56816—2%
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Q. And during the absence of Dr. Christie on vacation Dr. Hall would be
in charge?—A. Excuse me, Dr. Childs on vacation, Dr. Hall would be in charge
of the division, correct.

Q. And you will agree, now, will you not, that Dr. Hall’s instructions that
he should take laboratory samples was a good idea, having regard to the danger
of this disease being more serious than an examination would indicate, an
ordinary examination?—A. I would like you to have Dr. Childs express views
on that from a professional point of view, Mr. Chairman, because it is hardly
within my field to determine the method of diagnosis of disease.

Q. But then wouldn’t you expect as deputy minister in a matter as serious
as this that some time between January 4 and February 12 indications would
be made to you in writing setting forth the seriousness and the potentialities
of this disease, and the possibility of this disease being more than stomatitis?—
A. No, I wouldn’t in view of the fact that Dr. Hall and Dr. Young were both
in the same building and could see me daily, and most of the discussions on
a matter of that sort would be verbal.

Q. I have just one other question. Have you known of other cases where
the orders made by one incurmmbent of the senior position have been counter-
manded by the official head.on his return following vacation? Have you ever
known of countermanding orders made by one official in this department by
the other?—A. I do not recall any at the moment, Mr. Chairman.

.- Mr. Cote: In sequence to questions put by my honourable friend, I would
like to ask the witness one question, as to whether it is the government’s
responsibility, or whether it is a civil servant’s responsibility, and I want to
put the guy on the spot who is responsible. - Now, if he thinks that there is
another than himself, I would like to know; I would like to know the goat.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Taggart considers he cannot answer your question,
Mr. Cote. )

Mr. Cote: If he does not answer, I would like somebody to answer because
after all, as I said before, there was an article published in a very highly
publicized paper saying who was wrong.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

Mr. Cote: Now, I do not think the minister is responsible. I do not think
the government is responsible. I think civil servants are responsible. I would
like to know who, and I would like to see him fired.

The CHAIRMAN: That Mr. Cote, is the business of the committee.

Mr. Cote: That is why I am asking the chairman of the committee to
inform me.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. I would like to ask Mr. Taggart, first, who has the responsibility and
authority to impose a quarantine on the outbreak of a contagious disease.—A.
That question, I think, could be more clearly answered by Dr. Childs, who
administers that Act. There are powers in the Act and regulations which may
be exercised by an inspector in the field, other powers by the veterinary
director general, and still other powers by the minister or Governor in Council.
The veterinary director general has, of course, broad powers to take quick
action to quarantine or control, but the type of quarantine that was finally
imposed at Regina on an area, I think, can be made only on the authority of
the minister. In fact, I believe that at that time the first quarantine order
applying to the whole area was applied by an order in council. The veterinary
director general can, and does, or his officers can and do apply quarantines
to individual premises.

Q. Well, the first quarantine which was applied, and I presume that was
to individual premises in December, I believe it was, by whom was that
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applied?—A. That would be applied by the officer on the ground on authority
of the veterinary director general.

Q. And has that same officer the authority to lift that quarantine, or who
has the authority to lift a quarantine once it is imposed—A. I am not sure,
but if you would ask Dr. Childs he could tell you. I think technically the
authority would rest with the veterinary director general and his officer would
act on his instructions or would recommend action which would be sanctioned
by the veterinary director general.

Q. When a quarantine is imposed by a local officer, is there any regulation
requiring that that be reported to headquarters here in Ottawa, and to whom
is it reported, and to whom should it be reported?—A. It would be reported—
that is a routine matter—it would be reported in the routine weekly report.
Dr. Childs could give you that information in detail.

Q. Was the report of this first quarantine—I believe it was on Burns’ plant
—reported to you?—A. Not to me personally. It came to Ottawa but not to
my office.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): I would like to ask one question. Is there any
system by which the department is kept informed of the progress of dangerous
contagious animal diseases in other countries?

The WITNESS: Yes, Dr. Childs can give you information on the details as
to exchange of information and reporting among the countries. There are
various agreements and arrangements in existence. I cannot give you the
details of those, but Dr. Childs, I am sure, can,

By Mr. Browne:

Q. When was the first written report that Mr. Taggart received about
foot and mouth disease being definitely established? I think it was around
February 14. Is that in writing? Have you a copy of that report or letter?
—A. No, I think that there was no definite confirmation of foot and mouth as
early as the 14th February. It would be perhaps even a week later than that.

Q. Have you that in writing?—A. I have not a written report by me.

Q. Can you bring it here?—A. Any reports there are can be produced.

Mr. BROWNE: Mr. Chairman, I would ask that that be produced.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions of Mr. Taggart?

Mr. Ross: I would like to ask Mr. Taggart if any reports reached him
concerning the activities of private veterinarians on this original outbreak?
The statement was made in the House of Commons, for instance, that seven
veterinarians in private practice had all decided that this was not foot and
mouth disease for some time. Would you have any reports from these private
veterinarians at all?

The WiTnEss: None to my office directly. Those reports would come in
the routine way from the field to Dr. Christie, or to his office, and to Dr. Childs.
They would not come in the normal course to my office.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. How did the Americans happen to send up their Dr. Shahan?—A. When
we first reported our suspicions to the United States we asked them, at the
same time, to send an observer so that they would be able to examine the
situation and know what we were doing and be able to reach a conclusion as
to what the disease was.

Q. Did that letter go from you to the United States authorities?—A. The
first communications were between Dr. Childs and Dr. Simms of the United
States department. I think they were first by telephone. Dr. Childs can
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confirm that. Then by telegraph. Mr. first communication to the United
States government was through External Affairs on, I think, the 18th February.

Q. And on that date did you then know that it was foot and mouth disease?
—A. No, we did not know, but we were definitely afraid of it by that time.

Q. On what date did you become afraid that it was foot and mouth disease,
for the first time?—A. I think we were finally certain of it on the 23rd or 24th.

Q. At what time did you become afraid?—A. At the time we sent that
message to the United States, I was very much afraid and that fear arose
because of reports coming to me by Dr. Childs, Dr. Young and Dr. Hall.

Q. What caused you to arrive at that fear? There had been no clinical
examinations, had there, at that time? There had been no results of the
research examinations in Hull? What was it that suddenly caused you to
fear?—A. The reports from the officers concerned.

Q. Those reports we do not have here. What is the nature of those reports
that gave support to the fears that this was, in fact, foot and mouth disease?—A.
Well, during that period, as I said, I had frequent personal and telephone con-
versations with Mr. Young, Dr. Childs when he was there, and Dr. Hall when Dr.
Childs was not there, and the tenor of their reports from day to day was that
the disease was taking on a more serious aspect and they were more concerned
it might be foot and mouth disease.

Q. And the day you found it was foot and mouth disease was?—A. My
recollection is that it was the 23rd or 24th February that it was confirmed.

Q. I see in the return tabled in the House yesterday that there was a radio
speech made on Sunday, February 24, and I do not see anything in there to
indicate that it is other than stomatitis. It says:

Much has been written in the past few days respecting the outbreak
of stomatitis.

Following the first reports of the disease to veterinary officers of the
Health of Animals division prelimininary investigations were carried out
to ascertain the extent and potential of the disease.

These preliminary investigations indicated the necessity of quarantine
measures as a means of limiting the spread of the disease.

That radio speech was apparently given before it was known the disease was
in fact foot and mouth disease?—A. I think the thing was officially confirmed
on the 24th.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Diefenbaker, may I ask whose radio speech that was?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: This is one that remains incognito.

Some Hon. MEMBERS: Where did it come from?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: It is from the department and it says on page 32 of the
return, under date of 25th of February, “Attached hereto is list of shipment of
meats . . .” and so on and then there is a radio speech delivered over station
CKCK Regina on Sunday the 24th, included in the return, but the paternity is
not given.

Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Is there not a letter there?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I just got this return and it says: Attached is a copy of
a radio speech delivered over CKCK, Regina, Sunday, February 24th and the
copy is signed by K. Wells.

Hon. Mr. GARDINER: He is the one.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: He delivered it.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. As a result of the recent outbreak what areas have been added to the
quarantine area in Saskatchewan?—A. The most recent one?
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Q. Yes?—A. I do not think that has been finally determined. If it has been
it is only this morning and perhaps Dr. Childs can give you a definition of the
new area.

Q. What action was taken by the department in the buffer zone in regard
to cattle in that zone being placed in community pastures?—A. The decision
respecting community pastures was made I think on the ground between Dr.
Christie and Dr. Wells on the one hand and Mr. Thompson, director of the
P.F.R.A. on the other—as to the opening and stocking of community pastures.

Q. Stock was taken from the buffer zone and placed in community
pastures?—A. There was movement of stock within the buffer zone.

Q. There would not be, of course, any movement of stock from the
quarantine zone into the community pastures?—A. No, and I think no movement
of stock from the buffer zone to outside.

Q. The, community pastures would be stocked with cattle from within the
buffer zone?—A. Yes, and of course community pastures outside the buffer zone
would be stocked in the normal way in the spring.

Q. The second last outbreak, as reported to the press, was caused by a
certain animal that was shipped from some place within the quarantine zone or
in the buffer zone to the meat packing house. Where did that animal originate?
What date was it shipped out?—A. I do not know.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. In connection with what has been read into the record by Mr. Diefen-
baker, the telegram of February 15, Dr. Childs the veterinary director general
did go out to Regina immediately following that?—A. Yes, and Dr. Childs can
give you his own itinerary there.

" Q. Within three days, that is February 18, he wired your department and
it is on record as follows:

Clinical evidence amply justifies quarantine livestock rural munici-
palities indicated below for suspected infectious and contagious disease.
Ministerial order should be issued immediately establishing quarantine
prohibiting movement of livestock out of and into quarantined
municipalities except through shipments proceeding by rail which must-
not be unloaded within quarantine municipalities. Rural municipalities
south Qu’Apelle No. 157 Edenwold 158 Sherwood 159 Pense 160 Lumsden
189 North Qu’Appelle 187 that portion only south of the Qu’Appelle
waters. Will telephone about eleven a.m. Monday.

T. CHILDS. .
That was sent from Regina?—A. That would come to Dr. Young. ‘

g C% Yes, and it is three days after his other wire that Dr. Childs was out
there?

Mr. MacKeNzIE: Mr. Chairman, according to press reports the disease was
first diagnosed as a contagious disease and quarantine set up. Is it true that
the cattle apparently all recovered, that none died, and that the quarantine
was lifted?

The WiTNESS: That is the report, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. BROWNE: You mean the official report or the press report?

The WiTnNESS: The official report to the veterinarian director general.

By Mr. Cote:

Q. From whom? From the Department, the Saskatchewan government
or from the officials of your department? When it is official that must be
known?—A. The report would come from the official in Regina to the official
in Ottawa.
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Q. From whom?—A. Dr. Christie or some member of his staff, to
Dr. Childs.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions?

Mr. CotE: Crucify those guys, that is all.

By Mr. White: _

Q. Reference has been made to the shipment of meat from the Burns
plant. Who directly has charge of following that up. Is that under you,
Mr. Taggart?—A. Shipment of meat from an inspected packing plant?

Q. No, from the Burns plant?—A. That would come under the control
of Dr. Childs or under his officials down the line in the division of the meat
inspection service. They would issue the necessary certificates to move that
meat if it were moved interprovincially.

Q. I understand shipments were made to western Ontario. There are
records that either confirm or deny that?—A. Inspection record? I think so.
I think there would be meat inspection records. It is a question you will
have to ask another authoriy—whether those inspection records show, but
I think they do and I think they must show the destination of the shipment
out of inspected plants.

Q. Were any instructions sent to veterinarians or the different distributors
of this meat that there were possibilities of infection if any of the offal were
exposed?—A. I have no knowledge of any special instructions accompanying
meat shipments. You are referring to- the shipments from the Burns plant
in Regina, specifically?

Q. Yes and I understand, although I have not the evidence to prove it
but it is on pretty good authority, that some went to Windsor, Ontario, and
some to Walkerville, Ontario.—A. During the time there was no quarantine
or no special restrictions on the plant that could be true, of course.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. I wonder if the deputy minister could tell the committee whether he
had any discussions at any time in February with any of the officials connected
with the Hull laboratory?—A. Oh, yes, I talked to Dr. Mitchell and other
members of the staff.

Q. About what date would you first talk to Dr. Mitchell or any other
member of his staff?—A. I should think my conversation with Dr. Mitchell
would be mainly or perhaps wholly after the 10th of February and between
that and the 25th of February.

Q. Can you recollect whether you had any conversation with Dr. Mitchell
or any other officials on say the 10th, 11th, or 12th, or somewhere in or about
that date?—A. I cannot from my personal knowledge nail the conversation
to a particular date, but I do remember definitely discussing the thing with
Dr. Mitchell and Dr. Childs on the 24th of February when they had reached
their final conclusion.

Q. In your earlier discussion with Dr. Mitchell did any discussion take
place as to what tests should be made on those animals? I do not know what
other dicussion you might have had with them but I would think, myself,
that would be a most important point and it would very likely have been
discussed?—A. Those matters would most likely be discussed between Dr. Hall,
Dr. Childs, Dr. Mitchell or the members of the staff of their division. They
are technical matters which would not normally be discussed by my office.

Q. Are you telling the committee in your earlier conversation with
Dr. Mitchell that he did not discuss with you or he did not raise the question
of whether tests should possibly be made at the Hull laboratory—that he did
not make any suggestions to that effect?—A. My first clear recollection of
discussion of this particular thing with Dr. Mitchell would be at the time or
subsequent to the time when Dr. Mitchell’s lab undertook to make these tests.
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Q. Did Dr. Mitchell at any time discuss with you any differences of
opinion amongst officials as to what kind of tests should be made?—A. No.

Q. Dr. Mitchell never suggested to you that he had any difficulty in getting
lab tests made at the laboratory in Hull?—A. No difficulty on that score that
I ever heard of.

Q. Any discussion with him as to the contents of the telegram that has
been referred to this morning?—A. No.

Q. Well in this return that was tabled yesterday, and it was already on
record earlier in answer to questions of mine, on December 28th or December
29th there were 30 head of cattle suffering with a disease in the Burns feed
lot—out of 137 steers and 70 heifers. I wonder if you could tell the committee
what was done at the Burns plant. between that date and any subsequent
lifting of the quarantine or, shall we say, up until early February? What was
done there because there were 30 head with stomatitis? What happened to
the 30 head?—A. I think that information is on the record and it can be
repeated to the committee. I am not able to give it verbally here.

Q. What happened to the carcasses of the 30 head that were suffering from
stomatitis?—A. As I say that is information that I cannot give you from my
knowledge but it is on the record and can be made available—if it has not
been made available previously.

Q. You do not know when those cattle were killed and what disposition
was made of the carcasses, or about the situation at the Burns plant?—A. I
cannot give you from personal knowledge out of hand the details of what
happened; but I do say that they can be produced, and if they have not already
been given to the committee, they certainly can be given.

Q. With so many animals sick at the Burns plant, and with the subsequent
serious consequences of the disease, I think the deputy minister should have
a pretty good idea of what was done at the Burns plant. It seems to me that
one of the important things in this whole discussion is what was done to see
that the disease did not spread from that 30 head of cattle—not one head, or
two heads, or three heads, but 30 heads—of sick animals in the Burns plant
in December.—A. I am sure if you ask Dr. Childs, he will give you that
information, and I am sure that the records can be produced. Of course, I am
not in a position to give it to you from memory.

Q. It has been suggested in the House, and on the radio this morning, that
the most recent outbreak of foot and mouth disease near Weyburn is the most
serious outbreak so far to date, and it may have the most serious consequences;
and the impression I got from listening to the radio report was that instead of
the situation improving, it is becoming more serious and that it may be a long
time before the disease is finally cleared up. I wonder if the deputy minister
could give us some statement as to his own opinion about the seriousness of
the present, most serious, outbreak and of the stage we are at now in dealing
with this particular disease?—A. Based on the report you have received, for
the moment, this most recent case which is northeast of Weyburn is serious,
in that some of the animals from that farm were transferred to a pasture a
few days prior to the disease being diagnosed.

Q. They were transferred to a P.F.R.A. pasture?—A. Yes; and there are
some hundreds of animals in that pasture and it is possible there may be quite
a destruction there because of that fact.

Q. Is it right, according to the report, that there is somewhere in the neigh-
borhood of one thousand head of cattle in that particular community pasture?—
A. Around 900 head of cattle in that pasture, according to the report.

Q. Around 900 head of cattle in that pasture according to the report; is it
the opinion of the minister that the disease at the present time is far more serious
and that the possible consequences of this disease are far more serious than any-
body has realized up to the present date?—A. The seriousness of this case arises
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from the fact that these cattle were put into the pasture prior to the disease
being diagnosed on this particular farm. ¢

Q. Has it been reported to the minister what the source of infection was?—
A. The last available reports do not give any clear indication of what the pos-
sible source of infection was.

Mr. CATHERWOOD: Is this community pasture very far outside the buffer
zone?

The WiTtness: It is within the buffer zone.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. In the giving of reports from one official to another you have traced the
routine. Do any of these departmental heads, such as the head of the Animal
Diseases branch, report direct to the Minister of Agriculture or to you?—A. The
normal routine is for the veterinary director-general to report to the director
of production services, and he in turn would report to the deputy. It is a com-
mon thing in verbal discussions to bring in two or three people down the line.

Q. And when did you first report to the Minister of Agriculture about the
situation in regard to the disease, whether it was suspected to be stomatitis or
foot and mouth disease? When was the first report that you gave him in regard
to the situation?—A. You mean to Mr. Gardiner?

" Q. Yes—A. I think it was on the 18th of February when I first reported
to him.

Q. And up until the 18th of February he had no reports from you regarding
the existence of any disease, stomatitis or otherwise, existing in this Regina
area?—A. I think that is correct.

Q. And at the time you reported to Mr. Gardiner, was it true that he was
away on vacation?—A. He was in the west, at the west coast, I think.

Q. You say he was in the west, or at the west coast; so, until that date there
had been no communicaion whatever with Mr. Gardiner by you on behalf of
the department regarding this matter?—A. That is right.

By Mr. Browne:

Q. I wonder if the deputy minister would answer this question: has it now
been established that there was only one disease, or were there two diseases?
In other words, this stomatitis that you speak of, or ordinary stomatitis, and foot
and mouth disease?—A. That is a technical question and I am afraid that 1
cannot answer it. A professional opinion on that point would not be of much
value from me.

Q. What efforts have been made to trace the source of this disease?—A. Oh,
.a great many lines of inquiry have been followed; but the exact details as to
what those lines were would have to be explained by the veterinaries or the
others who made the investigations. But the people on whose premises the
disease was found would be questioned carefully over a period of time to try to
find out the possible source of contamination, such as persons, animals and
traffic that may have carried the disease; transfers of property that may have
carried the disease would be checked. There are questions which we ask to try
to disclose possible transfers; imports of products that might have carried the
virus of the disease would be checked with the customs people at Regina, and
some of the ports of landing of shipments going to Regina. Every avenue which
appeared likely to yield any information as to the possible source would be
checked in the same way as a police investigation would check possible
clues to a crime.

Q. And it is still a mystery?—A. There is no proof that I know of as to
the exact origin or source of the infection.
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By Mr. Ross:

Q. I would like to ask the deputy minister about the test which was
made on the German immigrant who worked at the first place where the
outbreak was. As I read the press reports, I think they were misleading.
I took the finding to be that this chap could not have brought the virus to this
country; and I think that all the tests proved was that there was no virus
found on his clothing or person at that time. But is it fair to say that those
tests did not prove whether or not he might have brought the virus to that
farm? Is that right?—A. You might ask Mr. Mitchell that question when he
appears; but my memory is that Dr. Mitchell reported that he was unable to
find the virus on Willie, or on his effects.

Q. But it in no way proved that he did not bring it out. He might have
brought it, and the virus have disappeared before the tests?—A. That is
possible. I presume that the time during which the virus might live in a
different set of conditions would be a question of technical opinion which
Dr. Mitchell might answer.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. What is the opinion about the inception of the latest outbreak?—A. We
have no clue which looks good enough to accept as a probability.

Q. Is there any water course in Regina coming from that direction at all?
There is none that I know of?—A. No.

Q. Any transfers or movements of cattle from around the Regina area down
to this area?—A. There have been no transfers from the Regina area to this
area. I think I am right in saying that the continuous quarantine would stop
the movement of Regina cattle from going southward.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Dr. Taggart, up until now in the official records which I have seen, there
has been no admission that the Waas herd was infected with foot and mouth
disease. Is that true?—A. Would you be willing to ask Dr. Childs and
Dr. Mitchell questions on that? It is a technical question which I perhaps
should not attempt to answer.

Q. After all, Dr. Taggart, anyone in the department should know whether
it-has now been supposed that the disease, that it was foot and mouth disease or
not that was in the Waas herd.—A. The presumption is that it was foot and
mouth disease; but if you want to get technical answers to your questions,
I would suggest that Dr. Childs and Dr. Mitchell be asked to give them.

Q. I have had a question on the Order Paper, and any question answered
so far has never admitted that it is foot and mouth disease. I understand that
the herd was challenged, that the Waas herd was challenged before it was
shot on the 14th of March, but the last answer I have had to the question just
referred to is that the tests were not completed yet, nevertheless cattle were
shot on the 14th of March.—A. Dr. Mitchell can give you the information.
My information was that there was an experimental project undertaken with
those cattle, and that blood samples were taken; and Dr. Mitchell I am sure can
report on the results of that check.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. I would like to follow up the question which Mr. Diefenbaker asked
a short time ago. I think, Dr. Taggart, you said that the first report of this
matter which you made to Mr. Gardiner was on the 18th, when he was at the
west coast?—A. That is right.

Q. Did you report it prior to that time to the acting minister of agriculture
in Ottawa? I presume there was an acting minister of agriculture here at tha
time?—A. Oh, yes. X
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Q. When did you report it to the acting minister of agriculture?—A.
I cannot fix a day; it would be some days before the report to the minister.

Q. Who was the acting minister of agriculture at that time?—A.
Mr. Winters.

Q. You say it would be some days before; would you indicate whether it
would be a week?—A. I am sorry.

Q. Would you indicate? You said it would be some days before; so would
you indicate whether it would be a week, or more or less?—A. I was in daily
communication with the acting minister by telephone and by personal contact
for quite a number of days; I would say four or five days or perhaps a week;
and most of those communications would be verbal reporting.

Q. You say it would be four or five days or a week possibly?—A. Certainly
some days.

Q. Before the 18th?—A. It might be prior to that.

Q. And did he take any action as a result of your report?—A. No; I do not
think there was any action required of the minister at that moment. Any infor-
mation we gave him was for the sake of information and not for action, as I recall
it, up until the time the Order-in Council was required to establish the quaran-
tine area.

Q. That was on the 24th?—A. That was the inclusive Order in Council for
the quarantine.

Q. So there was no ministerial action until the quarantine order on the
24th or the 25th, when it was put into effect?—A. Pardon me; I think that the
quarantine area was established before that; it would be the 19th or the 20th.

Q. You say the 19th or the 20th; that was the first ministerial action which
was taken?—A. That is right.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Bryce.

Mr. Bryce: I wonder if Dr. Taggart would tell the committee about the
animals that were in the Burns packing plant? There were 30 sick, and we
said we would ask some other body what happened to them. But what hap-
pened to the ones which were not sick? Were they distributed over the country,
or did they go to be slaughtered? What happened to those animals which were
in contact with the sick animals?—A. I think that information has been given
and is on the record. I have not got it by me; but if it is required, it can be
produced. Dr. Childs could tell us immediately if you want him to do so; I have
not got in my mind the exact disposition of the animals that were in that yard.

Mr. ArRGUE: They went through the processing plant.

The WrTNESS: The majority of them, I think, were killed and buried, and
compensation was paid for them.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you through, Mr. Bryce?

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. I am anxious to know if they were all killed, or if some of them went
back into somebody else’s feed lots, carrying the infection.—A. Just as a general
statement, all animals that moved out from that area or plant, or general
vicinity, between the 1st of November and the time the official quarantine was
applied—every farm to which they were taken was examined and checked
carefully. All the remaining animals in there were either slaughtered in the
plant or slaughtered and compensation paid for them as being animals in con-
tact with the disease.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Mr. Taggart, don’t you think that Canadians as a whole are interested
in finding out, once the disease is under control, when the United States
embargo may be expected to be removed; and that your department should get
in touch with the United States government in that connection? Isn’t that
so?—A. Yes. We have had conversations with them.
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Q. Yes, you have had conversations with them; and if it had not been
for this latest outbreak might it have been expected that the embargo would
have been lifted?—A. That question can’t be answered categorically, Mr.
Chairman.

Q. I appreciate that, but you can give us a reasonable indication, a
reasonable general answer to it.—A. As I stated, the U.S. regulations provide
a minimum time which much elapse after the United States authorities are
satisfied that we are free from the disease before they lift their embargo.
That is 60 days.

Q. And how many officials have the United States now present in the
Regina area, veterinarians and the like?—A. They have had different veterin-
arians, and I think there is one stationed in Regina from the U.S. department
now, but whether there are more than that I am not in position to say.

Q. At one time, if I remember correctly, there were 6 American United
States veterinarians in the area.—A. I do not think—I am not sure, again—I
do not think there were 6 at any one time. They would send a man up and
recall him and send another one up. I am not sure of the exact number or

sequence.

Q. Now, in these informal talks you have had with the American officials
have you been assured that within 60 days after the disease is eradicated
that the American embargo would be lifted?—A. No, no; we have had no
such assurance.

Q. Nothing like that?—A. No.

Q. In other words, they would not do that?—A. No.

Q. They have not .committed themselves one way or another?—A. No,
but I might say that they have at all times been most cooperative and helpful.

Q. But not definite?—A. No, nothing definite in that regard.

By Mr. White:

Q. Mr. Chairman, in the absence of the minister, the Honourable Mr.
Winters was acting minister of agriculture; was he informed of the develop-
ments? Or the parliamentary assistant to the minister. Was he also advised
at that time? Then I have another queStion to ask.—A. I don’t remember
clearly, Mr. Chairman, whether the parliamentary assistant to the minister
was in Ottawa during that time that Mr. Winter was being informed of
developments. I cannot answer that question.categorically. I should think,
or I am inclined to think that Mr. McCubbin was not in Ottawa at that
time. I do not remember having discussed the matter with him, in the
early stages anyway.

Q. It was naturally to be expected, though, that he would know about
it?—A. Well, if he were here he would probably hear, but if he were not
here he probably would not; because at that time, in the early stages of this
thing, we were not reporting more than we had to, we were not using the
word foot and mouth during the early stages because we had some reason
to believe that it was not foot and mouth and we didn’t want to scatter that
word around.

Q. To change the subject entirely, going back to the distribution of meat
from the Burn’s plant; are there any officials outside of the Veterinary
Director General’s branch, any officials of the Burn’s plant who will know
anything about this?—A. The records of inspections are all made out at the
plant and they would be in the hands of the meat inspection section of the
Veterinary Director General’s division.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Mr. Taggart, have you any knowledge when or if the embargo in con-
nection with cattle going into the United States from Mexico, as a result of
foot and mouth disease—if the embargo there has been lifted or not?—A. Some
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two months ago the United States government announced that if there were
no further outbreaks of foot and mouth disease in Mexico the embargo against
Mexican cattle and meat would be lifted on September 1, 1952. Now, I think
there might have been some limitation to that announcement.

Q. Have you any knowledge of the fact that the embargo might be lifted
against cattle going out of certain portions of Mexico before the embargo
against the whole of the country would be removed?—A. I am not sure. I
am merely giving hearsay evidence, and it is not very good; but my memory
is—we could get all the U. S. documents if the committee would like to have
them—that they announced, I think, an unconditional removal of the embargo
as from September 1st.

Q. The reason I asked you that question was to find out whether it might
be possible to have the embargo lifted, the emergency embargo lifted on a
part of a country—Ilet us say to have it lifted against eastern Canada while
it remains in effect as against western Canada. Has any approach of that kind
been made to the American government?—A. In the informal discussions I think
it was suggested. As I answered a moment ago, the U. S. people have given no
undertaking; and they are not in a position to make any commitments at

this time.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. The waiting period apparently in the United States for lifting the
Mexican embargo is not 60 days; is it somewhere in the neighbourhood of 6
months?—A. Well, I think I explained that, Mr. Chairman.

Q. So that if we get no better treatment it will be 6 months after our disease
is cleaned up before we can get that release.—A. As I explained, Mr. Chairman,
the U. S. regulations say a minimum of 60 days must elapse after the country
is declared to be free of the disease.

Q. And that in effect means 6 months.—A. Well, for possibly longer than
the minimum period indicated.

Q. That is right?—A. Yes.

Q. I would like now to turn to another aspect of this question which I
think perhaps is more prominent in-the minds of cattle producers throughout
Canada generally than who may or may not have fallen down on the job.
I refer to the whole question of floor prices. Floor prices have been announced,
but from the information I have been receiving, certainly in the press, those
floor prices are not being followed. For example, there is this report in the
Montreal Gazette of yesterday, that floor prices—at Saskatchewan for good
steers, the floor was to be $22.80 per hundred weight—have fallen as low
as $17 and $18 a hundred. I would like to know what the explanation is;
what explanation there is for such a reduction so far below the floor; or, for
that matter, completely below the floor. Whether this is one sided or whether
it prevails in other provinces. And, particularly, I would like to know what
steps the Department of Agriculture are taking to see that floor prices on
meat are in fact paid to the producers and are enforced?—A. Mr. Chairman, I
did not come prepared to discuss floor prices. I thought the foot and mouth
disease problem was under discussion, and the question raises a whole range
of policy and administrative problems which I feel unable to deal with at the
" moment. :

Q. As I understand our terms of reference they extend to any ramifications
of foot and mouth disease and in my opinion this is a very important if not
the most important ramification as it applies to cattle producers in all Canada.
With great respect to the deputy minister, I think that the Deputy Minister of
Agriculture with his knowledge of the department is quite capable of giving
the committee some explanation; and, certainly, I am sure that he knows what
steps if any the government or the department are taking to see that these

e —
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floor prices aremimposed.—A. Mr. Chairman, if that question is to be answered
I would like very much to have the privilege of bringing Mr. Shaw, chairman
of the Agriculture Prices Support Board, before the committee.

Q. If that is agreeable.

By Mr. Dinsdale:

Q. I would like to ask a question about the Mexican outbreak. Can Mr.
Taggart tell us if any special action was taken following that outbreak and
also the outbreak in Europe and the United Kingdom with respect to defensive
measures against the disease coming to Canada?—A. I think Dr. Childs would
be better able to answer that question. There are many consultations between
our officers and the Health of Animals people in the United States, and con-
sultations also with the veterinary authorities in Great Britain.

Q. That would suggest, then, that the department was alerted to the
possibility of the outbreak of the disease in Canada?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Ross:

Q. Mr. Chairman, when Dr. Taggart was giving us information about the
organization of his department he said that he had not dealt with the other
departmental services. I was going to ask him to do that, in a general way.

- Our discussions are more directly related to the Health of Animals branch,

but I do hope that at some convenient time Dr. Taggart will give us the organiz-
ation of all the departmental services, and then have his officials here. I
think he ought to do that with respect to the marketing division, particularly
following the statement made by the minister that these floor prices did not
prevail. There have been some very serious difficulties with respect to the
marketing of beef, particularly at the stockyards at Manitoba. Those people
have issued a statement there that they could not give the price, purchase
cattle at these floor prices, unless the federal government guarantees them
against financial loss. That may, or may not be the case, but that is a public
statement by the commission people in Winnipeg, and this does affect the
price of beef in this country to a great extent. I do hope, without inter-
fering with the Health of Animals discussion here, that we can get Dr. Shaw
here before he leaves.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, if I might occupy the rest of the time,
there are a few documents which I have before me to which I would like to
refer. On December 28th, Dr. Christie wired regarding the report of Dr. James.
Here is Dr. James” report by mail to him on the 6th of December, 1952. Now,
on January 4th, Dr. Childs wired to Dr. Christie: “Waiting Dr. James report
particularly stomatitis Burns feed lot Regina reported wire December 28. Long
delay not understood. Please expedite repeat please expedite”, and that is
signed by Dr. Childs, veterinary director general. There is nothing to indicate
that Dr. James reported at all. It is not in the records, and I would like to
have that report because it is apparently missing inadvertently from the
return.—A. That is the report from Dr. Christie?

Q. From Dr. James, Dr. James’ report.—A. From Dr. James to Dr. Christie.

Q. Apparently, yes; because you will notice on January 4, Dr. Childs said—
“repeat please expedite”: I would like to see that report from Dr. James because
it might clarify some of the investigation that took place.

Mr. WriGHT: It is nearly 1 o’clock Mr. Chairman, but earlier you indicated
that at the latter end of the meeting we would discuss the witnesses to be called.

Do you want to decide on that now, or do you want to leave that to the steering
committee?

The CHAIRMAN: Before we adjourn I was to announce the membership of
the steering committee, but I wish you would just stay for a moment or two
and perhaps this could be discussed.
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I do not know whether there are any more questions for Mr. Taggart now
that he is here. Are we through with the questions?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I have some questions arising out of the James report.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Taggart has just announced it would assist them very
much if we could have the Health of Animals division witnesses in first so that
they could come and give their evidence and then get back to their work.

I see now that it is one o’clock and before asking someone to move that
we adjourn I will announce the membership of the steering committee.

Mr. Ross: What about the next meeting?

The CraigrMAaN: I think that will have to be subject to the call of the chair
because we have to get permission from the House to sit while the House is
sitting, and that has not been done yet.

Here is the composition of the steering committee: Messrs. A. C. Stewart
(Yorkton), Laing, Hetland, McCubbin, McLean (Huron-Perth), Charlton, Ross
(Souris), Quelch and Argue, along with myself.

Would someone move that we adjourn subject to the call of the chair.

1t is moved by Mr. Diefenbaker that we adjourn.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The CHAIRMAN: Order please, gentlemen. 1 think it would be in order
to have a motion and I would suggest that the committee print from day to
day 1,000 copies in English and 200 in French of the Minutes of Proceedings
and Evidence relating to the prevalence of foot and mouth disease in Saskat-

chewan.

Carried.

And now, I have here in my hand the sessional paper that was laid on the
table of the House yesterday by the minister; and, if someone would move,
I think we could have copies of these papers printed so that every member of
the committee could have a copy. :

Mr. KickHAM: I would so move.

The CHAIRMAN: Moved by Mr. Kickham, seconded by Mr. Charlton that this
sessional paper appear as an appendix to today’s report of our Minutes of
Proceedings and Evidence.

Carried.

When we adjourned at 1 o’clock Mr. Taggart was still in the chair. Are
there any other questions for Mr. Taggart?

Mr. STEWART: Just before you proceed, Mr. Chairman, some reference
was made to the fact that there was no element of provincial responsibility in
connection with this matter. For the benefit of the committee I should like
to read into the record—I will just cite the section numbers—but I would
suggest that these sections be incorporated in our report of Proceedings and
Evidence.

There is a responsibility on the province as well as the federal government
and I will refer you to the Contagious Diseases Animals Act, being chapter
70, of the revised statutes of Saskatchewan, 1949; and I refer you to sections 2, 3,
4 and 9 particularly of that statute. I will not take the time to read them now
but they will be typed in our Minutes of Proceedings. I will refer you also to
the Stock Inspection Act, being chapter 18 of the revised statutes of Saskat-
chewan, 1940; and particularly having regard to sections 3, 4, 5 and also the
sections 7, 8, 9 and 10 of that statute, and the members of the committee can
see what responsibility is on the provincial government.
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“2. In this Act the expression:

1. “animal” means any horse, sheep, goat, swine or poultry and any
animal of the bovine species by whatever technical or familiar name
known;

2. “brucellosis,” commonly known as Bang’s disease, means the dis-
ease wherein any animal is infected with the Brucella abortus (Bang’s
bacillus) irrespective of the occurrence or absence of an abortion;

3. “contagious” means communicable by close contact or inoculation;

4. “disease” means any infectious or contagious disease;

5. “infectious” means communicable in any manner;

6. “inspector” means any inspector employed in the department of
Agriculture and any veterinary surgeon licensed under The Veterinary
Association Act;

7. “minister” means the Minister of Agriculture;

8. “owner” means a person having an animal in his possession or
under his charge. f

3. Any inspector may enter into or upon any premises and exercise any
power and perform any duty with respect to the prevention or control of

brucellosis or any other disease, conferred or imposed upon him by the
regulations. ;

4. (1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations for
the prevention and control of brucellosis and other diseases, and in particular,
without limiting the foregoing generality, with respect to the following matters:

(a) the powers and duties of inspectors with respect to the inspection

* and testing of animals;

(b) the duties of owners;

(c) the means to be employed for the purpose of identifying animals
infected with brucellosis;

(d) the inspection and branding of animals infected with brucellosis;

(e) the disposition of animals reacting to a brucellosis test;

(f) the order in which herds shall be inspected and tested for brucel-
losis in any part of the province:

(g) the testing of herds on an individual basis for brucellosis;

(h) calfhood vaccination for the prevention of brucellosis.

(2) Regulations made pursuant to subsection (1) shall be published in
The Saskatchewan Gazette and shall take effect upon publication
or upon such later date as may be stated therein.

9. Whenever it appears proper, the minister may direct an inspector
or any other suitable person to examine into any alleged outbreak of
brucellosis or any other disease; to cause such scientific investigations
to be made with a view to determining the nature and source of the
outbreak as under the circumstances are deemed necessary; and, in case
an investigation shows reasonable ground for so doing, to take measures
for its suppression or limitation in accordance with the regulations.

Mr. WRiGHT: Mr. Chairman, is it not a fact that these provincial statutes
are superseded by the Dominion Animal Contagious Diseases Act, and that
they are subject to the Contagious Diseases Act? Is that not the position?

Mr. STEWART: No, that statement is not correct. These statutes are within
the provincial powers to pass, have been passed, and are the law of the prov-
ince of Saskatchewan; and, as long as they do not conflict with the Dominion
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Act they have not been ruled out, so they are still the law of the province,
and the province acts under the authority of these statutes.

Mr. WRiGHT: Yes, provided they do not proceed under the dominion
statute. 4

Mr. STEWART: They did not.

Mr. WRIGHT: And the dominion statute is the statute under which the
responsibility is maintained for contagious diseases.

Mr. STEWART: Well, not necessarily, the dominion statute speaks for itself

Mr. WriGHT: Yes.

Mr. STEWART: And also, the provincial statutes speak for themselves; and
if you read the sections to which I have referred you will find that the provin-
cial governments have full power of inspection, checking and everything else.

Mr. WRIGHT: Yes. Those sections are going to be placed on the record,
but I would ask that the sections of the Dominion Contagious Act also be placed
on the record along with them.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions for Dr. Taggart?

Mr. ]J. G. Taggart, Deputy Minister of Agriculture, recalled:

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Yes, I was asking Mr. Taggart, just before we adjourned,
to produce the report from Dr. James respecting stomatitis, and particularly
in the Burns’ feed lot. He was requested in a telegram from the veterinary
director general, Dr. Christie, to do that in a wire dated December 28. 1
would ask the deputy minister if he has that report?

The WITNESS: Yes, Mr. Chairman, there are copies of the report here.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Might I have one?—A. Yes.

Q. That report is dated the 28th of December, 1951—that is on page 2
of the report, Mr. Taggart—I haven’t seen this before—and signed by N. V
James. That report was received on what date, Mr. Taggart? When was that
received by the department in Ottawa?—A. I cannot tell you that, specifically’
but I would take it that if this report is dated the 28th it would go from Dr
James to Dr. Christie and from Dr. Christie to Ottawa.

Q. And it has not been received on January 4, according to the wire sent
by Dr. Childs to Dr. Christie. You have no idea when that was received?—
A. No, I have not.

Q. When was it brought to your attention in your position as more or less
coordinator of the various branches and sections of the department?—A. The
first I saw of this report?—I am not sure that this particular report did come
to my attention as a document. ‘

Q. I see. So far as this report is concerned—it is dated the 28th of
December—you would say that as a report it never came to your attention?—
A. No. It would have been when the situation finally was disclosed to me.
There would be information about it. This report would undoubtedly be the
background, or part of the background. !

Q. When was it finally disclosed to you—the situation that prevailed there
in Regina—sometime during the first week of February?—A. Yes. Pardon me,
may I say just one thing?

Q. Yes.—A. I mentioned this morning that these reports did not come to
me; that is, the reports from the veterinary offices in the field, to the district
veterinary and to the veterinary director general. They do not, as reports.
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But I do get each week a summary report from the director of each o6f the
services. Mr. Young gives me a summary report which contains items fromi
the Health of Animals division; items from their livestock and poultry division
and items from the Plant Products division, and so on; but these are merely
summary statements so I will get some conception of what may be happening.
Q. And did you at any time prior to the first week of February receive
any summary from Mr. Young regarding the situation in Regina at the Burns’
plant, and so on?—A. Not that I remember now, but I am having these reports
checked and if something turns up I will produce it.
Q. Yes. Now, I come to this report from the inspector. I will just read
the material portions:
Owner’s Name Burns & Co. Ltd. P. O. Regina, Sask.
Nature of Disease Suspected Infectious Vesicular Stomatitis in Cattle
Action Taken Instructed by Dr. N. D. Christie, District Veterinarian,
Regina, Sask. I visited above premises & inspected 207 cattle in feed
lots & pens & found 30 of these cattle were exhibiting symptoms of
Stomatitis, slobbering considerable amounts of saliva from the mouths,
difficulty in drinking & inability to feed properly, temperatures slightly
elevated & stiffness in gait when walking. I placed premises under
quarantine but made arrangements for the ante-mortem inspection of
cattle about to be slaughtered & the thorough cleasing & disinfection of
yards, pens, and equipment. I also instructed the plant management to
allow no visitors or other persons to enter the quarantined premises &
also instructed them that no cattle would be tested or permits issued to
allow cattle to be removed until further notice. Treatment was
prescribed for the sick cattle the same as was prescribed for the diseased
herds of L. T. Wass, Mr. L. Wood, & Mr. J. C. Smith which herds are
now completely recovered & released from quarantine, daily visits will
be made to the premises of Burns & Co. & inspections will be made and
treatment supervised.

Then it goes on and gives the particulars of the nature of the declaration of
the inspector under the Animal Contagious Act and, finally: “is hereby
permitted to remove from out of the infected place known as feed lots and
pens at the company’s stockyards, Regina, Saskatchewan wagons for hauling.
feed and manure in the yards—‘also all cattle which are free from symptoms
of disease, for immediate slaughter at the time of ante-mortem inspection.’ ”

Now then, did you at any time receive, in this interim report that you
mentioned now, that we had forgotten about this morning, was there any
mention of this situation?—A. None that I remember; but, as I said, I am
having this report searched and if there is a report I will submit it to the
committee.

Q. I see. Now then, you said something this morning that in the reports
that were made, you gave some reason why the words foot and mouth were
not used, and you said to avert fear and danger—you didn’t finish the sentence:
What did you mean by that?—A. I meant this: after I was informed of
stomatitis being present and of the doubt that it might be foot and mouth;
it appeared to me and I think to all the officers of the department as being
highly undesirable to use the words foot and mouth because if it were used
it would be taken as a settled fact that it was foot and mouth that had infected
that herd, if we use that word; and we thought that if we studied that and
we turned out to be wrong—which could have been, either way—we would
haveé created a great deal of alarm and fear, and upset unnecessarily; and,
therefore, until we were sure what it was it was agreed that we should not
unnecessarily spread alarm or doubt about what the situation was.
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Q. Now, when was it that you and the other officers decided that the words
foot and mouth should not be used for fear it might create unnecessary alarm?
—A. We used the word among ourselves. .

Q. Oh yes.—A. But not for public purposes, not until later.

Q. Or, not at the moment.—A. Well, since we were alarmed to the
extent of thinking that it might be that disease.

Q. Now, when was that?—A. That would be about the middle of
February. It would be between the time I first remember having knowledge
of the thing, and that would be the first part of February, around the 8th
or 10th.

Q. So the time when it was decided not to use the expression “foot
and mouth disease” was between the 2nd February and the 8th February?
—A. Yes, in that period of time.

Q. Now, then, in the production of documents ordered yesterday, for
a copy of all communications that passed between the veterinary officials,
either provincial or federal, and the federal Department of Agriculture—you
saw this order of the House, did you not?—A. Yes.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, you tell us there are some weekly reports made between officials,
were made, in regard to this matter, in part.—A. Yes, the regular weekly form
reports continued to come in throughout that time.

Q. Now you say that you get a weekly report?—A. Yes,'a form report,
that is to say there is a form which is filled out weekly.

‘Q. 'And a matter such as the development of a disease, even thouch it
was just stomatitis, would be included in such a weekly report?—A. Yes, 1
should think it was. As I told you, I do not see these reports every week.

Q' Have you got those weekly reports?—A. The weekly reports are all
on ﬁle in the Health of Animals division. -

Q Are those not reports or communications that passed between veterinary
officials of the federal Department of Agriculture? Are those not reports, com-
munications made by veterinary officials? Were the veterinary officials in
Regina?—A. Yes, these reports would come from Dr. Christie to Dr. Childs.

Q. To Dr. Childs, representing the Department of Agriculture in his
capacity as veterinary director general, is that correct?—A. Yes.

Q. And as such, the type of information that would be passed on to you
should it prove necessary for you to know the facts contained therein, is
that not correct?—A. Yes, any reports made to me in the weekly summary
report would be drawn from these weekly reports that come from all the
district veterinarians to Dr. Childs.

Q. But certainly the reports that would come from a district like Regina
where there had been an outbreak as serious as this, even though stomatitis,
should occupy a prominent place in any weekly report that was made?—A. As
I told you, I do not see those reports. They come to Dr. Childs. A summary
comes to me of all the weekly routine reports from all veterinarians, and they
would deal with any happenings in a district worthy of report.

Q. Would you not expect that a matter as serious as the outbreak of
stomatitis would be considered of sufficient importance to be passed on to you
in the summary of the various reports received by a person occupying the
position of veterinary director general?—A. Vesicular stomatitis is not a report-
able disease in the sense in which it is used in the Act.

Q. So that you would not— —A. That would not necessarily come to me.

Q. And so you would not expect that an outbreak of stomatitis or the
existence of an epidemic in whatever form it was, necessitating the application
of quarantine to the Burns plant, you would not expect that to be reported
to you in a summary of the weekly reports?—A. Not necessarily, no.
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Q. Knowing how similar the symptoms are between stomatitis and foot
and mouth disease, don’t you think, even to a layman, that that would be a
precautionary measure that would be taken and you would be made aware
of a situation that might prove to be dangerous?—A. Yes, it would seem a
desirable procedure and I have no doubt it will be followed in future. .

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. I have no doubt that will happen in the future.

Q. Now, then, when you first became aware of the situation through
Dr. Childs, Mr. Young, rather, did you ask him how it was that no information
had been passed on to you up to that time?—A. No, my inquiry at that time—
I was not familiar with this particular disease at all—my inquiry was just, is
this a serious disease, is this reportable, are there any actions that should be
taken, and I was informed stomatitis should not be regarded seriously,.that
there had been other outbreaks of this disease in Saskatchewan, in particular.

Q. In 1938?—A. I think 1938, 1939 were the years. Dr. Childs could
verify that date. And on the strength of that assurance, it appeared to me
that everything was being done that needed to be done.

Q. I see. Now, then, that would be the first or second of February. How
many days after that was it that you first began to consider that everything
that should have been done had not been done?—A. I do not know that I ever
reached that conclusion.

Q. So that, so far as you are concerned now, you are satisfied that what
everybody, that what officials did should have been done under all the
circumstances?—A. Well, looking back with knowledge of what has happened
one would say no. Lookmd at the position as we saw it at the time, it would
appear that proper precautions had been taken.

Q. And looking forward and realizing how similar those two dlseases are,
and the terrible danger of this being foot and mouth disease, would you not
have expected the same precautions to be taken?—A. Well, as I explained in
answer to other questions, the veterinarians were satisfied from their examina-
tions that they had vesicular stomatitis, and I was bound to accept their verdict
on that technical matter.

Q. Well, then, you did not find out the contrary until the 19th, did you?—
A. Well, by the 19th the doubts of the veterinary people had become’ guite
important in their minds, or the 18th.

Q. When was the test first made that revealed as a result of analysis or
clinical examination that this was stomatitis?—A. That it was stomatitis?

Q. Yes—no, that it was foot and mouth.—A. I cannot give you that date
exactly, I do not know.

Q. The 24th?—A. Oh, the laboratory tests?

Q. Yes.—A. The laboratory tests were finalized on the 23rd or 24th, 1
think on Sunday, the 24th, and they confirmed the diagnosis that bad then
been made in Regina by Dr. Childs and his staff.

Q. Now, then, on what date did Dr. Childs make the diagnosis in Regina
and. confirm it as foot and mouth disease?—A. Shortly preceding that report
from Hull. I cannot give you the exact date of that.

Q. He sent the wire on the 15th February, that is the telegram we
mentioned this morning. On the 18th he sent a telegram to Mr. Young in
Ottawa, which reads:

Clinical evidence amply justifies quarantine livestock mumcxpah‘aes
indicated below for suspected infectious and contagious disease.

Was that the expression he used to cover foot and mouth disease, “suspected
infectious and contagious disease”?—A. Well, it could be, because the day
previously the Burns plant had been quarantined for stomatitis.
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Q. I continue reading:

Ministerial order should be issued immediately establishing
quarantine prohibiting movement of livestock out of and into quarantined
municipalities except through shipments proceeding by rail which must
not be unloaded within quarantine municipalities.

And then it goes on to indicate the areas.

I am trying to find out at what point was it, what day were you notified
by Dr. Childs, or any of his staff, and before the clinical examination was made,
that this is indeed in our opinion foot and mouth disease?—A. Well, that
telegram you first read would be the nearest to a conclusion on that point
that we had received at that time, but I do not believe they actually confirmed,
even on clinical and field examinations, until some later date than that.

Q. Was it after the American doctor arrived that a decision was made it
was foot and mouth disease?—A. I think the final decision, yes, indeed, because
Dr. Shahan was in Regina prior to the final confirmation by Dr. Mitchell.

Q. That final confirmation you mention was before the clinical examina-
tion?—A. No, I think the clinical tests were made in Regina, the field tests at
Regina, and the lab test in Hull, and the final test of the whole was the 23rd
or 24th.

Q. And was the decision that it was foot and mouth disease arrived at
before February 237—A. I think officially the decision was made on the 24th.
, Q. On the 24th?—A. Yes, although it appears from the record that
Dr. Childs himself was convinced before that date that foot and mouth disease
was present. . ’

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. It would appear from the record that Dr. Childs
believed that foot and mouth disease was present before it was officially con-
_ firmed by the lab.

Q. When did he tell you?—A. I do not think he told me that himself.

Q. Did any official of the department before the 24th February notify you
that in their opinion it was foot and mouth disease?—A. Mr. Young reported
to me that Dr. Childs strongly suspected it was foot and mouth disease.

Q. And the date?—A. I cannot give you the exact date—before the 24th!

Q. Would it be on the 23rd?—A. It would be even earlier. The 23rd was
Saturday, it would be a day or two perhaps before that. It might have been
the 19th or the 20th, about that time.

-Q. Now, do you have to give consent for permission to ship cattle out of
an area or yard that has been quarantined? I will mention this case of
March 4 that I have before me. I will read an item in the Toronto Telegram
dealing with shipments from Regina. It reads:

: Animals infected by foot and mouth disease may have been among
shipments to Montreal and other eastern Canadian points, as well as to
the United States, it was feared today.

Do you agree with that?—A. What is the date of that?

Q. The date is March 4.—A. That report says it was feared animals had
-~ been shipped. .

. Q. Yes. Do you share that fear or don’t you?—A. Well, we know that
animals were shipped prior to the application of the quarantine, the second
quarantine on the Burns plant. I think I am right in that.

Q. It says:

From Regina, Jack McCusker, a cattle shipper, told the Telegram
he had sent a shipment to Montreal on February 11 of animals he had
acquired from a meat packing plant in Regina, well after infection had
first been discovered in the plant.

A. Well, we can have the record on that.
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Q. You have those records?—A. We would have the records if there was
any outward movement of an interprovincial shipment.

Q. I would like you to produce that.—A. I think those records have been
produced. That would be the records of shipments of cattle from Burns’
establishment?

Q. Yes, on February 11. How many plants are there in Regina?—
A. Inspected plants?

Q. Yes.—A. Two.

Q. What is the other?—A. Intercontinental. I think that is all there are.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Charlton?

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. First of all I want to ask Dr. Taggart this question: he said that their
first official notice was around, I take it, the 23rd or 24th?—A. Excuse me, sir.
The diagnosis which I understood Dr. Childs to have reached in his own mind
some days earlier was confirmed at the Hull laboratories on the 23rd or 24th,
but the confirmation by the laboratory test was subsequent. Perhaps I should
not try to say what is in Dr. Childs’ mind, but I think Dr. Childs had concluded
pretty definitely that he had foot and mouth disease and that would be some
days before the thing was confirmed by the laboratory at Hull, which confir-
mation became available on the 23rd or 24th.

Q. You sent word to the United States government on the 18th, did you
not?—A. Yes; we told them that we had this disease and described the situation
because we felt we must do so in our own interest, to keep faith, and to report
anything that was even doubtful.

Q. You thought it was sufficiently serious to report to the United States
that it was foot and mouth disease?’—A. No, we did not do that; we reported
the appearance of a disease, the symptoms of which resembled foot and mouth
disease.

Q. Have you any reason to know that Dr. Childs changed his mind around
the 8th or the 9th? You say he told you around the 1st or 2nd of February;
he made some remark that it might be foot and mouth. What reason did he
have in your opinion? Did he say anything to you to lead you to believe that
he had changed his mind, or why he had changed his mind from the 17th of
January to the 1st or 2nd of February?—A. No, I did not get any detailed
reason for that. : Z

Q. He did not make any statement?—A. I pointed out that Mr. Young
reported to me verbally in the early days of February, or possibly earlier than
that—that is the best I can do to place it—that we had this stomatitis at Regina;
and I think undoubtedly he mentioned that the symptoms were superficially
similar to those of foot and mouth. But it would be some days later that I
had contact with Dr. Childs or Dr. Hall. Then shortly after that; I believe, Dr.
Childs went to Regina. However, the exact dates of his movements can be
given by Dr. Childs himself. I had very little contact with Dr. Childs during
that period from the early part of February until we were finally sure we had
foot and mouth.

Q. It appears on the record that on the 9th of February Dr. Childs went on
statutory holidays?—A. That is the time during which I had very little contact;
Dr. Hall was acting at that time; and if there were any three-party' conversa-
tions, such as between Mr. Young, Dr. Hall and myself, they would be the three
people rather than Dr. Childs, Mr. Young and myself.

Q. From the 9th day of February?—A. During the time Dr. Childs was
away.

Q. When did Dr. Childs come back, as far as you know?—A. I have not the
information on the exact duration of his leave; I think it was only for a week,
and then I believe he came back short of his week.

Q. But he sent a wire to Dr. Christie on the 15th, did he not?—A. Yes.
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Q. Did he do that from his home, or in his official capacity from the
office?—A. I do not know that; Dr. Childs could answer that one.

Q. As I understand it in this report of December 28, which is signed by
M. B. James, there is one particular statement I am quite interested in. It says
that the temperature was slightly elevated and that there was stiffness in gait
in walking; so that on the 28th apparently it was serious enough for them to
think that the quarantine was necessary at the Burns plant at that time. Yet
in a report dated March 24 and signed by T. Childs and reporting on this very
thing, the department apparently thought,—in a summary of actions and
procedures in connection with the outbreak of foot and mouth in the provinces
of Saskatchewan—in the second paragraph Dr. Childs said there was no notice-
able foot lesions in the feed lot at Regina. It is quite plain in this report that
Dr. James thought there was a stiffness in gait when walking. So I would
take it from that that there were some noticeable foot lesions, something
noticeably wrong with the feet, yet in Dr. Childs’ report he says there were no
noticeable feet lesions. Still, on the 28th of December the plant was quaran-
tined. Is it not true that on the 17th of January Dr. Childs himself went out
there and released that quarantine?—A. Dr. Childs, I think, was in Regina on
the 17th of January and I understand from reports which came to me that he
examined the cattle in the Burns yard, and presumably the quarantine was
lifted, although I cannot verify from my knowledge that his approval was
subsequent to his being there.

Q. You would naturally think, though, that if Dr. Childs were there, it
would not be on the authority of a lesser official of the department that the
quarantine should be lifted?—A. It was put on in a routine way and reported;
and presumably it could be taken off in the sanfe way when the veterinarians
in charece reported that they weére free; but it would not necessarily follow that
Dr. Childs himself removed the quarantine.

Q. So you do not know who it was who removed the quarantine?—A. No.

Q. You do not know who was responsible for taking it off?—A. No. -The

responsibility I suppose ultimately rests with Dr. Childs, but whether it was
taken off by him or by one of his officers I do not know.

Q. When you say that the responsibility ultimately rests with Dr. Childs,
I would say that it rests higher than that. But you say that Dr. Childs was
responsible for the Animal Contagious Diseases Act, and he definitely must
accept that responsibility.—A. I was using the word “responsibility” in a limited
sense. Dr. Childs administers the Animal Contagious Diseases Act.

Q. You think it would be perfectly all right then for a lesser official at
Regina, for instance, having regard to the seriousness of the situation, to take
that quarantine off on the 17th of January? You think that would be perfectly
all right as fat as your department is concerned?—A. I assume the quarantine
was applied in the first place by the officials on the ground, the inspectors in
consultation with Dr. Christie; and Dr. Christie, in turn, would report that to
Ottawa. I doubt—although I am not sure of my ground—whether Dr. Christie
would ask for and get authority to apply that quarantine before he did so.
That is a point of procedure and I am not sure of it. Dr. Childs could answer
‘that question, of course.

Q. You are not sure then whether he would have had to get the consent
of Dr. Childs before he would put on the quarantine?—A. No. I would prefer
it if you would ask Dr. Childs that question. ;

Q. But you are satisfied in your own mind that this procedure that he
followed, having regard to the seriousness of the situation, and knowing very
well that it could be easily mistaken for foot and mouth disease, that it would
be perfectly all right for one of the officials at Regina to release that quarantine
at the Burns plant?—A. Knowing perfectly well, as you suggested, that this
disease resembles foot and mouth, I know that now, but I did not know anything
particularly about stomatitis when it was first reported.
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Q. So you would change some things now?—A. As far as I am concerned,
I would be more concerned if I heard a suggestion of anything of this sort
because the words “vesicular stomatitis” conveyed no particular meaning to
me at that time.

Q. Yet you had no indication whatsoever previous to the 1lst or 2nd of
February that it might be anything other than vesicular stomatitis?—A. Any
recollections of any indication prior to that date would stick in my memory;
Mr. Young might have mentioned the matter to me earlier, but if he did so, it
did not make sufficient impression to be remembered, and there is no record
which I can find in my files, or that I have been able to find so far.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Wright.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. What was the earliest date to your knowledge or through reports which
have been given to you of any veterinarian, either a private or a government
veterinarian suggesting that the outbreak which was being called vesicular
stomatitis might possibly be something else?—A. That is a very difficult ques-
tion to answer. I do not remember.

Q. To your knowledge or through reports that you had, you say that is
as far as you can go?—A. Yes.

Mr. BROwNE: Did he not answer that question this morning? I think he
answered that question to me this morning.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. No. This is a different question to yours. I say “any veterinarian,
either a government veterinarian or a private veterinarian who was in the area
suggesting” to the department either in Regina or to yourself, to your know-
ledge, as to when the first suggestion was made?—A. One would have to
examine the records very carefully, looking backward to find when that sugges-

tion first was made and by whom. And I must confess that I cannot recall any

document now that would attribute to any preson the suggestion that this was
foot and mouth. I have no doubt that it might have been rumoured about
among the veterinarians. They must have mentioned it, but I have no docu-
ments or memory of it being mentioned to me and I do not remember hearing
anything about it prior to Mr. Young’s telling me about it.

Q. Have you information as to how many community pastures there
are within the quarantine zone and within the buffer zone?—A. I think there
would be no community pastures within the quarantine zone. There are,
speaking from memory and subject to correction, four which are wholly
or partly within the buffer zone, but I will have to get the records to be
sure of my ground there.

Q. When was the decision made to open these pastures to stock from
the buffer zone, and by whom was the decision made, and was it referred
to your department in Ottawa here? It seems to me that the opening of
these pastures within the buffer zone must have been a matter which was
considered by your department.—A. The re-opening of these pastures or

~ the stocking of them in the spring would not be a matter which would be

referred here to Ottawa; and in the case of pastures in or near the buffer zone,
the re-opening there would be determined between the P.F.R.A. officials in
Regina and the veterinarians in Regina.

Q. Your department, under the Contagious Diseases Act, did not make
any suggestion to the people in charge of P.F.R.A. that it might be advisable
to restrict the opening of these pastures until such time as it might be
determined whether the disease was actively contained?—A. The matter was
discussed undoubtedly between Dr. Christie, Dr. Wells, Mr. Thomson, and
the pasture manager, Mr. Youngman; but I have no personal knowledge of
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what this conversation was. I would believe that the re-opening was decide
upon after consultation between the two groups of officers, all of them
- employees of our department.

Mr. QUELCH: I have a question. Were all the cattle returned to the
community pastures in the buffer zone carefully inspected?

The WiTNEss: They have a routine inspection of the cattle when they
are admitted to the pasture but just how detailed that inspection is I am
not sure. They are identified by brand—if necessary they are branded and
recorded—but they do get an inspection. You would have to get the men
who were doing it to find out what the inspection was.

Mr. WricHT: There were no instructions went out from your department
in Ottawa with respect to taking any special care with regard to opening of
pastures in the buffer zone?

The WITNESS: There were no special instructions issued from my office
with respect to that.

The CHAIRMAN: Does any other member wish to ask a question?

By Mr. Browne:

Q. The deputy minister promlsed to bring a report—the first report that
he had of foot and mouth disease. Has he brought this afternoon that first
written report?—A. The first written report to me?

Q. Yes?—A. I am sorry, I missed that. I am afraid I did not note that.

Q. The next question I would like to ask him then, if he has not got
that now—

Some MEMBERS: He has it now.

By Mr. Browne:

Q. Oh.—A. I have another report; I do not think it is the one I am
being asked for. The report I have, Mr. Chairman, is Dr. Mitchell’s memo-
randum to Dr. Young confirming his findings or reporting his findings from
the lab—which confirmed the diagnosis of the disease.

Q. Of what date?—A. This is dated the 29th of February—but the first
report given to Dr. Childs by Dr. Mitchell would be given verbally. This merely
confirms the verbal report.

Q. When did you first get definite written information that this was foot
and mouth disease?—A. The first information I had was given to me by Dr.
Young in the early days of February.

Q. I say “in writing”? Have you anything of that nature at all?>—A. Not of
that nature because we were in constant personal contact daily and there were
no written reports to me at that stage.

Q. I take it this report of Inspector James is a routine report which he
must carry out according to the regulations covering infectious diseases?—A.I
would think so.

Q. “The treatment prescribed for the sick cattle was the same as that
prescribed for the diseased herds of L. T. Waas, R. L. Wood, and J. C. Smith,
which herds are now completely recovered.”

Were there reports of the inspection in regard to these three herds?—A. I
have not that personally—they are in the H. of A. reports.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questiohs?

. By Mr. Charlton:
: Q. I just want to ask the deputy minister the exact location of all the
cattle that were present in the Burns plant or yards at the time that the
quarantine was lifted on the 17th of January? I think that information should
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be available to us and the actual disposition of all cattle that were there at the
time on January 17th when that quarantine was lifted; and what happened
between January 17th and February 17th when the quarantine was put back
on at the Burns yard in Regina? Now there is the point from which all the
infection that has spread in this particular disease has probably emanated—
from the time the quarantine was lifted on the 17th of January to the time it
was re-imposed on the 17th of February. I see the minister looking in Hansard
and I know that some of it is already there.—A. I am under the impression that
some of it is in Hansard.

Q. But it is not nearly all there?—A. I was under the impression that it
was. If there is any deficiency in that information it certainly can be supplied
because there is a record of where those animals went.

Q. Not only the animals but the carcasses killed in the Burns plant during
that time. The second last outbreak has been caused by an infected carcass—
whether it came from the Burns plant or where it has come from, it caused
the second last outbreak. I think all the carcasses should be traced as well.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. I think the deputy minister replied to a question by Mr. Diefenbaker
sometime ago that some of the cattle that were in the Burns plant at that time
had been shipped out of the province to Montreal. Is that right? Some of them
were shipped out of Saskatchewan—out of the 207 head?—A. In this period
between January 17th and February 17th?

Q. In any period after—A. After the lifting of the first quarantine?

Q. No, after December 28th?—A. No, I cannot give you that offhand. That
is in Hansard I think—the destinations of those cattle.

Q. You are not certain whether any cattle were sent out?

Mr. WRricHT: Were they live cattle? I thought all the live cattle were
slaughtered.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. “This informant was Mr. Jack McCusker who told the Toronto Tele-
gram he sent a shipment to Montreal on February 11th of animals he acquired
from the meat plant in Regina well after the infected disease was discovered
in the plant.” Is that statement correct?—A. I cannot tell you offhand; but we
can produce the destinations of all the cattle.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Find the ones Mr. McCusker shipped? He apparently
gave the interview and said he got the cattle from this plant where the infec-
tion was and he shipped them east.

The WiTnESS: I cannot give you that information but if it is not complete
in Hansard I can give you the rest.

By Mr. Argue:
Q. The question in' Hansard was—and this is my own question:

“How many live cattle were sold by Burns'and Company, Regina,
or any agent thereof, from (a) December 1, 1951, to December 27, 1951;
(b) December 28, 1951 to January 6, 1952; (c) since January 17, 19527
How many of each of the above groups of cattle were confined to points in

' (a) Saskatchewan; (b) other parts of Canada; (c¢) the United States?”
Q. I have not got the date of the return but I do not think that would
have a bearing on it—oh, oh, March 19th, 1952, page 587 of Hansard.—A. The

information should be complete up to/the date of your question.

Q. There could not have been any go out since then—because the quarantine
is still on? So, I do not know where this man got the cattle which he shipped
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out?—That is the information but I am not in a position to say whether Mr.
McCusker was in error in making that statement, but that is the information
we have as to the departures from the Burns establishment.

Q. Within the knowledge of the department there were no cattle shipped
out of that plant—well, at any time from December 1st on to other parts of
Canada?—A. That is right.

Q. Within that period 52 head were shipped to other parts of Saskatchewan.

I wonder if any of those 52 were shipped into the Weyburn area or the Ormiston
area where the new outbreak has taken place?—A. I cannot answer that from
memory, but when that record was produced I think it was observed by some-
body that all of these shipments went to an area within about 50 miles from
Regina—all the shipments in Saskatchewan—which, if correct, would exclude
Weyburn.
: Q. In regard to community pastures, are all community pastures within
the buffer or quarantine area open?—A. I rather think there is one operating
at Truax—constructed recently—but are the P.F.R.A. pastures in the quarantine
area all operating or open?—A. There are no pastures in the quarantine area
and the pastures in the buffer zone would be open I think without exception—
I beg your pardon, Ormiston is not.

Q. Are any special precautions being taken now in regard to the community
pastures that are open?—A. As I said there was conversation between the
veterinarian officials and the pasture management at the time, and continuing
consultations. They are both in Regina.

Q. There is no increased inspection or increased precautions relative to
the pastures that are operating?—A. Well there is inspection of the cattle
inward to the pasture.

Q. Well, I do not know if they have had any increased inspection of cattle
going into the community pastures, but I know the inspection that takes place
ordinarily is just no inspection at all. It is a matter of getting the cattle branded,
identified, and records made of the cattle going into the pasture.

Hon. Mr. GARDINER: If the committee will permit me to answer that
question I may say I was in Regina within the last two weeks and I gave the
instructions myself.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Louder.

Hon. Mr. GARDINER: If the committee will permit me—I am not on the
stand myself being questioned but the deputy does not know this himself
and I do not suppose he can answer—but I was in Regina within the last two
weeks.

Mr. WRIiGHT: On what date?

‘Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I would have to go back and look up the dates,
but I discussed the matter with Dr. Christie and Dr. Thompson and I gave
the definite instructions that there was to be special checking.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Was that done verbally or was it put on record?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Verbally. -

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Some of those things should go on record.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: We have pretty good officials.

Mr. WricHT: With pretty poor memories sometimes.

- Mr. ARGUE: If the minister was in Regina and gave his own personal
instructions to the departmental officials out there, then I take it the minister
must have also given the instructions or else O.K.’d the instructions that these
community pastures should be opened.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: That is done every year around the first of
May. The general instructions are that they do not open until the first of May
_but in a year like this the tendency was to open them a little earlier.

¢
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Mr. ARGUE: The general instructions are that community pastures be
opened about the 1st of May, but this was a different situation entirely. There
had never been foot and mouth disease before. It is all right to say that
hindsight is better than foresight but it seemed to me a mistake all of the time
to open the pastures. I think I can quite honestly say that was my opinion
and I mentioned it in the House when this debate was taking place. I mentioned
community pastures and I suggested that other steps be taken to look after
those cattle. The community pasture at Ormiston is not open but had it been
open and had there been the Weyburn situation again you would have had
2,500 head of cattle to slaughter. I think that was taking an undue risk.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. I wonder if the deputy minister can tell us just how serious the disease
vesicular stomatitis is—when it is vesticular stomatitis? Is it not under the
Act at the present time. It is a fairly mild disease and something about which
no one needs to worry too much, is that right?—A. I cannot give evidence on
that disease, but Dr. Childs or one of the veterinarian officers could.

Q. The deputy minister has no idea, as a result of the discussions that
he has had and the experience in regard to foot and mouth disease, and
everything that has happened? He has no opinion as to the seriousness of the
disease, vesicular stomatitis? None at all?—A. Any opinions I would form
would have to be based on the information from the veterinarian officers and
they, of course, tell me that vesicular stomatitis is not regarded as a serious
disease. Tt is not listed as a compulsorily reportable disease.

Q. From the information you have had and I take it you are not saying
that you be responsible for that information, but the information you have is
that it is not a disease serious enough, for example, to enforce quarantine
regulations?—A. Well, they quarantine for it. Yes. There are a good many
diseases which may not be very serious but for which they will quarantine

Jjust to prevent disease from spreading and doing damage to other people.

Q. But it is not a reportable disease?—A. Not compulsorily.

The CHAIRMAN: Might I suggest that Dr. Childs answer that question, it
being a technical one.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. I wonder if Mr. Taggart could tell us who was looking after these
cattle shipments going out from the Burns’ feed lot. According to this return
—it us up to the end of the year, December 28th—it is—1951? There was
considerable discussion about this in the House when the matter was up not
so long ago; and, as I recall it, on that particular date there were 52 of these
cattle shipped to some other places in Saskatchewan—153 head of cattle. Do
I take it then, or do you know whether these 153 head of cattle were disposed
of in the normal fashion?—A. Well, as I said before, Mr. Chairman, I thought
these cattle had all been accounted for in the return to the House, and I thought
that information was' on Hansard. I might read to you from Hansard, at
page 588—the Hansard of March 19—in reply to Mr. Argue’s question as to
how many live cattle were sold by the Burns’ Company, and it referred to
groups of cattle. It is practically certain, I should say that these cattle could
not be shipped from the Burns’ establishment in single shipments, but there
might be two or three or half a dozen go on one truck to one farm. Now, the
answer dealing with that 52, in all probability that covers more than 52 animals,
I rather believe that refers to the number of shipments, 52 shipments.

Q. Oh yes, there were 52 shipments.—A. I would take it from the way the
question was answered that it is 52 shipments to 52 points in Saskatchewan.
Now, I would have to go back and look into the record to see whether that is
exactly right or not.
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Q. For our next meeting might I ask that you bring in a return of the
information showing the disposal of these 207 head of cattle, 145 head of sheep
and 50 head of swine? And, can you give us where they were shipped to; and,
if they were not shipped out, whether they were slaughtered? I take it from
the information you gave in your evidence this morning from what I think you
called your inspection reports that they would indicate where that meat was
shipped, if the animals were slaughtered; particularly, in so far as the cattle,
sheep and swine that were slaughtered were concerned. And I would like as a
second return a copy of these letters, or lists of these inspection slips or
inspection returns—whatever the proper name is—showing where that meat
went to, where the carcasses went; and I think, if we get that information we
would then have definitely the disposition of these animals which were in the
Burns’ Company stockyard on December 28. Now, there is a further question:
following the lifting of the quarantine on January 17 on the Burns’ Company
yards I would like to know what cattle, sheep and swine then went into the
yard and what disposition was made of those animals. And now, we could get
that from the Burns people, they could give us that information.—A. I am
under the impression that was given to the House in the form of a return. We
will certainly check up on it.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. If T might now, I would like to refer to a letter which appears in this
return. It is a letter written by Mr. Saint for the veterinary director general,
and it says: “Attached hereto for your information is a list of shipments of
meats and other animal products consigned by est. 23E, Burns and Company,
Saskatchewan, to various points throughout Canada. Please note this list
includes shipments made on and after November 16, up to January 23 and
includes the description of the product and the consignee. After the latter
date no shipments were made.” It does not give anything beyond that date. It

gives the shipments up to the 23rd, but it does not go from the 23rd to the 28th;

and it does not give the numbers, it shows the car numbers, the grades, the
number of pounds, and so on in detail. It gives the detail of the shipments of
meat and carcasses, it gives the disposal of the animals.—A. Mr. Chairman,
that return I think is intended to be complete to the 19th only. I haven’t Mr.
Saint’s letter, but I am told that these declarations are complete up to the
19th of February. f

. Q. That is what it says, up to the 19th; but it does not give the right answer.
I am going to ask this question regarding Mr. Jack McCusker. He is reported
to have given a statement to the Toronto Telegram that he sent a shipment to
Montreal on February 11 of animals he acquired from a meat packing plant in
Regina where infection had been discovered. He also indicates that there
were two plants in Regina and there was only one in which infection had been
detected. He says that he gave this statement to be correct. I can only take it
that Mr. Jack McCusker’s memory is sound as to the statement he made to the
Toronto Telegram, that he shipped a shipment of cattle on February 11 of
animals—these must be live animals—and they came from the Burns Company;
and they are not included in the statement, so this report is just specious.

The CHAIRMAN: I take it that the return that Mr. Diefenbaker just
referred to is not in answer to your question?

Mr. HARKNESS: From what I can make out of the report, I do not think it
is. What I wanted to know is, first, the disposition of these animals, both in the
form of live animals and in the form of carcasses. The next point we want to
know about is, what animals were in this yard at the time of the lifting of the
quarantine on January 17, before the next quarantine was imposed; and, what
disposition was made of those animals. That, I take it, will give us the picture
of what we want.
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Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I loaned my copy of these documents to some-
body this morning, and there are not many other copies; but I assume that
information is on there about the point he raised; if it is not, it ought to be.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Decore?

By Mr. Decore:

Q. Mr. Chairman, before I ask the deputy minister any question, I would
just like to draw his attention to section 9 of the Contagious Diseases Act (Sask.)
if I may: being chapter 70 of the revised statutes of Saskatchewan, 1949, to
section 9, and this particular section reads:

“Whenever it appears proper, the minister may direct an inspector
or any other suitable person to examine into any alleged outbreak of
brucellosis or any other disease; to cause such scientific investigations
to be made with a view to determining the nature and source of the
outbreak as under the circumstances are deemed necessary; and, in
case an investigation shows reasonable ground for so doing, to take
measures for its suppression or limitation in accordance with the regula-
tions”.

Now, the second question I want to put to Dr. Taggart is: have there been
any representations made by the provincial minister or his deputy, either
directly to you or to anybody else in your department, to your knowledge,
expressing concern about this cattle disease, say prior to the middle of
February last?—A. I have no memory of any communications directly from
the provincial government prior to February concerning this problem.

Q. Do you know whether or not there were any provincial officials who
joined in with you? Did you have any appeals in Regina in connection with
this natural disaster?—A. None that is on our report; and I think this informa-
tion has been given to the House in answer to questions—a number of
veterinarians examined one or more of these herds and reported on them and
diagnosed them as having vesicular stomatitis.

Q. Was that for the government or by private veterinarians?—A. Prlvate
veterinarians, reporting, I think, to both the provincial and federal veterinarians;
and I am not sure whether the provincial veterinarians examined, or how many
of them examined herds on the ground. To the best of my knowledge there
are no provincial veterinaries employed full time by the province of Saskat-
chewan. Now, on this, here again I am not giving evidence on a point I have
no personal knowledge of.

Q. Did you get any assistance from the provincial veterinaries?—A. There
is' nothing in our report to indicate that as far as I can recall.

Q. Did you get any assistance from the provincial Department of Agricul-
ture for some time prior to the middle of February; any capital assistance
or otherwise?—A. I do not think there was any connection between the
provincial staff and our staff prior to that date. I do not know of any. There
was subsequently, after the disease was confirmed the provincial government
did assist our veterinaries in a number of ways.

Q. Well, is it usually the case that the provincial Department of Agriculture
would cooperate to the fullest extent with the federal Department of Agriculture
in the case of any serious outbreak of this nature?—A. Oh, I think that is usual,
yes. /

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Would you not say that was general in the Department of Agriculture in
Regina, that every effort was made to cooperate with the federal department?
—A. I have no reason for saying anything else. After the disease was known
and identified we got complete cooperatlon from the provincial Department
of Agriculture.
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Q. And before the disease was known you would not have had any
occasion for that?—A. No, we would not have had any occasion for that.

By Mr. McLean:

Q. After it became apparent that this outbreak might be foot and mouth
disease and a quarantine was imposed was there any attempt made to restrict
the movement of cattle coming from other parts of Saskatchewan, beyond
the areas in which the first outbreak occurred?—A. I could give you some
information on that now.

The CHAIRMAN: I think Mr. Taggart has something he would like to put on
the record and which might anticipate many questions members would like
to ask.

The WirNESS: This is a memorandum from the Health of Animals division
reporting the movement of live stock for November, December, January and
February from the Burns’ Company and the inter-continental packers yards in
Regina.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Who signed that?—A. It is not signed, it is a routine report fo Ottawa
respecting the movement of cattle.

Q. To whom?—A. To the director of production services. It is a more °

complete return than the other one to which we referred I take it this return
may be more complete than the return which was given to the House. -1 am
sure about that because I think the return to the House carried it up to the
19th of February and this gives to the end of February; and, of course, there
would be no difference because there will be no shipments after the 19th of
February. The information contained on this indicates that the number of head
of cattle moved directly from the plant was 207.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): That is the total number?

The WITNESS: Yes.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Is that split up as between the two plants?—A. Yes, I think so. From
Burns, no, from Intercontinental, shipments amounted to 69 out of a total of
207. I can summarize that by saying that these cattle were shipped to 26
individual people, or 26 destinations perhaps, and that the destinations were
in: R. M. 128, Bechard; R. M. 219, Earl Grey; R. M. 159, Regina, Sherwood;
R. M. 156, Indian Head; R. M. 128, Lajord; R. M. 161, Moose Jaw; R. M. 221,
Penzance; R. M. 159, Sherwood municipality; R. M. 158, Richardson.

Now, those municipalities are all within the quarantine zone or the buffer
zone and not far outside of the quarantine zone. The information is that
there were no cattle shipped to other destinations outside of that area during
the months November, December, 1951, January and February, 1952 from
Burns & Company and from the Intercontinental Company. Now, that seems
to suggest that Mr. McCusker must have been in error when he claimed to
have taken cattle out of one of these plants to Montreal because the two facts
do not jibe. What the explanation is, I cannot say.

Q. Mr. Taggart, can you give us any information as to where the carcass or-

the animal came from that was responsible for the Ormiston outbreak, It was
reported the Ormiston outbreak was the result of certain meat. - Where did that
carcass come from, when was it shipped out, what plant was it from, when was
it received by the people at Ormiston, and all of the details, with respect.to
that particular carcass, that you have in your department?—A. I have very
few details, but, from memory, the carcass was purchased from a local butcher
by a farmer named Kivall.
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Q. From a local butcher?—A. Yes.

Q. Where did he get it?—A. I have not the information as to the origin,
if there was an origin back of that, whether he purchased it as a quarter of
beef or purchased it as an animal and killed it.

Q. Are you coming before this committee, Mr. Taggart, and telling us
that an outbreak has taken place out there two or three weeks ago and your
department has no information on that certain animal and you have not
traced that animal as yet?—A. I said I have not the information myself. The
veterinarians would be, undoubtedly, making every effort to find the origin
of that disease. The probability is, according to other experience, that we
only sort out the probabilities, and the chances certainly of pinning it down
to a particular source are not very good.

Q. And you have no further report on that from your department?—A. I
have not, but as I said, the investigation is carried on by the veterinarians on
the ground and whatever findings they have found will be reported to Dr.
Childs, but that will be produced by the men who handle the records.

Q. It seems to me in a case like this where a fresh outbreak has occurred—

Right hon. Mr. GARDINER: May I raise an objection to this procedure, Mr.
Chairman? The men who have all that information are sitting here waiting
to give it, so why are we having all this performance here trying to question
a man who has not got the information and should not have it. As a matter
of fact, when you are dealing with a disease of this kind you are not spreading

rumour all over the country, such as this statement here made by a Montreal .

man who could not know where the cattle came from. The men are here ready
to give you the right information, so let them give it.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. After all, we are entitled to konw what co-ordination is in th1s depart-
ment. Surely the deputy minister in charge of the department has some know-
ledge and has available to him the facilities to answer. As far as details are
cencerned I can understand what the minister says, but surely a deputy minister,
representing the minister, should have available to him this information.

I want to draw one matter to his attention. He mentioned a moment ago
that because of the fact that he has a document that does no show MecCusker’s
name, it does not answer McCusker. As a matter of fact, McCusker lives
in Sherwood municipality. In any event, the shipment was made to him there
and delivered to Montreal, and all one has to do is to ask this man McCusker as
to whether or not he, in fact, purchased these cattle from Burns during the
period the place was under quarantine. :

I want to ask the minister this. During that period of the quarantine
quite a large number of shipments were made by Burns and Company. I see
here in the document, pages 32 and 33 in return tabled yesterday, which
apparently does not contain all the documents because that document there
is one which should be included in it as well as the report from Dr. James.
That was not included. I would ask him to tell us how it was that during the
period January 5 to 17 such extensive shipments were made by Burns and
Company from this plant to all parts of Canada. Was that permitted under the
quarantine, or was the quarantine restricted only to the feedlots and the
rest of the place operated during the time of the quarantine.—A. Dr. James had
better answer that question, but my answer would be that the quarantine
applied to the yards and to the animals and to the removal of live animals
from the yards, but under inspection the meat itself would have moved.

Q. So meat was permitted to be removed?—A. To be removed out.

Q. And that would be the explanation of this document which indicates
many bundles of hides, skins, and many thousands of pounds of beef were
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shipped from Burns to Montreal, to Toronto, to Quebee city, to Newmarket, to
Chicago, to Windsor, and then scraps sent to McCabe Meat Meal, of which it
does not give the address; so the explanation is, as far as these products are
concerned, hides and the like, they could be shipped out from Burns and
Company during the period of quarantine. That is correct?—A. Those products
would be shipped out under inspection.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions?

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. The deputy minister said they are shipped out under inspection, but
are they going to tell us those animals were not infected when they were
shipped out, when they were slaughtered? The report here, signed by Dr.
James, which is form PHA 59, “Licence for removal of animals from infected
place,” says:

Under the authority of the Animal Contagious Diseases Act,
R.S.C.; 1927,

Burns and Co., Ltd.,, Regina, Sask. is hereby permitted to remove
from out of the infected place known as .feed lots and pens at the
company’s stockyards, Regina, Sask. wagons for hauling feed and
manure in the yards—‘“also all cattle which are free from symptoms
of disease, for immediate slaughter at the time of anti-mortem inspec-
tion.” All vehicles, equipment and boots and clothing of attendants
to be thoroughly cleansed and disinfected each day and no person except-
ing regular staff of employees to enter or leave yards, and no cattle to be
tested or removed from premises until further notice.

Now, what cattle were free from symptoms of disease? 207 cattle, the
number of animals on the premises minus 30, that is 177. 177 cattle that
could have been shipped out of there. Now, is he sure that at that time none
of these cattle were coming down with disease later when they were slaugh-
tered? That material, that beef was sent, as Mr. Diefenbaker said, right from
British Columbia through to Quebec, and even as 1 understand it, the quaran-
tine, the second quarantine was put on at the Burns plant on the 17th February.
I thought it was the 17th February. It was given to us before. On February
29, Procter and Gamble of Hamilton, Ontario, received 59,700 pounds of
inedible oil or fat, I imagine it is, and there were hides and meat sent all
over the country.—A. Well, as I said, Mr. Chairman, those shipments went
out of that plant under H. of A. inspection during the time quarantine was
in suspense, and I think, from the records, prior to that.

Q. From January 17 to February 177—A. Yes.

Q. There was nothing to stop anything from going out?—A. Nothing,
except regular inspection for interprovincial shipments.

Q. The quarantine was lifted on January 17?—A. Yes.

Q. What possible reason could anybody have for stopping a live animal
from being taken out of the Burns yard to ship to Montreal or British
Columbia?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: There would not need to be any objection
because they are not in this business.

Mr. CHARLTON: If they are not in that business they would not be shipping
out, but evidently there were some shipped out. There would be no reason—

The Wirness: Cattle going out of stockyards to country points must go
out under inspection. They are not allowed to go out without it.

By Mr. Diefenbaker: ‘
Q. A kind of a quarantine sieve?—A. That applies to Toronto and every-
where else.
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By Mr. Browne: _

Q. I wonder if the deputy minister has a copy of the report, and if he
can reconcile the order which is made on PHA 49 with the one referred to
by my honourable friend, No. PHA 59. 49 says “I hereby certify that I have
examined” all these cattle that were “on the premises of Burns & Co. at their
stockyards in Regina, and said to belong to or to be in charge of the above
owners and suspect the said cattle to be suffering from an infectious and
contagious disease known as infectious vasicular stomatitis. The said cattle
are hereby ordered to be held in quarantine until released by a veterinarian of
the federal Department of Agriculture...”

Now, on the same date he says that all cattle which are free from the
symptoms of disease may be removed from the plant. How do you reconcile
the one and the other?—A. I should think that Dr. Childs or some of his men
can answer that question.

Q. Can the deputy minister answer it?—A. I cannot, no.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Just a minor point of explanation. On page 34 of this return which
was tabled yesterday—has the deputy minister a copy of it there?—A. No,
I have not a copy.

Q. I believe it is the fourth shipment from the top of the page, on
January 25, Burns, C.A.L. What does that abbreviation stand for? Would
that happen to be Calgary or California, or what is it? What is that C.A.L.?7—
A. V.A.N. is problably Vancouver.

Q. You say V.A.N. is Vancouver, and so C.A.L. is Calgary?—A. Probably.

Q. It is pretty difficult to tell where shipments go when you abbreviate
it that way. I take it to mean Calgary and Vancouver.—A. I would assume
that; that is shipped to their plants in Calgary or Vancouver, as the case may be.

The CHAIRMAN: If there are no more questions of Dr. Taggart, we have
Dr. Childs with us, the Veterinary Director-General for the federal Department
of Agriculture. I am going to ask Dr. Childs to look at my watch here before
calling upon him, and I will get the feeling of the committee as to when this
meeting should adjourn, so that Dr. Childs will have an idea when to break off.
Is 6:00 o’clock agreable to the committee?

Agreed.
We will call on Dr. Childs now to give his report of this disease from its
inception, I premume, up to the present time.

Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director-General, called:

The WiTNEsS: Mr. Chairman and hon. gentlemen: first I feel I should
give you a brief outline of the duties and responsibilities of the Health of
Animals division so that you may be a little clearer in your mind as to what
procedures are followed in dealing with various things.

We are responsible—I mean the Health of Animals division—for keeping
track of the disease situation in all countries of the world. We get reports
from various countries with which we have trade relations about the disease
situation. We at least get monthly reports and if there is anything serious
which occurs we get them more often. We get cables on certain thmgs There
is that about it.

We have, then, certain safeguards to prevent the introduction of those
diseases into Canada. That is, livestock come in under a permit, which is
issued under the authority of the minister. And if a country is not declared to
be free of the serious animal diseases, that country does not get a permit.
That is all.
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In any case, if the animals do come in on a permit, they are placed under
quarantine and they go to a quarantine station for a certain period of time.

From various countries we receive shipments of hides and such like,
countries which have foot and mouth, and rinderpest; but they come into
Canada in a certain way; if they are hard dried, there is no danger of disease.
All right. But if not, here are restrictions, and they go to a tannery where they
are disinfected; they come in under seal and the seal on the car is broken by an
officer of the department, and the hides are processed and disinfected under
supervision.

- In adition to that, of course, there are some 115 or more packing plants in
Canada which are under departmental supervision and inspection. A goodly
number of these plants, some 70 or more, are plants where slaughtering is carried
on. And to give you an idea of what goes on at those plants, I mean what
the supervision is of animals which are sent in there for slaughter for food
purposes, they receive an antemortem inspection; that is, a veterinarian looks
them over, and if he sees anything amiss with an animal or animals, they are
put aside in a separate pen, and they will be tagged in the ear with a depart-
mental tag, and held back; and they will be re-examined; and if it is decided
that they can be slaughtered without any danger, they will be slaughtered
at the end of the regular kill.

In addition to that, of course, plant supervision means this: that all steps
from the time the animal is driven into the plant and slaughtered until the
finished product is packaged, are under supervision. We check the proper
marking, and see that the designation on the food is correct as to the contents,
and all that. That is just to give you some idea of what goes on there.

Well now, there are many other ramifications of this thing, such as the
tuberculosis program and others of that kind. However, that does not come close
to the subject under discussion here today.

To come back to this foot and mouth disease now, the first intimation we
had of a vesicular disease at that time was the report of that difficulty by a
certain gentleman in McLean, Saskatchewan. His herd was examined first
by a private practitioner.

Mr. WricHT: What was the name of the man?

The WriTness: That would be, I suppose, permissible? It would be all
right to give the name? It has been shown often enough. It was T.L. Waas,
I think.

It was there that the disease first appeared, according to the owner, about
the 26th of November. He called in a local practitioner from somewhere down
the line, Indian Head, I think; that practitioner was ill and from the symptoms
given by the owner, that veterinary prescribed a digestive remedy.

Mr. WriGHT: What was the name of that practitioner?

The WITNESS: His name was Richards, I believe; I am sorry that I cannot
give you his initials; it was Dr. Richards.

The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment, I think we had better let Dr. Childs go right
through with his statement and then have the question period follow that.

Mr. WriGHT: From the very general sort of remarks he is making, we want
particular information in this committee, and I think the witness should particu-
larize more in his statement, or it will not be of much value to the committee.

Mr. JuTraS: I think this information is very valuable to us in getting the
general set-up first, and I think we should give the witness a chance to make
a general statement.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I think he should make his statement, but I think he
could be a little more precise and not be so mysterious as when he said that
a certain gentleman in Saskatchewan had some cattle; I think he should give
us the name. He is making it tbo mysterious. .
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The WiTNESS: To come back to Mr. Waas, and by the way his initials should
be L.T. His cattle apparently developed this condition, and it was first noticed
on the 26th of November. The local practitioner on being advised of the condi-
tion over the telephone, and being ill, could not go out to see them, so he pre-
scribed for them, and I think he prescribed a physic, thinking it was digestive
trouble.

Then two neighbours came over, I believe, to assist Mr. Waas in administer-
ing the medicine. One of the neighbours was a man named Wood, and the other
was named Smith. That was done and a few days later when the cattle did
not seem to be improving in the way they should, apparently, Mr. Waas, I
believe, called the Animal Health Department at Regina, and I think it would be
the provincial department.

It is my understanding that they sent out Dr. Hunter who, I believe, is
the assistant provincial veterinary. Dr. Johnson is the provincial veterinary.

They sent Dr. Hunter out and he had a look at them. I might say that
it was 9:00 o’clock at night and it was hardly fair to have to make an examina-
tion under artificial light; but it was apparently done and he pronounced it
to be a virus disease and decided that he should go back and read up on it,
that is, look it up.

I believe that was on the 1st of December; and I think he reported this
to our branch out there, our district office, the next day, which would be the

2nd day of December.

The result was that he went out along with Dr. Carlson, and Dr. James
of the Health of Animals division, and they looked over these cattle and came
to the conclusion that it was vesicular stomatitis. Now, that was that. Dr.
James wired in that information and we wired back: “Please place them

under quarantine.” 1
Mr. WricHT: Are the dates of these wires in the report?

The WiTNESS: The date of the wire would probably be the 3rd; I have not
got the date here; I mean the 3rd of December.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: That is not in the record or in the return which was
brought down yesterday.

The WITNESS:'Anyway, they were instructed to quarantine the herd and
keep them under close observation. That was done. -

Mr. HARKNESS: Did you say that the area was quarantined?

The WiTNESS: No. The herd was quarantined.

Mr. HARKNESS: You mean the Waas farm was quarantined? ;

The WrIrNEsSs: That is right, sir. They were kept under close observation.
Dr. James visited that herd a number of times thereafter and said they were
coming along very fine, so much so that he reported their recovery on the 8th
of December.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Is that in the documents too?

The WITNESS: I think so.

Mr. CHARLTON: Could you explain the inoculation which Dr. James made
at that time?

The WITNESS: Yes. Dr. James inoculated two horses at Waas’ by using
the tongue scarification method and rubbing in material from the affected
animals.

Mr. WRIGHT: On what date was that?

The WiITNESS: That would be the 3rd, I believe.

Mr. WRIGHT: You mean the 3rd of December?
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The WriTNESs: Yes, that is right. And as I said, they were kept under
observation and they appeared to have recovered. And if my memory is cor-
rect, he recommended removal of the quarantine on the 8th.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Is that in writing too?
The WITNESS: I think so.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: It is not in the return.
Mr. BENNETT: Let the witness go on.

The WITNESS: About the 12th, I think it was, of December or thereabouts,
Wood and Smith, the two neighbours who had helped Waas to medicate his
cattle noticed that some of their own were going off their feed and showing
the same symptoms and the same conditions, apparently; and they were placed
under quarantine observation also.

I.believe the next appearance of the trouble was in the Burns feed lot, and
that was on the 28th of December. That feed lot was put under quarantine
and the infected animals isolated.

In the meantime other cases occurred—a few others—and I would say in
all those the report was very mild and typical. There were no really pro-
nounced lesions such as you would expect with foot and mouth disease.

I might say here also that during the more or less epidemic of vesicular
stomatitis throughout the west and in Saskatchewan, in the winter of 1938 and
1939,—I know this personally—both Drs. James and Carlson were employed by
the department in Saskatchewan. I know that Dr. James particularly saw a
great many of those cases of vesicular stomatitis and he was quite familiar with
them. I also think that Dr. James saw foot and mouth disease in Europe during
the first great war—it was common enough over there and although I would not
swear to it I think that he did see it. I saw it there myself.

Later on disease did appear in pretty much of a group down along the
Woscana Creek. It was apparently very difficult to find out where it came from
but later it transpired that there had been a farmhand employed at the Waas
place during the autumn. He left there on the day on which Waas noticed his
cattle showing symptoms of this disease. He went over to the bigger dairy
herd of Hanley and went to work there.

Mr. ARGUE: Where did he go to work?
The WiTNEss: With Hanley.
Mr. DarrocH: What was the date again?

The WirNess: He left the Waas premises on the 26th and he went to
Hanley’s on the 27th. I believe he really started to work for Hanley on the
29th.

Ten or twelve days later the odd one of Hanley’s cattle began to show this
trouble. It was very mild and cleared up so quickly that apparently he did not
think it worth while calling in a private practitioner or reporting it anywhere.
In fact we knew nothing about it being on those premises at all until I was out
there and found out about it on the 19th of February. It had been through his
herd—he says not all of them but some of them. Some did not show anything

at all, hardly. It was not reported. The cattle came back to milk and so on, but -

undoubtedely it was the disease.

Well, now, Hanley sold livestock here and there. He sold two calves down
south. That accounted for the little outbreak down at Truax—on the Beingess-
ner and Demerse places. Infection of their premises was traced to the two
calves—two Holstein heifers.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: What date was that?

The WiTNEss: I cannot give you the date offhand.

Mr. ArRGUE: From the Waas herd?
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The WiTnESS: No, no, from the Hanley herd.
Mr. DIEFENBAKER: It would be in February?

The WiTnEsS: It was February they found it in Truax. The calves had been
there for some time—a couple of weeks—and unfortunately the herd of
Demerse had mingled with the herd of Beingessner—I would not say which
was which—but the result was that the infection got both of them through those
two calves.

During all this time there was, of course, quite a bit of milk production by
Hanley, but luckily he had a pasteurizing plant and the milk was pasteurized.
However, there were other ways of spreading it. There are close neighbours,
dogs going back and forth, and brewer’s grain or brewer’s malt being trucked
about and the truck would be in his place and in other places, back and forth.
That appears to be the way the infection was spread around there. You will
remember that this was never reported to anybody.

The way it was found was through a much smaller herd right in the vicinity
which reported something wrong. Dr. James went over to have a look and,
when looking them over he was informed that Mr. Hanley had this disease back
in December about the 10th or 12th. I think that accounts for most of the
spread around there—in fact I am fairly sure it does.

Mr. ArRcUE: I wonder if you can give us the dates on which the heifers went
to Truax—or approximately the date?

The Wirness: I cannot do that right out of my head.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: A couple of weeks before the 19th?

The WiTNEss: Yes. That would be back in early February.
Mr. Bryce: The 5th or 6th?

The WiTNESS: February 8th—that is eleven days. They might have been of
course showing the disease a day or so or more before it was noticed. That
accounts for most of the spread there. ‘

Now, keep in mind that at each of these places as they were found to
have this trouble instructions were given: Put those premises under close
quarantine and observation.

We have always cautioned our men not to use the term “foot and mouth
disease” loosely. We know the implications. You gentlemen know now too. We
have known for a long time what would be the upshot if you ever said “foot
and mouth disease”.

We know right well how it would affect international trade and affect the
whole national economy. We know that well. However we did not suspect there
would be foot and mouth disease up there. It was absolutely preposterous—
2,000 miles from anywhere that you would expect it. You would expect it at
some of our coasts or at our quarantine stations, but not out there.

However, it did appear there. Why it got there we cannot swear at all.
Nevertheless, it is there. Of course, hindsight is much better than foresight
but we did not suspect it was foot and mouth disease. We had talked this
over—myself, Dr. Hall, Dr. Stewart—those are our senior men. They have
had vesicular stomatitis out there before and we thought it must be just the
same thing again. We know that vesicular stomatitis is common enough in
the States even to this day in certain parts; and it has appeared in the west
more than once. However, it is apparent that this was one of the cases where
it was not vesicular stomatitis though we have no actual proof that there was
not vesicular stomatitis there too and, as I go on, you may see the point why
that may be so.

Coming along to my visit out to Saskatchewan in January. There was not
enough alarm or anything like that in connection with this vesicular condition
to take me out there. It was not that which took me out there at all. I went
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out to speak to the livestock men on shipping fever, methods of prevention,
cure, and so on. When I got through with them I was slated to meet the
poultry people of the west and deal with Newcastle disease. That I did.

Well, we had a look around and it took up a lot of my time—more time
than I had allotted. I was not aware I would be required to talk about New-
castle disease when I got out there.

However, we got around and had a look at the Burns feed lot and packing
plant and looked over things along with Dr. Carlson, Dr. James, and the
veterinarian in charge of the plant, Dr. Dryden.

That would be on the 18th of January. We did not see anything there.
As a matter of fact there was nothing to be seen hardly in Burns’ feed lot—
nothing to lead you to suppose there was anything serious there at all.

We looked around at the carcasses slaughtered, hearts and other portions,
and we did see some indications of mild conditions which we put down to
mouldy feed, spoiled feed, or something like that. We did not see any foot
lesions; we saw a good case of foot rot..

Mr. WRIGHT: Examination was made for lesions?

The WiTNESS: Oh, yes. We looked them over sure enough.

We did not see anything there that would indicate seriousness at all and, .
speaking of your quarantine that was brought out awhile ago, the procedure
is this in regard to quarantines.

If a departmental.veterinarian finds or suspects that a serious condition
exists he has authority to place a quarantine, which he does; and he reports it.
He reexamines in due time and if he finds there is no disease and he has been
mistaken, or that the disease has been there and eradicated, he recommends
removal of the quarantine. He sends that in on a special form—a recom-
mendation to remove quarantine.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:
Q. Was that sent in?—A. Yes, sir. That is routine.
Q. It is not in the report I got?—A. That is a routine.
Q. I do not care whether it is routine or not, it is not in the return.

Some Hon. MEMBERS: Six o’clock.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: On the question just raised, I must apologize
for not going carefully into this when it was submitted to me as being all the
documents. I have just been getting an explanation and I am told that in the
House earlier I had said that documents with names of persons were privileged,
and I presume that is why Dr. Childs hesitated to give the name of Mr. Waas.
They did not put those documents in the return. Now as you appreciate, when
I made the statement yesterday I said that everything was in there, and
everything must be in the return. It will all be brought down here or in the
House, whichever you wish.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Could we get those details at once? You see, Mr. Chair-
man, I asked for a copy of all the communications which had passed between
the veterinary officials, and there is no right in any official in any department
selecting this and that letter or any other information and saying that it
should not be submitted. We should have the whole return. These documents
I am asking for tomorrow. I want to say again that these documents must
be here because it is only after examination that you know what is in them.
When I got this return all I can say is that there was even less attention to
this matter than I had expected it to get.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Apart altogether from the question of whether
officials have any right to consider certain communications privileged—

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: They have not.




AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION 55

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: —we will not discuss that now. We are going
to give you all the documents. I do not know whether everything is on this
file, but most of it is there, and whatever else there is you are going to get.
We will try to have it for you tomorrow. I am sorry that we did not have
it earlier.

Mr. ARGUE: I wonder if the minister could have several copies of the
return made so that more than one member of the committee can have an
opportunity of studying it?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: When we get these documents now I hope they will
get an unexpurgated edition, that we will have everything.

The CHAIRMAN: The next meeting has been mentioned, and I suggest that,
with your consent, we meet again tomorrow morning at 11 o’clock. I was
going to suggest we sit tonight, but they tell me it is Wednesday night.

Hon. MEMBERS: No, no.

Mr. WRIGHT: Mr. Chairman, I want to suggest that witnesses appearing
before this committee, like Dr. Childs, giving us the history of this matter
should have the story in written form so it can be passed around to members
of the committee, and he could read that. I must say that a rambling story
of this kind is of very little use to the committee. It is certainly history. It
is not evidence. I want to suggest to the witness that if he wants to appear
before the committee he should have a written statement giving all of these
particulars, and in such form that copies can be passed around to members of
the committee so we can follow without interruption.

Mr. BENNETT: On the contrary, I think Dr. Childs’ evidence has been very,
very, informative.

The CHAIRMAN: It is agreed that we meet at the call of the chair tomorrow
at 11 o’clock? ;

Agreed
The committee adjourned.
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APPENDICE A ‘:

SESSIONAL PAPER No. 169 F ’
TuUESDAY, April 29, 1952 !

Mr. Diefenbaker, M.P.

Address to His Excellency the Governor General for a copy of all commu-
nications that passed between veterinary officials either Provincial or Federal
and the Federal Department of Agriculture, together with all records since the
17th day of November, 1951, relative to the cattle epidemic of vesicular stoma-
titis or foot and mouth disease in Saskatchewan, also all certificates or state-
ments of analysis showing the results of the chemical examination of suspected
specimens of either of said cattle diseases.

Order For Return :
See attached. . e d

Department of Agriculture,
Ottawa, April 29, 1952. i
Tabled f

MR. GARDINER |
T. R. MONTGOMERY, C.A.

HEALTH OF ANIMALS 3

OT1TAWA, Ontario, March 3, 1952
Dr. N. D. Christie, )
301 Post Office Building, Regina, Sask.

This will acknowledge receipt of Dr. Dryden’s report of his investigation
of foot and mouth disease in the herd of W. J. Shaw, of Pennant, Sask.

While the disease was not confirmed at this visit, the premises were placed
under quarantine.

In view of the number of animals infected and the situation in your prov-
ince at this time, special attention should be given this herd, that is frequent
inspections should be made.

T. CHILDS,
Veterinary Director General

OTrTawa, March 3rd, 1952.
Memorandum to Dr. N. D. Christie, 301 Post Office Bldg., Regina.

The time has arrived to give consideration to the compilation of the
monthly disease report which has a very wide distribution.

As our figures of premises actually infected up to and including February
29th, 1952, with foot and mouth disease, are not complete in this office, it is
requested that you furnish us with a statement showing the number of prem-
ises in Saskatchewan which you know were actually infected with foot and
mouth disease up to and including February 29th, 1952. Do not include premises
quarantined because they are “suspicious” infected premises.

We would also like some figures as to the correct total of all species of
animals slaughtered on account of foot and mouth disease up to and including
February 29th, 1952. This information is for the monthly activity report.

T. CHILDS, 4
Veterinary Director General. 2
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

OrTAWA, March 3rd, 1952.
Dr. N. D. Christie,
Post Office Building,
Regina, Sask.

Please supply by airmail list of names packing house employees that have
been dismissed from packing plants Regina if possible supply by airmail list
European immigrants who have left quarantined area as it is understood a
number have appeared in Ontario.

T -CHIELDS
Chge. H. of A.
Dept. of Agr.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAM

Night Letter OTTAWA

Sent To

C. Lundie, 441 Post Office Bldg., Moncton, N.B.

N. L. Couture, 131 St. James St. W., Montreal, Que.

r. W. Mo mhan 366 Keele Street, Toronto, Ont.

r. R. H. Lay, 613 Dominion Public Bldg., Winnipeg, Man.
N
I Bl 6

Dr. A.

{1 ) e [

D

D

) Christie, 301 Post Office Bldg., Regina, Sask.
D

D

D

) o

I Storey, 403 Public Bldg., Calgary, Alta.
r. F. W. B. Smith, 3100 Main Street, Vancouver, B.C.
r. I. Christian, Post Office Bldg., South Edmonton, Alta.

Plant Managements to be warned against employing dismissed employees
from Burns and Company Limited and Intercontinental Packers Limited Regina
Saskatchewan until their clothing including shoes has been disinfected under
supervision stop Please acknowledge.

T. CHILDS
Chge. H. of A. Division
Dept. Agriculture.

CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

REGINA SASK., March 2, 11.20 p.m. 52
Dr. T Childs Veterinary Director
General Department of Agriculture Ottawa
Second burial completed today at 32 below zero Stop Totals destroyed
149 cattle 14 swine one goat Stop Third burial scheduled Monday morning Stop
All burials of presently infected cattle expected to be completed Wednesday

evening Stop A total of five trenches to be used
K F WELLS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

REGINA SASK., March, 1 p.m. 8.53
The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Building Ottawa
Your memorandum regarding supplies and equipment for collecting

material for laboratory examination received and note contents Stop Case
at Killdeer investigated by Carlson negative Stop No new cases uncovered

o e L B i T R N R Y A N e S A R T e T I | O S AT S N TS YR Y
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however nine calves and one goat immediate contacts from one premises will
be slaughtered Stop No slaughtering today slaughtering tomorrow Stop Investi-
gations and inspections being conducted expeditiously Stop Will phone you
tomorrow

N D CHRISTIE

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

OrTAWA, March 1, 1952
N D Christie
301 Post Office Bldg
Regina Sask

Expected decision re animals slaughtered is that compensation be based on
actual value Stop In view of above keep complete records each animal Stop
Any evaluation done to date may be adjusted if found necessary

T CHILDS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
REGINA SASKATCHEWAN, March 1st., A.M. 4.56.

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg., Ottawa Ont.

Two hundred and thirty-eight cattle and sixty-eight sheep destroyed and
buried today stop work of destruction by mounted police efficiently carried
out stop one more trench ready noon tomorrow stop Dr. Carlson found condition
reported suspicious on premises W. J. Shaw Pennant not foot and mouth disease
stop suspicious cases at Gravelbourg and Killdeer will be investigated tomorrow
stop sixty-six vehicles cleaned and disinfected today at central disinfection
station stop must act apply for swine or is commercial value to be allowed
stop please reply by immediate wire information needed Saturdays operation.

N. D. CHRISTIE

OrTtAawWA, February 29, 1952.

Memorandum for: Mr. N. Young, Director.

In accordance with your request the following statement referring to the
diagnosis of foot and mouth disease is submitted below:

On February 16th there was received at the Animal Diseases Research
Institute, Hull, a specimen composed of tissue and fluids said to have been taken
from the tongue of a cow in the region of Regina and which presented evidence
of vesicular disease. Inocu}ations of this material were made into cattle, swine,
horse guinea pigs and developing chick embryos. Only the animals susceptible
to foot and mouth disease became infected. These presented the classical
symptoms of this specific illness. No animal, susceptible only to other forms
of vesicular disease, became infected. In addition specific type serum was
obtained from England and serological examinations carried out on several
different occasions with the result that the virus of foot and mouth disease Type
A was identified.

On the basis of the examinations mentioned above it was conclusively
demonstrated that the infection in question was caused by the foot and mouth
disease virus belonging to the Type A group.

Diagnosis: Foot and Mouth disease caused by Type A.

C. A. MITCHELL,
Chief,
Division of Animal Pathology.

TRt PRy
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OrTAWA, February 29th, 1952.

Memorandum to district veterinarians:

Supplies and equipment for collecting material for laboratory examination
obtained from cattle or other animals suspected of being infected with foot
and mouth disease are going forward to your office from the Animal Diseases
Research Institute, Hull, P.Q.

Where there is the least suspicion that foot and mouth disease may be
present samples from the .affected animal or animals should be immediately
collected and sent forward to the A.D.R.I., Hull, P.Q., by air express or the
most rapid method of transport available for laboratory examination.

All precautions should be taken to ensure the package against breakage
en route. When material of this nature has been forwarded for laboratory
examination, the Veterinary Director General should be promptly notified by
wire of action taken.

Please acknowledge.
. - CHIDS)
Veterinary Director General.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
REGINA SASKATCHEWAN, February 29, A.M. 1.59.

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg., Ottawa Ont.

First organized press conference successfully held stop Gosnell Film Board
arrived stop first hole ready for destruction action Friday morning stop two other
holes progressing favourably stop disinfection centre started operating stop
other than Pennant suspect two more Gravelbourg and Killdeer require special
investigation stop field inspection crews in quarantine area started out this
morning stop awaiting additional veterinarians to start inspection crews out-
side area stop quarantine placards placed on all infected premises today by
RCMP. '

N. D. CHRISTIE

OrTtawa, February 28th, 1952.
Memorandum to Dr. N. D. Christie,
Post Office Building, Regina.

Further to our telephone conversation of yesterday.

It is understood that assistance in the form of manpower is required for
manning disinfection stations, etc. and that you have applied to the local
Civil Service Commission representative to secure such assistance. As it is
quite likely considerable time will elapse before you secure assistance from
that source, and having discussed the matter with the Director of Production
Service, you are authorized to hire whatever assistance is required from any
source available, in order that the work of controlling and eradicating disease
may not be delayed. A delay of even a few hours in dealing with an essential
feature of the work could well cost the Canadian public many millions of
dollars.

It is suggested that men might now be available from Burns & Company
Limited staff as Est. 23E is not now in operation.

T. CHILDS,
Veterinary Director General.
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

ReEcINA Sask Feb 28 AM 3 17
The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg Ottawa Ont

Re telephone conversation today Leader Post photographers on two
successive days visited infected quarantined premises as indicated on pages three
and one Leader Posts dated February twenty fifth and twenty sixth respectively
stop ‘copies of these papers forwarded you today under separate cover stop
disinfection centre for trucks ready today operating tomorrow stop slaughtering
of livestock commencing tomorrow afternoon stop one suspected premises
uncovered at Pennant stop additional details tomorrow stop veterinarians from
Ontario briefed on cleansing and disinfecting their clothing and assigned
inspection duties in respective municipalities within quarantined area stop
mounted police patrolling highways and infected premises.

N. D. CHRISTIE

Ortawa, Ont., February 28, 1952.
Refer to File 1-16-1
Memorandum to Dr. N. D. Christie,
301 Post Office Bldg., Regina.

Reference is made to your memorandum of February 26, 1952, written and
signed by Doctor K. F. Wells, concerning disposal of infected hides presently
stored at Regina.

It is obvious that hides from Regina and vicinity, which have not been
satisfactorily disinfected cannot be permitted to be moved on account of the
danger of disseminating infection, and the effect such procedure would have
on public opinion in Eastern Canada where considerable pressure has already
developed toward prohibiting movement of all livestock and livestock products
from Western to Eastern Canada.

Under these circumstances it will be in order to permit establishment
at Regina, subject to your approval, of facilities for disinfecting hides, cost
of same to be borne by those concerned.

T. CHILDS,
Veterinary Director General.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
REGINA Sask Feb 27 AM 4 .15

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg. Ottawa Ont

No new cases established seven sick reports investigated stop arrangements
completed with Provincial Department for occupation of highways garage
as disinfection centre stop expect to have disinfection centre operation Wed-
nesday pm or Thursday am stop intend channelling all trucks carrying livestock
products to city through disinfection centre after each country trip stop PFRA
working on first hole expected completed Wednesday with first burial cattle
Thursday am stop Shahan and Plummer arrived Regina along with six
veterinarians stop have approximately twenty sick calls for attention Wednesday

N. D. CHRISTIE




AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION 61
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan,
February 26th, 1952.
Refer to File No. 1-16-1
The Veterinary Director General,
Ottawa, Ontario.
The problem has come up of dealing with hides that are at present on
quarantined hide premises in the city of Regina, some of which have originated

recently from Burns Packing Plant, and also a number of which are on Burns
premises.

The local Hide people met with Dr. Christie and I yesterday afternoon and

‘the matter was thoroughly discussed. It appears from a study of the situation

that we have the alternative of either paying compensation for these hides and
burying them with carcasses, or treating them in accordance with Section 174
of the Animal Contagious Diseases Regulations. This disinfection of the hides,
in accordance with the regulations, would put them on the same basis as import-
ing untanned hides from Foot and Mouth infected countries such as the
Argentine.

As you are aware, there are no approved hides premises in the city of
Regina. The Hide people here would consider the establishing of approved
disinfection premises if this privilege were granted to them. The other alter-
native is to ship the hides in a sealed placarded railway car to an approved hide
premises in Eastern Canada.

While the number of hides involved is not actually known, the total value
would be considerable, somewhere around $50,000.

If it is decided that these hides can be processed in accordance with the
regulations, it is our opinion that this should be done in the city of Regina, fol-
lowing which we could have them transported in clean, disinfected trucks to
disinfected railway cars for shipment East.

It would be appreciated if you would give consideration to this matter and
advise us at your earliest convenience.

(sgd) K. F. WELLS

Ottawa, Ontario, February 28, 1952.

Memorandum to Dr. N. D. Christie.
301 Post Office Bldg., Regina.

Referring to your memorandum of February 26, 1952, and confirming our
telephone conversation of yesterday concerning reported sickness among cattle
in the vicinity of Beechy, Sask.

The difficulty of reaching Beechy, Sask., by ordinary means of travel are
appreciated. It will therefore be in order to make whatever arrangements pos-
sible with Mr. L. B. Thomson, P.F.R.A., to have a divisional veterinarian pro-
ceed by plane to Beechy, Sask., or vicinity.

It will also be in order to make the use of a plane with a reliable pilot to
reach any other premises where ordinary means of travel are not feasible or
would be excessively time consuming.

TCHIEDS,
Veterinary Director General.
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301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan,
February 26th, 1952.
Refer to File No. 1-16-1
The Veterinary Director General, *

Ottawa, Ontario.

As you were advised over the telephone today, we have received a report
of sickness in cattle at Beechy, Sask. The roads to Beechy are entirely blocked.
It is possible, as you have suggested, to send a man by train from Saskatoon.
However, a trip of this nature by train would take four days and, unfortunately,
we have not sufficient staff to permit a man four days for one call. The only
other alternative is to have a veterinary officer travel in by light plane. Such
transportation is available for rent and can readily be arranged for by Mr. L. B.
Thomson, Director, P.F.R.A., who is in the habit of using this mode of travelling.

It is realized that you suggested the call could wait for a few days in the
hope that the roads would be open.

It would be appreciated if you would give consideration to the possibility
of hiring light planes for emergency calls of this nature. You may rest assured
the authority, if given, will not be abused.

(sgd) N. D. CHRISTIE,

District Veterinarian.

301 Post Office Bldg.,

Regina, Sask.,

February 26th, 1952.

Refer to File No. 1-16-1
The Veterinary Director General,

Ottawa, Ontario.

With respect to Veterinary Officers’ reports dealing with foot and mouth
disease, a circular is today going forward to all Veterinarians, advising them
that they must forward all reports to this office the day the visit is made. )

All such reports will be forwarded to your office immediately they are
received and checked at this office.

(sgd) K. F. WELLS

Health of Animals
Division Production Service
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

301 Post Office Bldg.,

Regina, Saskatchewan,

February 26th, 1952.
The Veterinary Director General—

Ottawa, Ontario.
Mr. E. E. Brockelbank of the Provincial Department of Agriculture is

arranging to put at our disposal up to eight (8) automobiles with drivers.

These drivers will be familiar with the territory and they will immediately be
put out with veterinarians on general inspection.

I am not certain whether it is the intention of the Provincial Department
to charge for the services of these men. However, if there is any question of
charging, I will ask Mr. H. Horner, Deputy Minister, to take the matter up
with you.

(sgd.) K. F. WELLS.
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CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

OTrTAWA, February 26, 1952.
Dr. N. D. Christie
District Veterinarian
Canada Department of Agriculture
Post Office Building
Regina, Sask.

Following from Taggart to Thomson Leader Post Regina today quote
Agree your proposal photograph disposal and control work re foot and mouth
Regina area provided veterinary authorities in charge have complete control
of movements of photographer and are satisfied his activities will not increase
danger of spreading disease unquote

T. CHILDS

ARMY MESSAGE
OUTGOING
Toronto, Ont., February 26, 1952.

The following left Toronto for Regina by plane from Malton airport on
flight one at 9.45 this morning doctors nurse Wardlaw Vaughan Armstrong
McKeown Girard Plummer also doctor Shahan of Washington. Please rush
advance of $150 for doctors nurse Vaughan and Armstrong c/o Doctor
Christie Regina. Doctor Christie advised by wire of these arrivals.

G. H. COLLACUTT

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

FEB 26 PM 5 47(42)
YK230 18/17 collect Regina Sask. 26 304P

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confed Bldg. Ottawa

Retel Moose Jaw stockyards quarantine forwarded Febrﬁary twentieth
Prince Albert February twenty-third Saskatoon Air Mail today.

Signed: N. D. CHRISTIE

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

OrTAWA, February 26, 1952.
Dr. N. D. Christie,
Post Office Building,
Regina, Sask.

Please furnish at close of each day’s work following information complete
as possible by night letter beginning with today stop daily activities including
progress and number of animals slaughtered projected activities for following
day new procedures contemplated new cases established suspected cases under
investigation incorrect press reports stop confirm by airmail with any added
information stop this information required for tomorrow morning and for each
day thereafter as daily bulletin to be issued from here.

Signed: T CHILDS

Chg: H. of A.
Dept. of Agr.

56816—5
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

O1TAWA, Feb. 26, 1952.
Dr. N. D. Christie,
Post Office Building,
Regina, Sask.

Reports on stock yards and feed lots quarantined with copy of quarantine
order should be forwarded air mail to this office—please expedite.

; Signed: T. CHILDS
Chge. H. of A.
Dept. of Agr.

CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

OT1TAWA, February 26, 1952.
Dr. N. D. Christie,
District Veterinarian,
301 Post Office Bldg.,

Regina, Sask.

No objection on policy grounds to news photography either still or movie
but all who have inquired here have been told that for safety reasons number
of people doing such work must be limited and strictly controlled by veterinary
officers in charge.

Signed: T. CHILDS
Charge—Health of Animals Division
Dept. of Agriculture
co: Ralph McKay, Mr. Young.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS i

YE394 13 N M Collect Regina, Sask. 25. i
The veterinary director general Jod
776 Confederation Bldg., Ottawa.
Please authorize authority employ two labourer butchers to slash car- 4
casses in pit. v
Signed: N. D. CHRISTIE ‘

CANADA
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Health of animals division.

301 Post Office Bldg.
Regina, Sask.

FEBRUARY 25th, 1952.
Refer to File No. V. D.

To The Veterinary Director General, -
Ottawa, Ont.

Attached is a copy of the Radio Address, delivered over C.K.C.K., Regina,
Sask. Sunday, February 24th, 1952. ;
Signed: K. WELLS
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RADIO ADDRESS DELIVERED OVER CKCK REGINA SASK.

SUNDAY FEB. 24/52

Much has been written in the past few days respecting the outbreak of

Stomatitis.

Following the first reports of the disease to Veterinary officers of the
Health of Animals Division preliminary investigations were carried out to
ascertain the extent and potential of the disease.

These preliminary investigations indicated the necessity of quarantine
measures as a means of limiting the spread of the disease.

The quarantine, Order-in-Council Number 1028, dated February 19, 1952,
declares that ruminants or swine may not be moved into the quarantine area
or out of the quarantine area. They may not be moved from one place to
another within the quarantine area unless both places are owned by the same
person. :

These same restrictions apply to any flesh, hides hoofs, horns, or other part
of any ruminant or swine, or any hay, straw, or other things used for feeding
or caring for ruminants or swine, or any cereal grain.

This does not apply in respect to the movement out of the quarantine area
of anything in an elevator as defined in the Canadian Wheat Board Act 1935
on the date this Order comes into force.

Provision is made for the direct movement through the quarantine area
of ruminants and swine and any of the above mentioned things, by rail if they
are not unloaded within the area and if they have not been brought into contact
with any ruminants or swine in the area.

The area quarantined comprises the Rural Municipalities of South qu’Ap-
pelle 157, Edenwold 158, Sherwood 159, Pense 160, Lumsden 189 and that
portion of North qu’Appelle 187 lying south of the qu’Appelle River. This area
south of the qu’Appelle River, from Regina Beach on the west to approximately
Fort qu’Appelle on the east, with the southern border being a line drawn from
approximately Claybank at the west to approximately seven miles east of
Bechard.

It can readily be seen that the intention of the Department through this
quarantine order is to stop the movement of Livestock and Livestock products
in the infected area.

In addition to the above the stock yards at Saskatoon, Moose Jaw and
Prince Albert are under individual quarantine. Stock can only be moved out
of these yards when consigned for immediate slaughter to a packing plant
operating under Federal Veterinary Inspection.

These restrictions on the movement of livestock and livestock produéts are
the very minimum that could be imposed if this disease is to be contained
within its present limits.

The true nature of the disease is being carefully investigated at the Animal
Diseases Research Institute, Hull, Que. It is not possible to hasten the Labor-
atory procedure necessary, nor would it be advisable if this were possible.
This makes it difficult to anticipate an announcement of Laboratory ﬁndmgs
on any particular day.

In addition to the laboratory work at Hull, animal inoculation tests are
being conducted in Regina.
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CANADA
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Health of animals division.

To The Veterinary Director General,

Ottawa, Ont.

301 Post Office Bldg.
Regina, Sask.

FEBRUARY 25th, 1952.

Attached hereto for your information is a list of shipments of meats and
other animal products consigned by Est.23E, Burns & Company, Regina, Sask.,
to various points throughout Canada.

Please note this list includes shipments made on and after November 16th,
up to January 23rd and includes the description of the product and the con-

signee. After the latter date no shipments were made.
Signed: F. F. SAINT
for N. D. Christie, District Veterinarian.
BURNS AND COMPANY LTD.
Regina, Sask.

Date Consignee Car No. Contents
November 16....|Burns, Montreal................... C.P. 282700..... Beef, 22,481 Ib., Fancy 23,59 1b.
November 19....|Burns, Winnipeg................... C.P. 289800..... Beef Hmds 11,890 1b.

November 20. ... (Burns, Winnipeg............... ....|C.P. 282742 .|Beef Hinds, 11,108 1b.

November 21....|Burns, Toronto....................|C.P. 281449. . ... Beef, 21,864 lbs.; Tenders, 364 1bs.

November 23. .. .|Burns, Montreal................... C.P. 282694.. ... Beef, 25,923 1bs.; Fancy, 2,095 Ibs.

November 23. .. .|Canada Packers, Toronto......... C-N.8582...)5.4 Edible, 61,040 1bs.

November 27....|Burns, Toronto.. . OO [V S Beef, 23,174 1bs.

November 28. . . .[Burns, Montreal . .|C.P. 289590. . ... Beef, 24,511 1bs.

November 29. . ..|Davis Leather, Newmarket ‘Ont..|Trans, Can...... Skins, 547 pe.

November 29. ... |(Burns, Toronto. . s .|C.P. 282619.. ... Beef, 21,073 1bs.; Fancy, 200 1bs.

November 30. ... |Burns, T e E S ) C.P. 282601..... Beef, 27,679 1bs., B'less, 5090 lbs.;
Lamb, 1,744 1bs.

December 3....|Burns, Prince Albert.............. C.P. 282444 . . . . Beef, 13,110 lbs.

December 5....|Burns, Montreal................... C.P. 281758..... Beef, 26,590 1bs. _

Deeember 6..../Burns, Montreal................... C.P. 282492..... Beef CCS, 216,47 lbs.; Lamb,
2,597 1bs.; Tender, 1,428 1bs.

December. 7....|Burng, Toronto.........:..ce.i.um. C.P. 282384..... Beef, 24,224 1bs.

December 7....|Proctor & Gamble, Toronto, Ont..|C.N. 8599....... Inedible, 59,180 Ibs.

December 11....|Burns, Montreal................... C.P. 282728..... Beef, 27,076 1bs.

December 18. . ..|Burns, Montreal. ................. C.P. 289648. . . .. Beef, 23,531 lbs.

December 20. . ..|Burns, Toronto................... C.P. 282072 .|Beef, 21,162 1bs.

December 21. . ..|Burns, Montreal. . .|C.P. 289823. .... Beef, 21,028 1bs.

December 24. . . .|Nazaire Fortier Inc Quebec Clty C.N. 170811. .. .|Hides, 1,175 bdles.; Switches, 4,181

December 27. . . .|MeDougall Vandura. ............. C.N 510169. . . .|Feeds, 30,810 lbs.

January 5....... Burns, Montreal................ ... C.P. 281168..... Beef, 25,329 Ibs.; B'less, 1,670 lbs.;
Fa.ncy, 5,310 1bs.

January 7 Edgar Clement, Quebec City...... C.N. 583451 . . . .|Hides, 954 ‘bdles.

January 8 Buris, LOTOMEOL.. inin b bas fgd s AN C.P. 2813%4... .. Beef, 21,062 1bs.

January 9 Martin & Stewart. Montreal... . ... C.P. 578814.. ... Hides, 1,176 Bdles.

January 10 Davis Leather, Newmarket, Ont..|Trans. Can......|Skins, 265 bdles.

January 10 Buing, Montreal . ..2: % o osn s C.P. 281023. ... .|Beef, 24,851 lbs.

January 11 Burns, Moutvagl 7y . i C.P. 282660..... Beef, 25 019 1bs.

January 15 Burns, Windsor Peacocks. ........[................ Beef, 16, 1392 1bs.; Faney, 590 lbs.

January 16......./Burns, Montreal.................. C.P. 281216, ... Beef 26,968 1bs.

January 17 Berth Livi Co., Chicago.......... BodL S X I Casing, 11,227 pe.

January 17.......|Benjamin Wishner Security.......[................ Hides, 194 bdles.

January 23

Burns, Windsor,

Peacocks.........

Beef, 16,664 1bs.; Veal, 350 lbe:
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Date Consignee Car No. Contents
January 23....... Proctor & Gamble, Toronto. ..... G P B78T. & Inedible, 59,460 1bs.
January 25....... Burns, Montreal. . e G 282085 Tenders, 267 lbs.; Faney, 15,250 Ib.
January 25....... Burns, Montreal. . C.P. 281588.. ... Beef, 23,143 1bs.
January 25....... Burns CalBary. ..« oo omsms shaes jGaie S8MC0LZ < s Fancy, 1,513 lbs.
January 25....... IBUrNS; VHIRCOUMBETLS &y oo i'sliln s-vis alass C.P. 281701.. ... F n].g(,v 6,121 1bs.; Pork Ribs, 2,800
January 30....... Burns, Montreal. .. ... . ueoesies C.P. 282349..... Beef, 20,306 1bs.
January 31....... Bums; Toronto s s e et ¢ C.P. 282546..... Beef, 21,079 1bs.
January 31....... Blirns, T oronto, IPeaeOIes . i iide s il s st me seni e yes Pork Tl(i)nders, 2,850 lbs.; Fancy,
. 1,350 Ibs.
January 31....... Parke Davis & Co., Walkerville,
L8 ek BN R e sl 2 C.P. 282546.. ...|Fancy, 88 1bs.
January 31....... Connaught Laboratories, Toronto.|C.P. 282546.....|Fancy, 6,240 1bs.
Februa(y 12 § Burng, Prince AlBert. ... il o C.P. 47981......|Feeds, 30,000 1bs.
February 1..... Butns; WindsoryPeacocks. . colwh vl saainid oo athie g Beef, 16,335 1bs.
February B e Burhe, MonBraRlE: . i o cnm s agtes C.P.282488. . .... Beef, 26,060 1bs.
February 6. .|Burns, Montreal. ................. C.P-. 289664.. ... Beef, 21,242 1bs.
February 12. . ... Anglo Canadian Leather, Hunts-
| 1R T N A C.N. 522920. . ..|Hides and Skins, 1,145 bdles.
February 13. . ... Burns, Windsor, Peacocks. ....... | ...veesinu. .. Beef, 16,094 1bs.
February 13. . ... Boars Head Provision Co. Jersey :
e s St At o e S C.P. 282560.. ... |Pork Hams 27,693 1bs.
February 14. .. .. Presswood Bors....o. .6 sbiioit casa CLP281892 . . Beef, 21,442 Ibs.
February 19. . ... Proctor & Gamble, Hamilton, Ont.|C.P. 8737....... Inedlble 59 700 1bs.
January 4....... MoCabe Meat Meal, . vi. iy i u ] o in s onas s 10,000 Ibs.
January 11....... MaCabe Meéat Menle .t diuhs ook Sl i o4 10,000 1bs.
January 15....... McGabe:Meat Meal. ... ... iuissoinon ol i aa b 10,000 1bs.
January 16....... MoCaba:MeatuMend .. 5 < s Gl - ooy s s aabes oy 10,000 1bs.
January 29....... MoCabe Moat Meal, ... .ol ves el s ol asns sas @ s 14,000 1bs.
January 23....... Saskatchewan Federated Co-op
MO BOFADE - =5 o e m ot o o e 5 5 o Pkt weame & 10,000 1bs.

CANADA
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
PRODUCTION SERVICE — HEALTH OF ANIMALS DIVISION

Specimen Record for Inspectors

Identification. . .No. 1-2-3-4-5-6-7-8-9 Disease suspected. .Infectious Stomatitis
Owner of animal ...Burns & Company Ltd.. ...Abattoir, establishment 23E. ..
Slddresstic  Regifa, SSaslcatCHEWATL i+ s s sin s oreteaeisis wrshLai & oh shons WoecekSiats o bl rtk
Animal Species. .. :Bovine. ... .Approximately 2 yrs..... SeX........ 0

Clinical history and symptoms. ... Vesicular and ulcerative lesions on mucous
membrances of mouth, tongue and lips with considerable drooling. Swell-
ing of coronary regions in many cases with lameness. Scabby formations
on Ante-mortem notes (hours before death) teats frequently noted. Hogs
off feed and lane on one farm. Horses and sheep appear resistant. No
mortality in cattle or hogs reported excepting very young calves. Condition

Post-mortem notes (1 hour after death) date alarmingly contagious. Ulcer
formation on pillars of rumen

Specimens: 1. Serum from solitary lesion on tongue., Hemorrhage noted.

Possibly traumatic. 2. Serum from vesicle of tongue. Well
developed case. 3 & 4. Swabs from vesicles on tongue. 6.
Saliva. Specimen....swabs from affected animal. 7. Swab

o dnan
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from interior vesicle. 8. Blood serum. 9. Sections of pillar
of rumen showing ulceration. Specimens taken February 13th

& 14th, 1952.
Pregeryative” ....Dry dee. . iiicsenves Container. ...Thermos bottle in carton
Forwarded to laboratory, date. ... (a) by mail.... (b) by express, Air Express

(Sgd.) E. E. Carlson, 'F: F. Saint. ..J.% . /¥
Veterinary Inspector........

Address. ...301 Post Office Building Regina, Sask.

Date received. .. .February 16, 1952...... Serial No. ....M9726-9734........

Laboratory Report: DATE. .. .Feb. 25, 1952

The virus of foot and mouth disease (type A) was demonstrated in this
material by animal inoculation and complement-fixation methods with
specific typing serum.

(Sgd.) RONALD GWATKIN,
Pathologist

(Sgd.) CHAS. A. MITCHELL

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
REcINA, Sask., Feb. 25, PM. 9.43.

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg., Ottawa

The following has been exported to the United States from Est. 23E 194
bundles salted green hides to Benjamin Westmer Company, Milwaukee,
Wisconsin via Security Truck January seventeen stop pork hams frozen 27693
1bs. Boars Head Provision Company, 232 Hudson Avenue, Brooklyn, N. Y.
CP282560 February thirteen stop beef and hog casings 25 tierces 14233 lbs.
Berth Levi Company 3944-486 Hamilton Avenue, Chicago, Ill.,, Soo Truck

January seventeen.
N. C. CHRISTIE

Health of Animals Production Service
Division
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Ortawa, Ont., February 23, 1952

Memorandum to Veterinarians throughout Canada

A vesicular disease affecting cattle other ruminants and swine has appeared
in Regina, Saskatchewan and vicinity. The true nature of the disease has not
been fully proven. However, certain aspects of the disease indicate it is of a
more serious nature than ordinary Vesicular Stomatitis. Accordingly, as a
precautionary measure certain areas at Regina, Saskatchewan and vicinity
have been placed under quarantine in addition to individual quarantine of
premises where the disease has been found.

In addition certain restrictions have been placed on movement of livestock
and fresh or frozen meats which originate in or near the area where the disease

- is known or suspected to exist.
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All practising veterinarians in Canada are requested to be on the alert for
symptoms of vesicular disease among livestock, and if symptoms of vesicular
disease are noted, immediately report same to the nearest Departmental
Veterinarians or the Departmental District Veterinarian. Samples for laboratory
examination must not under any circumstances be collected unless authorized
by the Veterinary Director General. Your fullest cooperation is requested.

T, CHILDS,
Veterinary Director General

CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

REGINA SASK. Feb. 23, 9.24 p.m.
Dr. T. Childs
Veterinary Director General
137 Huron Ave.
Ottawa.

Shahan arriving Ottawa flight three four zero Sunday 9 am.

K. WELLS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

REGINA SaASk. Feb. 23 p.m. 8.26
The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg Ottawa

Investigation at Odessa in rural municipality of Francis number 127
proved negative stop all other investigations made yesterday and today also
negative stop reports will be mailed February 25th.

N. D. CHRISTIE

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

" REGINA Sask. Feb. 23 p.m. 1.13
The Veterinary Director General '
776 Confederation Bldg Ottawa

Retel arranging use part time veterinarians southern Saskatchewan
starting monday morning stop necessary rubber equipment coveralls and
disinfectant being ordered. :

K. WELLS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

OrTAWA, February 23, 1952
Dr. K. F. Wells
301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan

Retel will be in order review status quarantined area through Radio
Station CKCK advise of progress pending final laboratory report.

T. CHILDS
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
REGINA SaAsk. Feb. 22, p.m. 2.15

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation Bldg. Ottawa

Requested by Radio Station CKCK deliver Sunday afternoon five minute
review general status quarantine area with explanations stop program is
weekly review Regina and Saskatchewan News stop please advise.

WELLS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
Night Letter

OrTAawA, Feb. 22, 1952.

Dr. N. D. Christie,
301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan.

Utilize services of all part time veterinarians your District for inspection
susceptible animals STOP Should be properly briefed and required to supply
a daily report STOP Area to be covered by each man to be clearly designated
STOP Expedite and acknowledge by wire immediately.

,'T. CHILDS

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Health of Animals
OrtAawa, February 22, 1952.

Night Letter (C.N.)
to

Dr. N. D. Christie,
District Veterinarian,
Post Office Building,
Regina, Sask.

Utilize services of all part-time veterinarians your District for inspection
susceptible animals STOP Should be properly briefed and required to supply
a daily report STOP Area to be covered by each man to be clearly designated
STOP Expedite and acknowledge by wire immediately

T. CHILDS
Veterinary Director General

Same to:

Dr. R. H. Lay,
District Veterinarian,
613 Dominion Public Building,
Winnipeg, Manitoba.
(Telephoned)

T.C:
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DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
CANADA
Health of Animals Division Production Service

301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan,
February 22nd, 1952.

Confidential

The Veterinary Director General,

Ottawa, Ontario.

Inspectors not needed for country calls are being detailed for road patrol
within the quarantine area. No infractions of the quarantine have to date been
reported by these men. However, a number of empty farm trucks have been
stopped and the quarantine situation discussed with the drivers.

Mr. Brockelbank of the Provincial Department of Agriculture has placed
two men on road patrol work and they have not as yet reported any infractions
of the quarantine. - '

We would like to start farm to farm inspections surrounding known infec-
ted premises. However, inasmuch as our present staff of veterinary officers
have all freely visited infected premises, we are withholding any general farm
to farm inspection program.

(Sgd) K. F.. WELLS.

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan,
February 22nd, 1952.

The Veterinary Director General—Ottawa, Ontario.

Considerable thought has been given to the material and services which
will be urgently needed, should it become necessary to start operations for the
eradication of disease. I would like to stress that in making inquiries the
underlying purpose has not been disclosed and no commitments whatsoever
have been made.

1. Adequate supplies of unslaked lime have been located. This is packed
in 60 1b. bags. 1

2. Adequate supplies of lye for disinfecting purposes is assured, however,
such supplies are limited to 1 1b. cans. It is hoped that if it becomes
necessary to purchase this material, arrangements can quickly be made
to obtain it in large containers. :

3.  Post-mortem knives for the slashing of carcasses are readily available.

4. Barn No. 9 at the Exhibition Grounds, which is now under lease to the
Livestock Division, Froduction Service, has been offered to us by
Mr. Hooper Coles as warehouse space and a base for field operations.
Mr. Coles is agreeable to provide this space without authority from his
Chief in Ottawa, Mr. Peterson. It might be wise, however, to clear this
matter- with Mr. Peterson. :

5. Mr. Hooper Coles has agreed, providing again of course that Mr. Peterson
and yourself are in agreement, to head up a valuation crew. Mr. Coles
has two additional men in his own office who are also able valuators of
livestock. Should we wish to use Provincial Officials for this: work some
of these who are quite capable are also available,

56816—6 .
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6. Mr. L. B. Thomson, Director, P.F.R.A., has available a number of warble
fly spray machines, with 400 gallon capacity and up to 600 lbs. pressure. o
These machines, Mr. Thomson has assured me, will be readily available.
While Mr. Thomson is agreeable, in the case of an emergency, to turn
these machines over to us, he would appreciate having authority to do
so from his Ottawa superiors. #

7. The problem of excavation is a serious one inasmuch as the ground is
frozen solid. Here again Mr. L. B. Thomson of P.F.R.A. has agreed to
provide or make arrangements for all the necessary equipment and make
available his staff for the supervision of this work. Mr. Thomson
discussed.the matter with Mr. Beamish, his Senior Equipment Man, and
has agreed that Mr. Beamish can head up a crew to handle arrangements
for all excavations. If you are in agreement, should it become necessary,
Mr. Thomson would appreciate clearance in this matter from his Ottawa
superiors.

8. Arrangements for the procurement of necessary rubber equipment can P
be made here on very short notice. Such supplies can be moved in
overnight by the Gutta Percha Rubber Company from Winnipeg.

9. Trucks are also available for P.F.R.A. under the same arrangements as
excavation equipment.

Again, I stress, that commitments are not being made but it is felt that we
must have sources of all equipment and services readily available. This work
is continuing and you will be further advised.

(sgd.) K. F. WELLS.

Health of Animals Production Service
Division
CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan,
February, 22nd, 1952.

The Veterinary Director General—Ottawa, Ontario.

I should like first of all to correct my memorandum of yesterday. There
are twenty-two (22) premises under quarantine on which infection has been
found. : L

L]
On the 22 infected premises, the total livestock involved is as follows:
Cabthe D oo i i L A L Sk 1,015
SEWIRIC s s S T an POk e o Silsane & Sttt 193
o o o eld T B S A i i L Lol e e R B ol TR
- e PTG 1] 1 HO S PR AN S O Nl TP PO S T 140

The following list shows the nine Rural Municipalities under the present
quarantine with the number of occupied farms in each municipality, as of

s
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the 1946 Census. The number of cattle in each municipality is also shown.
The cattle numbers are taken from the tuberculosis test records.

No. of Occupied Farms No. of Cattle

RV N0 ID T BB i sihaile < indatidinn watesala s oivacbtinte s als o 5,169
O T R G N M 3,997
SRR T AR i e B 2,489

4 i 50005 s S e L et gl I e i S e 2,769

IR VBRSBTS i e S e 1 Nt e 3,990

INOL LB R 2B i s o S e S s R 8 Jh et 2,500

NG 128 =0T ot inidians il Biae b ot e e oo 1,667

o S0 LV R N S R e TR 717

D O S DS B e oy s i i S v e B A ko 1,324
24,622

With respect to R.M. No. 187, the figure of 2,500 cattle is estimated as
being the number in that municipality south of the Qu’Appelle River.

Signed: K. WELLS.

Health of Animals Division Production Service
. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan.
February 22nd, 1952.

The Veterinary Director General—Ottawa, Ontario.

Milk and cream cans originating within the quarantine area and coming
to Dairies and Creameries within the quarantine area were realized to be a
source of danger in the spread of infection, and Mr. E. E. Brockelbank, Director
of the Provincial Animal Industry Branch, was contacted concerning this
matter.

It has been ascertained from Mr. Brockelbank that all such cans are steamed
inside from two to three minutes with a strong soda solution at a temperature:
of at least 170°. Mr. Brockelbank has agreed and in fact has already detailed
Provincial Dairy and Creamery Inspectors to visit all these plants within
the quarantine area to check on this procedure, and in addition, to arrange for
gle thorough steaming of the outside of all such cans before they leave the

airy.

Livestock are moving from the Saskatoon, Moose Jaw and Prince Albert
Stockyards, which are under quarantine, but not within the general quarantine
area. Stock is permitted to move from these yards for immediate slaughter only
at inspected establishments and must, of course, proceed direct. In order to-
assure that Dr. Lay is advised of all such shipments coming into Winnipeg,
Where all have been consigned, the inspectors in charge at the stockyards

- at Saskatoon, Moose Jaw and Prince Albert have been asked to notify Dr. Lay

by wire of the railway car numbers leaving their yards and consigned for
slaughter at Winnipeg.

Signed: K. WELLS

56816—63
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CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Health of Animals

301 Post Office Bldg.,
Regina, Sask.
February 22nd, 1952.
To:
The Veterinary Director Geéneral,
Ottawa, Ontario.
The test animals at the Provincial Legislative Grounds have been examined
today and all have been found perfectly normal. Daily examinations of these
animals will be conducted.

Signed: K. WELLS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS P

Dr. F. K. Wells, ~ Orrawa, February 23, 1952.
301 Post Office Building,
Regina, Saskatchewan.

Supplementary animal inoculation approved Stop Farm to farm inspections
quarantined area and elsewhere is urgent Stop See telegram Christie concerning
parttime veterinarians Stop Additional staff will be transferred Regina soon

T. CHILDS
Chge. H. of A. Div.
Dept. Agric. l |
CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

REGINA, SASK., 22, February 23, 3:55 a.m., ’52
RAA26
56 Collect N1
Dr. T. Childs,

Veterinary Director, General Dept. of Agric., Ottawa.

. Suggest you phone Storey re stomatitis southern Alberta Stop In view lack
of developments test animals here will you approve supplementary animal
inoculations here Stop Unless negative decision received near future I feel
general farm to farm inspection in quarantine area urgent Stop Additional staff
needed if farm to farm inspection instituted Stop Please advise

K. WELLS

CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Health of Animals Division

301 Post Office Bldg.,
Regina, Sask.,
To Veterinary Director General, February. 21st, 1952.
Ottawa, Ontario.

' Since your departure from Regina last evening, we have not received any
additional’ country calls reporting new infection. All calls to date have been
visited, and where any evidence of Stomatitis was found, the premises have 4

been quarantined.
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To date, there are 23 premises under quarantine.
Under separate cover, two reports have been forwarded reporting infection

on two premises in the Rural Municipality of Elmsthorpe No. 100, which is at’

pbresent outside the quarantine area.
Arrangements are being made to have veterinarians include in the location
of the diseases premises the name and number of the Rural Municipality.

KFW:HZ Signed: K. WELLS

CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Health of Animals Division

301 Post Office Bldg,
Regina, Sask.,
, February let 1952.
To The Veterinary Director General,
Ottawa, Ontario.

Under separate cover, we are forwarding a map of the province of Saskat-
chewan showing in red all infected premises.

This includes all premises up to and including Thursday, February 21st.
Total of 23 premises.

KFW/HZ Signed: K. F. WELLS

Health of Animals Division Production Service'

CANADA
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

301 Post Office Building,

Regina, Saskatchewan,

February 21st, 1952.
The Veterinary Director General, : :
776 Confederation Bldg.,
Ottawa, Ont.

The Intercontinental Packing Company broke quarantine today by selhng
hides to the Isman Hide and Fur Company. ;

On investigation, it was found that this was not intentional on the part of
Intercontinental, but merely a misunderstanding. Intercontinental have no hide
curing cellars of their own and they have to dispose of hides daily. This matter
has now been cleared with Intercontinental and they have a clear understandmg
of their quarantine.

Because of the above situation, it was realized the Hide Compames in
Regina were a source of danger and arrangements have been made to put all
such firms under strict quarantine.

These reports will follow.

KFW/HZ Signed: K. F. WELLS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

YK122 9 Collect—Regina, Sask., 21 1121A, Feb. 21 P.M. 1.48.

The Veterinary Director General,
776 Confederation Bldg., Ottawa.

Shahan arrived this morning will return via Ottawa.
i Signed: K. WELLS
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

REGINA, SASK. Feb. 20 pm 4 47
Dr. Orland Hall,
Asst Vet. Director General,
Dept. of Agriculture, Ottawa, Ont.

Saskatoon & Prince Albert stock yards and feed lots placed under
quarantine as a precautionary measure to prevent livestock moving east.

T. CHILDS.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

CHicaco ILL Feb. 19 pm 7 32
Dr. T. Childs

Hotel Saskatchewan
Regina, Sask.
Grounded in Chicago hope catch TCA from Winnipeg tomorrow. pm.

SHAHAN

CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

WasHINGTON, DC Feb. 19 11 54 am ’52
Dr. T. Childs f
care Saskatchewan Hotel
Regina, Sask.

Dr. Shahan arrive Regina February 20 TCA Flight No. 151 8 45 am.

SIMMS
Bureau of Animal Industry

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

REGINA SAsk Feb 19 pm 5 03
Dr. Orlan Hall
Assistant Veterinary Director General
Dept. of Agriculture .
Ottawa, Ont.

Moose Jaw stock yards and adjacent feed lots being placed under
quarantine this afternoon as a precautionary measure.

T. CHILDS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

REGINA, SASK. Feb. 19 am 10 19
Dr. Orlan Hall
Assistant Veterinary Director General
Dept. of Agriculture »
Ottawa, Ont.

Movement livestock and meat from Saskatchewan and Manitoba to United
States and Eastern Canada should be prohibited forthw1th Stop move qulckly
Stop Acknowledge.

CHILDS
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

WasHINGTON DC Feb 18 pm 3 16
Dr. T. Childs
care Saskatchewan Hotel
Regina, Sask.

Dr. Shahan will arrive Regina Wednesday will wire you exact time later.
SIMMS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

WiNNIPEG Man Feb. 18 pm 3 35
Dr, T. Childs, ‘
Veterinary Director General,
care Dr. N. D. Christie,
301 Post Office Bldg., Regina.

Retel vesicular disease Regina area stop all officers concerned being alerted.

DriR, H:. LAY, ‘
District Veterinarian

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

301 Post Office Building,
‘ REGINA, Sask., February 18/52
Dr. R. H. Lay,
613 Dominion Public Bldg.,
Winnipeg, Man.

Vesicular ' disease cattle Regina and vicinity very suspicious stop alert
your officers to closely inspect all cattle in public stock yards and packing plant
stock yards at Winnipeg and St Boniface and take all possible precautions. if
anything suspicious is noted stop please acknowledge.

T. CHILDS

Office of the Director Production Service
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE .

OrrawA, February 19, 1952.
Dr. T. Childs,
Veterinary Director General,
¢/o Dr. N. D. Christie,
613 Dominion Public Building,
Regina, Sask.

Dear Dr. Childs:
This will acknowledge your telegram of February 18th as follows:

Clinical evidence amply justifies quarantine livestock rural munici-
palities indicated below for suspected infectious and contagious disease
stop Ministerial Order should be issued immediately establishing quaran-
tine prohibiting movement of livestock out of and into quarantined
municipalities except through shipments proceeding by rail which must
not be unloaded within quarantine municipalities stop rural municipali-
ties South Qu’Apelle No. 157 Edenwold 158 Sherwood 159 Pense 160
Lumsden 189 North Qu’Appelle 187 that portion only South of the
Qu’Appelle waters stop will telephone about eleven am Monday.

PN SHITSSIERCATNE S R T BT T A BTN Vo S =SV AW SRR 3

RIS S T AR 2
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In this connection there is an Order in Council enclosed bearing today’s
date which is prepared in a manner to conform as closely as possible to your
request.

You will note that in addition to the municipalities which you named 127,
128, 129 and 130 have been added. This is due to the fact that you reported
by telephone today that there were two suspicious cases some sixteen or eighteen
miles south of Regina.

The Order as you will note restricts the movement- without the permission
of the Veterinary Director General of any ruminants or swine

(i) into the quarantine area
(ii) out of the quarantine area, or

(iii) from one place in the quarantine area to another place in the
quarantine area, unless both places are owned or occupied by the
same person.

The same applies to the movement out of the quarantine area, or from
one place in the quarantine area to another place in the quarantine area,
unless both' places are owned or occupied by the same person of any flesh,
hides, hoofs, horns or other parts of any ruminants or swine, or any hay,
straw, fodder or other things used for feeding or caring for ruminants or
swine, or any cereal grain. ;

You will note that the Council has imposed the restrictions which they
think are necessary under the conditions which you have reported to prevent
the spread of the disease which is suspected, but has given you authority to
modify those restrictions where considered necessary. /

Further, you will note that any permission given by you for the movement
of livestock or products and the like may be general or particular and that
you may authorize any inspector to give such permission on your behalf.

Yours very truly,

(sgd) N. YOUNG
Director

CANADIAN PACIFIC TELEGRAPHS

- REciNa, Sask. FeB. 18 7 29 am ’52

Mr. N. Young
Director Production Service
Dept. of Agric. Ottawa

Clinical evidence amply justifies quarantine livestock rural municipalities
indicated below for suspected infectious and contagious disease stop ministerial
order should be issued immediately establishing quarantine prohibiting move-
ment of livestock out of and into quarantined municipalities except through
shipments proceeding by rail which must not be unloaded within quarantine
municipalities stop rural municipalities South Qu’Appelle #157 Edenwold 158
Sherwood 159 Pense 160 Lumsden 189 North Qu’Appelle 187 that portion only
south of the Qu’Appelle waters stop will telephone about eleven am Monday

T. CHILDS
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CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

YAO43 78 FEB. 15, 1952.
OTTAWA, ONT.

: PHONED
Dr. N. D. Christie
2827 Regina Avenue
Regina, Sask.

Understand Doctor Hall in collaboration with Doctor Mitchell has issued
instructions for collection and forwarding to laboratory Hull material from
animals suffering from infectious vesicular condition stop those instructions
definitely countermanded stop definite diagnosis must be made on premises
where disease exists stop understand another horse has been inoculated stop
hold quarantines tight and await results horse inoculations stop self on statutory
leave when instructions collect material for laboratory examination issued by
Doctor Hall stop wire acknowledgment immediately

T. CHILDS
Veterinary Director General.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

Regina, Sask.
R 301 Post Office Bldg.

EXLVRCTLED Feb. 14, 1952. :
Dr. C. A. Mitchell &
Chief
Division of Animal Pathology ' .
Animal Diseases Research Institute,
Mountain Road
Hull, Que.

t

Retel Assistant Veterinary Director General stop vesicular specimens
forwarded air express today
E. E. CARLSON
Asst. District Veterinarian.

OrTAWA, FEBRUARY 13, 1952

Dr. N. D. Christie, 301 Post Office Building, Regina, Sask.
This will confirm my telegram of today’s date as follows:

- Reference telephone. conversation Carlson yesterday please collect
material from vesicular lesions ship laboratory study Hull Quebec Carlson
understands procedure follow outlined course Animal Diseases Research
Institute last spring stop writing.

In this connection you are advised that the study of vesicular disease in
Saskatchewan was discussed yesterday with Dr. Mitchell when he pointed out
that nothing would be gained by sending an officer from the Research Institute
to examine the livestock involved. He was more concerned in the collection
of specimens for diagnostic purposes and consequently I am enclosing copy
of a communication which was received from Dr. Mitchell together with the
procedure to be followed in collection, preservation and shipping of specimens.

You will recall that Dr. Carlson attended the course last spring at the
Animal Diseases Research Institute and therefore should be thoroughly conver-
sant with the procedure to be followed. Nevertheless the enclosed will serve
as a guide.
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Please keep us advised fully with regard to the occurrence of the disease,
the rapidity of spread and any new developments which are observed.

OLRAN HALL
Assistant Veterinary Director General.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS
OrTawa, February 13, 1952 ‘
Day Letter
Dr. N. D. Christie
301 Post Office Building

Regina Saskatchewan

Reference telephone conversation Carlson yesterday please collect material
from vesicular lesions ship laboratory study Hull Quebec Carlspn understa{xds
procedure follow outlined course Animal Diseases Research Institute last spring

stop writing AN . 7]

Science Service
Division of
Animal Pathology
CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Animal Diseases Research Institute
Hull, Que. {

FEBRUARY 12, 1952.
Dr. Orlan Hall,
Health of Animals Division,
Department of Agriculture,
Ottawa.

Dear Dr. Hall:—

I am attaching suggestions for the collection of material from vesicular
lesions to be shipped for laboratory study.

I may add that it is quite likely that Dr. Carlston has this at hand because
we went thoroughly into the collection of material at the Course which was
put on here last spring. Because the majority of those attending took notes
it would seem likely that he already has the information. However, the
material is attached.

Collection, Preservation and Shipping of Specimens

The specimens of choice in descending order are—
1. Vesicular fluid. ' : _Jt;
2. Necrotic tissue from a recent lesion. i
3. Desquamated tissue from the surface of the tongue and bucal mucosa.
4. A sample of peripheral blood. It would be advisable to include this 4
from all animals sampled.

Collection—

The vesicular fluid is most easily collected by the use of a needle and
syringe. The tissue can be removed by forceps, scissors or curette.
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Preservation—

As soon as collected all specimens should be frozen. If Lusteroid tubes
or thin walled glass test tubes are available for the collection of the specimens,
these can be placed for a few minutes in a mixture of one-half to one pound
of dry ice in a quart of alcohol (anti-freeze variety). Freezing will be
complete in approximately 5 minutes. If the above containers are not available
and ordinary blood bottles or tubes must be used, it will be necessary to
freeze the specimens in a mixture of ordinary ice and salt. (Thick glass will
not stand the low temperatures of dry ice and alcohol.)

Shipping—

Lusteroid tubes stoppered with ordinary corks can be placed in a vacuum
jar with dry ice, the cork of the latter to be inserted but loosely. If these
containers are not available then the above mentioned one—hglf ounce glas:.s
bottles or tubes should be packed in a suitable container with dry ice, if

available, if not ordinary ice and sawdust, and shipped in a leak proof container
via the quickest available means of delivery (air express preferable.)

Note—Instruments and containers should be sterile.

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

Day Letter r
) OTTAWA, January 4, 1952.

Dr. N. D. Christie ‘ .

301 Post Office Building

Regina, Sask.

Awaiting Doctor James’ report vesicular. stomatitis Burns Feed Lots
Regina reported wire December twenty eighth stop long delay not understood
please expedite repeat please expedite.

T. CHILDS

CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

OrrAwA, December 29, 1951.
Dr. N. D. Christie
301 Post Office Building
Regina, Sask.

Retel make certain no livestock leaves Burns feed lots except for immediate
slaughter at Burns Packing Plant stop if possible ascertain source infection.

T. CHILDS
CANADIAN NATIONAL TELEGRAPHS

REGINA SASKATCHEWAN, December 28, 8.06 P.M.

The Veterinary Director General
776 Confederation bldg., Ottawa Ont.

One hundred and thirty seven steers and seventy heifers of which thirty

‘head are exhibiting symptoms of infectious vesicular stomatitis in Burns and

Co Feed Lots Establishment Twenty Three E stop premises quarantined and
report by Dr. N. V. James being mailed to you stop healthy animals allowed
to be slaughtered. ;

N. D. CHRISTIE
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APPENDIX B

PHA 46
CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
PRODUCTION SERVICE—HEALTH OF ANIMALS DIVISION
REPORT OF INSPECTOR
UNDER THE ANIMAL CONTAGIOUS DISEASES ACT, 1903
R.S.C. 1927

INFORMATION ON WHICH ACTION WAS TAKEN Burns & Co. Ltd. D. Regina,
Sask. reported sick cattle in their stockyards.

DATE OF VISIT Dec 28th, 1951. TIME OCCUPIED S Part 1 day.
LOCATIQN OF DISEASED ANIMAL Burns & Co. Stockyards, Regina, Sask.
OWNER’S NAME Burns & Co. Ltd. P.O. Regina, Sask.

NATURE OF DISEASE Suspected Infectious Vesicular Stomatitis in Cattle.
ACTION TAKEN Instructed by Dr. N. D. Christie, District Veterinarian,
Regina, Sask. I visited above premises and inspected 207 cattle in feed lots
and pens and found 30 of these cattle were exhibiting symptoms of Stomatitis,
slobbering considerable amounts of saliva from the mouths, difficulty in
drinking and inability to feed properly, temperatures slightly elevated and
stiffness in gait when walking. I placed premises under ‘quarantine but made
arrangements for the ante-mortem inspection of cattle about to be slaughtered
and the thorough cleansing and disinfection of yards, pens, and equipment.
I also instructed the plant management to allow no visitors or other persons
to enter the quarantined premises and also instructed them that no cattle
would be tested or permits issued to allow cattle to be removed until further
notice. Treatment was prescribed for the sick cattle the same as was prescribed
for the diseased herds of Mr. L. T. Wass, Mr. L. Wood, and Mr. J. C. Smith
which herds are now completely recovered and released from quarantine, daily
visits will be made to the premises of Burns & Co. and inspection will be
made and treatment supervised.

P.H.A. Forms 49 and 59 are attached.. _
145 Sheep and Lambs—and 50 Hogs all appeared healthy.

At the present time the source of infection is not known but efforts will
be made to trace the source if possible.

Horses Cattle Sheep  Swine

Number of animals on premises. ......... 2 207 145 50
Number of animals infected.............. Nil 30 Nil Nil
Number of animals died................. {2 . Nil # i

1 ” ”

Number of animals ‘destroyed............ .

Date of Report Dec. 28th, 1951 (Sgd) N. V. James,

Inspector
N.D.C.

T
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Form PHA 49
CANADA
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
PRODUCTION SERVICE—HEALTH OF ANIMALS DIVISION
DECLARATION BY INSPECTOR
under the
ANIMAL CONTAGIOUS DISEASES ACT, R.S.C., 1927

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I HAVE EXAMINED 137 -2 year old feeder
steers and 70 yearling and 2 year old heifers 145 sheep and lambs and 50 hogs
ON THE PREMISES OF Burns & Co. Ltd.

AT their stockyards

Regina, Sask. P.O.,  AND SAID TO BELONG TO OR TO BE IN CHARGE OF
the above owners AND suspect

THE SAID cattle TO BE SUFFERING FROM AN INFECTIOUS AND CON-
TAGIOUS DISEASE KNOWN AS Infectious Vesicular Stomatitis

THE SAID cattle are HEREBY ORDERED TO BE held in quarantine
until released by a Veterinarian of the Federal Dept. of Agriculture AND
THE SAID PREMISES MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS cattle yards
and pens 150 feet x 75 feet and 60 feet x 60 feet AND ALL UTENSILS,
ARTICLES AND THINGS WHICH HAVE BEEN IN CONTACT WITH THE
SAID ANIMALS ARE HEREBY ORDERED TO BE THOROUGHLY CLEANSED
AND DISINFECTED AND THE SAID PREMISES WITH ALL LANDS AND
BUILDING CONTIGUOUS THERETO IN THE SAME OCCUPATION ARE
HEREBY DECLARED TO BE AN INFECTED PLACE UNTIL DECLARED TO
BE FREE FROM INFECTIOUS OR CONTAGIOUS DISEASE BY ORDER OF
THE MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE. AND I GIVE NOTICE THAT FAILURE
TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS ORDER MAY BE
FOLLOWED BY PROSECUTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ANIMAL
CONTAGIOUS DISEASES ACT (R.S.C. 1927). SEE SECTIONS ENDORSED
HEREON. ’

(Sgd) N. V. JAMES
Inspector.

DATED AT Regina, Sask. THIS 28th DAY OF December 1951.

‘ To be issued in duplicate, one copy to be served on the owner or person
in charge of the animals or premises dealt with, the other to be forwarded to
the Veterinary Director General.
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Form PHA 59
CANADA
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
PRODUCTION SERVICE—HEALTH OF ANIMALS DIVISION

" LICENCE FOR REMOVAL OF ANIMALS FROM INFECTED PLACE

UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF “THE ANIMAL CONTAGIOUS DIS-
EASES ACT, R.S.C., 1927".

Burns and Co. Ltd., Regina, Sask.

IS HEREBY PERMITTED TO REMOVE FROM OUT OF THE INFECTED
PLACE KNOWN AS feed lots and pens at the Company’s Stockyards, Regina,
Sask., wagons for hauling feed and manure in the yards—*“also all cattle which
are free from symptoms of disease, for immediate slaughter at the time of
Anti-Mortem Inspection.” All vehicles, equipment and boots and clothing of
attendants to be thoroughly cleansed and disinfected each day and no person
excepting regular staff of employees to enter or leave yards, and no cattle to
be tested or removed from premises until further notice.

DATED AT Regina, Sask. THIS 28th DAY OF December 1951.
(Sgd) N. V. JAMES
Inspector.

To be issued in duplicate, one copy to be served on the owner or person
in charge of the animals or premises dealt with, the other to be forwarded to
the Veterinary Director General.

i
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, May 1, 1952.

The Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met at 11
o’clock a.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J. Bater, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Arsenault, Bater, Bennett,
Black (Chateauguay-Huntingdon-Laprairie), Blue, Browne (St. John’s West),
Bryce, Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Cruickshank, Darroch, Decore, Diefen-
baker, Dumas, Fair, Gauthier (Lapointe), Gour (Russell), Hetland, Jutras,
Kickham, Kirk (Antigonish-Guysborough), Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth), Mac-
Kenzie, MacLean (Queens), Major, Masse, McCubbin, McLean (Huron-
Perth), McWilliam, Murray (Cariboo), Quelch, Ross (Souris), Stewart (York-
ton), Welbourn, White (Middlesex East), Whitman, Wood, Wright, Wylie.

In attendance: The Right Honourable J. G. Gardiner, Minister of Agricul-
ture; Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, Department of
Agriculture.

Mr. Gardiner tabled further reports, correspondence, etc., relating to the
outbreak of foot and mouth disease in the Province of Saskatchewan.

Examination of Dr. Childs was continued.

At one o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until 4 o’clock p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING

The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J.
Bater, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Bennett, Black
(Chateauguay-Huntingdon-Laprairie), Blue, Browne (St. John’s West), Bryce,
Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Cruickshank, Darroch, Decore, Diefenbaker,
Dinsdale, Dumas, Fair, Gauthier (Lapointe), Gour (Russell), Harkness, Het-
land, Jutras, Jones, Kickham, Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth), Laing, MacKenzie,
MacLean (Queens), Major, Masse, McCubbin, McLean (Huron-Perth),
McWilliams, Murray (Oxford), Murray (Cariboo), Quelch, Ross (Souris),
Stewart (Yorkton), Welbourn, Whitman, Wood, Wright, Wylie.

In attendance: The Right Honourable J. G. Gardiner, Minister of Agricul-
ture; Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, Department of
Agriculture.

Examination of Dr. Childs was continued.

On motion of Mr. Murray (Cariboo), at 6 o'clock p.m., the Committee
adjourned until 8 o’clock p.m. this day.

EVENING SITTING

The Committee resumed at 8 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J.
Bater, presiding.

Members present: Anderson, Argue, Bater, Bennett, Blue, Browne (St.
John’s West), Bryce, Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Cruickshank, Darroch,
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Decore, Diefenbaker, Dinsdale, Dumas, Fair, Gauthier (Lapointe), George,
Gour (Russell), Harkness, Hetland, Jutras, Jones, Kickham, Kirk (Digby-
Yarmouth), Laing, MacLean (Queens), Major,, Masse, McCubbin, Mec-
Lean (Huron-Perth), McWilliam, Murray (Cariboo), Quelch, Richard (St.
Maurice-Lafleche), Ross (Souris), Stewart (Yorkton), Welbourn, Whitman,

Wood, Wright, Wylie.

In attendance: The Right Honourable J. G. Gardiner, Minister of Agricul-
ture; Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, Department of

Agriculture.
Examination of Dr. Childs was continued.
" Mr. Cruickshank moved that the Committee adjourn until tomorrow.
And the question having been put on the said motion, it was negatived.

On motion of Mr. Decore, at 10.10 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned
to the call of the Chair.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.




EVIDENCE

May 1, 1952
11:00 a.m.

The CHAIRMAN: If you will kindly come to order we will continue with the

inquiry. I think probably Mr. Gardiner has a word to say before we call on Dr.
Childs.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman and members of the committee,
last night I intimated, after listening to discussions which were going on yester-
day afternoon, that I was quite aware of the fact that you had not everything
on the table that I had intended the night before should be on the table, and
I stated that I would have these files made up and put on the table of the House
today, or here in the committee. Now, they will be here. I have one in my hand
which you can see is much thicker than the one you have. I just wish to call
your attention to the fact that the reason that these other documents are not
on the file is because of discussions we had in the House on the 4th of March.
You will recall when I started to read the document which had names in it
that Mr. Coldwell, leader of the C.C.F. party, asked me if it was necessary to
do that, to put these names on the record, and that question was discussed for
some little time in the House and it was determined that it was not necessary
and was not advisable to do that. When you read that you will find that it was
suggested that eventually it should be tabled; it would be quite proper to table
it; but I gave the instructions at the time to my own officials that they were
not to put in front of me, when I was taking information to the House, docu-
ments that included the names used. Now, the document I was reading from
at the moment this discussion took place had in it the names of all the persons
whose cattle had stomatitis; I was to go on and read all the names of those who
had received animals or meat from the area, and we thought it unwise to have
that information spread around for obvious reasons. Now, that is all in this
file, everything of that kind is here and I intended the night before last when
I mentioned it in the House that everything would be on the file tabled. Yester-
day the file I put on the table of the House did not have these particular docu-
ments on it. They are all here now, and I am going to leave them with the
committee; as I said in the House the other night, I am going to leave it with
the committee to determine what they think should be mentioned in the way
of names and all that kind of thing publically. You can quite understand, there
are butchers who receive meat that probably came from this same Burns plant;
it was distributed to some parts of Canada, and it may have been distributed
outside and inside the area. The beef wherever it went was probably suitable
for human consumption and distribution, but the mere fact that it came from
the Burns plant is going to leave some impression with some people. If the
committee want to see these on the record I am not going to say that it should
not be so, but I think that some consideration should be given, when using
these documents, to the effect that they may have upon others. I am going to
see in just a few minutes, as soon as the material comes in here, that a sufficient
number of these documents are available so they may be used among the three
groups. I have already given a copy to Mr. Diefenbaker and we are about to
have an additional supply here, not enough for each member of the committee,
but one for Mr. Argue, of the C.C.F. group, and another half dozen or so for
others are available. I hope to be able to keep one myself for the time being;
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but steps are being taken to get out enough copies to spread them out more
widely than that. I hope we can go on with the full documents—as a matter of
fact, my own copy has just arrived. This sheet (displaying large statements)
has the records that were being asked for yesterday, records from the Burns
plant. There is a lot of information on there that you probably do not want, but
some that you do want. Have you a copy of this, Mr. Diefenbaker?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Not yet.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: You will get a copy of it. There is another small
one here that I am not sure—I do not think you have a copy of this either.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: No.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: This is something you were talking about yester-
day. '

“This has reference to your memorandum of February 26, and Forms
PHA-114 in duplicate, containing an inventory of all meats in storage at both
Establishment 23E—Burns & Co. Limited, Regina, and in outside storage for
their account, which you returned to this office for signature of the manage-
ment of Est. 23E.

The desired signatures have been obtained and I am returning the report
herewith.”

That covers every lot of meat put through the plant during that period.
Most of what we were asked for yesterday is on this document, and it is in
this connection that I have been speaking. Here is one very small shipment—
the check shows that it went to such and such a place, and so on. That is
another document that is being tabled. Then there is this larger one which
has all the communications from one official in the department to another,
from the time of the Waas outbreak on the 2nd of December, when our man
first went out there. The report is right up to March 12. And then, if the
committee desires it from March 12 on, well, they can be made available
to you.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, first I want to refer again to a question
of privilege, to the order of the House that was read:

“for a copy of all communications that passed between veterinary
officials either provincial or federal and the federal Department of
Agriculture, together with all records since the 17th day of November,
1951, relative to the cattle epidemic of vesicular stomatitis or foot and .
mouth disease in Saskatchewan, also all certificates or statements of
analysis showing the results of the chemical examination of suspected
specimens of either of said cattle diseases.”

Now then, the minister, when he brought the documents before the
House said (on page 1683):
“I am quite prepared to table all the documents, but I want to go
on record as saying that I am tabling documents which are usually
privileged in this House.”

Now, Mr. Chairman, what I rise to say is this: no file can be expurgated,
excised, or the document selected by anyone, once an order of the House has
taken place. I intend to raise this question in the House and I am merely
giving notice at the moment; because the file as laid before us at the present
time displays an entire absence of any communication ever having passed
between the deputy minister, between Dr. Childs or anyone in Ottawa, and
these men on the field. Not one communication is shown between Dr. Christie
and the director of veterinary services in Ottawa, or the deputy minister. And
I ask that they make a further search, either in the top secret documents or
in the bottom drawer documents; for what is filed today is meaningless. All
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that has been placed additional in the record today is simply reports of the

inspectors to Ottawa; not one word, not one direction, not one line from any -

official in Ottawa regarding the matter, even after it was suspected that there
might be foot-and-mouth disease.

Furthermore, I point out that as yet there has been no return of the certi-
ficates or statements of analyses showing the results of the chemical examina-
tions of suspected specimens of either of the cattle diseases. What was asked
for and what is being filed now in parliament was in addition to the other
documents, certificates or statements of analyses. There is not one of those
documents; and, certainly this fooling around with an order passed by the
House of Commons has now in my opinion passed beyond what is reasonable
or even common courtesy. One begins to wonder—I say this, sir—one begins
to wonder what is being hidden, and whether all the documents that parlia-
ment asked for are being presented. Now, there is one reference that the
minister made; he said that as far as the file delivered today is concerned
there was a point raised in the House of Commons by Mr. Coldwell, and I
thought that it was pretty generally accepted, that the names of individuals
should not be used and bandied around. And now, of course, I cannot see
any cogency in the argument advanced by the minister that Burns and Com-
Pany will suffer—

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: No, no; I did not say that. I said some other
butcher.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: You did not say that?
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: No.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Because Burns and Company had nothing to do with
the infection nor were they in any way responsible for it. As far as the names
of the farmers are concerned, I think the minister makes out a good case. I
can understand that these farmers do not want to have their names used. Cer-
tainly there were several names used in the original speech made by the
minister, or in the answers he gave in the House, to place the inception of the
disease; certainly, if there are any more names in this record that have not
been referred yet, I for one would agree to that suggestion. Having said
that I ask him—and I intend to ask this afternoon at the opening of the House
—that all the communications be tabled. This playing around with an order
is inexcusable. I can understand the minister’s explanation as to why these
documents were not delivered because he himself had directed that names
should not be used; but I do submit to you, sir, that one of two things stand out;
either there are a lot more documents—the answers, the replies to statements,
and instructions from the Department of Agriculture in Ottawa—in which
case there is continuing contempt of parliament—and if there are not it shows
that between January 4 and February 27 no person in Ottawa ever com-
municated with those officials in the field and pointed out the situation. There-
fore, I say, either position is not a satisfactory position. I simply ask the min-
ister now to ask the officials to go down into some of the bottom drawers, or
if necessary to dig out some of the top secret compartments; and if there are
no such communications between any officer in Ottawa—that will show that
no officer in Ottawa communicated with any field officer or veterinary official
at any time in writing, I will accept it, as I know the minister will be telling
us what the facts are.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, I am not a member of this
committee, and I am simply here as a member of the House; but, I suppose
that I have the right to be here as minister of the department concerned.
However, I think the remarks which have just been made are remark§ that
have to do with general procedure rather than with the investigation itself;
and I would.therefore like to say this, that while what the member for Lake
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Centre has just said would be applicable in dealing with foot and mouth
disease; it is a disease which when once established does become somewhat
the responsibility of the Department of Agriculture here: but, until it becomes
a contagious disease that is a reportable contagious disease there is some
question as to whether there is the same responsibility of this department in
Ottawa as there is when foot and mouth disease has been established. And
now, the fact is, and this record indicates so far as I have been able to follow
it that officials did not regard it as foot and mouth disease in the early
stages; that is, between the dates that have just been referred to, from the
2nd of December 1951 to February 2nd 1952. The 26th of November, as 1
understand it, was the first date on which anyone, any veterinarian, was called
in to have a look at the cattle that were presumed to have either the one
disease or the other; the first we were asked to look into it was on the first
of December, and we looked into it on the 2nd of December until early in
February, so far as I can find out, there is nothing on the file to indicate
that veterinarians and officials in general had concluded that the disease was
foot and mouth disease. Now, as I said in the House earlier, there might
be some reason for discussing—and I see that the newspaper this morning
does discuss it—as to whether there should have -been more speed than there
was between the 2nd day of February and the 23rd day of February. I think
there is some justification for saying that there might have been more com-
munication even during that period; but then I think that it is only fair to
say that I was away on a vacation and the veterinary director general himself
was away on vacation from the department during part of the time, and
therefore it was only natural that there would not be the communications
of the same kind in a period when a person is away as there might be at
another time. I have not been able to find it. Maybe through the activities
of this committee they can find it. But I don’t believe that anywhere between
the 2nd of December and a much later date there was any reason for anyone
saying to anyone else in the department—one person saying to another—this
might be, or this is foot and mouth disease. As a matter of fact, if you will
review that file you will find that every investigation that was made was made
to determine whether it was that disease. That is what was being determined
and in every case they determined it was stomatitis; and the only place where
there was any indirect reference to foot and mouth disease is where someone
says there was no reason for believing that it was a more serious contagious

disease, or something to that effect. Now, that might have been, but it does

indicate that what they were doing, what was in the minds of the men who
were carrying on the investigation, was to make absolutely certain that it
was not foot and mouth disease. Now, after all, any professional man of any
kind has the right before he makes a decision to carry out a complete investiga-
tion; that is what the file indicates; the investigation was carried out first
before the decision was made. Reference has been made to the fact that
the first case proven was in the Burns Company plant at Regina in February.
So long as that was the case I can quite understand that there were not any
communications saying: “You had better watch out; this is foot and mouth
disease.” But once they came to the conclusion there was any chance of it
being foot and mouth disease there are communications on the file.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: But there were no communications between February
23 and March 12, notwithstanding the fact that it was reported on the 12th, and
that is why I wondered.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Well, my reason for that is the fact, as I reported
to the House, that on one occasion I went out there myself.

Mr. DiereNBAKER: That is in the documents produced today?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It is in the documents. The fact is that I went
out. The discussion which took place do not show on the documents I have
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given over to the committee. At the same time, if it was necessary, I can
report about it. I was there; and, these things can be produced. Also Dr.
Childs can report of the occasion he was there, and he can produce the dis-
cussions that took place when he was there.

Mr. WricHT: What date were you there?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I went out there somewhere around the first of
February and I did not get back here until—I haven’t the exact date—the 26th
or 27th of February, somewhere around there.

Mr. WRrigHT: That is, you were on the scene yourself from the 1st of
February?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I was. Some of the time I was on the scene.
I was on vacation; at least, I thought I was. And the first week in February is
the week I was waiting for a celebration of the fact that I had been in politics
for about 40 years.

Mr. WricHT: We are not particularly interested in that.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am telling you why I was there.

Mr. WricHT: We are interested in foot and mouth disease.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It didn’t come off for certain reasons we are all
sorry for. After that I went on curling for a week; and then, at the end of

that week, on the 16th day of February, I went to Vancouver, and I got my

first report in Vancouver, as I stated yesterday.

Mr. WRIGHT: You had made no investigation yourself?

Right. Hon. Mt. GARDINER: Why should I? _

Mr. WrigHT: Did you have the information yourself in regard to it being
stomatitis? Were you not concerned about it? Or had you not heard from
anyone about it?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: No, because I never even heard from anyone and
I was right in the middle of where it was, that anybody’s cattle had stomatitis.
And when I did get reports later they indicated that it was merely stomatitis.
Over the whole period everybody thought that it was stomatitis and that is
the only reason there was not any communication. It is the same as if some
kid had measles. Nobody was talking about it. I was right in among the
farmers whose cattle had this disease and none of them even told me it was
stomatitis.

Mr. WrigHT: Not even your own officials.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Nobody had reason for concern about it; not
€ven the Saskatchewan government people whose responsibility it was.

Mr. MurraYy: You have a pretty fine herd of cattle in that part of the
tountry yourself, have you not? They reported this to your officials?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am very pleased that my friend says they
Teported it to our officials because a lot of people dispute that. I agreed with
him that was before December 2; nevertheless, I understand, and I said
In the House of Commons, that the matter was reported to the officials of the
Province between the 26th of November and the 1st of December.

Mr. WrigHT: And he reported it the next day to your department?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: He does not admit he did. I wrote out a report
and I read it onto Hansard, and I read it at a meeting in Regina when Mr. John-
Son was present and when Mr. Waas was present; and when they were all
Present at this meeting; and I said that I was going to read them what.I had put
on Hansard and I wanted them to tell me if it was correct and I asked anybody
Who wanted to make any correction they thought was needed, to make
them, Nobody made any corrections. After the meeting, however, there




92 STANDING COMMITTEE

were some people who said it was not correct, that Mr. Johnson had not
reported. Now, my information is that it was reported, to Mr. Johnson, a
provincial man, and he did absolutely nothing. He was not asked his views
in regard to it; and so far as I know did not investigate. Another version of it
is simply that he told Mr. Waas to go to Mr. Hunter, and have Mr. Hunter report
it. He did go to Mr. Hunter, who is not a provincial veterinary, he is a local
practitioner. Whatever he did could be established, one way or another. We
can have these officials here later to determine that. I do not think that
we are going to get anywhere by discussing it among ourselves. But, my
information is that the province did not do anything at all about it at that
stage because they thought, as we thought, that it was stomatitis, and that
it was not a thing to get excited about; but I hope nobody is now going
to say everybody should have been excited away back there. Maybe
they should have; but that is not the way practitioners operate; they
are ordinary human beings. They don’t go around spreading rumours that
it might be some sort of serious disease that might be prevalent when some
less serious disease is there. And I suggest that they can make just as many
mistakes as the veterinarians. In this case, if there is anything at all about
it that one can criticize, it is that they did not make a proper diagnosis, a
correct diagnosis, earlier. Now, that happens right along, both in the practice
of medicine and in veterinary practice; but there might be some reason for
criticism there, but if there is any reason for criticism it is just as much the
business of the provincial department as it is of the federal.
Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Will you produce those chemical examinations?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: If they are not here or on one of these documents
they will be produced.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: They are not.

Mr. STEWART: To save the time of the committee I suggested that certain
sections of the two provincial Acts with regard to this matter of responsibility
be read into the record.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Stewart, I believe, then Mr. Argue.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Will he produce those chemical examinations this after-
noon?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: If they are not on here, then they are on some
of these documents and they will be produced.

Mr. STEWART: Mr. Chairman, yesterday in order to save the time of the
committee I suggested that we read in certain sections of two provincial acts
on this matter of responsibility; they were not put into the record yesterday
and it was in order to save the time of the committee that I gave the numbers
of the sections and so on. I would now ask that these be printed, and for the
information of the committee, in case you do not want to read the printed
sections of the statutes, chapter 70 of 1949 Revised Statutes of Saskatchewan,
being the Contagious Diseases of Animals Act, incorporates this disease and
others in the act; and under section 2 of the act, cattle, of course, are included;
and ‘“disease” means any infectious or contagious disease. Under section 3,
provincial inspectors have the powers of inspectors. And under section 4—

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Is stomatitis a disease included under that?

Mr. STEWART: All diseases, as well as stomatitis; the definition of the one
disease in here particularly brucellosis, is characterized as an undulant fever
in cattle and in human beings. Under section 4 the powers and duties of the
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Health of Animals Department are set forth, showing those of the field inspec-
tors of these animals and so forth. Section 9 was read to the committee yester-
day by Mr. Decore and that section is important:
Whenever it appears proper, the minister may direct an inspector
or any other suitable person to examine into any alleged outbreak of
brucellosis or any other disease—

That is that; and in addition they have, in the province of Saskatchewan, chap-
ter 71 of the Revised Statutes of Saskatchewan 1949, the Veterinary Services
Act, whereby municipalities appoint their own veterinaries and they can go
out, and they have certain powers under that act. Then you have also the

Inspection of Stock Act in the provinee of Saskatchewan which is chapter 182,

Wwhich covers the matter of shipment of livestock, and includes a limitation on
fche mileage that they can be shipped; and under section 4 of that act, if stock
Is delivered in a public place, there are certain requirements of the statute; and
In connection with abattoirs and public service vehicles and railway agencies
and public stockyards and so forth, they are required to keep records for a
year of all livestock shipped in the province of Saskatchewan, and those records
are at all time available to the provincial government under that statute. Now
there are inspectors under the provincial act and they have the powers of a
constable and they can also employ the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, and
they have the right to inspect abattoirs and stockyards under the provincial act.

There was a question raised yesterday by the member for Melfort that those
Powers of the province could not be exercised in view of the dominion legisla-
tion, but he was entirely incorrect and until those statutes are attacked in
Saskatchewan and set aside, then statutes apply; so the provincial government
In Saskatchewan had full powers to inspect and go into the question of all
these diseases, as well as the federal authorities. I presume the committee will
Wwant to deal with this phase of the question when they finally bring in their
report.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Before I sat down, Mr. Chairman, perhaps I
should have explained that as soon as it was established that it was foot and
mouth disease, or as soon as it became possible that it might be foot and mouth
disease, we have had every possible cooperation with the officials, both federal
and provincial in the province.

This matter was one which was raised by Mr. Diefenbaker, w1th regard to
the Burns plant, and it was not my intention that anything be kept off this file,
or that anyone should not mention the name of the Burns plant; that has been
mentioned all over the place. But if somebody in the province of Ontario, for
example, got beef shipped to him, let us say, last January or last December
from the Burns plant in Regina down here, I do not think it is fair to that man
down here to have it bruited all over the country that he had that meat in his
butcher shop, because other people might be driven away from his butcher
shop because of that; or even with respect to the men who distributed meat
fiown here, who got shipments from Burns in Ontario, I do not think anything
1s going to be gained by spreading that around. But for the benefit of members,
it would be all right to look at this file and see where it went; but I think it
Would be better not to talk too much about it here.

Mr. STEwART: I will leave these sections then with the secretary so that
they can be put into the record and you can read them.

“Shipment of Stock

3. (1) No stock shall be placed in a railway car or in a public
service vehicle until the shipper has given to the railway agent or to
the driver of the vehicle a signed statement in form A, made in tripli-
cate, on which the stock ha\s been properly listed and described.
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(2) Forms shall be provided by the department to railway agents
and owners of public service vehicles and to other persons requesting
the same.

(3) Where stock is shipped by rail one copy of the statement shall
be attached by the agent to the way-bill, one copy shall be kept on
file by the agent, and the third copy shall be forwarded by him to the
commissioner not later than the day following the shipment.

(4) Where stock is placed in a railway car at a station where there
is no railway agent, the three copies of the statement shall be handed
to the train conductor who shall deliver the same to the nearest billing
agent. One copy of the statement shall be attached to the way-bill
by the billing agent, one copy shall be kept on file by the billing agent,
and the third copy shall be forwarded by him to the commissioner not
later than the first day of the following week.

(5) Where stock is shipped by public service vehicle one copy of
the statement shall be retained by the driver of the vehicle and
delivered by him to the consignee, one copy shall be kept on file by
the owner of the vehicle, and the third copy shall be forwarded by
the owner to the commissioner not later than the day following the
shipment. 1939, c. 70, s. 3.

4. If stock is delivered to a public stockyard or abattoir and the
statement in form A is not received therewith, the person in charge of
the stockyard or abattoir shall prepare in duplicate statement setting
forth:

(a) the non-receipt of the statement;

(b) the class or kind of stock delivered;

(¢) the name and address of the shipper of the stock;

(d) the number of head of each class or kind of stock delivered;

(e) a description of the stock, including ages and brands;
and shall, not later than the day following delivery of the stock,
forward one copy of the statement to the commissioner. The other
copy shall be kept on file at the stockyard or abattoir. 1939, c. 70, s. 4.

5. Forms and statements received pursuant to this Act by railway
agents, owners of public service vehicles or persons in charge of public
stockyards or abattoirs shall be retained by them for a period of not less
than one year and shall be open to inspection during business hours by
the commissioner, an inspector, a member of the police force of a city or
by any person claiming an interest in stock listed in a statement. 1939,
c. 70, 8. 5.

6. (1) No person shall drive on, foot any stock from any point in

the province to another point in the province distant more than twenty '

miles, or from any point in the province to any point outside
the province, unless under the authority of and in accordance with a
permit (form B) obtained from the commissioner or an inspector.

(2) Where a permit is issued by an inspector, he shall forthwith
forward a copy thereof to the commissioner. 1939, c. 70, s. 6.
Stock Inspection

7. Every inspector shall for the purposes of this Act have the
powers of a constable. 1939, c. 70, s. 7.

8. Every member of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police shall
ex officio be an inspector under this Act. 1939, c. 70, s. 8.

10. (1) The minister may appoint an inspector at any public stock-
yard or abattoir.
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(2) Where an inspector finds that an animal is not correctly
described in a statement in form A delivered at a public stockyard or
abattoir or has been unlawfully shipped, he shall detain the animal,
communicate with the owner thereof, if known, and request instructions
as to the disposition of the animal; and if the owner is unknown or the
inspector cannot within three days ascertain who is the owner, he
shall offer the animal for sale by auction or otherwise at a reserve price
equal to its current market value according to class and age at the
point of shipment or places where the animal is detained.

(3) No inspector shall purchase in person or by his agent stock
offered for sale by him, nor shall he acquire any interest of any kind in
an animal detained by him. 1939, c. 70, s. 10.”

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Argue.

Mr. ARGUE: Mr. Chairman, we did get a statement from the Minister of
Agriculture just now that the Saskatchewan government and its officials have
Co-operated in every possible way and I received a suggestion that all the
authorities of the federal government were' responsible for reportable diseases
—and because the Hull laboratory was the one laboratory in Canada which was
Properly equipped to test this disease, there should be a suggestion now or even
an inference that the Saskatchewan officials in any way have fallen down. The
minister has said that we did not know that this was foot and mouth disease,
and that no one suggested that it was, and there was no evidence that it was.
Therefore it was too bad, and we could not help it. But we were told yesterday
?fternoon by the veterinary general that the department is on its toes, and that
1t is checking on foot and mouth disease in every country in the world and
that it is watching over the health of animals coming into Canada and looking
after these things in every way. Well. let us see if there is some evidence
already produced which would suggest, even to a layman, that there might
have been some reasonable suspicion before February 12 that the disease,
stomatitis, so-called, was in fact foot and mouth disease.

The report by Dr. James, the inspector, on January 28, 1951, was tabled
Yesterday and it reported a condition in the Burns plant, of some 30 diseased
animals on December 28, long before any steps were taken to see whether or not
this might be foot and mouth disease. And what is the report? The report is
this, in part, and I will read the pertinent parts: in 30 of these cattle there were
efhibited symptoms of stomatitis, and it defines stomatitis as this: slobbering
considerable amounts of saliva from the mouths; difficulty in drinking, and
Inability to feed properly; temperatures slightly elevated, and stiffness in gait
When walking. Very well. Then I took a definition of the symptoms of foot
i}nd mouth disease from the Encyclopedia Britannica, Vol. 9, on page 468 where
1t says that some of the symptoms of foot and mouth disease are a rise of tem-
Perature which precedes the vesicular eruption, which is accompanied by
salivation and a peculiar “smacking” of the lips; and that a rise in temperature .
accompanies that foot and mouth disease. The same condition was reported
In the 30 head of sick cattle in the Burns plant. The animal cannot feed so
well as usual and there is more or less lameness, in the report on the cattle in
the Burns plant; and they reported stiffness in gait when walking. Lameness
IS a constant symptom, and the feet become very much diseased, and the animal
1S so crippled that it has to be destroyed. There are symptoms of foot and mouth
disease given in the report on December 28 which are similar to the symptoms
of foot and mouth as described in the Encyclopedia Britannica in these respects:
slobbering at the mouth; considerable rise in temperature; difficulty in drinking,
and stiffness in gait.

Mr. Jutras: Mr. Chairman, I apologize for interfering, but on a point of
order, I think we are getting back into what was said once or twice a few days
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ago. Yesterday I think we had agreed to hear Dr. Childs. At 6:00 o’clock he
was interrupted in his statement; and he was giving us the chronological account
of the events all through this disease. I think that is one of the things that most
of us—at least myself—are very anxious to get, therefore I think this discussion
would be better sometime after we have had the statement from Dr. Childs. I
think we should proceed in an orderly fashion in the way we were proceeding
yesterday, and carry on from where we left off.

The CHAIRMAN: Let Mr. Argue finish his statement.

Mr. ARGUE: I shall conclude in one minute. But on a point of order, I was
making these remarks because the minister stated to the committee this morning
that there was no evidence whatever that might suggest to anybody in December
or in January that the disease could be foot and mouth disease. Well, all I am

saying is that the report of December 28 should have suggested in the strongest -

possible way to anyone, even to a layman who had no knowledge whatever of
this disease, that it was, or that it might in fact be foot and mouth disease; and
that is why those tests should have been made earlier. I know the veterinary
general yesterday said that their officials had been instructed not to talk loosely
about foot and mouth disease. Well, his telegram of February 15 counter-
manded instructions to take the tests to see if it was foot and mouth disease,
and I should think that anyone who knows anything about what is going on—

Mr. JuTras: Mr. Chairman, this is the very thing that Dr. Childs was going
to deal with yesterday and was getting at; so why not reserve the questioning
until you have heard Dr. Childs?

Mr. ARGUE: Well, the minister introduced this subject.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I object to that, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. ARGUE: He attempted to drag in the Saskatchewan government, and
I endeavoured to refute his statement.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: My friend said a lot more than that when he
was on his feet. I was answering what the hon. member for Lake Center
said when I rose. I was not discussing what you are discussing. I think
I had the right to answer. I agree that this point of order is well taken.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we will now call on Dr. Childs.

Mr. QuELCH: Might I make a comment, Mr. Chairman? In the statement
made by the Minister of Agriculture the minister said that it would not be
wise to give any publicity to the names of the butchers who received meat
from the Burns plant. We now know that there was disease, and that some
of that meat was contaminated with foot and mouth disease, and that that
meat was shipped across the dominion to Vancouver, Calgary and Montreal.
Now we hear that at Ormstown there is foot and mouth as a result of bones
being thrown out. I think the widest possible publicity should be given at
all points to which that meat was shipped, warning farmers that they should
not throw out any raw meat or bones because there is disease and it might
spread the disease. We know that foot and mouth disease is in Saskatchewan
and we do not want it to spread to the provinces; and meat which may have
been contaminated has been shipped to other provinces; so,the least we can
do is to warn the provinces and explain to them that in the event of canning
that meat, if they decide to cut out the bones first, they should be sure to
bury or burn those bones. ‘ .

The CHAIRMAN: Let us call on Dr. Childs now.

Mr. CHARLTON: I would like to support what the hon. member has just
said. I mentioned before in the House of Commons that that should be done
and that we should give all the publicity possible in order to warn people
against the use of that frozen meat, to make sure that the bones are cooked.

The CHAIRMAN: Dr. Childs.

|
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Mr. StewarT: I think the member for Lake Center will possibly agree
with me on this, that so far we have not heard any evidence as to the
background and qualifications of our witness, Dr. Childs, such as how long
he has been in the department and what his qualifications are and what weight
should be given to his evidence as the result of. his standing. Therefore,
I think he should start off today by giving us a brief resume of his time
in the department and his qualifications, and so forth.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us now call on Dr. Childs.

Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director-General recalled:

The WiTneEsS: Mr. Chairman, hon. minister, and hon. gentlemen:

Mr. Ross: Would you mind speaking up, Dr. Childs, we have difficulty
in hearing you.

The WITNESS: Yes sir. I shall raise my voice. As to qualifications, I would
mention the public and the high schools, and collegiates at Lethbridge and
Calgary; graduation from the Ontario Veterinary College in 1915; approxi-
mately 4 years in the Royal Army Veterinary Corps in Britain; and in the
line of experience, service in France, in Mesopotamia, as it was at that time,
or Iraq today; Persia, and India.

I was for some months in charge of a diagnostic laboratory at Lahore,
India; I returned from service and took a post-graduate course at the Ontario
Veterinary College, where I specialized mostly in bacteriology and pathology.
Then I was in practice for approximately 5 years or thereabouts out west, in
Alberta. I joined the department at Edmonton on the 25th of September,
1925, and I have held various positions in the service since then, almost all
the various positions outside, both in meat inspection and in the field. And
I came to Ottawa around September 15, 1946, as assistant to the then Veterinary
Director-General and I was promoted to the position which I now hold within
the next few months. I might say that approximately 6 weeks after my
arrival, the Veterinary Director-General decided to retire and I was acting
in charge for some few months. Since then I have been here at Ottawa
carrying on in that position.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. You also had some connection with the United States?—A. Yes, that
is true. I have been rather active with our friends across the line, that is,
with the American Veterinary and Medical Association; but more so with the
United States Livestock Organization. This organization represents all states
and territories of the United States; its membership consists of the state
veterinaries and their assistants, prominent livestock men of the United
States, and representatives of the Bureau of Animal Industry of the United

" States; and we are represented in that organization. We have official member-

ship of the same standing as the Bureau of Animal Industry in the Umted
States. I have been quite active with that organization.

Q. When would that be?—A. Shortly after I came down here. And as I
said, I have been active in getting livestock entry into the United States, which
was something which hinged greatly on the health status of Canadian livestock
which was not nearly as good then as it is now, outside of this foot and mouth
disease. I was quite active, and I was closely associated with the membership
there; and some three years ago I was elected third vice president; and the
following year, second vice president; and last year, first vice president; and I
am being referred to now as president elect of the organization. I might say,
gentlemen, that I consider this to be one of the greatest honours I have ever
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had because I am the first Canadian who has ever been given an official
position in that organization. I think those are all the qualifications I have to
describe right now.

The CHAIRMAN: You may go right on.

The WirnNess: Last night I broke off when we were up at Regina. I would
like to give you the details of the activities around there. But I shall need to
go back a little on that to give you the picture so you will be in a position to
understand sequence of events.

I commenced my statutory leave. I was some two years behind with
my statutory leave and I hoped to get some of it used up before the end of the
past fiscal year. At that time we could not see anything very serious on the
horizon, so I decided to take some of this statutory leave. Therefore, I
commenced my leave on Monday the 11th of February. I think I took four
days and then came into the office to pick up some mail, when I found out
that our staff out in Regina was becoming concerned about this condition of
vesicular stomatitis. I found out also that there had been a wire or a message
from Dr. Carlson who was assistant district veterinarian out there, showing
concern about conditions, and I believe he had ‘asked that somebody be sent
out from the laboratory—that is the Animal Disease Research Institute—to
make inoculations and field tests.

We were short-handed and it was suggested and agreed upon by Dr.
Hall, who is my assistant, that they would collect the material out there and
send it back. Having knowledge of that, I was very much concerned in this
way: it is very, very dangerous exposing foot and mouth disease virus to
hazards of transportation and it was beginning to look serious at that time;
and it would be a very serious thing if by any chance infection would be
spread to other parts of the country, particularly to eastern Canada; it would
be a very, very serious thing. Therefore it was in my mind to go out there
myself or get somebody else, if I found that I could not get out, to collect those
samples and bring them down in person, to make sure that they arrived with
no breakage or loss or anything like that. However, I decided and I sent a
wire asking that they hold up the collection of samples or the sending of
samples and to make field tests out there; and I decided to go out myself and
look into the thing, which I did.

I left Ottawa after consultation with my superior officers, and I explained
that I thought there might be something out there more serious than was
thought at that particular time, so I went out by plane.

By Mr. Browne:

Q. On February 15, when you sent that wire, were you on duty or on
leave?—A. I was on leave, I guess, on the 15th. No, I think I was on duty; I
took just about 4 days leave. I went out by plane, leaving Ottawa on the evening
of the 16th and I arrived early Sunday morning on the 17th at Regina. I
looked around and consulted with our staff there and the result was that I sent
a wire which was filed that same night on the 17th, about half past eleven. I
think you will find that wire. The wire really got away from Regina on the
early morning of the 18th. The wire has been read already. It was to the
effect that there was ample evidence present to suggest or to justify a
quarantine; so I made up my mind then that we had foot and mouth disease,
but we did not say it. We were well aware of what would occur as soon as
that was said.

But in the meantime, we did not sit around and talk about what we
were going to do. You will understand. On the morning of the 18th we
started to work, and we could see, after looking around and examining things
generally, that we were in for it. I could see that. We started to organize
things to handle this in order to prevent its spread. We set up an organization

to deal with it.
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I will go over a few of those things here because some of you gentlemen
present apparently consider that some of these things were not done. That
is not the case, even though you may have been told differently before. The
first thing to do was to improve our communications, inter-office communi-
cations; we needed more furniture, more telephones and things of that kind.
One of the first things that we did was to get word out to our officers in
charge at Winnipeg not to delay. There is the bottleneck where livestock goes
through from the west. You know, I believe, that the flow is to the east from
the prairies, and to the south, Winnipeg being the main bottleneck. We
instituted a modified quarantine there; that is, nothing was to go out of
those yards, except for immediate slaughter; and everything to be examined
most closely. That was done. At the same time, about as quick as I could
get on to it, we placed a modified quarantine on the stockyards at Saskatoon
and Prince Albert. As I say, the modified quarantine permitted only a one-
Way traffic; livestock could come into the yards, but it could not go out, because
it came under our modified quarantine as it came in. The next day, of course,
we included Moose Jaw in this, although there is nothing up that way at
all. Those things were done. There was also the matter of arranging for
getting more staff in. We started to get them in as quickly as we could, as
quickly as we could arrange transport, to get around to make farm inspections.
There was the matter of getting adequate equipment for disinfecting purposes,
staff, supplies—they had to have rubber clothing especially; and that clothing
included boots, coats and hats. There was a host of things. We also at that
time started the machinery in motion to trace and inspect livestock, not only
from the area which was quarantined then or which is now quarantined, but
all over the prairie provinces where they had moved—either to the other
provinces or to the States. This was done. Also meats. We know meats
went to every part of the country, clear to Ontario—to various cities. We
know that. Now, lots of that got to the cities and towns. We don’t fear
damage from this very much, for these reasons, we have a very fine system
Which kept hog choleris out of this country for a decade—except for a small
outbreak a few years ago. For instance in connection with garbage collection,
Wherever garbage is collected, wherever garbage is fed to hogs—unless it
is ‘produced on their farms—any collected garbage must be cooked before it
is fed to swine. All these garbage collectors are licensed. Their premises
are inspected periodically; once a month—or much more than that since this
outbreak. Therefore, we have no undue apprehension of anything regarding
meats that go to cities and towns. As for the others, butchers—retail outlets
In rural districts—we have had an example of that, we could not find them
all, that is obvious; but they have been warned about this. Every care was
taken to have such material destroyed, and we even had them burn the bones
so that it would be completely destroyed. Now, those are the things we did,
gentlemen. I put in three days at Regina getting the groundwork started to
deal with this thing. At the same time, before I went west, in consultation
With my superiors, it was decided that if I thought necessary, I should inform
our friends at Washington that we had a serious disease out there, it might
be serious ultimately; and it had been arranged years ago with the United
States officials; we have an understanding, that if any serious disease breaks
out in either country the other country will be immediately informed; or, if
it is suspected, they will be kept informed. We have very close liaison there.
So, of course, I telephoned Dr. Simms, who is the chief of the bureau in
Washington, the Bureau of Animal Industry, from Regina, as soon as I had
satisfied myself that we were dealing with something serious—foot and
mouth disease—but I did not use the word foot and mouth disease.
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By Mr. Wright:

Q. What date was that?—A. February 18th, 1952.

Q. That was in February?—A. Yes. February 18th, 1952. The result was, of
course, that Dr. Simms moved very quickly. He was good enough to send to
Regina an expert on the foot and mouth disease, Dr. M. S. Shahan. He was
instructed to go to Regina to make observations and to assist us officially in
making and verifying diagnoses. Unfortunately, although it does not matter
very much, Dr. Shahan was delayed on account of weather conditions and he
did not arrive until I had left. I might say though that on the 18th we pur-
chased test animals and started tests. We got no results during my time there.
I had to leave before all the tests had been completed. One of the first things Dr.
Shahan did was to ask for some test animals and make some tests, and that was
done. Now, I think that gives you the picture of what went on during that
period. I do not think there is anything more to say there, except that I took
Dr. Wells along with me just so I could have somebody in case this turned out
to be serious; I took him along and I left him there in charge of operations. I
might say generally that the outbreak of foot and mouth disease occurred in
Mexico in November of 1946, and as soon as we could get around to it, which
was not until a year later, we sent down two of our men, two of our veterin-
aries, as observers, to have a look at the situation and to see how they handled
this disease; to see the appearance of it. Both of them got first hand information
about it. You will understand, gentlemen, that heretofore has been practically
nobody from the veterinary profession in North America who had ever seen
foot and mouth disease. They are very few. We have perhaps two or three in
the service and I am one of those myself. I probably saw more than any of the
others.

By Mr. Bennett:

Q. You might give us the names of those veterinaries; could you do that"
—A. You mean who were sent down to study this disease?

Q. Yes, could you give us their names?—A. Yes. Dr. K. F. Wells and Dr.

E. E. Carlson. These gentlemen went to Mexico and they were taken under the
wing of the Bureau of Animal industry there and shown around over the
country, shown exactly how it was handled there, shown the disease and all
that. Dr. Wells reported from Regina. When I went to Regina I took Dr. Wells
along because he had had that experience. Dr. Carlson was already on the job.
Dr. Carlson has seen foot and mouth disease in Mexico; and Dr. Carlson, of
course, is stationed at Regina. As a matter of fact, he is the assistant district
veterinarian there.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. For how long?—A. He has been the assistant district veterinary there
now for going on two years. I would say he has always been—well, for the last
15 years or more—stationed in Saskatchewan. A year or two ago the United
States Bureau of Animal Industry was concerned over not having men who
were competent to make diagnoses of vesicular diseases generally; so much
so that they set up a school to train men. I think that school commenced some-
thing over a year ago. And they, quite naturally of course, took on a limited
number for training. They restricted it to a dozen men. Of course, many others
wanted to go, but they could not take more. The Bureau of Animal Industry
was good enough to curtail their number of men, to leave out two, and took
two of ours for training. The idea of training these men, of course, was to place
them in strategic positions throughout the country, which has been done. They
were good enough to give us places for two men in that school down in the
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United States, and on the 16th of February two of our men left for Washing-
ton. That was the same day as I left Ottawa for Regina, which was the 16th of
February. It is a six weeks course, it is a very intensive course of training in
the diagnosis of vesicular diseases. On their return we immediately moved one
of these men up to Regina so that they would have the benefit of the fresh
training he had received. We kept another one in reserve here in Ottawa in case
there might be another outbreak in some other part of the country so that we
would be able quickly to send someone who knew something about it. There is
another school in operation at the present time in the U.S.A. and the U.S.
bureau have been good enough to keep room for us for two more of our men
who are down there now taking this intensive course. Until they started this
there was practically nobody in the United States, except for a few of us like
myself, in the case of our department, very few of us had ever seen foot and
mouth disease; and the only ones the United States had were those who had
handled the last outbreak they had had down there, which was in 1929, and as
I recall that was in California. They have all disappeared, except one or two.
There are very few, if any, active now, except the assistant chief, I believe.
They are very much concerned about this particular school, this training.

By Mr. Bennett:

Q. Would you explain to us laymen the difference between the two diseases
we are discussing; the various tests and the method of determining them? We
do not know too much about them.

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder if before that is done, he could give us the names
of the four men he mentioned.

The WiTnESS: You mean the names of the men who took the training?
Mr. CHARLTON: Yes.

The WiTNESS: First of all, Dr. L.. Moore, and Dr. H. E. Knapp; and presently
there are Dr. Roland Nadeau and Dr. E. A. Rankin. Now, your question, sir?

By Mr. Bennett:

Q. I would like you to explain the difference between these two diseases?
We have heard a lot about the various tests that were employed to diagnose
foot and mouth disease as separate from the other?—A. Yes, there are various
tests,

Q. I would like you to describe some of the tests.—A. You would like me to
describe them, I will do the best I can. We have a gentleman present here in
this committee better qualified than I am to explain it to you.

The CHAIRMAN: Would it not be better to wait until he is called?

Mr. BENNETT: That is quite all right.

The WirNEss: However, if you wish, I will make a start on it.

The CHAIRMAN: No, we will leave it to the other official to do that.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: If I may—is Dr. Childs through with his statement?
The CHAIRMAN: Have you finished your statement, Dr. Childs?

The WiTnEss: Yes.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. First I want to say, Mr. Chairman, that Mr. Stewart has performed a
worthwhile service in having Dr. Childs give us his qualifications. Now, Dr.
Childs, I have looked over this file; that is the one in answer to the motion passed
by parliament; and am I not correct when I suggest to you this, that between
the 4th day of January and the 15th day of February you made no written

56080—23
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communication with any official in the field or anywhere-else within your
department with regard to foot and mouth disease or stomatitis?—A. I don’t
think I ever communicated.

Q. No; and you, of course, were greatly concerned right from the beginning
of this outbreak, were you not?—A. I was most concerned when I heard it first.
I thought, well, maybe there is something serious.

Q. You said you were most concerned?

The CHAIRMAN: He answered your question.
By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. I did not hear his answer.—A. I was quite concerned at first when I
heard it was a vesicular disease, but knowing that there were men there who
had seen enough of these diseases—

Q. Pardon me?—A. Knowing that we had men on the job who had seen
both vesicular diseases and foot and mouth disease I was not very apprehensive.

Q. You mean?—A. They called it vesicular stomatitis.

Q. And, as you told us a moment ago, it is difficult to diagnose this foot
and mouth disease?—A. Yes, it is difficult.

Q. And, indeed, that school was started down in the United States just
f:r ;’he purpose of educating veterinarians in the technique of these diseases?—

. Yes.

Q. And the reason for these schools would naturally be the difficulty
excepting for experienced men by visual examination, to determine whether
tpe disease is foot and mouth disedse or stomatitis?—A. Well, a visual examina-
tion, and certain other tests that I am not up on.

Q. No. I understand, because of some of the facts brought out here
that you had not concluded these tests, but you did know that the symptoms
are very much alike?—A. They will resemble each other very closely where
you have a very mild case of foot and mouth disease such as we have out here.
That is a milder type, type A.

Q. And for that reason visual examination would be next to impos-
sible?—A. It would be difficult for a person who had not close experience in
both diseases in their clinical aspects.

Q. You were fully on guard against the possibility of foot and mouth
disease coming to Canada, were you not?—A. We want to be, sir.

Q. And you were throughout the years?—A. Yes.

Q. As a matter of fact, you gave an interview to someone—I think it
was some time in January, someone from the Family Herald and Weekly
Star—regarding the danger of foot and mouth disease spreading to Canada
from other parts of the world?—A. Perhaps I did, but I don’t recall it.

Q. I read to you from the issue of the 28th of February, on page 11,
to Miss Mary Hamilton.

The CHAIRMAN: What is the year?
Mr. DIEFENBAKER: 1952.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:
Q. I just read this and ask you whether or not you agree with it:

“A foot and mouth disease outbreak makes necessary greater pre-
cautions in Canada. Ministry of Agriculture officials told him of the
alertness of Dr. Childs at Ottawa to the dangers of the present
epidemic”

Is that correct, or is it not, that you were very alert right from the beginning
to the dangers of this ep1dem1c in Saskatchewan?—A. Oh yes, there is no
doubt about that.

Q. And, being alert, did you throughout—and I am not going to ask you
for particulars—but did you get good co-operation from all the officials in your
department?—A. Yes, as far as I know, sir.
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Q. And also from officials in any other sector or sections of the depart-
ment?—A. Oh yes, yes.

Q. And then, after the 23rd of December, certain things took place,
certain diseases were found? In December—on November 1, vesicular disease,
some disease, a disease was found on one farm?—A. No, it was not found on
one farm; that is, not at that time.

Q. And was that in December, on December 2?—A. It was not—I would
have to verify the date—it would not be until the 24th of February.

Q. Oh, no; I mean the first disease, not foot and mouth disease.—A. The
disease? I thought you meant A-type.

Q. I am just asking you a general question about disease, and it was
in the record that these specimens were of a contagious disease; and the
record that was sent to you from time to time, was it not?—A. Yes.

Q. And you immediately, being alert as to what was taking place, took
steps to find out whether or not this was foot and mouth disease?—A. Surely.

Q. And you would communicate with your deputy minister to bring to
his attention the situation that had arisen that has a dangerous potential?—A.
No, I do not think I did at that time because we did not consider it wad
serious until I got the reports in.

Q. Then, a little later on, two or three farms were attacked with a similar
disease, in the month of December?—A. Yes.

Q. And then, finally, in the latter part of December, the Burns’ plant
was seriously attacked?—A. It did not appear very serious at the time.

Q. I did not hear you.—A. It did not appear very serious at that time.

Q. It did not appear very serious at that time?—A. No.

Q. But you made the statement that it was serious enough to apply
quarantine?—A. Well, I don’t recall saying that.

Q. You applied a quarantine, did you not?—A. I don’t recall saying it
was a serious thing.

Q. I thought you used that expression, I thought that you said that in
February it was serious enough to apply a quarantine?—A. That is right.

Mr. MAJor: Mr. Chairman, I don’t think Mr. Diefenbaker has any right
to ask that type of questions of the witness. He is putting in them the answers
he wants to get from the witness. I ‘do not think that is the fair way of
doing it.

Mr. WrigHT: If the witness had brought in a written statement which
could have been passed around to members it would have been easy to follow.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I am only trying to get information.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. You asked for a report on the Burns’ plant, did you not?—A. Yes.

Q. And, Dr. Childs, you asked Dr. Christie to provide you with the
James’ report?—A. Yes.

Q. Pardon me?—A. Yes.

Q. That was on the 28th of December when you had a wire from Dr.
Christie. He says:

“One hundred and thirty seven steers and seventy heifers of which thirty
head are exhibiting symptoms of infectious vesicular stomatitis in Burns and
Co. Feed Lots Establishment Twenty Three E stop premises quarantined and
report by Dr. N. V. James being mailed to you stop healthy animals allowed
to be slaughtered.

(Signed) N. D. Christie.”

And, following this outbreak in the Burns’ plant, natural.lfy you then beca}me
more alert than you had been before to the danger of this disease spreading,
whatever it was?—A. Yes.



104 STANDING COMMITTEE

Q. And you received no wire from Dr. James for several days, did
you?—A. No.

Q. And then you got a report from Dr. James which you produced yester-
day?—A. I don’t believe I have that with me. It is in our file and the date
would be on it, stamped on it.

Q. On the statement we got there is no date stamp.

Mr. JuTrAaSs: Yes, there is.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q@ The date of the report is December 25, and I am asking you the date
that you received it. Have you any record of that?—A. There will be a
record, of course.

Q. Well, if you will get that information and give it to us; “awaiting Dr.
James’ report vesicular stomatitis Burns’ feed lot Regina reported wire of
December 28 stop long delay not understood stop please expedite repeat please
expedite”. You sent that wire?—A. Yes.

Q. You were very disturbed at that time because you had asked Dr.
James to make an early report?—A. Yes, it struck me that as the report did
not appear in due time, to ask for a report.

Q. And that was the reason for your repeating at the end there, “please
expedite”; and that indicates that you were very serious about this matter
and wanted action?—A. Yes, I wanted the report.

Q. And you do not know when you got the report?—A. No, I could not

say right now.
' Q. You have already told the committee that you did not know when
you got the reports on the various tests that were made; but, as a general
rule, you were aware of the fact that in order to determine finally whether it
was foot and mouth disease you had to have the results of these reports, and
you would have to make certain decisions, did you not?—A. Yes.

Q. Indicating results?—A. Yes.

Q. And you realized that serum had to be got from England?—A. Yes.

Q. Why didn’t you get that serum from England—and when I say ‘“you”
I mean your department. I am not speaking of you personally.—A. The serum
was procured just as soon as it was thought that there was need for it.

Q. So then the serum was procured when?—A. I believe you should direct
that question to Dr. Mitchell.

Q. Well, I thought you as head of the department would be able to
say approximately when the serum was sent?—A. It would be between February
16 and 20, I would think; but Dr. Mitchell could answer that.

Q. On what date was it that you finally determined in your mind that
this might be foot and mouth disease?—A. February 17th.

Q. February 17th?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was the reason for that conclusion?—A. Well, from looking over
the situation right in Regina.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Having looked in Regina and having had a
consultation with my men, and from a study of the lesions and the way the
disease had spread in the last 10 days or so.

Q. I could not hear you—A. A consultation with my staff in Regina and
a study of the lesions, and the way this thing was increasing in malignancy,
plus spread.

Q. Who was the doctor who first suggested that it was foot and mouth
disease even before the examination or tests were taken?—A. I do not recall
anybody suggesting it was foot and mouth disease.
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Q. Is it correct to say that from the first day, the 27th of November
until you were in Regina on the 17th of February no member of your staff
or anyone else suggested that this might be foot and mouth disease?—A. No,
I do not recall anybody suggesting it.

Q. All right; you did have three inoculations made, did you not?—A. Yes,
sir.

Q. What was the purpose of the inoculations?—A. Do you mean the
first inoculation?

Q. Yes; the inoculations that were made in December?—A. The purpose
of those was to determine whether or not we had foot and mouth disease.

Q. I see; and there were three inoculations taken altogether, three,
during the entire period from the 27th of November until the 17th of February:
is that not so?—A. Yes, I believe that is correct.

Q. There was one taken on December 2?—A. Yes.

Q. There was not another one taken until February 7; is that not correct?
—A. I am not so certain of that.

Q. That information, as I remember it, was given by the Hon. Mr. Gardiner
originally, at pages 79 to 92 of Hansard. Now then, I put it to you, that the
first inoculation was taken on December 2, and the next inoculation on
February 17.—A. I think I have it here, sir.

Q. Yes, I know.—A. There were two horses inoculated on December 3.

Q. You say there were 2 horses inoculated on December 3?—A. At the
Waas premises.

Q. Yes; and what was the next inoculation?—A. The next one was on a
horse on the premises of L. Wood.

Q. On what date?—A. On December 12.

Q. Yes, and the next?—A. Another horse was inoculated on the premises
of K. Hahn, on February 12, also.

Q. On what date?—A. On February 12, also; 2 horses on the 3rd at
the Waas premises on December 3.

Q. On December 3?—A. On the Waas premises; and one on the Wood
bremises on December 12.

Q. Right.—A. And one horse inoculated on February 12 on the premises
of K. Hahn, at Regina; Dr. James carried out those inoculations.

Q. And there were no others during that period?—A. That is right.

Q. I am just asking for information; the disease was spreading pretty
generally in that period of time and there were about 19 or 20 cases, were
there not, in the month of January; some 19 or 20 cases?—A. The greatest
Spread was in January and the first part of February.

Q. But during the month of January were there not about 19 cases?
—A. I do not think there were that many in January.

Q. How many do your figures show there were in January?—A. I have
not counted them up. I think there were eleven.

Q. Eleven; well, you have got the record there.

Mr. Jutras: What part of January?
The WiTNESS: To the end of January.
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: From the 23rd on.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Is that right, that there were eleven?—A. Yes, I believe that to be
right. i

Q. And with the spread of the disease into 11 places in January, in the
face of that, no member of your department in the field or in Ottawa suggested
that there should be further inoculations in order to determine the incidence
or the nature of the disease; is that what you say?—A. I do not recall there
being any suggestion along that line.
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Q. And then came the month of February and during the first two weeks
in February, quite a further group of cases arose?—A. That is correct.

Q. How many were there during the first two weeks?—A. There would be
a dozen or so.

Q. A dozen?—A. Around there.

Q. And how many of those cases had arisen between the 1st of February
and the date you left on vacation? ;

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Just five.

The WrrNess: I believe there would be about 4 or 5.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. And as I look over the record, am I not telling you what is a fact, that
during that period, during January, all of those cases were arising, 11 cases,
and in February, from the 1st to the 13th, there is not one letter from any
official in Ottawa to the officers in the field regarding the seriousness of the
situation?—A. No, there probably is not.

Q. No. Well, you have gone over the records, have you not?—A. Yes, I
have gone over them.

Q. Is it not correct that from day to day you would discuss this matter
here in Ottawa, I mean the seriousness of those reports as they came in from
day to day?—A. Yes, we discussed them.

Q. Well, just for the sake of information, with a continually expanding
disease as‘'it was, with 11 cases in January, and almost the same number in
February, up to the 13th, how did you keep these officials on the job, how did
you alert them? How did you make them realize the seriousness of what was
taking place?—A. We required a quarantine on all the premises affected.

Q. I see; but there were no instructions given whatsoever to the officials
either to secure serum or to inoculate during that period from the 4th day of
January until the 13th day of February, no written instructions to that effect?—
A. If it is not on the record, that would be so.

Q. Now, as soon as you went on your vacation, Dr. Mitchell was left in
charge?—A. No. Dr. Hall.

Q. And Dr. Hall had been in Ottawa during January up until the 13th of
February?—A. Yes, he was in Ottawa, I believe.

Q. And he is your assistant?—A. That is right.

Q. And during January up to the 13th of February, did Dr. Hall at any
time suggest to you the possibility of foot and mouth disease?—A. I recall
that we talked it over and came to the conclusion that there was no cause
for alarm.

Q. You came to the conclusion that there was no cause for alarm; and
how many days was that; the day you went on vacation was the 11th. You
went on vacation on the 11th?—A. Yes, on Monday, the 11th.

Q. And how long before the 11th did you and Dr. Hall determine there was
no cause for alarm?—A. Oh, it would possibly be a week or so before.

Q. And the American doctor, Shahan, arrived on the 17th of February?—
A. No, I did not say that.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. I did not say that.

Q. What date was that?—A. He arrived, I think, about the 23rd of
February.

Q. Were there no American representatives there prior to the 23rd of
February?—A. No.

Q. You say there were not?—A. You said “American representatives”.

Q. Yes—A. No.

Q. I beg your pardon.

Mr. MURRAY (Cariboo): Was he not delayed by a storm?
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The WiTnESs: He surely was.
Mr. MuRraY (Cariboo): That is what the record says.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Now, almost as soon as you left, you know now that Dr. Hall, in
collaboration with Dr. Mitchell, issued instructions for the collection and
forwarding to the laboratory at Hull of materials from the animals suffering
from this disease; that was done; and from the record, on what date was it,
Wwhen they gave those instructions, according to the records in your department?
—A. I think that is the 13th.

Q. You say the 13th?—A. Yes.

Q. And when did you first hear about it?—A. I think it was the 15th.

Q. On the 15th?—A. Yes.

Q. And you came back rather unexpectedly on the 15th, did you not?—
A. As a matter of fact, I came back to pick up some mail.

Q. And then you found out that during your absence Dr. Hall, who had
taken your place, was acting in your place?—A. Yes.

Q. And Dr. Mitchell had issued instructions for the collection of samples;
?)fld did you have any conversation with either of them?—A. I did, with

r. Hall.

Q. And did you criticize him for the stand taken?—A. Not seriously, no.

Q. Not seriously? Well, did you do it in any other way?—A. Any more
than to indicate that I was very dubious about moving anything that might be
serious, as I mentioned before when giving you the general picture, for fear of
having it spread by either losing it or breakage on the way down.

Q. So what you told Dr. Hall was that you were afraid that the actlon he
had taken might increase the fear that this was foot and mouth disease?
—A. No, not increase the fear.

Q. Then what was it?—A. If it was foot and mouth disease, I considered
there was a danger in bringing material down here.

Q. You considered there was a danger?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, you have already told Mr. Bennett that you did not know very
much about the various tests, and that it was not in your 11ne"—A I know
enough about them for that, sir.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. I know enough about them for that, oh yes.

Q. And then you countermanded his instructions?—A. Yes, I sent a wire.

Q. Did you tell him beforehand that you had put a stop to the whole
thing?—A. No, because I “done” this from home at night.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It is marked ‘‘phone”. d

By Mr. Diefenbaker:
i Q. And then you went out immediately 7—A. As soon as I could get a
Plane.

Q. It was the 15th when you sent the wire?—A. Yes.

Q. And when did you go out?—A. On the evening of the 16th.

Q. That was quite a delay, was it not, in the matter of securing a con-
nection?—A. No. There was no delay, because samples had already been
collected and sent along.

Q. But you did not know that when you sent the wire?—A. No.

Q. When did you then find out that your order could not take effect because
Specimens had already been sent?—A. I spoke to them at Regina over the
telephone.

Q. When?—A. On the 16th.

Q. Whom did you speak to?—A. Dr. Carlson.

Q. At what time?—A. That would be in the evemng, perhaps 7:00 o’clock;
I could not say the exact time.
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Q. You say it was in the evening; that is all right—A. Maybe later.

Q. Then you went out there; and before you left for the west, did you
suspect it was foot and mouth disease?—A. 1 already suspected a more serious
condition.

Q. But did you suspect it was foot and mouth disease?—A. 1 suspected
it might be, yes.

Q. And that was the first that you ever suspected that it was?—A. I think

likely I could say yes, it was.
Q. What took place on the 16th which caused you to change your mental
diagnosis that you had made up to that time? What took place on that
date?—A. A message had arrived previously from people out there, indi-
cating particular concern about this.

Q. All right. Now, whose message was that?—A. I believe it was from
Dr. Carlson. ‘

Q. Was it not in writing?—A. I think it was a telephone call.

Q. Have you a memorandum of it?—A. No, I do not think I have.

Q. One other question and then I am through. Between the 4th of

January and the 15th day of February, as to all of your instructions, I take it.
the reason for their not being on file, all of them, is that they were given to the
officials out there, verbally?—A. No; we do not give them verbally, usually,
except when it is urgent then by telephone and we confirm them.
; Q. That is all I want to get; where are those letters or instructions con-
firming the telephone conversations? They are not here on the record. Where
are they?—A. I doubt if there would be one of mine, because I moved out
to Regina almost immediately.

Q. But that would be a matter for the Department of Agriculture, would
it not?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you not provide the committee with memoranda, your letters con-
firming your instructions or confirming conversations that you had with those
officials in Regina between the 4th of January and the 15th of February?—
A. If they are not on the record, there were no instructions sent.

Q. Do you not keep copies of those letters?—A. We do, for sure.

Q. Are there no copies on your file indicating any instructions from the
4th of January to the 15th of February?—A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. And you have not one memorandum in writing—is this correct—in
which you set out the conversations or instructions which you gave during
that entire period?—A. I do not recall issuing any instructions except regard-
ing the report of Dr. James.

Q. Oh, all right? Was that done on the 4th of January?—A. Yes; and the
other reports came in regularly.

Q. So, between the 4th of January and the 15th of February, you never
wrote one letter to any of your officials in Regina or in the field regarding
this matter?—A. That could be so, because four days previous to the 16th or
the 15th, I was on vacation; and I was in Regina on the 17th.

Mr. DiereNBAKER: Thank you very much.

By Mr. Murray (Cariboo):
Q. How many telephone calls were there put in between here and Regina
in January and February dealing with this subject?—A. There were quite a
number. E
Q. Could you provide us with the number and the cost of the tolls, and
the time spent?—A. I expect we could.

Mr. BROWNE: And a memorandum of the conversations?
The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Stewart.
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By Mr. Stewart:

Q. You have mentioned these cases in January. I understand there were
only 11 cases at the end of January.—A. I believe that is correct.

Q. Would those be on different farms?—A. Yes, they would be at differ-
ent places.

Q. And of those 11 you picked out three cases that were diagnosed, and
on which tests were made?—A. Yes, that would be so.

Q. And you would naturally pick the worst ones, I presume, the most
suspicious.—A. They would try to pick cases where the lesions were recent,
in order to get satisfactory material to use.

Q. Then, in February, up to the 11th, I understand there were only five
cases?—A. I believe that is correct; but I would have to refer back.

By Mr. Jutras:
Q. Were there any cases in the first two weeks of January?—A. Yes, there
Were some. Oh, I beg your pardon: the first part of January was very quiet;
there was nothmg much.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. There was nothing at the 1st of January. Well, going back to December,
there were only 3 cases in December?—A. No, four cases.

Q. Four cases; and you have mentioned those 5 cases in February, up to
the 11th; now, you were out there, were you not, early in January?—A. Yes,
I was out in January.

Q. And you were out again in February?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you meet the minister, the Hon. Mr. Nollet, the prov1n01a1 minister
of agriculture?—A. I met Mr. Nollet in January.

B dQ And did you meet his deputy minister, Mr. Horner, out there?—A. Yes
i ;

Q. And did you have conversations with them?—A. Yes.

Q. And in those conversations did they in any way warn you or lead you
to believe that there was any dire foot and mouth disease in Saskatchewan?—
A. No, definitely not.

Q They did not; or did any of the officials of their department or any of
their veterinary officials do so.—A. No.

The CHalIRMAN: Now, Mr. Charlton.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Mr. Chairman, it is almost 1 o’clock, but I would like to ask Dr. Childs
a question before that time. Dr. Childs, the first intimation you had of this
condition, of course, was on the 7th of December, was it not? The first return
made to you here in Ottawa?—A. The report is dated, I believe, the 2nd of
December, the first report.

Q. It was reported to you on the 2nd, here in Ottawa?—A. No The report
Would not reach us on the 2nd; it would be a couple of days later; but the report
Was dated the 2nd of December.

Q. The report to you from Regina was dated the 2nd of December?—
A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. Then, you say the first examination was on the 1st, and I understand
that Dr. Carlson and Dr. James visited the Waas farm, is that true?—A. I
think you will find they first visited there on the 2nd.

Q. Yes. - The first report is dated the 2nd.—A. Hunter and Carlson.

Q. And immediately upon receipt of the telephone call from Dr. Hunter,
they called Dr. James and arrangements were made for him to conduct an
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examination without delay. Dr. Hunter had been called to the case on the
previous evening. You say it is Dr. Hunter and Dr. James, or Dr. Carlson?—
A. Dr. Carlson.

Q. Dr. Carlson signed the report on that particular day.—A. That is right.

Q. And in Dr. Carlson’s report, Dr. Childs, did he not give you any indica-
tion which you felt warranted your taking the view that this thing was of a
serious nature?—A. I would consider any vesicular condition serious enough
to hold by quarantine until we found out whether or not it was serious.

Q. You did not consider it serious enough at that time?—A. Yes, I would
consider any vesicular condition to be serious.

Q. Well, Dr. Carlson sent his report, and after realizing the danger, and
after the results of a field diagnosis, in the case of a disease of a vesicular nature
such as this, it was decided to contact Dr. Childs, the Veterinary Director-
General, for further directions and advice. And following this, Dr. James was
detailed to quarantine the premises and keep a close watch on them, as well
as on neighbouring premises. That was a telephone call you had from Dr.
Carlson, apparently.—A. I expect it was. Does it say so there?

Q. He says: “following this phone call”, it is suggested here that you
contact Dr. Childs for further directions and advice; and following this phone
call Dr. James was detailed to quarantine the premises and keep a close watch.
—A. Yes.

Q. Therefore there was a telephone call between Dr. Carlson and yourself?
—A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. Do you remember that conversation?—A. I do not recall it now any-
more than it was generally along this line: quarantine; keep it under observa-
tion; and I believe I said that they had better inoculate a horse.

Q. You said they had better inoculate a horse?—A. Yes.

Q. And that is all you can remember? You did not keep any memorandum
of that telephone conversation at all?—A. No, I do not think we did, no.

Q. But did Dr. Carlson not mention in his telephone call that there might
be a suspicion of foot and mouth disease?—A. No.

Q. You say he did not mention that at all?—A. Not that I recall, no.

Q. And at no time before February 2, as Dr. Taggart said yesterday, at no
time previous to February 2, did any veterinary, whether he belonged to the
services or not, mention to you that this could be foot and mouth disease?—
A. No, I do not recall anything like that.

Q You do not recall anything?—A. No.

Q. Then no one at any time told you, or suggested to you previous to
February 2, as Dr. Taggart said, or Mr. Young had mentioned to you at that
time, that it might be foot and mouth disease?—A. No.

Q. But previous to that time no one even suggested it to you?—A. No.

Q. But in several of these reports the nature of this disease is suspected as
being a vesicular disease. Here is one dated December 3 and signed by N. V.
James and it says:

. all the cows exhibited stiffness in gait when walking. I gathered
some discharge and sloughed membrane from the worst cases in cows
mouths and applied this material to the mouths of two horses bruising
it in vigorously on their tongues and lips in an effort to transmit the
disease to horses.

You said a few minutes ago that you did not know too much about the
difference in diagnoses of these two diseases in answer to Mr. Bennett, I
believe. Is that a recognized method, Dr. Childs, with respect to different diag-
noses in relation to vesicular diseases?—A. That is one of the methods.

Q. You say that is one of the methods?—A. Yes.

Q. To inoculate one horse?—A. One or two horses.




o

AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION 111

Q. By the scarification method?—A. Yes.

Q. But in the case of vesicular stomatitis, for instance, how long would
you consider that the horse—after having been inoculated or infected in that
way—how long a time would you consider was required before you got symp-
toms at all of vesicular stomatitis?—A. Anytime up to a week, I would say.

Q. Does vesicular stomatitis affect horses more than it does cattle?—
A. Some types affect horses more, I believe, than they do cattle; but there are
some types that affect both.

Q. Is not vesicular stomatitis known as ‘“‘the” horse disease?—A. It is a
horse disease, but it is also a cattle and a swine disease.

Q. But it is known as “the” horse disease, is it not?—A. Yes.

Q. And you think it would take any time up to a week for that disease to
be manifest in horses, after being directly inoculated on the tongue?—A. Yes,
it might.

Q. “It might,” you say; sure, anything might. But what, in your opinion,
would be the longest time that would warrant it?—A. I would not go more
than a week, not more than a week.

Q. What was the shortest time in which it could appear?—A. Possibly
inside of 48 hours.

Q. The shortest time in which it could appear?—A. Yes, I would think so.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, gentlemen, before we adjourn for lunch, it has been
brought to my attention that Dr. Mitchell, chief of the division of Animal
Pathology, has an important date for a meeting tomorrow with the United
States officials of the Defence Research Board, and if it is the desire of the
committee Dr. Mitchell could give evidence this afternoon, or possibly not until

next Monday. I thought I would draw that to the attention of the committee .

50 that while Dr. Mitchell is here today, if it is thought desirable, we could have
him go on with his evidence, if we intend to meet this afternoon. What is
Your pleasure in that regard?

Mr. CHARLTON: Mr. Chairman, I rather not break up this questioning now.
I think it would be preferable to leave Dr. Mitchell until Monday, if that
Would be suitable for Dr. Mitchell.

The CHAIRMAN: Is that agreeable to the committee?

Agreed.

The CHAIRMAN: What time shall we meet this afternoon, 4 o’clock?
Agreed.

The committee adjourned to meet again at 4 o’clock p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please, gentlemen. I think Mr. Gardiner has a
statement to make.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I want to call the attention of the member for
Lake Centre to the fact that that report he asked for in the house a few
moments ago, and which he asked for this morning, is already on the
record. It is item No. 34. It is really a pathological report instead of a
chemical report.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: My No. 34 has consignee and contents.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Well, anyway, my officials here tell me it is
on there, and in here it is marked.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Well, it is not on this one. All it sets out here at page
34 is consignees between January 23 and February 19.

Mr. JUTRAS: Which document is that?
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Mr. DIEFENBAKER: The document filed in the House of Commons.

Mr. Jutras: Is it No. 169-F?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Oh, this is the one that the minister tabled today? I have
No. 34.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It is right here in this document.

Mr. JuTrAs: That is not document 169-F, Mr. Diefenbaker.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am told it is in the one that went to the
house the other night.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: It is not, though.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: There is a whole pile of them with it right here.
These are stencilled copies of the one tabled in the house the other night.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: This was a copy furnished by the department and also
the one I got in the sessional papers office.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: These are stencilled from what I tabled in the
house the other night.

Mr. BENNETT: Are those stencil copies available now to the committee?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Yes, we can have those distributed as far as they
will go.

(g)ne of the officials tells me here that he raised the question of distribut-
ing these here this morning with the secretary and he was told that that is all
printed in the printed record somewhere.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I have not that document at all. You see where the
difficulty comes in is that the numbers are all changed. One set is given to
me with No. 34 and it is No. 32 in the other set.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: As long as you have it, that’s the main thing.

Mr. McCuBBIN: I want to raise a question of privilege, Mr. Chairman.
Yesterday when I was absent from the city the hon. member for Middlesex
East asked Mr. Taggart a question, and I am going to read the question:

By Mr. White:

Q. Mr. Chairman, in the absence of the minister, the Honourable
Mr. Winters was acting Minister of Agriculture; was he informed of
the developments? Or the parliamentary assistant to the minister, was
he also advised at that time? Then I have another question to ask.

The other question read this way:
Q. It was naturally to be expected though that he would know
about it?

To the first question Mr. Taggart had answered that he did not know
whether I had been told about it or not, that he was not sure.

I want to notify the committee that I had been told; on February 18 I
came to Ottawa and was informed by officials of the department that there
might be an outbreak of foot and mouth disease but that they would not be
sure till the end of the week. I want to say that was the first day I was told
about it and I had no prior knowledge about it till that day.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Charlton, you have the floor.

Mr. CHARLTON: Just previous' to the adjournment at one o’clock I had
been questioning Dr. Childs.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please, gentlemen.

Mr. CHARLTON: During his questioning Dr. Childs was quite definite
that no other vets, either working for the department or outside the depart-
ment, had ever mentioned to him that this might be, might be, foot and mouth
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disease. Now, I just want to quote what the minister said in the House of
Commons, on page 48 of Hansard, dated March 3, and to be fair I want to
read the whole paragraph because it would not make sense just reading one
part. It is in answer to Mr. Knight, referring to Dr. Miller, who is the
provincial veterinarian in Saskatchewan. It reads:

Mr. Gardiner: It would be impossible for me to know that. I only
know that in Saskatchewan and every other province it has been the
practice that all cases of serious disease are reported to the provincial
department. I think it is the general practice that where there is any
suspicion in connection with a disease they submit samples to wherever
such investigations are carried out, and I understand that in
Saskatchewan that place is Saskatoon. That was the case in my day,
and I think it still is. I venture to suggest that what happenéd was
the very thing that happens here every day. Everybody was talking
about foot-and-mouth disease. The Canadian Press went to the
university and asked the only authority they could find there, Dr.
Miller, what were his views on the question, and he suggested that it was
this other disease. I do not know whether that meant he had gone down
personally and investigated. As will be found in Hansard, I said I did
not know anything about that, that the only thing I had seen was an item
in the press to the effect that it probably was not foot-and-mouth
disease at all, in spite of what some of our own officials were saying
at that time.

Now, obviously the minister had heard at that time from some of his

officials— .

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: That was some time in the 20’s and that state-
ment was made in Vancouver when I was out there.
Mr. CHARLTON: This statement was made on the 3rd March in the House
of Commons.
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: No, the statement made by Dr. Miller that I was
i‘ﬁferring to was made in Vancouver after everybody knew the disease was
ere.

Mr. CuarLTON: Did you know at the time you were in Vancouver there
Was danger?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I had the same report made to me on the 18th
that was made to Mr. McCubbin and, as I say, the press was discussing it all
over the country, and some member of the press went to Dr. Miller and
asked him.

Mr. CHARLTON: And you thought it was foot and mouth disease?
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: He apparently thought it was stomatitis.
Mr. CHaRLTON: But you knew?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: No, I did not. I said it had been reported to
me that there was a possibility that it might be, just the same as it was
reported to Mr. McCubbin on that same day. Not only did they write me by
ar mail, but they took the trouble to telephone me that that might be the
Case, but it was not proven and they simply were notifying me; for the first
time I had heard of it as a possibility of foot and mouth disease.

Mr. CrarRLTON: In spite of what some of our own officials might say at
that time, which would lead us to believe that some of the officials knew it
Was foot and mouth disease.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Most of our officials must have had the idea
on the 18th February of the possibility of it being foot and mouth disease, or

.they would not have been notifying the United States, and everybody else,
Including myself.
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Mr. CHarLTON: That is what I want to make clear. Quite a few officials
must have known about it long before that or they would not have been
making these inoculations. They must have been thinking because in some
of the reports I will say this, aphthous fever is the usual form of foot and
mouth disease.

Mr. BENNETT: Who is giving evidence here? Are we here to listen to
argument or to facts?

Mr. CHARLTON: I am just trying to point out that I personally have other
veterinarians here to give information and we will then see if the veterinary
director general was or was not advised earlier as to this information on foot
and mouth disease. Mr. Chairman, I would just like to ask Dr. Childs who
answered the questions that I had on the order paper, for instance on March 3,
regarding this disease, because there are some questions there that are answered
just the same way they were answered in the committee this morning.

The CHAIRMAN: We will ask Dr. Childs to answer.

Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, recalled:

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Did you answer those questions?—A. What questions are you refer-
ring to?

Q. Any questions that come from the House of Commons to the depart-
ment would naturally be answered by you?—A. No, not all questions. I usually
look them over, though.

Q. Are you at this time, Dr. Childs, satisfied that what the disease actually
was in the Waas herd in early December of last fall— —A. No, I am not
altogether satisfied.

Q. You are not satisfied yet? Well, then, on March 24 I asked a question
in the House of Commons, and I will read the question. It appears in Votes and
Proceedings of March 24. Question 1. What was the final disposition of the
herd of cattle belonging to Leonard Waas, McLean, Saskatchewan?—

This question was answered by Mr. McCubbin as follows: Slaughtered
and buried March 14th.

Question No. 2. What are the particulars of the several tests made on
the Waas herd, the sequence and dates on which each was conducted, and
the results or reports made on each of said tests? I will now read the answer
to that question. On December 3rd, two horses of Leonard T. Waas were
inoculated with material collected from diseased animals in Waas’ herd.
Observations on December 4th, 5th and 6th showed no symptoms of lesions,
but on December 8th several vesicles believed to be stomatitis were found on
tongues and gums. A report was made each day to Regina and in turn to
Ottawa. Blood samples were taken from the Waas cattle, and inoculations
were made on these cattle on Sunday, March 9, 1952, for research and investiga-
tional studies. These studies are complementary and not complete. Therefore,
interpretation cannot yet be made.

Now, I was not satisfied with the answers to those questions and I put
two more questions on the order paper, which appear in Votes and Proceedings
on March 27. These questions were as follows: Question 1. Was the herd of
cattle belonging to Leonard Waas, McLean, Saskatchewan, ever at any time
since last December, challenged with the virus of foot and mouth disease to
prove or disprove the existence of that particular disease within the herd?
Question No. 2. What was the exact nature of the inoculations made on these
cattle on March 9, 1952, and what were the results which led to their ultimate
slaughter and burial on March 14, 1952?

=
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The one answer I got to these two questions reads as follows: The Waas
herd was ordered slaughtered along with several others which had shown
similar symptoms, but before the slaughter order of this herd was carried out
blood samples were taken and the animals inoculated with live foot and mouth
virus for experimental purposes. Tests have not been completed.—A. I would
refer you to Dr. Mitchell to answer that question. That is in his hands to
handle that.

Q. Did the cattle not show clinical symptoms at the time they were
slaughtered after being inoculated with foot and mouth disease?—A. I did
not see the cattle.

Q. You did not see the cattle; but naturally there would be a report brought
Ln on them?—A. That.report would be given by Dr. Mitchell. That is in his

ands.

Q. Was Dr. Mitchell on the ground to see those cattle?—A. No.

Q. Then how could a clinical report be made out by Dr. Mitchell who had
not seen the animals?—A. The clinical report was not made out by Dr. Mitchell
but by our man who conducted this work, a Mr. Brown.

Q. These cattle were challenged with virus of foot and mouth disease,
were they not?—A. So I believe.

Q. But you do not know what the result of that test was, yet?—A. As far
as I know it was inconclusive; some animals showed lesions, and some did not.

Q. There was no report made on that test?—A. Yes, a report was made
on it.

Q. Where is that report?—A. I think it is in your hands; I think you must
have it there.

Q. Well, I asked for it, of course, and I did not get it. If you would produce
that report now it might be very interesting because there must be some report,
some clinical manifestations, when that herd was inoculated with virus of foot
and mouth disease?—A. Surely!

Q. I would expect you as Vetermary Director-General to know what
happened.—A. I know there were a number of animals positive, which showed
lesions, and a number which did not.

Q. I would like to have the report of what animals showed lesions, as you
say, and what animals did not. How many animals showed lesions and how
many did not show lesions? I think we should have the report now.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: You will get that from Dr. Mitchell.
Mr. CHARLTON: The clinical report could not be made by Dr. Mitchell.

; Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Dr. Mitchell is not even under Dr. Childs; he is
In another branch of the department; but he will be here to give evidence and
you can get that from him.

Mr. CHARLTON: This has nothing to do with Dr. Mitchell’s department
because Dr. Mitchell is giving a report on blood samples sent down here, but
not on the clinical report which must have been taken in the field before the
animals were shot on the 14th.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: This last work was done entirely under Dr.
Mitchell’s direction. You are talking about the first.

Mr. CHARLTON: Are you not getting the record all screwed up? My ques-
tion was quite plain. I simply asked what happened to these cattle which were
inoculated on the 9th day of March and which were supposed to have vesicular
stomatitis? Nobody has admitted as yet, in the House of Commons—but it has
been admitted outside—that this herd was definitely afflicted with foot and
mouth; but not in the House of Commons or here in the committee yet, that
the herd was challenged with the virus of foot and mouth disease. What hap-
pPened? Where is the report? That is what we want to see.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I again rise to a point of order.
56980—3
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The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I am speaking about the report. That report is not on
this record. I asked for the production of it.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: You asked for the production of all the records
down to the 12th of March, and you said you would be satisfied with them; and
that report is not in yet.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: A moment ago the minister would lead the committee
to believe that the record is here, but it is not.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am not going to allow that to stand, Mr. Chair-

man. My hon. friend knows that I asked him definitely yesterday—not here in
the committee, but personally—“Will you be satisfied with all the reports down
to the 12th of March?”

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: That is right.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: And you said “Yes”.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: That is right.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: And this report could not possibly have been
in by that time.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: That was a conversation and I never deny a conversation;
and I said that I would be satisfied with the filings up to the 12th and I asked
for the record still to be lived up to in the House, with the production of the
rest of these reports, and the clinical examination.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It is not required under anything that has
been ordered up to date. You do not make reports before you inject the virus
into the animal and let it operate. It could not possibly have been there, no
matter on what date it was injected; but I went further than that with my
hon.’friend, and I do not want him to build up the idea here that he is being
denied something, and that is what he is doing. I stated to him that he could
have everything down to today if he wanted it, and he said that all he wanted
was down to the 12th and I said if there is anything later, you may still get it.
I will leave it to this committee and to the hon. member’s actions before
this committee to determine what is going to be spread all over this country
with regard to this disease.

Mr. Laine: It has already been spread all over the country as it is.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am not prepared to take the responsibility
of having it spread all over the place.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: There is no question of spreading anythmg all over

the country. What is at stake now is that we get the information, and the full
information with regard to these clinical examinations. What we are trying
to find out is what steps are necessary to prevent the spread of this disease
all over the country.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think that Mr. Charlton has yet finished.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. I think that report should be made available to this committee. I asked
for it in my question and I did not get it. I think it is owing to us to know
just exactly what was the disease in the Waas herd in December. There are

ways you can tell, and those methods apparently were used to determine the .

facts. Now, we want the results. Mr. Chairman, Dr. Childs made a statement
that there were no pronounced lesions, and that the symptoms were typical
in the herds last December. Now the reports suggest as I said earlier—some
of the reports—I cannot go through them all in a moment—but some of the
reports mentioned aphthous fever. Would Dr. Childs think that mention of
aphthous fever would not give him some idea that foot and mouth disease
was present?—A. Yes, I would think foot and mouth disease, sure enough.
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Q. Still, these tests were made, with injection of horses; they were made
on December 2, as I understand it, when 2 horses were inoculated; and it
Wwas given to us this morning that another inoculation was made on December
12, I believe. It was one of the herds on the Wood farm, and I take it there
was no reaction in that case, with respect to those herds, was there?—A. The
statement is “no reaction observed.”

Q. No reaction observed on the 12th; that is, other than the horses which
were inoculated on the 12th of December, there were no other inoculations until
February 12, on the Hahn farm, where 1 horse was inoculated? Where were
these horses procured?—A. I beg your pardon?

Q. T asked where these horses were procured?—A. From the same premises,
I believe.

Q. On the same premises?—A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. And of what age were they?—A. I have not got that figure at hand.

Q. Would it not appear to be advisable to bring horses in from a little
further way, in case they had been on the premises long enough to have had
a touch of the disease previously?—A. It would probably be wiser, but if they
had had it recently, they would show indications by scarring.

Q. Yes, if they had had the disease recently, but you would not expect
them to have it again?—A. No, naturally. :

Q. And if they were on the same property, would it appear to you to be
a good idea to take those horses from the same property, regardless of age?—
A. It is not the best idea, no.

Q. No. It is better to bring horses from a distant area, from an outside area
Wl}ere they could not possibly have had contact at all, and preferably younger
animals?—A. Yes, young animals.

: Q. You do not know the ages of these horses that were used?—A. No, I
0 not.

Q. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think it was up to the director-general to find
out what was being done at that time. Of course, there were his own instruc-
tions to the veterinarians under the date of April 18, 1951, circular No. 32,
dated Ottawa, April 18; and those. instructions which were sent out under
DI‘- Childs’ own signature; and here is one. I shall not read the whole thing, it
IS not necessary. But here are one or two things: “stiffness and lameness
Which usually appear shortly after a rise of temperature may be mistaken for
a form of Caminitis, during the early stages of the disease. Stiffness and lame-
hess; I want to make sure the committee hears that part. In several of these
Teports, Mr. Chairman, stiffness and lameness is mentioned, in reports from

€ veterinarians in that district. Here are some, further on: ‘diagnosis is
formeq by animal inoculation carried out at the site of the outbreak, or the
Suspected outbreak, test animals being brought in from a distance, from areas
Where vesicular diseases have not existed; the actual test inoculations to be
Carried out by specially trained veterinarians. Why was not that done?—

. We assumed that our instructions were carried out as nearly as possible
With what material was available. ' :

Q. Do you mean to say there were no horses available outside the district?
—A. There would be horses available at some place.

Q. It specifies just that animals are to be brought in; it does not specify
anything about horses. As a matter of fact, there should be other animals
Used besides -horses; but it says “animals being brought in from a distance
Tom areas where vesicular diseases have not existed.” But that was not done.
—A. Not in this case, but in other cases it was.

Q. Which cases?—A. The animals used at the Legislative Grounds at
Regina on the 18th, and later on the 23rd and 24th; those were brought in
Tom a distance.

56980—33
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Q. What age were they?—A. Young cattle; 1 about 6 or 8 months old; and
the other somewhere around a year; and a couple of swine about 3} to 4
months old. .

Q. Then further on it says that practitioners should keep in mind that
any vesicular disease of animals may be very serious and it should be promptly
reported to the nearest departmental veterinarian who will appreciate your
co-operation in taking appropriate measures to prevent the spread; diagnosis
must be established on the premises where the disease is found. Why do
you consider that was important, when this is the only case where I can find
that particular statement in any bulletin or pamphlet or booklet that I have
read yet, where it is definitely stated by you here that diagnosis must be
established on the premises where the disease is found?—A. Yes. We prefer
that to get away from the danger of setting it up in another centre—infecting
some place else—not moving the virus around.

Q. You prefer it, but you say here “diagnosis must be established—" and
there is no preference. It is a “must”. Why did you make that statement?—
A. I made that statement partly to head off people picking up samples and

perhaps sending them and spreading the infection. I wanted to hold it down

there and make a preliminary diagnosis on the premises.

Q. Do you mean individuals other than veterinarians?—A. No, some of the
boys might not be just aware of the danger of collecting material and mov-
ing it around.

Q. Is that the reason you sent that wire on the 15th of February?—
A. Pretty much, yes.

Q. Countermanded that order— —A. Pretty much.

Q. Had you not been in touch with Dr. Hall previous to your sending
that wire?—A. Yes, I was.

Q. By telephone?—A. No, I think—

Q. Pardon?—A. I think in conversation.

Q. By telephone?—A. No, no; in the office.

Q. Personally?—A. Yes, I think so.

Q. You said this morning you had not been back to the office until the
15th?—A. That is correct. '

Q. And the first you found out about it was when you went back to get
your mail in the office on the 15th?—A. That is correct.

Q. You talked to Hall that day in the office?—A. That day, yes.

Q. Did you not agree with him at that time that it was a good idea to send
those samples—A. I did not agree that it was a good idea to send the speci-
mens. What I wanted to get was somebody from the laboratory to go out there
and make the inoculations. There is a reason for that. Mr. Charlton and it iS
this. You perhaps know that shortly after the vesicles break in foot and mouth
disease it is a rather hard matter and it is dubious whether you can collect the
virus in samples—the virus disappears rather rapidly and, by raising the disease
in a fresh animal you are on the ground to get fresh material which you can
handle then with a reasonable degree or reasonable chance of finding the virus.

Q. I so stated in the House of Commons.—A. I beg your pardon?

Q. I so stated in the House of Commons—what made it all the more serious
was the diagnosis was not made at the time it was, when it should have been—
because, having missed making that diagnosis at that time you cannot catch up
with it later. That is what makes the situation much more serious than it

would appear; but you apparently talked it over with Dr. Hall on the 15th of

February and, although you did not send a wire from the office you, at home
that evening, sent a wire countermanding the wire that the samples be down
to the laboratory at Hull?—A. Yes.

Q. You did not send it from the office? You sent it from your home?—A-
I think the thing there—
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5 Q. Did Dr. Hall know you were going to send that?—A. No, I do not think
e did.

Q. Had you mentioned that you might?—A. Possibly, I just do not
recall now.

Q. Was Dr. Hall in charge in the office in your absence?—A. In my
absence, yes.

Q. But you just took four days statutory leave at that time—and
You were in charge on the 15th when you came back?—A. Yes.

Q. I understood you to say this morning that you just came in to get your
mail and that you were still on statutory holidays. Were you still on statutory
leave or did you come in to the office to work that day—or were you still on
holidays?—A. T was still on holidays: but it seems to me I put in some time in
the office when I became aware of the situation.

Q. That is natural—that when you came into the office you would spend
Some time. There were no more inoculations made then until the 12th of
December when one horse was inoculated on the Wood farm, and then on the
28th day of December the Burns plant was put in quarantine, is that not right?
The Burns feed lot and the packing plant on December 28th was quarantined
by Dr. Christie?—A. No, the Burns feed lot was quarantined on December 28th.

Q. That is what I said.—A. You said the packing plant.

Q. I said the feed lot and the packing plant.—A. You can leave out the
Packing plant.

Q. Just the feed lot was quarantined?—A. Yes.

Q. The packing plant was not quarantined at that same time?—A. That is
correct,

Q. Operations were continued at the Burns plant from the 28th of
December on?—A. Yes.

Q. In the slaughtering part of the plant?—A. Yes.

Q. Operations were continued?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, that is different. When was that quarantine lifted on the Burns
feed lot?—A. The 17th of J anuary.

Q. And who lifted it?—A. That would be Dr. James.

. Q. Dr. James lifted it himself?—A. He recommended that it be
discontinued.

Q. Recommended that it be done?—A. Yes.

Q. You at that time were in Regina were you not?—A. Yes, I was in
Regina,

. Q. And you inspected Burns yard yourself?—A. Yes, I had looked them
ver,

Q. And were satisfied at that time there was nothing too serious about
the infection there?—A. That is correct.

Q. At that time had anyone mentioned to you that it might still be foot
and mouth disease that was present?—A. No.

Q. At any time?—A. At any time.

Q. And the quarantine was lifted on the Burns yard on the 17th. I under-
Stood it was on the Burns packing plant on the 28th but it apparently never
Was on the Burns packing plant, it was just on the yard—just on the feed lot.

Mr. STEWART: That has been answered.
Mr. CHARLTON: I just wanted to make sure. It is important.

1\_/Ir. MuRrray: This is something that should be discussed by the college of
Veter{narians and not by a parliamentary committee. It has to do with the
Veracity, honour, and character of the witness.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Did you, Dr. Childs—or when was the first time you advised the Hon.
Mr. Gardiner about this epidemic? When was the first indication you yourself
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gave the minister of this epidemic?—A. In my wire to the director which was
filed about half past eleven on the 17th of February.

Q. You never discussed this with the minister during December and January
at all?—A. No, we did not.

Q. You did not even discuss it with him?—A. No.

Q. You did not think it important even to discuss it with him or the deputy
minister either?—A. No, we did not consider it was important at that time.

Q. Between the 4th of January and the 13th I believe of February, theré
is no correspondence to show anything took place between the department and
officials—other than reports.

Some Hon. MEMBERS: That has been answered.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Nothing in writing between your office and the Regina office other than
the ordinary weekly reports? Is that true?—A. Yes, and I think that has beel
answered already, has it not?

Q. Yes, I think it has but I just want to make sure that is true.

No word was transferred at all from your office to Regina in writing—
nothing that could be given as evidence? And why was that? Why did you
not want to put anything on paper?—A. There was no need to.

Q. And yet on the 1st or 2nd of February, as the deputy minister told
us yesterday, you intimated to him and to Dr. Young that there might be
some doubt in your mind as to whether this could be foot and mouth diseasé
or not?—A. I do not recall that or that date. I do recall discussing this with
Dr. Young and Mr. Taggart on the 2nd.

Q. You now say, or you say for instance that you did not tell him anything
like that until the 15th?—A. I think I may be wrong there—possibly it was
the 16th.

Q. The 16th?—A. Yes.

Q. You did not suggest to him at any time before that that it might be
foot and mouth disease?—A. No, I do not believe I suggested to anybody that
it was foot and mouth disease before that.

Q. According to the deputy minister’s report, Mr. Taggart’s report yester-
day, you in company with Dr. Young, had intimated to him that there might
be a possibility of foot and mouth disease in the Saskatchewan district. Is that
true or not?—A. We probably talked of vesicular disease but I do not believe I
used the words “foot and mouth disease” or even said I suspected it until the
16th.

Q. You did not even say you suspected it until the 16th?—A. I do not
think I did—I cannot recall—I cannot recall any such thing.

Q. You went away on your holidays on the 9th?—A. I think you are
wrong there again.

Q. Well, that is Saturday and you went on the 11th. It was the 11th
you started but when you left the office on Saturday the 9th you would
presumably not be back until the following Saturday or something like that?
—A. That was the intention.

Q. Actually you started on your statutory leave on the 11th of February?—
A. That is right. ;

Q. Now, on the 13th, as I understand it, there was a telephone call or
a wire or some means of transmitting the word at least, by Dr. Carlson that
there was some difference in the disease situation out there, and that
there should be something done about it. Dr. Hall, being in charge at that
time, contacted Dr. Mitchell and it was arranged that samples be sent down
to Hull. That is correct, is it not?—A. I believe so.

Q. That was on the 13th and you did not know anything about that until
you came in for your mail on the 15th?—A. That would be correct.

L
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Q. And up until this time you had no suspicion whatever, no suspicion
Whatever that this would be foot and mouth disease?—A. No, I could not believe
foot and mouth disease could occur out there.

Q. Now, on the 15th you talked to Dr. Hall and found out that these samples
Were being sent down and you disagreed with Dr. Hall about having them sent
down and you sent a wire that night from your residence to Dr. Christie—yes,
to Dr. Christie in Regina to the effect that the samples should be stopped and

. Dot sent to Hull?—A. In my wire, yes.

Q. And on the 16th you apparently flew to Regina, is that not correct?—
A. We have been over that before, of course.

_Q. Yes. I am going over it again, Mr. Chairman. On the 16th he flew to
Regina, and on the 17th you visited the Burns yard and plant, and on the 18th
you decided that it was foot and mouth disease and so instructed the United
states, and instructed your office in Ottawa that it was?—A. No, we did not
Instruct anybody that it was foot and mouth disease at that time. We did not
use that word yet.

Q. In your correspondence with Washington you used the words foot and
mouth, isn’t that so?—A. No, definitely not.

Q. You were satisfied in your own mind that it was foot and mouth disease?
—A. Yes, I was, at that time. '

Q. You were satisfied at that time?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, the animals were not inoculated until the 18th, I understand that
that is when the inoculation took place, not until the 18th? Is that not true?—
A. That is correct,

Q. Dr. Childs, what led you to believe on the 18th that it was foot and
mouth disease?—A. Because, as I pictured the situation, it was showing more
f:}llalignancy and more of a tendency to spread, and the reports of our men

ere,

Q. But you did not take any time then, you immediately thought that it
Was foot and mouth disease?

The Cuarrman: He said that was on the 18th.

The Witness: No, we did not say that it was foot and mouth disease, not
until all the evidence was in.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. In your wire to Mr. Young did you mention that you thought that it was

foot and mouth, disease?—A. It did not say foot and mouth disease.

Q. Well, you probably didn’t use that term, but— —A. No.

Q. But you certainly intimated in the wire you sent to the United States
that there was a dangerous vesicular disease here in Canada? Now, mind, up
until this time, vesicular stomatitis is not dangerous; and, of course, your wire
—that is, the one from Dr. Ray—a vesicular disease in cattle in Regina—very
Suspicious; very suspicious, is the word he uses there; so it would lead anyone
to believe that certainly there was some thought in your mind regarding this
Particular stomatitis, and that is the only reason you changed your mind about
!Ihe disease; that there was a little more spread? And yet you told us this morn-
Ing there were only 12 outbreaks in the first half of February and there were
eleven outbreaks in J anuary. Not so much difference there?—A. That is subject
to correction. I was speaking from memory there. We have all those dates and
the numbers concerned. I might read this. ¥

Q. You want to correct the evidence you gave this morning?—A. I will
Tead this all, if you wish.

Q. All right.

Mr. StEwarT: I suggest, Mr. Chairman, that the witness speak a little
louder, Some of the members at the end of the table have complained that they

Cannot hear.
Mr. DIEFENBAKER: What is that material, Mr. Chairman?

The CuatRMAN: I understand that is from their official records.
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Mr. CHARLTON: That is your official record throughout the whole course of
the proceedings?

The WiTNESS: Yes, a report on our operations.

Mr. DECORE: Is it a part of the record, these documents he proposes to use?

The CHAIRMAN: No.

Mr. DEcore: Would you make it a part of the record?

The CHAIRMAN: It can be made a part of the record. I suppose that it might
be as well to hear this right now. ;

The Wirness: This is quite a lengthy document, gentlemen. I will read
the headings:

L. T. Waas, McLean, December 1:

Factual data from reports:

Reported by Dr. H. Hunter December 1. Examined by Drs. Hunter
and Carlson, December 2. Tentatively diagnosed vesicular stomatitis.
Advised V.D.G. by phone and requested further instructions. Instructed
to quarantine premises and keep premises and neighbouring premises
under observation. On December 3 Dr. James quarantined premises and
inoculated two horses as a field test. On December 8 first symptoms of
vesicular stomatitis observed on two horses—several small vesicles found
on tongues and gums. Quarantine lifted December 8.

Inspections:

Observed December 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 12, 14, 15.
Possible source of infection:

1. Immigrant farm labourer W. Bruentjen arrived November 2, left
November 5. :

2. Delivered calves to Burns and Company November 22, four days
later his herd showed symptoms of infection.

Date and number slaughtered:

Slaughtered March 13, 1952, 38 cattle, 3 swine. Delay in slaughter
due to research and investigation studies conducted. Blood samples
taken March 4 from animals. Live virus inoculation March 8, 1952.

L. Wood, Qu’Appelle, December 12:
Factual data from reports:

Reported infection December 12. Inspection by Dr. James disclosed
evidence of vesicular stomatitis, Premises quarantined and horses
inoculated with material from infected animals. Quarantine lifted
December 22.

Inspections:
Observed December 12, 14, 15, 20, 22 and February 18, 19.
Possible source of infection:
Wood had helped L. Waas treat animals November 30. Wood first

noticed infection in his herd December 10—10 days after work at Waas
farm.

Data and number slaughtered:

Slaughtered March 6, 1952. 52 cattle, 4 swine.
J. C. Smith, Edgley, December 14:
Factual data from reports:

Reported infection December 14. Dr. James visited premises
December 14, diagnosed vesicular stomatitis and quarantined premises.
Only one calf sick—others had been ill but responded to treatment. By
December 22 all animals were healthy and quarantine lifted.
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Inspections:
Observed December 14, 15, 20, 22. February 18, 19.

Possible source of infection:
Smith had assisted L. Waas in treatment of Waas cattle November
30. First noticed disease in his own cattle 11 or 12 days later.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered March 6, 1952, 32 cattle, 1 swine.
Mr. Laing: These cattle were to all intents and purposes healthy; they were

slaughtered only because of the contact; is that right?

The WiTnEss: Yes sir.

Burns and Company Stockyard, December 28:

Factual data from reports: :

Burns management reported some cattle sick in stockyard and
Dr. James visited premises and inspected 207 head of cattle—30
exhibiting symptoms of stomatitis. Quarantined premises and arranged
for ante-mortem inspection of cattle about to be slaughtered. Symptoms
of stomatitis (slight) found on post-mortem. Inspections of stock in
yard—that should be “feed lot”’—continue with cattle improving although
well established in feeder cattle. No symptoms in hogs or sheep. On
January 10 all animals but 3 in good condition and the 3 improving.
On January 14 all animals in stock yards checked and no symptoms
found. 3 steers and 3 heifers in feed lot showing lameness—appears
to be ergotism but no traces of ergot in hay and chopped grain being fed.
These lame steers and two of the heifers slaughtered—post-mortem
examination diagnosed foot-rot responsible for lameness. On January 17
all animals inspected and in good health. The feet and rumens of a
number of cattle slaughtered in the plant showed lesions and were given
post-mortem examination by Drs. Childs, Carlson, Dryden and James.
It was their opinion that foot lesions were caused by bacillus necroforus
infection and rumen lesions the result of feeding spoiled, musty, low-
grade grain. Recommended lifting of quarantine on premises. Vesicular
disease noted again February 12. Carlson ’phoned Ottawa and Dr. Hall
took call in Dr. Childs’ absence and told Carlson he would wire. Wire
despatched morning of February 13 ordering collection of samples for
test at A.D.R.I. Samples collected on 13th and 14th and despatched as
prescribed to Hull on February 14th. Received February 16th, animals
inoculated that day and disease positively identified foot and mouth
disease type A and official announcement made February 25th. Burns
and Company stock and premises quarantined February 18th. February
22nd Drs. Saint and Shahan (U.S. Bureau A.l.) visited premises for
burpose of securing specimens for further investigation into disease.

Inspections:
Observed December 28, 30, 31. January 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 14,
15, 16, 17. February 13, 14, 18, 22, 28, 29. .

Possible source of infection:

5 calves delivered to yards by L. T. Waas on November 23, 1951,
killed November 23. At this time Waas walked all through Burns yard.
Cattle sickness first noticed in Burns stockyard December 18, 25 days
following passage through the yards of Waas cattle. Lengthy incubation
period but cattle were continually going for slaughter and in all
probability first cattle infected by Waas’ calves were killed before
clinical symptoms of disease appeared. As the disease spread in the
holding pens the clinical symptoms became apparent until December 18

o v
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the foreman drew the management’s attention to the number of sick
cattle. Purchased 3 head cattle from H. Beatty February 4. Beatty's
cattle had shown signs of disease January 29.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered February 29, 1952: 74 cattle, 11 sheep, 57 lambs.

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. You referred to the feed lots, aren’t they far apart?—A. Not very far
apart. They are fairly close there.

R. Clifton, Regina, December 29.

Factual data from reports:
Visited by Dr. James who diagnosed stomatitis and quarantined
premises. Cattle reported as being treated and proper sanitary measures

being taken. On Jan. 21 cattle completely recovered and quarantine
. lifted.

Inspections:
Observed Dec. 29-31; Jan. 2-5-21.

Source of infection:
Not determined. Owner reported that he had not visited any premises
where this disease was known to exist.

Frequent visitor to Hanley barns later established as infected
Dec. 15th.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered Feb. 29; 6 cattle.

By Mr. Laing:

Q. These diseases were definitely not foot-and mouth disease, otherwise the
animals would not have recovered.

Some Hon. MEMBERS: That’s not right.

Mr. Laing: I am not asking you. I am asking Dr. Childs. These animals at
that stage were definitely not affected with foot and mouth disease, otherwise
they would not have recovered. At this stage those animals were diagnosed as
being completely free of disease, so that they would not have foot and mouth
disease. Is that correct or could they have recovered from foot and mouth
disease?

The WiTNESS: They probably had foot and mouth disease.

Mr. Lamwc: They could have recovered from foot and mouth disease in
that period?

The WriTNESS: Yes, that is quite so. So much for Clifton. Note that phrase.

“Frequent visitor to Hanley barns” because that will come up later. You will
note here, gentlemen, that there were no cases appeared, brought to our notice,
or seen, Between December 29 and January 23, I believe it is.

Now we come to H. Barre, Regina, January 23.

Factual data from reports:

Following report by Dr. Hunter, Dr. James accompanied by Dr.
Dosch, Dr. Hunter’s assistant, visited above premises, diagnosed sto-
matitis and Dosch prescribed treatment. Premises quarantined. In sub-
sequent visits sick cattle are responding to treatment.

Inspections:
Jan. 23-25-29.
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Possible source of infection:
Not established but disease prevalent in area and poss1b1y visiting

neighbours carried disease.
Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered Feb. 29; 40 cattle.

By Mr. Bennett:
Q. What did Dr. Childs say about no cases being reported there? I did not

catch that remark, Mr. Chairman.—A. No cases were reported between Dec-
ember 29 and January 23.

Q. There could have been cases that were not reported, I presume?—A.

Definitely, definitely. But there were not.

The WrtnESs: This is J. M. Moore, Regina, January 25.

Factual data from reports: :

Dr. James visited premises and found 19 cattle suffering from sto-
matitis in different stages. Other livestock appeared healthy. Premises
quarantined and owner advised about treatment. On Feb. 11 James and
Carlson visited premises—nearly all cattle recovered. Owner reported
that 2 horses had become very listless and refused feed for some days
but were then apparently recovered.

Inspections:
Jan. 25; Feb. 11.

Possible source of infection:

A bull first infected Jan. 21. Believed infection brought to bull by
Moore himself from some untraced source as bull was tied up and given
individual attention.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered March 2; 19 cattle, 9 swine.

W. J. Bickley, Lumsden, January 28.

Factual data from reports:
Visited premises Jan. 28 and found 1 yearhng steer suffering from
stomatitis—all other stock appeared healthy (35 cattle, 4 horses).

Inspections:
Jan. 28.

Possible source of infection:
J. M. Moore a neighbour possible source of infection.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered Mar. 2; 36 cattle.
C. A. Clarke, Regina, January 29.

Factual data from reports:

Visited premises and found 5 of 12 cattle suffering stomatitis.
Stiffness in gait and inability to eat properly was noticed in the one
pig—no symptoms in the 2 horses.

Inspections: 5
Jan. 29.

Possible source of infection:
Several herds along Wascana Creek infected.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered Mar. 4; 11 cattle, 1 swine.
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\\ Alec Duck, Regina, January 31.

| Factual data from reports:

it Owner reported to Dr. Hewitt who in turn reported to district
: office. James visited premises examined 55 cattle, 2 horses—6 cattle
; had typical symptoms of stomatitis. Quarantined premises and advised
owner as to treatment. ‘
Subsequent visit Feb. 4 through Feb. 9th—almost the entire herd
infected a few new cases each day. Cattle being treated in ordinary
way and improving from day to day. Few cases have developed
swellings in the legs and sores between the toes which appears to
be foot rot but these cases have responded to treatment by washing
thoroughly with antiseptic solutions and applying oil of tar to the
. affected parts. Subsequent visits found cattle recovering slowly from
i acute symptoms observed. No ulcers found on feet or legs. Several
cows developed hardened udders in one quarter—disappears in few
days with treatment of hot fomentations and infusion of penicillin.
On Feb. 12 one milk cow died suddenly from what appeared to be
severe heart attacks. Infection appears to be very virulent.

y Inspections:
Jan. 31, Feb. 4-5-6-7-8-9-12-13-16-19-20.
Possible source of infection:
A brewer’s wet grain customer of John Haun. Infection probably
carried from Hanley farm by John Haun.

i Date and number slaughtered:
§ Slaughtered Feb. 29; 60 cattle.

R. E. Wagner, Regina, January 31.
Factual data from reports:

) Visited premises and examined 5 cattle and 1 horse. All cattle
] infected with stomatitis, 1 month old calf died within 3 days after
4 becoming infected by drinking milk from cow which was suffering
from a severe attack of stomatitis. Quarantined premises and advised
1 owner about treatment.

il On Feb. 11, 3 cattle appeared completely recovered but 2 milk
it cows continue to have swellings above the hoofs, but no ulcers have
‘ appeared and severe lameness is evident. It appeared that the
| organism which caused disease in this herd was an unusually virulent
i type.

Inspections:
Jan. 31, Feb. 1-11.

Possible source of infection:

i Believed carried from Barre premises by Dr. Dosch a private
veterinarian. Dosch visited Barre place Jan. 18, 19 and 23rd and
visited Wagner place Jan. 22 and 23rd. This last visit was directly

from Barre premises. q

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered Feb. 29: 5 cattle.

By Mr. Laing:
Q. Who was the veterinarian in this case? On January 31.—A. Dr. Dosch.
A private practitioner or in the employ of a private practitioner.
Q. He was called on January 31 and saw the five sick animals -and sick
| horses?—A. Yes.
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The WiTNESS: We come now to K. Haun.

K. Haun, Regina, February 1.

Factual data from reports: :

Visited premises and examined 37 cattle and 3 horses. 7 cattle
had well-marked symptoms of stomatitis. Advised owner about treat-
ment and quarantined premises. Oh visits Feb. 4 through Feb. 8 it
was found that infection was spreading through herd until the entire
herd was infected. Cattle recovering slowly. Few cows exhibited
swellings and soreness in the feet above and between the hoofs. This
condition is being relieved by antiseptic washes and the application of
oil of tar. Subsequent visits found most animals recovering. Several
still had sore feet with separation of hoofs at the heel and several with
hardened and inflamed quarters of udders.

These conditions treated by warm antiseptic solutions and are
recovering slowly. One calf 10 days old, in apparent good health,
dropped dead suddenly after running and playing in the barn. Material
from vesicles on an infected udder was experimentally introduced into
the tongue and mouth of a horse. No symptoms, so again inoculated
Feb. 16.

Inspections:
Feb. 1-4-5-6-7-8-12-13-16-18-19.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered Feb. 29; 40 cattle.
Mr. QueELcH: When you use the term ‘“recovered” you mean that the
Symptoms disappeared or that the animal has fully recovered?

The Wirness: The disease has probably disappeared.

Now we come to A. Clements, Regina, February 2:
Factual data from reports:

Visited premises inspectéd 21 cattle and 2 horses—found 6 cattle
in barn infected with stomatitis. Advised re treatment and quarantined
premises. Subsequent visits found all animals apparently healthy only
two had had severe symptoms of stomatitis.

Inspections:
Feb. 2-7-12.

Date and number slaughtered:
Slaughtered March 3; 23 cattle.

E. H. Wobeser, Regina, February 4:

Factual data from reports: Visited premises inspected 3 cattle and
one horse—one cow suffering from stomatitis. Advised re treatment
and quarantined premises.

Inspections: February 4.

Possible source of infection: Contact with cattle at Dominion Live-
stock Division barn on day barn was quarantined.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 2, 3 cattle.

M. H. Brown, Adams, February 11:

Factual data from reports: Visited premises with Dr. Carlson and
questioned owner about reports that his cattle and horses had been
infected with stomatitis and had been treated by a private veterinarian



128

STANDING COMMITTEE

and had failed to report to district veterinarian. Owner stated that
his horses had not been infected and one animal in his herd had been
sick for a few days but had recovered. No evidence of disease found
on examination of the horses and cattle. Dr. Rankin visited Feb. 18
and on questioning owner he stated that on Januray 30 three of his
cattle had refused to eat were drooling from the mouth and showed
signs of lameness but at present all cattle were eating and showing
signs of recovery. At time of this visit three animals were visibly
lame and very reluctant to move. A thorough physical examination
was made of the animals’ mouths and in two cases small lesions were
seen. One cow was swollen around the hoof head.

Inspections: February 11-18.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 2, 34 cattle and 10
swine.

C. F. Delarue, Regina, February 14:

Factual data from reports: Dr. Chambers while taking blood
samples noticed cattle were having difficulty in drinking and considerable
drooling, on examination found vesicles on the tongues and membranes
and on one cow the whole tongue covering came off in his hand. No
lesions were noticed on feet, none was lame, 15 hogs apparently healthy.
Animal which had been bred to bull at exhibition grounds Feb. 1st
appeared healthy and owner stated he never noticed any deviation
from normal. Chambers believed she had had disease and recovered.
Premises quarantined. Dr. Saint accompanied by Drs. Shahan and James
visited premises February 22. No satisfactory material could be obtained
for laboratory. Four hogs showed definite lameness and evidence of
separation at coronary band. No lesions on snout were observed. These
three visited again on February 23 and obtained suitable material
from 1 calf.

Inspections: February 14-22-23.

Possible source of infection: 1 animal contact at exhibition grounds
when bred to bull.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 3, 8 cattle and
9 swine.

M. E. Cook, Regina, February 14:

Factual data from reports: Visited and inspected 5 cattle and 1 horse.
1 cow infected with stomatitis with erosion of skin on tongue and several
very sore ruptured vesicles on gums. Advised re-treatment and
quarantined.

Inspections: February 14.

Possible source of infection: Sold bales of straw to K. Haun around
end of January and Haun herd first showed clinical evidence of disease
February 1. When Haun was buying straw he was in and around
Cook’s livestock.

Date and number slaughtered: Slaughtered March 3, 23 cattle.

H. Beatty, Adams, February 18:

Factual data from reports: Dr. Rankin visited premises. On
questioning owner stated that on January 29 he noticed that some of
his animals refused to eat, became stiff, sore feet and were drooling
from the mouth. Stated all his cattle had been sick but were apparently
recovering. At the time of visit all animals were able to eat but 5 cattle
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were very stiff and lame and were very reluctant to arise or move around.
A thorough physical examination was made of cattle mouths which
revealed old lesions apparently recovering. Owner stated that he had
not purchased any fresh meat but was using frozen meat produced on
farm. 3 head of cattle sold to Burns & Co. February 4, 1952. No visitors
had been in his barn for considerable time and no European immigrants
employed on premises. Water supply taken from Wascana Creek.
Premises quarantined. S

Inspections: February 18.

Possible source of infection: Mr. Beatty stated he was on Brown
farm on January 20 and Brown herd showed evidence of infection
January 22 or 23. No doubt Beatty brought infection from Brown herd
to his own.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 2, 32 cattle.

Wm. Hanley, North Regina, February 19:

Factual data from reports: Visited premises and inspected 176
cattle and 8 horses and found no symptoms of stomatitis or other disease.
Owner stated that in December before Christmas several cattle became
dull and listless and refused feed. One had a sore mouth and 1 cow
had a small scab on one teat. These symptoms all cleared up in a few
days and no further cases developed since then. Hanley supplies a
number of cafes, hotels and creameries with milk also the Grey Nuns
hospital in Regina and operates a pasteurizing plant. All cattle on
Premises in full milk flow and in excellent condition. Quarantined
Premises as a precaution.

Inspections: February 19.

Possible source of infection: Carl.Palmateer, a dairy helper was
working on the Waas farm during November and on the 26th he left
and on November 27 started to work for Wm. Hanley. He wore the same
overalls and overshoes as he had on the Waas premises. Hanley herd
first showed evidence of infection on December 15th, 18 days following
Palmateer arrival.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 3, 180 cattle.

You will observe that the herd was never reported to anybody, never seen
Or recorded until February 19. So I expect that this herd is responsible for
the group infection of a very small area around those premises.

Mr. Lamng: How did it come to the attention of others? Did he call a
Veterinary? . .

The WrrnEss: No. There was a general inspection around there.

Mr. CruicksHANK: Did you say it was a dairy herd?

The WitnEss: A dairy herd.

By Mr. Charlton:
y Q. There was no general inspection until that time, February 19, no general
spection in that district?—A. No. Before that. This herd was inspected
on December 15 but not reported.
Mr. CruicksHANK: Were any of those cattle shipped out anywhere?
The WiTNESS: Yes. We will come to that in a moment.

Mr. Cruicksuank: Yes, and I will have some questions on that in a
Moment,

R ——
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Demerse Brothers, Truax, February 19:

Factual data from reports: Dr. Saint visited premises. Found
12 cattle showing symptoms of vesicular stomatitis. Owner stated the
animals were refusing feed and drinking very little water. On examin-
ation these animals showed lesions of the disease on the mucous mem-
branes of the tongue and mouth but none on feet and none was lame.
Three milk cows had temperatures of 103-2, 104 and 106 degrees. These

animals definitely sick. Hogs and horses appeared normal. No sales

or purchases of livestock by the owners in last 2 months. First noted
in herd February 18, premises quarantined.

Inspections: February 19.

Possible source of infection: Cattle had been in contact with herd
of J. Beingessner on February 11 and February 15. Together 24 hours
before separated.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 4, 11 cattle
1 swine. ;

J. J. Beingessner, Truax, February 19:

Factual data from reports: Dr. Saint visited and quarantined
premises after examination. 19 cattle showing symptoms of stomatitis
with vesicle formation and drooling. These animals not eating to any
extent. No lesions on feet and none was lame. Other animals appeared
normal.

Inspections: February 19.

Possible source of infection: 2 Holstein heifers were purchased from

Hanley Dairy Farm and delivered February 8. First sickness appeared
February 17.

Date and number slaughtered: Slaughtered March 4, 45 cattle
2 swine.

South Saskatchewan Cooperative Stockyards, Moose Jaw, February 19:

Factual data from reports: Dr. Rankin and Dr. Brown examined
cattle in these yards February 19 no sign of disease but quarantined as
precaution. Dr. Brown visited on February 22 and 23—no evidence of
disease and issued permit for removal of 8 cattle to Canada Packers,
Moose Jaw, for immediate slaughter. On February 26 order issued for
slaughter of 13 head belonging to Lister Bros. as 2 head had been
purchased from Burns & Co. Regina Feb. 12. Inspections Feb. 28 and
Feb. 29 disclosed no evidence of contagious disease. On March 5 orders
issued for slaughter of certain cattle due to contact. Inspection March
6, no disease.
Inspections: Feb. 19-22-23-26-28-29, March 5-6.

Possible source of infection: contact.

Date and number slaughtered: Lister Bros. cattle slaughtered Feb:
29, 13 cattle. Following cattle slaughtered March 7, Canada Packers 1;
R. Arnold, 4; S. Stern, 2; R. Triggs, 2; Sask. Co-op, sheep 9, swine 11;
D. Gardner, sheep 3.

Fruman Bros., Regina, February 28:

Factual data from reports: Drs. Andrich and Donnelly visited and
quarantined premises after examination of animals. No evidence of
disease in owner’s livestock and caretaker H. E. Wilson stated that he
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saw no evidence of disease among his animals. R.C.M.P. informed
Dr. Christie that Fruman Bros. had made statements about non-observ-
ance of regulations. Re-inspection March 7 disclosed symptoms of
disease in cattle, foaming at mouth, ruptured vesicles and sore feet.
Truck had been hauling fodder from brewery to stockmen in district
and had been on Hanley Farm few days before quarantine.

Inspections: February 28, March 7. 4
Possible source of infection: Delivered fodder from brewery to ‘
Hanley farm around time of quarantine of Hanley farm. Owner himself
had been in and around Burns and Co. stockyard and abattoir when
infected animals probably there.
Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 11, 84 cattle.

C. Volpel, Regina, February 28: L}
Factual data from reports: Drs. Andrich and Donnelly visited prem-

ises, inspected livestock and questioned owner. Found no evidence of

disease and owner stated he had not seen any evidence of disease.

Reinspection March 7 disclosed no evidence of disease. Quarantined

Premises.

Inspections: February 28, March 7.

Possible source of infection: Contact. Had purchased calf from Burns
on January 24.

Date and number slaughtered: slaughtered March 11, 7 cattle, 55
sSwine.

D. E. Stewart, Regina, February 29:

Factual data from reports: Inspection disclosed two calves lame—
slight erosion on tongue of one calf. Owner stated calves not eating
normally for over two weeks but no drooling. Quarantined and ordered
slaughtered.

Inspections: February 29.
Possible source of infection: Calves purchased from K. Haun last

purchase made early in December. Owner’s son employed for past two #
months on Haun farm. Calves had been fed skim milk from Haun herd :

until February 1 or 2. ks
Date and number slaughtered, remarks: Slaughtered March 2, 9
cattle, 1 goat.

E. Cross, Regina, March 3:
Factual data from reports: Farm next to Hanley—tl}e bigger dairy
farm we were speaking about before—premises quarantined and order

issued for slaughter.

Inspections: March 3. 3
Possible source of infection: Contact. Animals had been in con- :
tact with Hanley herd, owner had also visited on Hanley premises prior
to quarantine.
Date and number slaughtered, remarks: Slaughtered March 3, 10

cattle, 1 swine.

D. Mironuck, Craven, March 3: .
Factual data from reports: No evidence of dlseage and owner stated
he had not seen any evidence. Premises quarantined and slaughter

orders issued. b
56980—4 ‘ i
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Inspections: March 3. R

Possible source of infection: Contact. Owner purchased week-old
calves from Hanley December 2, 1951, December 29, 1951 and January 11,
1952. L.

Date and number slaughtered, remarks: Slaughtered March 3, 20 -

cattle.

K. Slobolodyn, Regina, March 7:
Factual data from reports: Inspection of cattle showed lesions.
Quarantine and slaughter orders issued.

Inspections: March 7.

Possible source of infection: Had purchased on December 10, 1951
and January 24, 1952 from Burns and Co.

Date and number slaughtered, remarks: Slaughtered March 11, 6
cattle, 5 swine. :

. K. C. Gillis, Gray, March 8: .
Factual data from reports: Quarantined and slaughter order issued.

Inspections: March 8.

Possible source of infection: Contact. Cow bred to bull on farm of

Alec Duck January 30, 1952.

Date and number slaughtered, remarks: Slaughtered March 11, !

12 cattle.

A. Kivol, Ormiston, April 19. __
Factual data from reports: Inspection revealed symptoms of foot =
and mouth disease in six cattle. Drs. Carlson and Mulhern (U.S.A.)
clinically diagnosed foot and mouth disease April 21.
Inspections: April 19-21-22-23.
Possible source of infection: Quarter of beef purchased from local
butcher in December 1951. Bones thrown in yard used by animals.

Date and number slaughtered remarks: Slaughtered April 24, 12
cattle, 1 swine.

Steve Christbason, Ormiston:
Factual data from reports: Neighbour of Alex Kivol.

Possible source of infection: Property not fenced and cattle wand-
ered over to barnyard of Kivol. Direct contact.

Date and number slaughtered, remarks: Slaughtered April 24.

These reports are ‘not all complete and I cannot give you the ﬁgure { G

accurately but I think 13 cattle were slaughtered there. That is what we
; havg in the records to date.

 Mr. CRUICKSHANK: May I ask a question?

The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment before you ask the qﬁestion. This report %
just given by Dr. Childs is a report of findings and dispositions and I would

like the opinion of members of the committee on this. There have been many

names of farmers mentioned in the report and what is your opinion as to _.

the advisability of the names being made public?
Mr. ARGUE: Mr. Chairman, I do not mind if the names are stricken from
the record and not made public but these names are public. I live in the .
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district and T know some of these people who are named. I do not think it
makes a particle of difference whether those names are recorded or not. I
think perhaps for purposes of identification we may have to use some of them.

The CHAIRMAN: I was thinking of the injury that might be done those

' men in the future in carrying on their livelihood.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: If I might speak about that—it is the first time I have
Spoken in this connection. ; >

The CrAIRMAN: I would like the committee to decide this issue right now.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I suggest if there is any question of that then ecall
them “A” and “B”, “C”, “D” and then there is no difficulty at all.

Mr. CruickSHANK: I wish to speak on a point of order just before the
Mminister. With respect to “A”, “B”, “C”, “D” I am perfectly satisfied. As
a matter of fact I think I was one of those who mentioned in the House that
We should not mention names. I also agree with the member from Acacia
fﬁhat after all some of the western farmers have a lot at stake in this but that
1S unfortunate. War is unfortunate, very unfortunate for some people—
Particularly mothers and children. Strikes are unfortunate, particularly for
mothers and. children. However, we have to protect the rest of the farmers
and I am quite willing'to have “A”, “B”, “C”, “D”, but, with respect to what Dr.
Childs has said I am not satisfied. This is part of the same question—I am not
;atisﬁed that it should not be disclosed where certain of this beef was distri-
duted.

If you will just bear with me a moment—I happen to be a layman and
I am not a lawyer, a feed merchant or a druggist,—I happen to live on one
of the largest dairy farms in British Columbia and with the member for West-
Minister, who is not a member of this committee, I represent 90 per cent
of the dairy people of British Columbia. If it happens to hit our province and
Valley it means the loss of at least $50 million to the people he and I represent.

For that reason I am particularly interested and this bears back to what

I. Quelch said before. Dr. Childs, if I understood him correctly a moment
480, esaid that some of this beef, in frozen form I understand, had been sent
from Burns on January 23rd, and according to the'records I have here it was
Sent to Burns in Vancouver on January 25th. :

Well, as I understand it—and as I say I am just a layman but I represent

90 per cent of the dairymen in the province of British Columbia in this case— .

the doctor himself, or if not the doctor or the minister one of the officials, said
that bones or something else could distribute this disease. I understood that
One of the officials, I think Dr. Childs himself said that.

Now, I am particularly anxious to know where these cattle came from
Which were sent to Burns in Vancouver on January 25th. What happened to
the distribution of bones or any raw meat? I think of that when I have $50
million worth of dairy cattle at stake in the Fraser Valley. Is there any
Possible spread of this? I realize the unfortunate spread and this bad adver-
tisement you might call it for the Dominion of Canada, and I heard this
Morning about certain beef buyers in eastern Canada. They can fight for
themselves and I will fight for my province.

We import white face and other cattle from Alberta and Saskatchewan
to my province. We are going into beef now, and if this is going to endanger
the stock—and I read in the record that this virus can even be spread in frozen
beef—and if even freezing is of no value I, particularly as a layman, would like
to see where there is no danger from the offal or other things from frozen beef
endangering the beef cattle in my province. >

I am not going to cry over spilled milk but if you want to put it in two

- Words the department or certain officials of it were asleep at the post. However

=
R lad o

€re is no use worrying about spilled milk. _ T
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I am particularly worried about the future and when I see on January

25th that frozen meat—I presume it was frozen—was imported into the city
of Vancouver—to the Burns company there, I want to know, and I want to
know from some authority here who knows more than I do—as I am only a
layman—that there is no danger from some of the bones or raw meat being
thrown out.

If T heard it from Dr. Childs correctly, and if I understood it correctly a
couple of minutes ago, there is the possibility of expansion of this disease
‘through fluid milk. Am I correct?

The WiTnESss: Yes, it could be spread through fluid milk.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: It could be spread through fluid milk and just think of
that in a little compact valley like the Fraser Valley. We do not farm there as
you farm in the prairie provinces, or as you farm in Quebec or Ontario; we
farm as they do in the state of Wisconsin where, as some of you know, one barn
is 50 feet or 100 feet from the next barn. You do not have to have cattle jump-
ing the fences, they are rubbing noses over the fence—and the farmer’s son
may be visiting the daughter on the next farm that night—not over the fence
but through the gate.

We are in that position in the Fraser Valley and those are the people I was
sent here to represent.

I am not satisfied that the proper precautions have as yet been taken, Mr.
Chairman—although I am not going to worry about spilled milk. When I hear
that the virus must be frozen, according to the regulations of the department,
then I cannot see that there is not danger from frozen meat—Ilet alone what I
know from the records I have.

I would like to get a copy of the rest of it. I think the most important
legislation coming before this House at this session—if we do not have a war—
is this very legislation before this parliament. I would like to have a copy of

everything that John Diefenbaker has got or Mr. Coldwell or that anybody has X

got. I am entitled to it. I am entitled to everything that is on the record here.
I feel very keenly about this, Mr. Chairman, and I think I have been very'

good for Cruickshank in not taking up too much time; but, when you represent

90 per cent of the dairymen of the province of British Columbia and a great
percentage of the beef producers of the province of British Columbia, you have
reason to take time for an explanation of some of the statements that have been
made, and to ask for further explanations.

The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: The question was asked at the beginning when
this document was produced: What was it? Was it new?

I do not think anyone will find there is anything new beyond the fact that
it does give a record down to April 19th. It is a record of what is in the other
return but it is just a summary so it is not a matter of putting anything new on
the table. It is really putting it in a form where members of the committee can
get information much more easily than by mulling through all this.

Mr. DIEFENBARER: Would you not have that distributed?

Right. Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I was going to say that if we were to distribute

it, would it be all right to distribute it with numbers instead of names and then
you can check with the other return in order to find what you want?
Mr. CRUICKSHANK: Pardon me. I want to explain that I agree with that.

As Mr. Diefenbaker will remember I brought it up on the floor of the House

that names should not be mentioned but I do want to know what frozen beef
or livestock has been distributed—to who or whom, whichever is the correct
English, in the province of British Columbia, I am going to insist on that.
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The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment please. I would like to ask if the committee

ds agreed that the names be referred to through the letters “A”, “B”, “C”, and

SO on.

Mr. QueLcH: It is the point I would like to speak on. We have already
placed on the record the names of several breeders—Mr. Waas, Mr. Haun, Mr.
Hanley—and it seems to me those men would have good reason to complain
if we placed their names in the record and not the others. I do not see how you
should differentiate between one breeder and another. I think you should put
them all in otherwise you will be discriminating against some.

Mr. MURrRAY (Cariboo): The more publicity you give this thing the greater
the beating you are giving the cattle men of western Canada. They are losing
$1 million a day every time this committee puts forward any inflammatory or
sensational charges with respect to the spread of the disease. It is very unwise
to indulge in widespread publicity—and another thing is that this is political.
I think that it is very unfair, and I would like to call your attention to this fact,
Mr. Chairman, that the actual situation is that everything that we are doing here
is discrediting our cattle breeders and I represent a lot of them in the constitu-
ency of Cariboo. The plain fact is that we are merely helping the United States
of America in regard to their present political campaign of keeping. cattle out of
the American market. Don’t make any mistake about that.

Mr. QueLcH: Well, Mr. Chairman, I do not think anything that we do at
this stage is going to hurt it very much more. As I see it, we want to do all
We can to prevent the further spread of this disease, and I do not see how we
will do that by leaving out any essential information. However, I do think
that we should leave in the names that have already been referred to by the
Minister in the House.

Mr. StewART: Mr. Chairman, perhaps I might make another suggestion.
We are all here now making speeches about ourselves and about our ridings,
about the people we represent. And now, we are all interested in this situation
and we have every interest in having the facts brought out honestly. Let us
hear the evidence before we pass any judgment on it, before we attempt to
decide whether it is a good thing or a bad thing. I for one want to hear the
Whole of the evidence before passing judgment on this thing.

Mr. CruicksHANK: What you are really doing is making a legal speech.

Mr. STEWART: No, Mr. Cruickshank, it is not a legal speech at all.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it agreed that all the names be stricken from these
records?

Mr. QuELcH: Right from the start.

The CHAIRMAN: Is that agreed?

Mr. HARKNESS: Mr. Chairman, the only difficulty in connection with these
Names is that a considerable number of these people’s names have already been
given very wide publicity. The minister himself in his speech referred to Mr.

aas, and I don’t know how many others. It appears to me that it is not prac-
tical to ®rike these names out now. I am inclined to agree with Mr. Quelch,
especially in-view of the fact that half a dozen of these names have already
been used, the name of Waas in particular, that perhaps the best thing to do
W0uld) be to have them all in. !

Mr. Ross: I can’t agree personally with all this secrecy desired by the mem-
bers on the committee who have spoken, nor with what many of the members
h_ave said about the constituencies they represent. Also, there has been con-
Siderable publicity. I have to take issue with the statement the minister made
this morning that he thought he was protecting people who are in business.
I think there has been far too much secrecy on the whole matter. For instance,
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had thawed out. I think these people the minister told us about have suﬁ’icxent 1
knowledge of what might happen, and if more publicity had been given to the
matter it might have been prevented. I do not see the need for all this secrecy
and so on. It is a matter which certainly is unfortunate for the cattle breeders of =
this country and the economic situation, but I do not think that we are helping =
it any at this stage after all the publicity there has been. All this thing has 8
.been reported. We have the members right now reading it there, and it is

going to be very hard to keep it from being made public. Speaking for myself,
I think there cannot be too much publicity about the whole thing. Coupled
with that is the fact there has been too much secrecy in the handling of this &

.
e
d-

There are a lot of questions I would like to ask at a later time, but I must say =
in all seriousness that I disagree with the statement made by the minister this =
morning about all this secrecy. I think that the more publicity and the more 3
educational program which can be put out about the possibility of getting Canada =
free of the disease, the better. I can’t see the point of everybody going around l
trying to keep this covered up and that sort of thing. As I see it, the more 3
publicity we are able to give to every aspect of the matter the better service -
we will be rendering to Canada in preventing the spread of this disease beyond
what has already happened. Mr. Chairman, I agree generally with the statement
made by Mr. Quelch and supported by many other, but I would call your .?
attention to the fact that the minister has already identified a good many
of the people concerned and has already given their names to the press andk‘_'
they have been spread all across Canada; also, I believe that a number of
these people have been heard over the air on the radio. However, Mr. Chairman, i;
there is one thing to which I want to take exception, and that is the statement =
by the member for Cariboo a moment ago as to this building up a case in the
political campaign across the border in the United States against our market
there. I do not think that was correct. e

' Mr. Murray (Cariboo): I think the statement I made was perfectly Justlﬁed g
and perfectly correct. One of the big issues in the United States election is that
Canadian cattle ought to be kept off the American market.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, Mr. Fair has the floor.

Mr. Fair: I believe that we should find out everything that we can abm._lt _,
the steps that are being taken to eradicate the disease and what action is.
being taken to look after the people concerned. 2

Mr. WrigHT: Mr. Chairman, the document I have in my hand was tabled
in the House and is a public document. All the names mentioned by Dr. Childs
are in this document. It has already been tabled and is already a public
document. I do not know whether it is the intention of the committee to
have this document printed and included in the proceedings of the committee
or not; but whether it is printed in the proceedings of the committee or not,
it is already a public document and already has every name in it that DF. Ch11ds i
- has mentioned. :

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: That will only add about half a dozen names to
those which have already been mentioned in the evidence, and I want to
remind the committee of what I said this morning; namely, that when I
started to read the names in the House I was stopped. I was reading at the
request of members, on the second day; and, as I say, we were asked for this
information and when I started to read off the names I was asked not to. Now,
about a half a dozen of these names are the names of people who went on
the air over the radio and in that way gave publicity to the affair as much
as anybody else. Respecting all these men you are speaking of, their names
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are familiar all across the country. They have been on the air. I have heard
them on the radio myself; and their names went into the press, they gave
the press whatever they wanted to say. That is all right. I do not see any
objection to that at all. In connection with the question raised here: are we

~ Justified in using the‘names? Take the case of the veterinarian who did the

best he could and gave advice to a farmer and it turned out later that his
advice was not correct; is it just fair to have him tabbed as having done that?
I think that weuld be most unfortunate. I am not going to object to it, but
I do think the idea should be placed before the committee and leftr with the
chair whether it is fair to do that or whether it is not. It is quité true that
everything that is in the memorandum is also in here and it can be searched
out; but I am quite sure that most of the members will not read all this bulky
material. A lot of them would read a memorandum, but they would not read
that file. That is probably true of the public too; they would not read a big
document like this; but if you make a memorandum of it and print all the
names and important facts and set them out in that way they would read

that; and, if the committee think that should be done, I am not going to object.:

Mr. STEwWART: Has this been tabled in the House?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Yes.

Mr. STEwWART: Then, there is just one other point—
A Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It will be tabled in the House by tomorrow if
it has not been done yet.
. Mr. StewarT: I understand it has not been tabled yet; is that what we
are to understand?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: The list with the names on to which reference

Was not on what was tabled yesterday, but this morning I undertook to see
that this would be tabled; now it will be tabled tomorrow, if not this evening,

~and it will be available in that way, as has been stated.

The CuHAIRMAN: I think that changes the picture.
Mr. JuTras: Just a minute now—
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Argue has the floor.

Mr. ArRcUE: Personally I have no strong feeling one way or the other,
as I said, as to whether or not the farmer’s names appear on the record. I do
not think it is important, they are already public, as I understand it—most
of them at any rate; and they will be made public when the public accounts

Come out for this year, because they will receive money from the federal

treasury and those names will be in the public accounts. But I disagree with
the minister in his suggestion that the names of the veterinarians and visits
that they have made should also be expunged from the minister.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Not the visits, I am not saying that. ,

Mr. ArRGUE: The details of who did the visiting; who gave advice. I think
that is the very information that this committee must have. Somebody made
a real mess in Saskatchewan.

Right Hon. Mr. GArRDINER: I think that I must have been misunderstood.
I am not asking that the names of any “of the officials in this department be
kept off the record, but you will notice that in that memorandum there are
two or three private practitioners who were called in and gave advice.

Mr, DIEFENBAKER: Their names have already been mentioned in Hansard.
Isn’t that true?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER Not the ones that I am thinking of; if they are,
I have not heard of it before myself.

Mr. DierENBAKER: Oh, I see.
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Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: There may be some doubt about it, but I do
not believe they have been referred to.

Mr. ARGUE: Mr. Chairman, if you start taking off certain names, or a
certain percentage of them, the question always arises whether you have taken
off more names than should have been taken off. I think the only way we can
be certain of getting all the evidence, all the factual evidence we need, is to keep
all the names of all the veterinarians on the record.

Mr. JuTrAs: Mr. Chairman, I would like to say a word on this. So far as
the whole matter is concerned, does it not come down to this, as to whether
these names add or take away any information in these documents. Now, it
is a factual statement, nothing else. It is a chronological statement of all
the events that took place from December 1st to March 7th, and it gives all
the visits. Now, if we replace those names with a letter or any other symbol
I do not see that it takes away any information at all from the value of the docu-
ment. It is true that some of those names have received some publicity, but if
we keep on referring to them indefinitely, or throughout the proceedings, they
will get more publicity. I don’t know that we have anything to gain by keeping
these names. 1 cannot see any reason why we should keep on naming the
names of these people in Saskatchewan on these farms unnecessarily. It appears
to me that the names would not add anything to the document. And now, it is
true, it is in that big document, and it will be tabled in the House; but how
many of the public- or -the press actually go through these great big heavy
documents and sought out the names. If anybody wants to get a particular
name for a particular reason, he would go to the document and get the name;
so that if there is by any chance any mention of such information by names
being struck off it still is a source of information to go to, and you still can
get the name and the information. Really, I do not see any use of keeping these
names on the record.

Mr. DEcore: I was just wondering, Mr. Chairman, if the minister agreed to
have this document tabled with all the names would Mr. Diefenbaker agree not
to have this tabled. All the documents are here before us, anyhow. It is to
prevent those particulars going into the hands of the public; instead table just
for the committee’s use, this document in the committee. I am just making
that suggestion.

The CHAIRMAN: I think it is six o’clock. The hour for adjournment has
arrived.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: I thought we were going to get an answer to something.

Mr. DEcore: Could I get a reply from Mr. Diefenbaker?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I cannot see how we can interfere with the order of the
House, and that is for the tabling of the documents. I would not like to go
that far. As far as I am concerned I pointed out I do not mind, but if there is
any question about the names I suggested they could be designated by A, B, C
and D. Mr. Minister, there was one other matter before we adjourn, and that
is in view of those itemized statements and very complete statements that the
doctor made today, which are very helpful, could he also provide the committee
at the next meeting with an itemized statement of the disposition of the beef
disposed of from Burns during the period of the quarantine, which apparently
amounts to about 130,000 pounds of beef that were sold and distributed during
the time of the quarantine, the people to whom it went and the degree to which
it has been traced with a view to preventing the spread of the disease, as men~
tioned by the member.

The CHAIRMAN: Before adjourning, what is the committee’s desire in con-
nection with the next meeting? Will we meet again tonight at 8 o’clock?

Some Hon. MEMBERS: No. 11 o’clock tomorrow.
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Mr. Ross: May I ask you to consult the chairman of the Redistribution
Committee, which is sitting tomorrow at 9.30.
Mr. JuTras: There is also a meeting of External Affairs tomorrow at 11.

The CHAIRMAN: Why not meet tonight, then?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Might I suggest this? We have a number of
men sitting here and we are going to have to call more. Mr. Wells will have to
tome down here, as well as Dr. Christie, and so on. We are fighting this last
attack out there at the moment and we would like to speed this up as much
as we can.

Mr. SinvorT: I move that we sit tonight at 8 o’clock.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Sinnott is not a member of the committee.

Mr. MurraY (Cariboo): Then I will move that we sit tonight at 8 o’clock.

The CHAIRMAN: It has been moved by Mr. Murray that we sit tonight at
8 o’clock.

Mr. SINNOTT: Since when, Mr. Chairman, am I not a member of this
committee?

~ Mr. ArRGUE: On that motion, I do not think the committee should be
required to sit three times a day, six hours a day. This is an important subject.
We want all the information and there is no member of this committee who
can do justice to the job and know what is in all of these documents with three
Ieetings a day. It is impossible. You can spend three weeks learning what
1s in here. Surely we should have a couple of hours tonight.

Mr. Jutras: We are not meeting tomorrow.

The CHAIRMAN: If we meet tonight we will not meet tomorrow.

Mr. ArcuE: I suggest we should meet tomorrow at 11 o’clock.

The CHAIRMAN: There is a motion before the meeting.

Mr. ARGUE: There is a motion before the committee which is debatable,
and I am discussing the time of the sitting of the committee, and I think members
should realize this, that at the Redistribution Committee meeting yesterday
morning it was discussed there and the members decided that the chairman
of that committee should co-operate with you, sir, to attempt to get our meetings
at. different times, and, as I understand it, that is the very reason for the Redis-
trl:bution Committee meeting at 9.30 tomorrow morning, just so that their work
Will be finished at eleven.

. Mr. Ross: I think we should meet tomorrow at 11 o’clock. It does not
8ive these people any opportunity at all to look over these documents.

The CHAIRMAN: There is a motion, moved by Mr. Murray. All in favour
of Mr. Murray’s motion that we meet at 8 o’clock tonight?

The motion is carried.

Mr. Ross: There are some people who voted who are not members of
the committee. :

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps Mr. Sinnott voted, but I was not looking his way
and do not know how he voted. Anyway, the vote was 19 to 15 in favour of
the motion, so the motion is carried and we will meet tonight at 8 o’clock.

The CHAIRMAN: Kindly come to order, gentlemen. Mr. Stewart has some
Questions to ask of Dr. Childs.

EVENING SITTING

Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, recalled:

By Mr. Stewart: ’ ;
_Q. Dr. Childs, you made one trip to Saskatchewan in January and another
One in February?—A. That is correct, sir.
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Q. And on those trips you did interview officials 6f the Department of F

Agriculture for the government of the province of Saskatchewan?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Including the Minister of Agriculture, the deputy minister and any
other men that they had working assisting your men from the department?—
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, on those two occasions were there any suggestions made by the
government or any of these representatives of the government of Saskatchewan .
—I mean it was stressed by the member for Assiniboia that there was harmony
and co-operation between your federal department and the provincial depart-
ment of the Saskatchewan government?—A. On very cordial terms.

Q. On very cordial terms. Was there any strife between you at all as
to the policy to be followed in connection with the reduction of this disease?—
A. It was not mentioned at that time. I beg your pardon, the first trip there
in January it was not mentioned to us.

Q. That is the foot and mouth disease was not even mentioned?—A. No,
nor was vesicular stomatitis.

Q. And was there up to the time you went out there and actually put on
the closure on February 19, I think it was—was there up to that time any
suggestion of a course to be followed, such as sending anything down to Ottawa
made to you by the provincial deparfment, that was not followed?—A. No.

Q. There was not?—A. No, no suggestions made whatever.

Q. And you have this plant over at Hull that is capable of doing this job?
—A. Yes, surely.

Q. And any provincial government that desires any such work made can
have it done there as a matter of policy?—A. I presume they can. ]

Q. But there was no suggestion of anything of that sort while you were
west in Saskatchewan?—A. No.

Q. There was perfect harmony completely between you and the provincial
government of Saskatchewan in your efforts to eradicate this disease, no matter -
what disease it was?—A. There was no mention of that disease.

Q. Of this particular disease?—A. No.

Q. Of any disease at all?—A. No; the last request, I think, we had from ]

the government of Saskatchewan was to see what we could do to get around
and make more rapid tests for tuberculosis on the dairy herds in those small
towns.

Q. And when was that?—A. Oh, last autumn.

Q. Last autumn?—A. Yes, or last summer.

Q. But in connection with this-matter you say there was harmony and no
suggestions made that were not followed by the department?—A. Yes, we
promised to do this just as far as our available staff could go.

Q. But I am not talking about this other thing. There were no sug-
gestions made that were not followed and there was harmony between you
and the provinecial department?—A. Absolutely."

Q. At all times?—A. Absolutely. Mr. Chairman, I want to make it quite
clear, this matter was never discussed.

Some Hon. MEMBERS: A little louder, please, a little less confidential.

The WiTness: This matter was never discussed on any plane with the
provincial government officials. I want to make that clear. Not by myself.

\

By Mr. Decore:
Q. Was there a Dr. Johnson working for the provincial government? Was.

he in the field do you know, or not? He is a vet?—A. I understand he is a

provincial veterinarian. 5
Q. Was he in the field at any time during December and January, that 3
you know of?—A. That I could not say.
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3 Q. Do you know whether this was drawn to his attention or not?—A. I
could not say.
Q. You could not say, either?—A. Not for sure, no.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
i Q. Mr. Chairman, may I ask my question again? As I understood it, Dr.
’3 Childs was going to answer just before six o’clock, so to refresh his memory
I will just remind him of one of the questions I have. As I remember,
Mr. Chairman, Dr. Childs was asked to answer this before 6 o’clock. What I
am particularly interested in is one question, on page 12. My understanding
was from Dr. Childs’ evidence and that of the officials of the department,
I believe, including the minister, that frozen meats distributed to the
various provinces, let alone the livestock, the bone and the marrow or the
live or raw meat, thrown out, could distribute this disease, whatever it happened
to be. Now, I want to know just where—I am particularly interested in my
own province—I want to know just where on January 25, in car No. CP 281701,
the contents being fancy, 6,121 pounds; pork ribs, 2,800 pounds, in what part
of my province were these meats distributed, and what firms were they
distributed to?—A. We cannot tell you without a search of the invoice, bills
of lading, or whatever. We cannot tell exactly who that was distributed to,
sir. We are looking up all this, as far as we can, as to where they were
distributed. I might say in this connection that our men were alerted long
ago to check carefully around the vicinity where any ef the shipments might
have gone, to see if there was .anything showing up at all in connection with
the shipment of meats, as I mentioned here this morning, going to city areas.
We do not think there is a great deal of danger because any garbage, that is
scraps or bones collected for feeeding to swine by garbage collectors, all such
collectors are licensed and must cook the garbage before  feeding it, so you
; would think if there was any disease going to appear it would appear in the
] Swine on account of the scraps that might go into the garbage, but we have
found throughout the years that licensing of garbage collectors is a good second
111r11e of defence, not only against this but against such other disease as hog
cholera.

Q. To follow that question up, might I ask Dr. Chllds, due to the fact that
this shipment was on January 25, 1952, which was in the so-called danger
! period, am I to understand that Burns Company have no idea of what part
of British Columbia that was distributed to?—A. Yes, they would know where
it went to.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. They would know where it went to.

Q. Well, that is the question. I got that information exactly where it
was distributed, to whom it was distributed, but I would like to know who it was
distributed to, that amount and any other amount in January or February in
British Columbia.—A. It went to the Burns plant in British Columbia.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. That particular shipment went to the Burns
plant in Vancouver.

Q. Yes, but what I am getting at, I am willing to’ forego the names of
individual farmers but I am not willing to forgo the names of individual
distributors in British Columbia. I want to know through whom that was
distributed; in other words, to .find out where any of that was distributed in
the province of British Columbia. Now, surely that record in this trying
Period must be available. I want to know, Mr. Chairman—A. The record
Says ‘“fancy 6,121 pounds, pork ribs 2,800 pounds.” Now, we never had any
hogs with a disease at Burns’ plant sh1pped from Burns.

Mr. MURrAY (Cariboo): Mr. Chairman, might I ask if the meat consigned
to Vancouver would not be distributed up and down the coast to the wvarious
mining camps, logging camps, pulp and paper places, and probably consumed
on the high seas, since that is a place for export?

i
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The WiTNESS: Possibly.

Mr. MuRrAaY (Cariboo): Fraser Valley, being such a productive and self-
sustaining place, would not be importing any meat.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: Mr. Chairman, that was not a fair statement to make;

and it can be ruled out of order, but as it happens from my friend’s own district

I had two wires today in this very connection, and that from my friend’s own -

district, the beef district. What I am interested in is as to where this beef
was distributed, and I want to reiterate, too, Mr. Chairman, that I received
two wires today from my friend’s own district.

The Wirness: I would repeat, Mr. Cruickshank, that there was no beef
that went in that car at that time and that we never had the disease in swine
in the Burns plant. I would like that to go on the record.

By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. I will ask this question, then. What is “fancy, 6,121 pounds”?—A. Pork.

Q. Why is it, then, in the next column we have the word “pork”—and we
produce some pork in the Fraser Valley, they do not in the Cariboo. Pork
ribs, 2,800 pounds. Was there no beef that was sent to British Columbia in
December, January or February, and if so where did it go?—A. The record
does not show any beef as going and there was no disease in the swine there.

Q. In the month of January, was there any, or in February?—A. At no
time. -

By Mr. Argue:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I want to ask one or two questions, now. The first

outbreak of the disease, I believe, was November 26 and it was reported to the-

federal department, as well as to a provincial vet, and there were other
diseases from time to time after that. Did the federal officials take over,
enforce the Animal Contagious Diseases Act and quarantine regulations and
everything? Did the federal government assume a responsibility for these
outbreaks, and apply the regulations?

Mr. DEcore: When?
The WrTNEss: Yes.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Did any federal official in the knowledge of the veterinary director
general ever suggest to any provincial man that the provincial department
should be accepting some of that responsibility?—A. No discussion between
federal and provincial officials that I am aware of.

Q. So there would be no.suggestion, then, of any federal official to any pro-
vincial official that the provincial department should accept some responsibility,
some control in this field?—A. No, because at that time the condition was not
considered serious. ;

Q. The witness told us that up until February 11, in his opinion, and even
at that date there was nothing too serious in the outbreak. I believe you told
us that this morning. Is that correct?—A. That is correct; there was no talk
of foot and mouth disease at all at that time.

Q. And whatever there was talk of was not too serious?—A. There was
very little talk at all, if any.

Q. So it was not taken too serious. Could you give me approximately
up until that time the number of animals that had been ill with the disease
at any particular time? You read all those figures into the record, but could
you give me the approximate number of cattle which had been ill with the
disease up until February 11?—A. Do you wish me to read this record again?
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Q. No; but what would you say it would be? In the neighbourhood of

-how many, 50 or 100, or 150?—A. Would you mind repeating your question,

please?

Q. Up until February 11?—A. Up until February 11, yes.

Q. Approximately how many had been ill with the disease? I am not
looking for a precise figure, but just a rough estimate; I mean those reported
sick up until that date?—A. The figure is 469; that is not saying, however, that
they were all sick; those are infected herds. g

Q. You say those are cattle?—A. Yes, in the herds.

Q. 4697

Mr. MacKenzIE: Were they the ones which were destroyed?

The WiTNESS: Yes.

Mr. Murray (Cariboo): How many were infected?

The WiTnEss: We assumed they were all infected.

Mr. Murray (Cariboo): 4697

The WiTness: Yes.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. My next question is: how many horses within that period of time were
showing eruptions, vesicle eruptions, and were showing that they were
suffering from stomatitis—A. Would you mind repeating your question again,
sir? ‘

Q. How many horses were suffering from this disease within that period?
How many reports did you have from your veterinaries about horses being ill
with this disease?—A. We had no reports of horses being ill except the two
which were indisposed for 2 or 3 days, being off their feed.

Mr. WricHT: They were never seen by a veterinary.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. They were not seen by a veterinary, but he did not give it as his opinion
that they were suffering from stomatitis.—A. I am not so sure that they were.

Q. Could you tell me the main difference between foot and mouth disease
and stomatitis as it affects cattle? If you were going to make a physical examin-
ation and arrive at a decision, how would you do it?—A. We would, of course,
get a complete physical examination, and we would find that in foot and mouth
disease, that is, really typical foot and mouth disease, of course, depending on
the type—there are several types; there are three main types and a consider-
able number of sub types, but in the milder types the symptoms would be
much like the ordinary vesicular condition; vesicular stomatitis, we will say;
but in foot and mouth disease which is a typical case, you get a deep erosion,
Wwith red raw surfaces and considerable slobbering or salivation; and almost
Invariably in cattle you will get foot lesions; you will also get udder lesions,
that is vesicles; also vesicles probably, if you look closer, on the escutcheon,

. Perhaps on the external genitals, perhaps around the base of the horns, around

the nostrils, and on the muzzle; and lameness will appear, although it may
not be lameness of all 4 feet, but merely 1, 2, or 3 feet involved.

In vesicular stomatitis the symptoms are not so well marked; the lesions
-':-lnd erosions are usually smaller and not so deep, although other parts may be
Involved too; there is, actually, of course, stiffness; that is not to say that the
foot is involved; it may mean muscular soreness, perhaps, but ordinarily the
Symptoms are not so proneunced in vesicular stomatitis.

Q. I see; then except in a very mild case of foot and mouth disease, when
I understood you to say it is difficult to tell that disease from wvesicular
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stomatitis in your opinion by a physical examination or by observation, you
can tell the difference between foot and mouth disease and vesicular stomatitis,
and you were describing to me just now the differences in those two diseases?—
A. Would you mind repeating your question again, please?

Q. I say that I understood you to say that it is difficult to tell by obser-
- vation the difference between a mild case of foot and mouth disease and the
vesicular stomatitis disease; but that in foot and mouth disease of a more
pronounced nature, the difference can be observed.—A. Yes, yes; and I would
like to make a little correction in what I said a while ago. . The actual number
of cattie that were seen to be sick or showing symptoms of the disease up until
the 11th of February were 272 of those 469 in herds that were actually seen
to have lesions; we assumed that they were infected.

Q. I have a textbook on animal diseases which was written by two pro-
fessors at Cornell University; William Arthur Hagan, and Dalton William
Bruner. Would you consider those people as competent to write on this
disease?—A. I am not so sure whether or not they have ever seen the disease.

Q. Would you agree with what they have to say, for example on page 668
of their textbook, the second edition, which was put out in 1951?

Mr. STEWART: He has not said they are authorities yet.

Mr. ArRGUE: That is right, but I was asking him if he would agree with them.

Mr. MURRAY (Cariboo): Mr. Chairman, I do not think it would be in order
to cite the introduction of the Encyclopedia Britannica or this other work; they
may be very authentic and very valuable, but they are available in the library.
We are here in order to get facts from the officials, men who have very important
things to take care of and who must get away. I submit that we should not
waste time in going over the Encyclopedia Britannica a second time.

_ There are lots of veterinaries rlght here around the table on the committee,
and others. '

By Mr. Argue:

Q. I am endeavouring to determine how eminent our witness is; and it says
at page 668 that the disease, referring to vesicular stomatitis, is a disease in
" horses and cattle and that it has been well described by Mohler (6); and in
both of these, vesicles appear in the mouth; and that those in cattle cannot
be distinguished from those of foot and mouth disease. That is a statement by
two eminent authorities in the United States, that the vesicles of vesicular
stomatitis in cattle cannot be distinguished from those of foot and mouth
disease. Does the witness agree with that?—A. Not altogether, no.

Q. You do not agree with it?—A. Not altogether. In mild cases the foot
and mouth disease, as I have said, could approximate the same appearance as
a severe case of vesicular stomatitis. :

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Would you mind speaking louder?

The WiTnEss: In any mild cases of foot and mouth disease, the lesions
could approximate in appearance those of a severe case of vesicular stomatitis.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. And the disease which broke out first was a mild disease, whatever it
was?—A. That is understood, yes.

Q. Is vesicular stomatitis a disease primarily of cattle or primarily of
horses?—A. It affects both.

Q. The witness has already said this, but I shall ask him the question
again. Is it not correct that horses more frequently suffer from vesicular
stomatitis than do cattle?—A. That may be so; but it is rather hard to judge
these days because there are not so many horses to examine or look at and
- we do not get them together in large numbers any more.
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Q. But you did have horses on a fair percentage of those farms. As I
look over the records, the majority of the farms did have horses on those
farms?—A: That is so.

Q. And those horses in no instances had vesicular stomatitis except perhaps
those 3 that were off their feed.—A. That might be so.

Q. Then, if as I believe it to be a fact, vesicular stomatitis is a disease of
horses rather than of cattle, and the fact that horses were not coming down
with this disease, why did the officials not undertake the animal inoculations
that are recommended by eminent veterinary authorities on this continent?

Mr. Laing: Could we have records? I think there were only three farms
on which horses have even received honourable mention?

Mr. Argur: All right, all right, let us have the record. There were a
lot more than that.

Mr. Laing: I think only three or four farms had horses.

The WitneEss: I think you will be able to get more complete answers on
this from the men who did the work. .

There are other factors enter into this. Horses are usually kept separate
from cattle, and so on. The matter of spread might be much slower with horses
on that account. I assume the men who did the work will be here before the
committee and they will be in a better position to give you details surrounding
the horses and cattle on the premises. i

By Mr. Argue: . :

Q. According to the evidence you have already given to us this afternoon,
a great many of these farms did have horses on them. That was ‘the only
question I had—and I understand the answer was yes.

I have another statement I would like to give you from the same author-
ities and I will ask your opinion on it. This is speaking about vesicular
stomatitis as well. :

“When the disease occurs in cattle only”—as in the case or the history of
the disease in Saskatchewan—‘special inoculations are required definitely
to differentiate this disease from foot and mouth disease.”

You would say that statement was correct, would you not?—A. Repeat it,
Would you please?

Q. “When the disease occurs in cattle only, special: inoculations are
required definitely to differentiate this disease from foot and mouth disease.”—,

Yes, that is the correct procedure.

Q. If those special inoculations are necessary why was such a long time
taken before the inoculations were finally made in Febtuary?—A. It was not
considered that we were dealing with anything serious. z

Q. It was not considered that we were dealing with anything serious?
Even though the disease was taking on more serious proportions all the time?
Even though eminent authorities say whenever you have a vesicular disease
?ffe’ctihg cattle and not affecting horses there is only one way to find out if it
18 foot and mouth disease—and that is to undertake the proper inoculations?

Well, Mr. Chairman, I think there is one reason we are in this mess today,
and that is because—

Mr. STEWART: We are not presenting argument here, I suppose.

Mr. ARGUE: I have heard argument all afternoon. The member for
Fraser Valley argued for fifteen minutes about the Fraser Valley.

Mr. STEwART: I think what the committee wants is evidence.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: I am a farmer.

Mr. Arcug: It is all right, and I enjoyed what you said, Mr. Cruickshank,
but I make the statement that the reason we are in this mess is because the
officials did not follow—
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Some Hon. MEMBERS: Order, order, order. ;

Mr. DEcore: I think if this ‘witness’ wants to give evidence he should
take the box and we will listen to him. I do not think this is a fime for an
expression of opinions.

Mr. ARGUE: I have been asking questions and I have been getting certain
information. That information leads me to certain conclusions.

Mr. STEWART: We do not want the conclusions of every member.

Mr. ARGUE: I know, I know—you do not want the conclusions—that is
for sure. I will go on, Mr. Chairman.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Has the witness at any time since the taking over of office discussed
with Dr. Mitchell of the lab the purposes of the lab, the work of the lab, the
kind of thing it does, and so forth?—A. Surely. I have been frequently over
the lab anc_l discussed things with Dr. Mitchell.

Q. And the purpose of that lab I take it is to make examinations of various

material that is sent in from time fo time—that is one of the purposes?—

A. That is one of the purposes.

Q. Is the lab in that respect, to your knowledge, used frequently?—A. Very
frequently.

Q. Very frequently for various diseases? You have said to us before that
the reason you sent out the telegram countermanding the order that the
material should be sent to the Hull laboratory was that you were afraid of
breakage in transit—that it might cause spread of the disease?—A. I said
that, yes.

Q. When you sent that telegram at that time d1d you feel the disease had

taken on more serious proportions?—A. Yes.
Q. What had made you believe that at that time?—A. Well, ‘the message
from Carlson. Of course, we have been over this before—

Mr. STEWART: Yes, we have been over it before.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. That is all right. Do you know of any publications your department
has made in reference to foot and mouth disease? Have you distributed
pamphlets—technical pamphlets—to various people informing them about the
disease?—A. Yes, we have circulars—and something was read from those
circulars today.

Mr. HARgNESS: Would you speak a little louder, I cannot hear.

The WiTnEss: Yes, we have issued publications, and circulars, on foot
and mouth disease.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: You cannot get them in the Department of Agriculture;
they do not seem to have them any more.

The WitneEss: We have them. This is one.

By Mr. Argue:
Q. What is that pamphlet?—A. That is on foot and mouth disease.
Q. What date was that published?—A. That was published in 1942.
Q. And has there been any publication since then in reference to foot and
mouth disease?—A. Not in booklet form.
Q: No, and that booklet is still fairly well up to date?—A. Oh, yes.
Q. Even though it is ten years old?—A. Yes.

(
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: Q. Then would you consider the suggestions in that pamphlet put out by
your department as being good ones, and suggestions that could be followed
and should be followed?—A. Surely.

Q. Then I would like you to turn to page 10 of your pamphlet and it says
this on page 10:

The measures of control necessary are so severe that before diagnosis
in a primary outbreak was accepted by the Health of Animals division,
inoculation experiments would probably be carried out on hogs, calves,
and horses.

Z Those inoculations were not carried out until some time in February?—A.
Yes.

Q. On February 18th. That was a long time—the primary outbreak was
November 26th?—A. Perhaps it was—that is as reported by the first owner
there. It was showing at that time.

Q. The first outbreak of disease was on November 26th. Your own publi-
f.‘ation says that inoculation should be made on hogs, calves, and horses, and
1t was not -until the 18th of February that steps were taken and those inocu-
lations were finally made? If you will look at the next paragraph, and I do
not want to read this as it is fairly long, it outlines in detail the way materials
of animals infected with foot and mouth disease may be sent to a laboratory.
Would you consider those specifications reasonably ample so there would not
be any great danger of breakage?—A. Yes, we would consider those—

Q. And Dr. Carlson who was instructed to send those materials to Hull,
I believe you said, went to a special school on foot and mouth disease?—A. No,
Idid not say that Carlson went to a special school.

Q. He took special training? He did have some additional training in foot
and mouth disease?—A. He was to Mexico. ‘

Q. Well, did he not attend an institute meeting, the lectures to which
Were dealing with foot and mouth disease?—A. Yes.

Q. So that he did have the advantage—this is under date of February 13th
to Dr. N. B. Christie, Post Office Building, signed Orland Hall, assistant veterin-
ary director general: “You will recall Dr. Carlson attended a course last spring
at the Animal Diseases Research Institute and therefore should be thoroughly
tonversant with the procedure to be followed.”

Do you agree with that?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, I would like to speak on a point
of order.

It has been said on two or three occasions that the men who did this work
out in the field are going to be here—unless the committee ‘refuses to hear
them—and those are the only men who can answer these questions. Dr. Childs
administers the head office here in Ottawa. He has responsibility for every-
thing that is happening, in so far as we are responsible, from Halifax or from

ewfoundland right through to Vancouver Island.
! Now, he has got a lot of other things to do besides this particular job. This
Job was done by the staff in Regina. Those are the men who are going to be
Made available to this committee.

Now, it is all right to ask questions and then to turn around and say that
Means so and so and so and so; and to say these men never did make any tests
on horses and they never did make any tests on hogs—

Mr. ArRGUE: I never said they never made tests on horses.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: That was suggested a moment ago. You take
a pamphlet which says they should have done so and so, and then you say
they did not do it.

Mr. Ross: They did not do it.
56980—5
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Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It is all right to say that when they are not here, :

but how does Dr. Childs know whether they did it?
Mr. Ross: He should know.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: There is not any more reason that he should
know than that you should know sitting there reading these documents. How-
ever, we are going to have the men here who do know and that is the time to
ask questions.

That is the time to ask questions and there is no need to go on asking
someone who has never had anything to do with carrying out the work.

Mr. WRIGHT: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman. Yesterday, when we
were questioning the deputy minister, Mr. Gardiner rose and said that he was
not the right man to ask questions of and that Dr. Childs would be before the
committee.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Ask him the proper questions.

Mr. WRIGHT: And he said that we would have an opportunity to ask these
particular technical questions of Dr. Childs who was the authority and who was
the head of the department. Now, when we have Dr. Childs before the com-
mittee, the minister tells us that Dr. Childs is not the proper person to ask
the questions of but that we have got to get Dr. Carlson or Dr. James from
Regina. ]

I suppose that when Dr. James and Dr. Carlson come from Regina we will
be told that we have to get somebody else. Dr. Childs is head of this department,
and I think the questions that were being asked were quite legitimate questions.
The honourable member from Assiniboia was trying to determine what care was
taken, or the methods that were believed necessary, the precautions, in tfrans-
ferring this particular virus from Regina to Ottawa. Now, that being the case,
I submit that it should be Dr. Childs, not Dr. Carlson, who gives us that evidence.

Right Hon. Mr. GArDINER: That is correct, except for one thing. When I
referred to the matter yesterday I was referring not only to Dr. Childs, I said
that the whole group of men from the department who were sitting behind me
were here to be called. These men ought to be called. Dr. Childs was the first
one. He was called to outline the methods by which his Branch administers
these matters. These are the men who do the work and are the men who are
going to give evidence. I do not think it is fair to them for this committee to
take a man who is not the man who carried out the work and to question him
and insist on getting answers, and then have these men coming along later on
and to tell them: well, your boss said.so and so; now why are you saying some-
thing different. I do not think we are going to get anywhere. I think the thing
to do is to have the proper questions asked of Dr. Childs pertaining to his part
of the administration, and then respecting the work in the field, have that dealt
with by the men who did the work. We will have them all here.

Mr. HARKNESS: Mr. Chairman I would like to rise on a point of order. Why
is the minister able to get up on a point of order? He is not a member of the
committee. I do not see how he is able to get up and raise a point of order and
then start to give us a speech in connection with how this or that ought to be
brought before the committee. I think the minister is absolutely out of order
in making speeches to the committee such as he has been making all day; and
I would respectfully suggest that the minister do not rise on these points of
order and instruct the committee on how it should proceed.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: Mr. Chairman, on the point of order, if the Minister of
Agriculture is not an ex officio member of this committee I do not know who is.

Mr. Ross: On this point of order, Mr. Chairman, yesterday certain questiox}s
were asked of the deputy minister and the Minister of Agriculture, as he 18
doing now, said: I do not know why you are wasting all this time with the
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Deputy Minister of Agriculture; he said Dr. Childs is the head of this depart-
ment and we are going to call him and he will be able to answer all these
questions. e

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: No, no, not all of them.

Mr. Ross: I am just waiting to ask my questions. All I am doing is waiting
for an opportunity. The minister distinctly said yesterday that when Dr.
Childs came here he would be able to answer these questions. The question
the minister raises right now does not satisfy me because 'he is apparently
referring to the fact that some other officials would be better able to give the
evidence, and that we will find the reports of the field men from January 4
to February 12 on the record. I would think that if the minister had an
efficient organization Dr. Childs would have these reports from the field men
under his supervision; apparently he has not got them, but that is the very
question the minister raised yesterday. Now that he finds that Dr. Childs
cannot answer these questions he says: wait until we get the field men here.
¥ say there is something grossly negligent in his organization of the department
In that respect right there.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, in reply to my hon. friend
may I say that if I cannot speak before this committee I will have to submit a
request to the House tomorrow as to whether they will make me a member of
the committee. I think that I should have the right to speak here; but we can
settle that if it is necessary. .

Mr. WricgHT: I do not think it is necessary.

Mr. Ross: I was not finding fault with the minister speaking in this com-
mittee; I was finding fault about the position he takes.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: On the question about yesterday, let us be
reasonable about this. I expect we are going to call all these officials. We
have these field men here and they will be called as soon as you ly;lve finished
with Dr. Childs. When you are through with him these other officers, the field
men, will be here and they can be called. If you call these field men then you
don’t lose any more time with these general questions. What I am suggesting
is that you should reserve these questions for them when they are here. I am
not objecting so much to the questions that the member for Assiniboia has been
asking as I am to taking a pamphlet and saying: here is a publication, this is
from your department, instructions to your officials to do so and so; now your
officials didn’t do it.

Mr. ArRGUE: I am asking why they didn’t do it.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: How do you know that? They are here, you can
find that out from them.

Mr. ArGgUE: If they did not do it there is still a whole lot missing from this
file.

Mr. MURRAY (Cariboo): That is not an inquisition; this is an inquiry.
Mr. ArGUE: I have one or two questions left.

Mr. JuTRAS: Mr. Chairman, if we are still on the point of order, I would
like to have a word on it. I think there is another matter which should be
considered at this stage. Yesterday practically the whole of the afternoon was
taken up by one member. This afternoon practically the whole of the after-
noon was taken up by another member. I think that we have reached the stage
Wwhen some consideration should be given either to time allotment or some
arrangement so that other members may have a chance to express themselves
in this committee. We cannot continue this procedure where one member is

. allowed to get up at the beginning of the sitting and keep the floor for the

whole of the session and nobody else has an opportunity to say anythir'lg. There
are a great many of us around this table, members of this committee, who
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would also like to ask questions. In fairness to everybody concerned I think
we will have to consider the question of allotting time as we have done in other
committees before where there is a similar general interest such as is being
manifested here in this committee. I would suggest, Mr. Chairman, that we
should consider either allotting time to members, or at least devising some
method whereby at least a percentage of members will have an opportunity
to speak on this question.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, on the point of order—

Mr. BLUE: Mr. Chairman, it is not often that I say anything in this
committee, but I have one or two questions which I would like to direct to
Dr. Childs—

Mr. ARGUE: On the point of order—

Mr. BLuE: I have the floor.

Mr. ARGUE: On the point of order: I was asking the witness a question
and I gave way on a point of order. If anyone else wants to speak on the point
of order I will give way, but I want the floor after that.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman—

The CHAIRMAN: You are rising on the point of order?

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: On the point of order, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: As far as Dr. Childs is concerned, I have tried to keep
from pre-judging the matter, and in what I am now saying I do not want to
appear in any way to be pre-judging the issue. I am trying to listen to the
evidence; but Dr. Childs put on the record this afternoon and read from a
record prepared, whether by himself or someone else, a complete recital of all
these cases and what had been done; and he accepted and adopted what had
been done having been done on his behalf; otherwise, he could not have
read all that. And I have just one word more to say to the minster. No one
can have any objections to the minister being here, so long as he is not inter-
fering with Dr. Childs giving his evidence. Yesterday and today on a number

of occasions the minister was seen to be whispering with Dr. Childs when

questions were being asked. In my view that is an important thing and is not
in accordance with the rules of this committee.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: You are not my school master. When I was
going to school if T were caught whispering I got rapped over the knuckles,
but not from you.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I do not think the minister should be whispering to
Dr. Childs when he is giving his evidence.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I will whisper to anybody anytime I like, even
to you.

*Mr. ArRGUE: Mr. Chairman, I have felt that my questions in reference to
Dr. Carlson were proper to put to Dr. Childs because of the telegram which
was sent by Dr. Childs to Regina countermanding the order to send the material
to Hull; and that was the thing I was referring to; and I was wondering  if
Dr. Carlson did have knowledge of foot and mouth disease, because he attended
the Animal Disease Research Institute a year ago. That is all I wanted to
know. Is that correct, do you know? If you do not know if it is correct, that
is quite all right.

The Wirness: He would be the best man we had in the west for that
purpose. But even so, I had to consider what the results would be if by any
chance it was foot and mouth disease and that material got loose, or got lost
or broken. We knew what the hazard would be and we could not take any
chances at all.
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By Mr. Argue:

Q. What happened to your order countermanding Dr. Hall’s telegram?
Was the material sent to Hull in spite of that order?—A. The material had
been collected and sent before my telegram reached Christie.

Q. Had it arrived here by that time?—A. It had not arrived here, no.

Q. And was the disease diagnosed on the basis of that material that came
to the Hull laboratories?—A. I would say it was verified.

Q. And that was the first verification of the disease, the animal inocu-
lations from all these different animals?—A. No.

_ Q. You had a report earlier than that that it was foot and mouth disease
did you?—A. No, we did not have a report that it was foot and mouth disease.

Q. That was the first verification?—A. That was the first time that it was
officially designated as foot and mouth disease, after the evidence was all in.

Q. So that the samples did not break coming here, because that sample
came here we had the first official verification of the disease?—A. Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Darroch has the floor.

- Mr. DarRrROCH: Those of us who have something to do with cattle breeding
in Ontario realize that this outbreak has been the cause of a drop in the price
of meat in Ontario of at least 5 cents a pound during the past winter season.
I am quite sure, sir, that the publicity given this inquiry will cause the western
ranchers, or the cattle producers, another 5 cents a pound on their feeders and
_Stock cattle this fall. I am quite sure that Ontario is not going to be nearly as
Interested in purchasing cattle coming from this infected section. Now, I have
Just a few questions that I want to ask Dr. Childs. I have not had much of a
chance to listen to the questions that have been asked here, but there are one
or two that I would like to ask.

By Mr. Darroch:

Q. First, I would like to know how many cattle in the western area died
from foot and mouth disease? I do not mean the ones that were shot. Were

g‘ege any died of the disease?—A. I do not believe that there were any that
ie

Q. Another question. How many died in the quarantined area prior to
February 16 from foot and mouth disease?—A. I could not say that any died
om foot and mouth disease.

Mr. DarrocH: That is all.

By Mr. Blue:

_ Q. I was going to ask Dr. Childs one question. Dr. Childs, are you satisfied
With your assistants and your departmental officials who are turning out the
Work on your instructions?—A. Very well satisfied, sir.

Q. If this disease broke out again, would you take the same technique to
€Xamine it, or would you do anything different to what you have done?—A. Yes,
88 soon as I heard about it I would probably arrive there myself.

Q. What was your own personal intention when you came here?—A. To
be questioned.

Q. Let me ask you a question. You came here to tell the story as a
Professional man of what you did?—A. Yes, sir.

; Q. And you did not come here to correct the disease, but for that purpose
You left your officials on the ground?—A. I beg your pardon?

Q. You did not come here to correct the disease, you left your officials on
the ground.—A. Yes, sir.
¢ Q And what are your observations since you came here—is it to correct
he disease or is it for political gain, or what is it?

The CuHARMAN: Order, please.
56980—6
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Mr. BLuE: I do not want to have to ask the question twice or three times
or four times, and if you people would not make so much noise Dr. Childs could
hear me. Do you not think that in your department you have done the best
that could be done under the circumstances involved?

The WiTNEss: Yes, sir, my conscience is clear.
Mr. BLuk: I thank you, sir, I think you have.

By Mr. Quelch:

Q. I have a few questions I would like to ask Dr. Childs. In the James
report, which was issued around January 4, the statement is made that the
herds of Waas, Woods and Smith had fully recovered. Between that time and
the time the herds were slaughtered were there any further outbreaks amongst
the cattle in those herds?—A. Among those herds you mentioned, sir?

Q. Yes?—A. No, none reported.

Q. At the time James issued that statement I believe those cattle were
suffering from vesicular stomatitis, but you now say they had foot and mouth
disease.—A. They may have had both.

Q. In the event of an animal contracting foot and mouth disease, is there
a real cure for it or does it remain dormant even though the animal appears
to get better? Does the disease remain dormant in the animal?—A. I would
not say that. It is my understanding of the disease that after a primary infec-
tion takes place, usually about the mouth parts and the tongue, possibly the
tongue, the virus then penetrates the system, mingles with the body fluids and
there is a reaction set up whereby antibodies are produced against that virus.
It goes through the circulation and then breaks out everywhere, not every-
where but in the special parts, such as the mouth parts, hoof heads and other
parts, nostrils, muzzle pad. But in foot and mouth disease antibodies are
produced rather rapidly, as the course of the disease will indicate. We find
that, within a few days after the vesicles break, it is sometimes difficult or
impossible to find the virus in that animal except you go to the marrow bones or
something like that, but antibodies produced in reaction to the infection of
the virus will take care of it in the circulation, in the system generally, so the
animal could recover from the disease, but that would not say that it would

recover from the damage produced by the disease, such as sloughing of the

hoofs, perhaps damage to the udder, sterility, blindness and such like. ,
Q. Would there be any danger of contamination from that animal spreading
it around?—A. Yes, there would be danger.
Q. That is the reason that even though the herds were fully recovered
it was considered necessary to slaughter them?—A. Yes, there would be danger

in this way. The virus might be held in some part of the body. There might

be some little, say, abscess all walled off, which is the systemic reaction to some
irritant or other infection. There usually would be secondary infections of
the lesions that are produced by the virus, scar tissue may be formed. and
there usually is. Well, there are little pockets like that containing virus covered
up and they remain in a dormant state but still capable of producing the disease:
We could not say how long it would be till something breaks them down. That
could occur, particularly around the hoofs. There are cases where there will bé
a partial separation of the hoof, which usually takes place at the heel, at the
back, due to work of the virus, of course. Well, virus is apt to lie dormant in
that tissue for up to a year. The reason for that is that it takes approximately
11 months for a hoof to go out altogether and shed.

Q. Then the term “fully recovered” should not be used?—A. I beg your
pardon?

Q. Then the term “fully recovered” should not in reality be used—I mean

it will give a wrong impression?—A. It might be a misleading impression, sure:
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Q. The other question I want to ask is of a different nature. It is a matter
Which has been referred to several times, but it has not been taken to the
point where I want to take it. It is the question of the countermanding
of the order to send the specimens from Regina to Ottawa. You gave
as the reason that you did not consider it wise that these specimens
should be sent because of the danger that they might be broken in the mail
and the disease might be spread, but at that time you believed the disease to be
Vesicular stomatitis, but even then you considered it would be dangerous to
Send specimens?—A." Yes, following a message from Carlson indicating the
disease was looking much more serious in this case, in the case of any probability
of dealing with foot and mouth disease we could not be too careful. Over in the
United States, where they have experienced at least nine outbreaks of foot and
mouth disease in their history, they know more about it than we do from that
€Xperience, and they will not have the virus in the country at all. They will
not move it around. They will not permit it in.

Q. Well, it is in the light of that that I cannot understand the order you
8ave, ccarried on page 4 (Sessional paper 169-F), dated February 29, which I
will read:

Memorandum to district veterinarians:

Supplies and equipment for collecting material for Ilaboratory
examination obtained from cattle or other animals suspected of being
infected with foot and mouth disease are going forward to your office
from the Animal Diseases Research Institute, Hull, P.Q.

Where there is the least suspicion that foot and mouth disease may
be present samples from the affected animal or animals should be
immediately collected and sent forward to the A.D.R.I, Hull, P.Q., by
air express or the most rapid method of transport available for labor-
atory examination.

Well, I should have thought by then that you knew for certain that it was
00t and mouth disease that it would be even more dangerous to send the
Samples by air, because you had already countermanded the order as it might
Spread the disease had the samples been broken. Yet when you ascertained
It was the foot and mouth disease you then gave the order to send samples
Y air—A. Yes, once we knew the disease was established we had another

‘Problem on hand, in connection with animal inoculation in the field. To do

th{s we would have to go well away from the affected area, secure suitable
animals, bring them to some place where we could certainly isolate them and
STy on the test. This takes considerable time. In the meantime, a serum

s become available for making tests on this material, and we have better
eClulpment. Then we had unbreakable tubes and so on, so in the interest of
Making, verifying, diagnosis as rapidly as possible and getting infected animals
Into the ground, we had to give way on that point. Is that satisfactory?

Q. Yes. There is just one more question. I asked the question of the
dep‘}ty minister and he said it should be referred to you, and that is regarding
t-he Inspection of the animals turned out to pasture. Just what kind of inspec-
tion js made, and is the inspection today more thorough than the inspection
t?at Wwas the general routine practice before the disease was started?—A. Yes,
SIT, T can answer you that. We talked this over on the telephone, sent memor-
andums to our people at Regina, Dr. Christie, who is the district veterinarian
!0 charge, and Dr. Wells, who is handling the cleaning up operations. Now, it
WVas like this. We knew out there in the spring when the snow goes they are
Not going to keep their cattle in the barns, and if we do not let them go to the
Pastureg they would be scattered around the country. So the arrangement
Was this—this, of course, was confirmed by circular which we can produce
1 you think we need it—that all cattle going to these pastures should be

96980—63
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of our departmental ear tags they were to be tagged, so they could be identified.
We think that inspection will be very thorough. And further, the larger
pastures, one of our veterinarians will be watching them closely. We have =
taken all the precautions we can in that direction. We would, of course, have
chaos if they ran loose around the country. We would not know where they
are. But in this case they pass under somebody’s hand, they are looked at,
they are examined and identified. We know where they come from.

Mr. JuTras: Mr. Chairman, for the last two days the emphasis has been =
placed mostly on the reports that have been made from the field to the k1,
veterinary director general. Emphasis has been almost exclusively placed on
the slips of paper, if I may put it this way, that have passed from the veterinary =
director general to his officials. I think that a great many agree that, as it was =
pointed out this afternoon by the Minister of Agriculture, the veterinary 7}
director general after all is in charge not only of the province of Saskatchewan
but has a great many other provinces to look after. Apart from the director
general, who is responsible for the ten provinces of Canada, there is a district
inspector, a man who is fully qualified in each province to look after the
problems as they occur in each province. I might say in passing that, in this -
particular instance, it just so happened that one of the men in the province of
Saskatchewan was one of the 3 men in Canada who had had experience with
this foot and mouth disease in Canada because he had gone down to Mexico ..L
to have an actual physical look at the disease down there; therefore, he was =
one of the 3 men in Canada who had seen the disease. 3

Mr. Ross: Are you or the witness giving evidence? e

Mr. Jutras: No, I am just reviewing a few of the arguments that were 'w
repeatedly presented for the last 3 days leading up to my point. Apart from =
that, there was also a veterinary of the province, appointed by the province
and paid by the province, in the field. Now, yesterday the member for Lake
Centre spent most if not all of the afternoon, stressing the point that no
reports had been made to the director-general in the famous period from
January 4 to February 13. Al

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I just accepted the return which was filed. -

Mr. Jutras: I am not disputing the statement you made, but the hon.
member reviewed the facts for most of the afternoon. All I am doing is just {’
trying to sort out what has been said in this committee since we started. I ‘J
have not missed a minute of the proceedings of this committee so far, and
as every other member of the committee has tried to do, I am trying to'
assimilate what has been said in the committee. o

Mr. BRowNE: Mr. Chairman, on a point of order, has the hon. gentleman
the right to review the evidence?

Mr. JuTras: Very well. ;

Mr. BRownNE: If everybody else has the same right as he has, when will
we ever get through our work? '

The CHAIRMAN: I think there has been a lot of reviewing. But go ahead- |

Mr. WriGHT: We are all going to be allowed to do this very thing, Mr.
Chairman. So that is agreed.

Mr. Jutras: No, I am not trying—I do not wish to establish a precedent:

Mr. ArRGUE: But you are doing it.
Mr..JuTrAs: If the hon. members of the committee wish to ration the

time of the committee, I would be quite agreeable to do it that way and

confine myself to the specific amount of time that I was allowed; but I have
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just pointed out that one member took up the full meeting, all the afternoon
yesterday all by himself. I had some questions to ask at that time but I
never got a chance to ask them. And since that time many others have asked
questions and now, naturally, there have been so many things asked and so
many questions repeated that I am trying to review in my mind what actually
happened. But if the hon. members want to ration the time of the committee,
all right, T will be agreeable to it, and will keep to my 5 or 10 or 15 minutes
as the case may be; but in that case there would not be any need of reviewing,
because all the time would not be taken up by one member. But until a
rl}ling is taken on that, I think I must have the same privilege as Messrs.
Dlefenbaker, Argue and Charlton, who took all the time this afternoon. I
Propose to avail myself of the same privilege that they enjoyed this afternoon
and they certainly repeated a lot of things that were said in previous meetings.
So, Mr. Chairman, as I said, much has been said about this period of January. 4
to February 13, and the impression was carried in the press throughout the
country—

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Are you going to attempt to pass judgment on the press?

Mr. Jutras: After all, the press is a fair reflection of the opinions which
are reflected in the committee; and the member who has just spoken is the
one who created that impression, rightly or wrongly. Now, an impression was
carried that absolutely nothing was done by the Department of Agriculture
dUI_‘ing that period from January 4 to February 13 because there were no
Wwritten communications between the director-general and some of his officials
In Saskatchewan.

Mr. Ross: There is no record of any.

N Mr. Jutras: No written record; that is why I say that too much emphasis,

In my humble opinion, for whatever it is worth—in my humble opinion—too

Much emphasis has been placed on the slips of paper that pass from the

dlrector-general to his officials. After all, we are here to consider not so

much the slips of paper as to consider the action that was taken in the field.
Mr. Ross: As the absence of such slips of paper.

Mr. Jutras: As the absence of such slips of paper; but what.we are con-
Cerned with here is what action was taken. And I was very pleased this after-
noon when the director-general read out to the committee a chronological list
of all action that had been taken in the field, and all over, during that period.
As the record showed, and I took it down at the time, the first outbreak occurred
on the 1st; and then there is a series of inspections, almost constant in sections,
Which took place in the field at that time, with the exception that between
December 29, as was pointed out by the director-general, between the period of

€cember 29 to January 23, there were no outbreaks, no cases reported to
any of the departments in the province of Saskatchewan, of any new disease
I the province. '
Mr. BRowNE: What was the date?

Mr. Jurras: Between December 29 to January 23 there was a single new
€ase reported in the province; and as a matter of fact, the last case that was
Teported was on December 29, that was the Clifton case on December 29; and
all of the cattle on that farm responded to treatment and all recovered from

€ disease. So that from December 20 there were no cattle sick of the disease as
ar as I know and as far as the record bears out, from December 29 to January 23.

Mr. Ross: Oh yes, there were!

Mr. BRownNE: I do not know if the hon. gentleman has read these reports,
but 1 have them here in front of me now and I have one dated January 8, the
urns Company Limited.

Mr. JuTtras: Just a minute, just a minute. I said “new cases”.
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The CHAIRMAN: Order, order. Now, Mr. Jutras.

Mr. JuTtras: I think I have the floor just now.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, you may go ahead.

Mr. JuTRAS: I am talking about new cases. The Burns case was reported
on December 28, the stockyards; no, not the stockyards, the feed lot.

Mr. BRowNE: The hon. gentleman was under the same impression that I
was, that there was only one lot of cattle at Burns that was infected; but in
fact cattle were continually coming into Burns plant and new cattle got the '
disease.

Mr. Jutras: Yes, it is assumed that the cattle which got it at the Burns
plant probably got it there. I am not talking of the number of animals that
got the disease, but of the new cases. There was a new case in Saskatchewan =
on December 1st; that was the first case, the Waas case; and the second case
was the Wood case on December 12. Mr. Wood apparently caught the disease
when he went to work on the Waas farm; then Mr. Smith also went to work
to help Mr. MacLean, and he got an outbreak on December 14. So the December
1st, December 12, and December 14 cases are all related to the same incident.
Then on December 28, there was an outbreak at the Burns feeder lot, and all
were relegated together. For the moment the Burns plant naturally had ramifi- -
cations which later on, on the 28th—but that I think is one case, and I am refer-
ring to other cases that took place. Then there was another case, the Clifton case
on December 29, and these animals were attended to on December 29, and
they responded to treatment and they were all cured. So were the ammals
on Mr. Smith’s place and the others, they recovered from the disease. There
was no further sign of disease, and there were no new cases reported in the
province or in the area or anywhere until January 23.

Mr. ArcugE: From what date?

Mr. JuTtras: December 29 was the last case reported

Mr. ArRcUE: I have the file here and on page 47 it says: “date of visit,
January 5 to R. Clifton at Regina.”

Mr. JuTras: That does not mean a thing.

Mr. ARGUE: And it says that the disease is stomatitis.

Mr. JuTRrAS: Please allow me to finish. |

Mr. ArRGUE: I want you to give us facts instead of opinions. =

Mr. JuTras: I say that no new case was reported after the 29th. ‘1ol

Mr. ARcuE: That is not right. 4 ‘J

Mr. JuTRas: We were told this afternoon by the director-general that the
Clifton case was reported and if you will listen to me, Mr. Argue, I would like
to get this straight over to you. X

Mr. ArRGUE: I am listening. d

Mr. Jutras: The Clifton case was reported on December 29; then there
were a series of inspections made there. The cattle were treated and on January
21, after having received treatment, the cattle were all completely recovered. v
am not manufacturing this information. This is what the director-genel‘a\1

i

said, Dr. Childs. The cattle were treated. il
The CHAIRMAN: Order, order, please! ‘
Mr. JuTras: The cattle were treated and they responded to treatment andu

on January 21 the cattle were all completely recovered, so that bears me out-

I am taking the facts from the statement of the director-general which were ‘{

given this afternoon, that from December 29 to January 23, there was actuallY o

no reason for any report to the director-general because at least from the_ *

documents presented this afternoon, the disease seemed to be under control
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and all the cattle had recovered and there were no new outbreaks. Then the
next outbreak took place on the farm of Mr. Barrie, Mr. Ash Barrie, on
January 23.

Mr. HARKNESS: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Jutras has now
been talking for 10 or 15 minutes and he has been reviewing the evidence
and history of this disease which we have had so far. The minister indicated
on.several occasions here that there was some urgency for us to finish our
Cross-examination.

Mr. Jutras: I like that!

Mr. HARKRNESS: As I said, finish our cross-examination so that these wit-
nesses might get back to their job of fighting this disease. I think that what
We should be doing is cross-examining the witnesses and not making these
19113" speeches or going over and repeating time after time the history of the
disease. We have had the history of the disease given to us and I think if
Mr. Jutras wants to ask any questions, he should ask them, and end this present
discourse.

Mr. Jutras: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman, I have a right to speak
on a point of order.

The CHAIRMAN: Very well. Go ahead.

Mr. JuTras: Mr. Harkness has raised a point of order that I have been
speaking 10 or 12 minutes. I like the nerve of the hon. member to raise that
point of order because I spoke for 12 minutes.

Mr. Ross: But without a question.

Mr. JuTrAs: When Mr. Diefenbaker and Mr. Argue and Mr. Charlton took
3% hours, or the whole afternoon.

Mr. Ross: But you have not asked one question.
The CHAIRMAN: Order, order, please! X
Mr. ArcUE: I was not on at all after 11:30 this morning.

Mr. STEWART: I think the member who is just speaking is possibly only
to a slight extent repeating the offences of the previous speakers. They
admitted they did review and were repeating constantly. A member of the
last party admitted that he had and was repeating 2 or 3 times. So I would
Suggest to the chairman that we get on with this meeting and that the chairman
rule that we do not repeat previous arguments and that we limit our time g
to reasonably new material. Mr. Jutras is simply following a very long
Precedent set by the previous veterinary surgeon here, and recapitulating and
admitting that he is recapitulating and repeating previous things that we have
all heard 2 or 3 times. I think the chairman should rule that we are not here
to review each and every speech by repeating it, but that we are here to find
out what caused this trouble and what the remedy is, so that we can get some-
Where with this committee.

Mr. Ross: On a point of order. I do not like raising any objection and
I am very interested in following the hon. member, but every word he has
said in his twelve or fifteen minutes will be found in the record today and
he has not asked one question. :

Mr. JuTtras: Why do you raise an objection to what I have been saying?

Mr. Ross: I have not any objection to any member getting up and prefacing
a question with some statement of fact, but every word is to be found in the
Tecord of the statements by the witness today. He has taken all this time
1'._“E‘J'iewing, and he is certainly going to cause us a lot of unnecessary waste of
time. I would think you would have to have some more order.
Ao The CrATRMAN: I think there has been a lot of reviewing since this com-
Mittee sat first but possibly at a subsequent meeting we might limit the review-
Ing. Go ahead, Mr. Jutras.
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Mr. Jutras: I do not wish to repeat any argument that was made, but if
statements have been made repeatedly it is not my fault. I cannot take
responsibility for them, and if a false impression has been created by these
statements being repeatedly made in this committee that also is not my
responsibility. It is my responsibility, I think, as a responsible member of \
this committee to give my interpretation of it and, as I pointed out earlier, i
the statement was made repeatedly that there were eleven outbreaks of the g

disease during the month of January and that no reports whatsoever were
made on them.

Mr. CHARLTON: That was the evidence of Dr. Childs himself. :,'

Mr. Jutras: Well, just a moment. I am not taking anything away from
the statement I made. It was repeatedly stated that eleven cases occurred
during the month of January and that no reports were made to the director
general. |

Now, I am trying to complete that because I do not think it is giving a fair 5
impression of what actually took place at that time. o

It is all right to say that eleven cases occurred during January, but if the
eleven cases happened on the last day of January that is an entirely different
picture from what it would be if they occurred every third day during the month
of January. That is the only point I am trying to establish.

This afternoon a record was given which would indicate that there were ‘
no cases, not one single case, which occurred from the beginning to the 23rd—

Mr. Ross: No new cases. ‘
Mr. JuTRAS: No new case occurred. The first new case to occur in that A

month was on the 23rd.

Mr. BRowNE: You mean the new outbreak?

Mr. JuTras: Yes. It gives a different picture from the impression that
is created when you say there’ were eleven cases that occurred during that
month—without saying when they occured during the month. I am not trying
to build up a case one way or another. I am trying to get at the facts—the
exact facts—and those are the facts as they are given.

Mr. Ross: They are all in the record. ‘

Mr. JuTtras: There were no cases up until the 23rd and then we were |
given all the actions that were taken at that time. :

Now, there is another point. I am not a veterinarian as others on the
committee are. I do not know very much about this foot and mouth disease.

Some Hon. MEMBERS: Hear, hear. |

Mr. JuTRAS: We have a veterinarian, Mr. Charlton, as a member of this
committee, Mr. Charlton created great ado over the fact that Dr. Childs
countermanded the order to have a sample sent to Ottawa for inspection. As
I say, I do not know anything about it but I am trying to make up my mind.

Mr. WRIGHT: Mr. Chairman, on a point of order again. Was that order
of yours made with regard to procedure for this meeting? : ~E

The CHAIRMAN: No, I said it might possibly be adopted at a subsequent
meeting.

Mr. WriGHT: It was just a hope.

Mr. Ross: A pious hope.

Mr. WriGHT: Mr. Chairman, then I object to a certain ruling being applied - -
in this committee for this meeting and then saying that at the next meeting i
we are going to have a different set of rules to go by. That in fact is what you
are saying—that in so far as this meeting is concerned members are permitted 1
to make statements but at the next meeting you hope we will have a different
set of rules.
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Mr. Jutras: I object to that statement too on the grounds that ‘since
others had that privilege for the last two days I do not see why I should be
denied the privilege tonight.

Mr. Ross: If you will not rule, Mr. Chairman, I should like to make an
appeal to the hon. member that we are wasting a lot of the time of these
officials. We can read the record and find every word that the member has
uttered in the last twenty or twenty-five minutes. I would hope after this
objection that he would ask questions of the officials and then let some of the
rest of us ask questions. :

Mr. CruicksHANK: I think I am in order and I will make a motion. I under-
stand there is a very interesting debate in the House of Commons and I want
to move a motion which is not debatable. I move that we adjourn until
tomorrow.

Mr. Bryce: I came here to this committee to ask questions and I have sat
here the whole blessed day and I have not had a chance to ask my questions yet.

Mr. JuTtras: Mr. Chairman, if I may be allowed—

The CHAIRMAN: The motion to adjourn is not debatable. You have heard
Mr. Cruickshank’s motion—all in favour? Contrary?

I declare the motion lost.

Mr. Jutras, would you try to be brief?

Mr. Jutras: I will try to be as brief as I can and I will not be very long.

! As I say, and I am very serious on this, we have had so many versions that
1t is difficult for the ordinary layman to make up his mind.

Mr. QuercH: Why do you not then ask some questions?

Mr. JuTras: That is what I am going to do if you will just give me a chance
and stop interrupting me.

This afternoon, as I said, objections were raised particularly by Mr. Charlton
to the telegram of Dr. Childs countermanding the order that the diagnosis should
be done in Hull. I find that in the record of the House, March 3rd at page 47,
Mr. Charlton had this to say: :

It has been said that Dr. Childs went out there on the 17th of
January. Here are the instructions given to veterinarians across the
Dominion of Canada with respect to foot and mouth disease.

I will dispense with the regulation.

I should like to repeat the first point:

“Any vesicular disease of any animal may be dangerous.”

Then he goes on: :

This letter was sent out to all veterinarians over the signature of
Dr. Childs, veterinary director general, who went out there himself on
the 17th of January. If what he says as to the danger is so, why were
tests not made in the field? I understand that is possible although the
minister said today it is mot possible to diagnose the disease without serum.

I want to contradict the minister on that point because the serum is not
Tequired for a diagnosis of this disease. \
That is exactly what Dr. Childs wired them to do in Regina—yet Mr.

Charlton this afternoon took very great exception to it.
Now, what is his opinion? Is it what he said this afternoon, or what he

Said in the House?
Mr. CuarLTON: I am not on the stand.
The CralrRmAN: Mr. Bryce.
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By Mr. Bryce:

Q. Dr. Childs, I have been around stockyards a long time but I want this )

to be cleared up. What does “fancy” mean. Does it mean the heart, liver and
so on of a pig? My friend from British Columbia got some fancy stuff in there
but I do not think he knows any more than I do about what it is.—A. It is some
time since I was around the packing plants, although I started my career in the
department in the packing plant. They may have changed their terminology a
bit since but certain plants use the term “fancy meat” to cover various parts
. such as hearts, livers, and so on. 2

Q. Would you be safe enough to say it is the by-products of the hog?

A. Where you have the term “fancy” yes, I think it would be. They might
of course use the term to describe something superlative, good.

Q. The serum that you use to diagnose samples you get from the old
country? Do you produce it in your laboratory at Hull or do you import it from
some place?—A. That serum was brought from Kirkcubright in Scotland.
Kirkcubright is really the foot and mouth disease research centre of the world.
The people there, their equipment and technical facilities are considered
to be tops.

Q. They do not have it in the United States?—A. No.

Q. Do you keep a supply in your laboratory here at all times or when you
have an outbreak is it necessary for you to send to Britain for it?—A. As far as
I understand Dr. Mitchell had no supply of this serum until it was considered
that we had something serious out here.

Q. Then when this outbreak occurred you had to send for it?—A. Yes. It
was flown over—we cabled for it and it was flown over.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. On the matter of prevention, when was the last outbreak in the United °

States, Dr. Childs?—A. I believe in 1929.

Q. In 1929, and much ado was made in the press about locating this

German immigrant, and the matter of bringing this disease by immigration.
I believe you had occasion to go into the matter of the protection which the
United States has put on in the last few years. Is there any protection on thé
matter of immigration—immigrant’s clothes and effects?—A. No.

Q. You made inquiries in writing?—A. Yes.

Q. There is no such prevention in regard to immigration in the United
States?—A. Unless they have put it on in the last couple of weeks. I knew
already that they did not bother with immigrants’ clothing and effects in the
United States—immigrants from any country—but to make sure of that I wrote
to the chief of the Bureau of Animal Industry in Washington to get it in
writing. The answer was that they did not do so but in view of our experience
in Canada they might re-examine the subject.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Ross?

By Mr. Ross:

Q. I would like to ask Dr. Childs a question particularly on this point;

I understand the second last outbreak of foot and mouth disease in Saskat-

chewan was the result of the sale of a quarter of frozen beef where the bone

and some of the quarter had been thrown out in the yard, and not properly

disposed of, and that was the cause of this particular infection. Can you say
where that quarter of beef came from.—A. It was traced to a local store.

: Q. To a local store?—A. Yes; and it was purchased by that party from

I believe, Burns. ]
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Q. From the Burns’ packing plant?—A. I believe so. ;

: Q. And during the winter it was kept in a frozen state?—A. It was kept
In a frozen state.

Q. And it originated from the Burns’ packing plant in Regina?—A. Yes, as
far as we know it did.

W tQ. Can you say what date it left the Burns’ plant?—A. I am not sure on
at. ‘

Q. But you are satisfied from your investigation that is what caused it?—

A. That is the report. It is subject to revision though if there is anything else

that comes up.

Q. Yes. Well, Dr. Childs, I read last summer an account in the newspaper
where your assistant, Dr. Hall, had given an interview, or appeared at a meeting
and gave an address about foot and mouth disease. You recollect that, do you?
= A, Yes; sir.

Q. Therefore I should think your officials ought to be very alert to the
danger of an outbreak of foot and mouth disease in Canada, they 'were all alert
to that?—A. Yes.

Q. I also read in your report, under date of March 31, 1950, where you
had reported to the director of production services something dealing with the
danger of foot and mouth disease being introduced in Canada in countries
Where this disease remained extant, was always present, and that the danger
had been enhanced on account of the fact that in recent years the facility, the
rapidity with which transportation could be effected caused it to become a
much greater danger? That is true, isn’t it?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, in view of those facts, your department officials were always on
the outlook for the possibility of an outbreak affecting Canada. In view of
the evidence given here so far, it is very difficult to imagine why some reports
from the field officers were not on record from these dates, between January 4
and February 12th, and then after we knew of the new outbreak. I would think
from a study of this that your officials would have been alerted to the similarity,
if this did happen to be foot and mouth disease. There were quite a few cases
between November and December, and you had the report from Dr. James
on December 28th of the Burns’' outbreak and the federal quarantine which
followed. It is very strange to me that there were not a series of reports on
ﬁl_e about that situation. How do you reconcile that, in view of what has been
said?—A. There was nothing to report during that period.

Q. Pardon me?—A. There was nothing to report during that period.

Q. There was nothing to report?—A. If there had been any case it would
have been reported.

Q. And would not that cause a quarantine to be put into effect?—A. Surely.

Q. There is another question in which I am interested, and it relates to
Some questions of law which have been raised here, both provincial law and
federal law. You should be able to tell me, I think, if it is recognized that your
department has the authority; that is, the Federal Health of Animals branch,
that they are responsible for diseases of animals within Canada.—A. That is
correct.

Q. Pardon me?—A. That is correct—not all diseases.

Mr. STEwART: That is a legal question, Mr. Ross.

Mr. Ross: I am not a legal man, I am only a layman, but I am trying to
get the matter clear in my mind.

. Mr. STEWART: But you are a legislator.

Mr. Ross: I am a very humble layman, and my questions are the questions
of a layman. I am ‘merely trying to find out who is responsible, just for my
own information. I want to'get clear exactly what the position of the federal
department is. ; ;
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The WiTNESS: Would you mind repeating that?
Mr. STEWART: He is not a lawyer either.

Mr. Ross: Yes, I appreciate that. That may be so, but I am only a
layman while he is the head of a branch.

By Mr. Ross:
Q. My point is this: as a question of law the Health of Animals branch,
or your branch of the Department of Agriculture, as I understand it, is chiefly

Tesponsible for contagious diseases? Your health of animal work covers the

whole of the Dominion of Canada—I should not say dominion at this stage—
A. That is right. We accept responsibility for the prevention, control and
eradication of certain diseases which we call reportable diseases. We have the
right in law, certainly of using our authority for purposes of quarantine, for
purposes of control in any place where we may suspect a serious disease to be;
it is not necessary for it to be there, but if we suspect it, we will try to pull
a curtain around it to make sure.
Q. You say that is your responsibility?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Catherwood:

Q. I would like to ask Dr. Childs a question. I believe Dr. Childs said
this afternoon that certain specimes had been sent to the laboratory in Hull.
I think that is true?—A. Yes sir.

Q. And later on he referred to Dr. James having forwarded these samples,
and to their having been sent by express, but that he had objected to the
samples being forwarded. I wonder if he would care to tell us on what ground
he based his objection?—A. I did that just a little while ago, but apparently
I was not able to make the point. I did that a while ago. Conditions change
very fast at times like this. Naturally, we find that the first specimens got
through all right with nothing broken, they got through safely. We found
that we were having numerous reports—we have a very excellent reporting
service throughout Canada which was set up quite some time ago to report
these things to us. These reports sometimes are not understood, and yet they
take a lot of time and involve a lot of work. And now, we have a weekly
report service from what we call sub-districts all over Canada and there are
veterinaries posted at headquarters at certain points over the country, like
at Peterboro, Stratford, Kingston, London and so on, throughout the country;
and we had a committee set up to act as a center, and the people are briefed
on certain diseases or conditions that they should report in. That is just in
case of emergency, so we can get on fo these things quite quickly and quarantine
and control them before they get out of hand, as was the case out there.
Well, this meant a lot of work for us and the result is that as soon as word
got around that we had foot and mouth disease; and that was, as you know,
shouted to the skies in all directions, and we were getting numerous reports
that there were outbreaks of foot and mouth disease some place, and we
would have to go out and investigate and if there is a shadow of doubt that
it might be that we had to do something about it to verify it. We found
that it was impossible in all of these cases to secure analyists, just analyists
from outside, and we could not even collect the specimens needed for the
purpose. Nobody ever gives us anything, they don’t give those things away,
we have to buy that; and then we have to make the tests. We felt that it
was just impossible so, when we had the serums here we were very careful
how we kept it, what we did with it, on account of danger if it became broken
or lost. There was always that danger, and that was the reason why we
changed our method of dealing with it.
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By Mr. Quelch:

Q. How long did it take you to make the tests after you received the
serum?—A. Do you mean animal or seriological?

Q. The seriological test.—A. Where we make the animal test we would
not probably—I do not think that Dr. Mitchell could make a pronouncement
on it for 5 days. I may be wrong there, but there are certain methods of
making animal inoculations where you could get indications of the disease
perhaps within 48 hours, but not always.

Q. I understand there has been a recent outbreak at Weyburn in the last
24. hours. Have you had any information as to how serious the outbreak
might be?—A. We were still taking the evidence.

Mr. STEwWART: Dr. Childs, in connection with this—

The CHATRMAN: Mr. MacKenzie has the floor.

Mr. STEwART: Are we to adjourn at 10 o’clock? :

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, I was just going to let Mr. MacKenzie ask his
questions.

Mr. STEwART: In connection with these provincial statutes I recited, you
did not in any way attempt to countermand these statutes and say to the
Government of Saskatchewan or the minister: you are not to operate under
those statutes.

The WirnEss: Heavens no, no.

By Mr. MacKenzie:

Q. Mr. Chairman, my questions are very simple. As a matter of fact, one
of them has already been answered and it would be repetition. It was this:
How long after an animal is inoculated are you able to get verification, in what
length of time does it become manifest? You have already answered that
bretty well. My second question is this: evidently in all the outbreaks there
have been no animals which have died as a result of the disease and they have
apparently made a normal recovery. If they did make a normal recovery,
Supposing there were outbreaks that were not reported and the animal had
made an apparently complete recovery and then these animals had been turned
out to a community pasture, would they become carriers, say like typhoid and
malaria carriers and spread it abroad?—A. Yes sir, they possibly could; but
We have a method of offsetting that, and that is one thing in connection with
Which we need the services of a lot of men. Now, to follow that up and to
e_hminate dangers like that we set up a farm inspection service for the inspec-
tion of suspected animals. One of our field men can go to these farms and
check these animals over and question the farmer, and if there is any evidence
of any sickness having been around the place he will go and take a look at
these animals to see if they have been affected. That can be detected by scars
that are left, do you see.

Q. It is quite an undertaking?—A. It is a big undertaking, there is no
doubt about that. :

Q. And you have made that inspection before they are turned out, naturally.

By Mr. Quelch: ‘

Q. Did you do that in the buffer zone or in the quarantine zone only?—
A. In the buffer zone, and beyond the buffer zone too. Knowing the attitude
of the United States, knowing them very well and their feeling towards this
disease and their great fear of getting it into that country, and to reassure them,
our men have been carrying on inspection along the borderline of Manitoba,
Saskatchewan and Alberta. Susceptible animals along the border areas have
been checked, at least on the first one or two rows of townships north, and
Sometimes more, but we give our first attention to the farm-to-farm inspection
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in the danger zone, which is a closely quarantined area, and next the buffer
zone around that. I may say here, in Britain where it is popping up every day,
pretty well out of hand—I am afraid it has appeared in Scotland, too, in
Aberdeenshire in the last few days, for the first time last summer—but over
there after they have a quarantine on, when there is an outbreak on some farm,
they issue what is called a standstill order covering an area of 15 miles around
that place. That means there is to be no movement of stock, no sales and so on.. ]
After a period of 15 days they begin to contract, as they say, the area, bring

Mr. DEcorg: Mr. Chairman, I move the adjournment.

‘The meeting adjourned.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

FripAay, May 2, 1952.

The Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met at 4 o’clock
b.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J. Bater, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Browne (St. John’s
West), Bryce, Cardiff, Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Cruickshank, Darroch, -
Decore, Diefenbaker, Dumas, Fair, Gardiner, Gauthier (Lapointe), George,
Gour (Russell), Harkness, Hetland, Jutras, Jones, Kickham, Kirk (Digby-
Yarmouth), Laing, MacKenzie, Major, Masse, McCubbin, McLean (Huron-

. Perth), McWilliam, Quelch, Ross (Souris), Stewart (Yorkton), Sinnott,

Whitman, Wood, Wright, Wylie.
In attendance: Mr. J. G. Taggart, C.B.E., Deputy Minister of Agriculture.

The Chairman presented the First Report of the Sub-Committee on
Agenda and Procedure, which is as follows:

Your Sub-Committee on Agenda and Procedure met on Thursday, May 1,
and agreed 10 recommend:

1. That the next meeting of the Committee be called for Friday, May 2,
at 4 o’clock p.m., that examination of Dr. Childs be continued and, if concluded,
that Dr. G. A. Rose, Chief Veterinarian, Meat Inspection, be called.

.

2. That arrangements be made to hear the following witnesses during the
Week commencing May 5:
Monday, May 5: Drs. E. E. Carlson and N. V. James, Regina.
Tuesday, May 6, and
Wednesday, May 7: Dr. C. A. Mitchell, Chief Division of Animal
Pathology; Dr. O. Hall, Asst. Veterinary Director General, and
other officials stationed in Ottawa.

Thursday, May 8: Dr. K. F. Wells, Regina.

3. That ten minutes be the maximum time allowed any one member for
One series of questions.

The Chairman also read the following memorandum and suggested that
he recommendations of the Sub-Committee relating to the Agenda for the
Week of May 5, be amended accordingly:

Memorandum for Mr. A. Bater, Chairman, Agricultural and Colonization
Committee

Dr. Hall has not returned to the city and it will therefore not be possible
to call him before the committee today.

Dr. Taggart is available to give evidence regarding the shipment of cattle

to Montreal, and then Dr. Childs could return to continue his evidence.

__Dr. Hall will be available on Monday and could be called. Dr. Mitchell
Will be in the city on Monday and will be available to appear.

Arrangements are being made to have Drs. Carlson and James flown to
Ottawa from Regina and they will be available to appear on Tuesday.
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It will be necessary for Dr. Carlson to return to Regina on Tuesday night
to take charge in order that Dr. Wells can come to Ottawa. Dr. Wells can be
available to appear on Thursday.

The procedure would therefore be as follows:
Friday, May 2nd—Dr. J. G. Taggart, Dr. T. Childs.
Monday, May 5th—Dr. O. Hall, Dr. C. A. Mitchell.
Tuesday, May 6th—Dr. E. E. Carlson, Dr. N. V. James.
Thursday, May 8th—Dr. K. F. Wells.

On motion of Mr. Laing, the First Report of the Sub-Committee, as
amended, was adopted.

Mr. Taggart was recalled, questioned and retired.

On motion of Mr. Sinnott, at 6 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until
8 o’clock p.m. this day.

EVENING

At 8 o’clock p.m. the Committee resumed, the Chairman Mr. Arthur J.

Bater, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Browne (St. John’s

West), Bryce, Cardiff, Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Cruickshank, Darroch,
Decore, Dumas, Fair, Gardiner, Gauthier (Lapointe), George, Gour (Russell),
Harkness, Hetland, Jutras, Jones, Kickham, Kirk (Antigonish-Guysborough);
Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth), Laing, MacKenzie, Masse, McLean (Huron-Perth),
McWilliam, Murray (Cariboo), Quelch, Ross (Souris), Stewart (Yorkton),
Sinnott, Whitman, Wright, Wylie.

In attendance: Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, Department
of Agriculture.

Examination of Dr. Childs was resumed.

On motion of Mr. Wylie, at 10.12 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned
until Monday, May 5, at 11 o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.




EVIDENCE

May 2, 1952.
4.00 p.m.

The CramrMAN: Come to order, please. At the outset of the meeting this
afternoon I wish to welcome two new members to this committee, the Right
Honourable Minister of Agriculture and Mr. Sinnott. First of all, gentlemen,
I will read you the first report of the subcommittee on agenda and procedure.
We had a meeting at the conclusion of last night’s meeting.

(Report read).

Now, in connection with these dates, just as I went into the House I
Teceived this memorandum. I will read it.

I would like now to have a motion of concurrence in our report of the
meeting of last night, with the amendment I have just read stating that some
of these officials are not able to be present on certain days. Moved by Mr.
Laing. All in favour of the motion?

Mr. WricHT: Is that a motion for concurrence with the recommendations
of the report of the steering committee as to the time limit?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, I am calling this an amendment to the report, which
I just read. ;

Mr. WricHT: I would like to say a word on that. There is just one recom-
mendation that I would like to add to it, that you, sir, as chairman, do not see
anyone you have already seen until any other member of the committee who
has not had an opportunity to ask questions for 10 minutes, or whatever period
he likes, has had an opportunity. I do not think it is fair that one man should
use 10 minutes and someone else come in and then the same man go on again
for another 10 minutes. I think at least everyone on the committee who wishes
to ask a question should have the opportunity before a second round is started.
If T might add that to your recommendations, I would certainly be in favour. '

Mr. Laing: I think that that point is covered by the phrase ‘“one series of
Questions”.

. The CHAIRMAN: I think that covers it: “that 10 minutes be the maximum
time allowed any one member for one series of questions.”

Mr. WricHT: Yes, but you might see him again.

The CHAIRMAN: .You have all heard Mr. Laing’s motion.

Mr. CruicksHANK: Does that also go for one series of legal expositions or
Political talks, or anything?

Mr. Decore: About the Fraser Valley, too?

Mr. CruicksHANK: Never mind the Fraser Valley.

The CHAIRMAN: All in favour of Mr. Laing’s motion?

Agreed. Carried.

: Mr. DYEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, there is a question I would like to be
Informed on this afternoon, about which I spoke to the minister a moment ago.
his is a matter that should be clarified, and I think the minister would be
Prepared to give a statement at the moment regarding the latest outbreak at
eyburn, and whether or not recent outbreaks, either at Ormiston or Weyburn,
Would be normal and would be expected.

167
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Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I had intended this afternoon in the House to
have made a statement on the situation as it exists at Weyburn, but there were
so many other things coming up that it got by. My reason for that is that
some of the reports which have gone out from our own office and elsewhere
have perhaps over-emphasized the difficulties there, and I think it would be
well to have the facts put out, and if there is anything which I do not give
now I hope Mr. Taggart will give it before he proceeds with the other exposi-
tion that he is going to give. In a telephone conversation between Dr. Christie
and Dr. James at 11.30 a.m. today, Ottawa time, which would be 9.30 Regina
time, we were advised that no new cases were discovered in the Weyburn area.
Now, that means that there is only one case of the disease in the Weyburn
area. There never has been any more than that. There were two contacts and
I think perhaps someone is confusing contacts with cases; that is, two farmers
whose cattle came up and ate grass on the same pasture where the other
cattle were. Now, those cattle are, naturally, being destroyed. But there are

not any new cases there, just simply contacts. There has only been the one

case, and the contacts, and there is, too, a further fact that has been spread
across the country now, that there may be cattle out of this one herd where
there actually were cases that had been put into the community pasture prior
to the outbreak of the disease, but from that man’s farm, fortunately, I think
there were 24 cattle put in the pasture. There were some 900-odd in the
pasture. Fortunately, there has been no outbreak whatsoever in the pasture.
These cattle were segregated immediately. We knew of the disease on the
farmer’s place, and they have been kept segregated and under inspection all the
time by veterinarians, and there has been no outbreak either in the 24 or
among the 900 in the pasture, or until now, and there is no reason for feeling
that we may have to destroy all the cattle in that pasture, excepting the risk
that some of those cattle may yet develop the disease, but every day that goes

by makes it more and more certain that will not happen. Up till now we.

have only one case in the Weyburn area.
Mr. DIEFENBAKER: When was that?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Last Monday I announced it in the House.
There has been no further outbreak around that area since, and we have
destroyed some cattle of other farmers because it has been learned they had
been pastured in the farmer’s lot.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: How many were destroyed altogether?
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: 121, the last figure.

Mr. WricHT: How many days previous to the outbreak in this herd were
the cattle taken from it and placed in the pasture?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Eight days.

Mr. ARGUE: Is there any evidence as to where the infection came from?
From the Burns plant?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: The report up to date is that there is no evi&ence
of it. People may have some ideas, but there is no real evidence.

Mr. ARGUE: And not likely to be?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: You cannot be sure of that, but there is not
much possibility.

Mr. QUELCH: Are the symptoms there identical with the symptoms in
the Regina district?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, before asking Dr. Childs to come to the stand
again, Mr. Taggart is now prepared to give evidence in connection with the
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shipments to Montreal, I believe. I think probably that it might be in order
now to get Mr. Taggart to explain about this shipment that has been mentioned.
Is that agreeable?

Agreed.

Mr. J. G. Taggart, Deputy Minister of ‘Agriculture, called:

The WrirnNgss: Mr. Chairman, a re-search of the records of Health of
Animals division still confirms the fact that no cattle were shipped out of the
Intercontinental or Burns plant in Regina except those that were reported.
They were all shipped to points within the old buffer zone. I asked the officers
of our Market Service to try to identify shipments of cattle to Montreal in °
the name of Mr. McCusker and they failed to find any trace of them. Then
Somebody discovered that Mr. McCusker had been employed by the Saskatche-
Wan Co-operative Marketing Association as shipper or manager, I am not sure
In what capacity, and that organization had shipped cattle to Montreal from
the co-operative livestock yards in Regina, ‘but not from the Burns establish-
ment, and not from the Intercontinental. :

; Secondly, the shipment was reported in the press, I think, as having
Originated on or having come from an infected premises, but this co-operative
stockyard was not then and not at any time infected. I think the stock in that
yard was inspected repeatedly, but I do not think any infected animals were
found in that yvard. The shipments to Montreal were made as follows:

On December 28, 1 carload of 32 head; on January 3, 1 carload of 24 head;

on January 5, 1 carload of 20 head; February 1, 1 carload of 25 head; February

11, 1 carload of 22 head. Those dates, I think, are the dates shipped from
Regina. The dates of arrival in Montreal are given, but I do not think I need
to give you them.

Mr. Jurras: How many were there shipped on February 11?

The WiTNESS: On February 11 the shipment was 22 head from Regina.
They arrived in Montreal February 17, and those cattle were all shipped to
Donovan in Montreal, and those cattle were killed in Montreal. These ship-
ments are among those that were traced immediately after the quarantine was
applied. All of those shipments on the records in either the Health of Animals
d}v1sion or the Marketing Service were traced to their destination and it was
ither determined they had been killed, or if they were alive they were
nspected for symptoms of the disease.

Mr. CruicksHANK: Have you the answer to my question?

The Wirness: I am sorry, I did not hear the question.

Mr. CruicksuaNk: Well, the question is, from January 1 to February 23
V‘{as any frozen or fresh meat shipped to British Columbia, and if any, to which
districts?—A. I think that in the return made yesterday, Mr. Chairman, there
Was a statement showing the shipments of meat of various kinds made from
Regina to other points including Vancouver. There was, as I remember it, one
€arload at least of meat products of some kind shipped from Regina to Vancouver

. I January.,

Q. Well, Mr. Chairman, the question that I asked was very definite. From
January 1st to February 23rd were there any fresh cattle shipped to B.C. from
any district in which there were any infected cattle; and, if any, to which
district? That was a very definite question which I asked yesterday.

The CuarrMan: I think probably we will let Dr. Taggart finish angi then
have questions.

The Wirness: Well, Mr. Chairman, I have nothing further to say about
the shipments from Regina to Montreal.
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By Mr. Wright:

Q. Can you say, Dr. Taggart, whether any of these animals had come from
any herds which were later found to be infected, in the Regina area; or, was
a trace made to determine where these cattle originated that were shipped from
the co-operative stockyard?—A. I cannot tell you that at the moment, Mr.
Chairman. I think probably we could get it, although there is an element
of doubt in that. These cattle apparently were assembled in the co-operative
stockyards in Regina and I am not sure that the identity of each individual
animal going to that shipment is known. They may have come from a dozen
farms and been assembled there into the carload shipped out of Regina. I am
not sure, I do not think the particulars of farm origin would be available for
each animal. I would. be glad to check up on these reports and see what
information we have. I can only add that every effort was made to do that
very thing; and in so far as the records of arrival and origins go, they were
traced backwards, certainly. Now, that would have been very necessary with
respect to any in the quarantine zone. But the general assumption was that
any animal that came out of Regina, or out of the Regina area, might have been
carrying the infection and therefore a very large number were traced to their
destinations to see whether they might have carried the infection; but I am
not so sure that that trace was carried back to their origin, but it was traced
through to find out the destination and check them at that point.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:
Q. Whom was the tracing done by; was it done by the mounted police?—
A. The tracing was done in this way. The Health of Animals division officer
at the stockyard, any stockyard, gives a health certificate for cattle being
shipped from the stockyard to country points. It is illegal to move them without

that health certificate. We make a survey for the purpose of our market report "

of the movement of all the livestock. That is done weekly and it contains the
records of origin and destination, and that is published not in detail but in
round figures weekly for the information of people who are trading and the
farmers who are selling, and so on; so by putting the two records together we
could find the origins and the destinations. That would be a clerical job in the
office. Then the information is sent out to the appropriate district veterinarian
and he in turn puts one of his men on the trail of that shipment. That vetgri-
nary would then go to the farm to which the cattle had been delivered. We
know where the cattle were shipped from and their destinations, and in the
case of any shipments from this infected area we would give them special
attention. Speaking from memory, I think the tracing went back to shipments
that were made from the west as far back as October, I know that it did take
in a period of time well beyond that in which we had any knowledge of the
disease having been prevalent, and we traced as far as possible every shipment
that might conceivably have carried infection out of the area into other parts
of Canada. Quite a number of these feeder cattle have been shipped into
Ontario.

Q. Mr. Chairman, I have a question to ask arising out of that; will you
let me ask the question?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:
Q. I would simply like to ask this question. You trace these feeder cattle
to their locations in Ontario and Quebec. This affects the whole livestock
- industry in Ontario, naturally. Having regard to the period that has elapsed
and no symptoms having become in any way incipient among the various feeder
cattle sent down here, is the deputy minister now in a position to say that as
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far as the feeder cattle shipped to Ontario are concerned there is little fear
of there being any disease spread by the cattle that came here?—A. I think
that. it is perfectly safe for me to say yes in answer to that question, Mr.
Chairman. I think I can safely say, yes, after this lapse of time and the fact
that no symptoms of the disease had been found; I think that it is very safe
tO. assume that the disease has not spread outside of the area. Now there is
still the odd chance that it might have spread outside of the buffer zone.

Q. I am speaking only of feeder cattle—A. Certainly as far as these long
fange shipments are concerned it is extremely doubtful that any infection
has been carried out.

The CHATRMAN: Mr. Wylie has the floor.

; Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I made a statement a few minutes ago, and -
In the meantime another wire has come in here which I think I should read
to the committee so that our newspaper friends will not have to run two
Stories. This is a little different from the other. I said a moment ago that
We got telephone information this morning—it would be 9:30 Regina time
11:30 here—and I gave you the details of that. I have just received a wire
from Dr. Christie which was put out at 2 o’clock p.m. this afternoon, just
a few minutes ago Regina time and it reads:
Mr. Babiarz owner initial infected premises Weyburn. Two calves
of Mr. Morris strayed to Mr. Babiarz premises and were returned home.
Mr. Morris’ herd developed infection. Cattle of Mr. Sam Bocian neigh-
bour to Babiarz were mixed at pasture so Bocian herd destroyed as
contact. Livestock of Mr. Endicott mixed with Babiarz so Endicott herd
killed as contact. Mr. George Johnston immediate neighbour of Babiarz
livestock mingled and Johnston herd became infected.

That means that there are two herds up to the moment which have become
Infected in addition to the initial one.

Mr. Charles Johnston brother of George let his cattle mingle with
infected herd of George and were destroyed as contact. 24 cattle of
Babiarz trucked to Goodwater pasture just previous to clinical infection
in Babiarz home herd but were in herd within incubation period there-
fore these 24 while not showing clinical evidence F. and M. being
destroyed to protect Goodwater pasture. 12 cattle owned Mr. Sosluski
-trucked to Goodwater pasture in same truck on same day as Babiarz
pasture cattle therefore these cattle being destroyed as contacts to
protect pasture. Total herds destroyed 6. 3 infected and 3 contact.

The CHARMAN: Now, Mr. Wylie.

By Mr. Wylie: \

Q. I just want to ask a question to follow up the question which was
asked by Mr. Cruickshank this afternoon about the shipments which have
een. made from the Burns’ plant at Regina to other Burns’ plants in Vancouver.
[ think this information was also requested yesterday and it is something
Which I think should be on the record. My question is this: on that shipment
!30 Vancouver it shows 6,121 pounds of fancy—whatever fancy means—and
I the same carload there were 1,505 pounds to Calgary. I would like to
baVe on the record just what “fancy” is. I would like to know whether it
Is beef, or just what it is. That is my question—A. I haven’t that sheet
In front of me, but I think that was in connection with a shipment from the
Burng plant at Regina to the Burns’ people at Calgary and Vancouver. The
Wword “fancy” I am told is used in the meat packing trade to describe edible
Organs—heart, liver and kidneys. They use that term to describe that; why,
I don’t know; but that is the way they differentiate between that and other
Mmaterial. There were no bones in that shipment.
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By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. Well, Mr. Taggart, I want to know just what was in that shipment
which went to Vancouver, whether it contained any beef, or the bones; and
just what that term fancy applies to?—A. I believe the word “fancy” is used
" in the packing trade to apply to the organs both of beef and pork, but I am
not clear with respect to this particular shipment whether one or both were
included.

Mr. QUELCH: As I recall it, we were informed by Dr. Childs that the
word ‘“fancy” only referred to pork.

The WiTNESs: Excuse me, in this one shipment I think—this is the one to
Burns at Vancouver—reference is made to 2,800 pounds of pork ribs, that
would be spare ribs presumably.

Mr. QueLcH: The word “fancy” in that case also referred to pork, accord--

ing to what Dr. Childs told us yesterday.

The WiITNESS: And in the preceding shipments from Burns to Burns
Montreal there were 23,143 pounds of beef.

By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. Dr. Taggart, the shipment to which I referred as having been made
from the Burns’ plant at Regina to the Burns’ plant at Vancouver, and as I
understand it there was beef also in that shipment to Vancouver; I refer to the
shipment made under date of December 31, in connection with which the
word “fancy” is used—whatever that means. What I want to know now from
you is what that term means? Who knows what was in the shipment? Surely
somebody knows what that means, “fancy”.—A. Well, Mr. Chairman this word
“fancy” as I said, is used in the meat packing trade to describe edible organs—
heart, liver, kidneys and so on.

Q. From what?—A. It applies to both beef and pork edible organs.

Q. Is there any way in which we could find out what that shipment was?
—A. 1 do not know whether it is possible at this stage to find out anything
further than what I have stated; that there was 2,800 pounds of pork ribs.
There would certainly be no beef bones in that shipment. Whether it was
organs derived from beef or pork this does not disclose, and I doubt whether at
this date it would be possible to find out.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. The question I want to ask, Mr. Chairman has to do with the shipment
of meat out of the Burns’ plant. I notice that in Dr. James’ report of January
4 that a bull carcass on examination was found to have stomatitis, and it
says, the other part of the carcass was found to be fit for food. In the case of
a carcass, part of which has been condemned and the rest declared fit human
food was there any such part of carcass shipped out of the Burns’ plant to
other parts of Canada or to other parts of Saskatchewan?—A. I must say,
Mr. Chairman, that that question puts me in an awkward spot. It should be
asked of the techmcal people. I think I had better not attempt to answer it.
It is quite common I know in packing plants to condemn parts of carcasses and
for the balance of the carcass to be passed as edible.

Q. You do not know whether or not those parts of carcasses were shlpped
out of the plant?—A. The condemned parts?

Q. No, not the condemned parts, the parts that were approved for food.—

A. No, I cannot tell you that.
Q. They could have been shipped out, couldn’t they?—A. I really don’t
know. Dr. Childs or Dr. Rose could tell you about that better than I could.

o
{

:ﬂ"

Q. If they were not condemned there would be no way to identify them

from parts of other animals?—A. I would assume that if they were passed a$ ;
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being fit for food that would be all that would be required to make them
available. The Act recuires that all meat be inspected and approved, every
part of it.

Q. And it may have peen taken and sent out in one of these shipments
that went all over Canada.

Mr. QuELcH: Referring to the telegram that was read, I take it that the
Cattle in Mr. Johnson’s herd were allowed to mix or mingle in with the herd
that had become infected. Does that mean these cattle went out and mingled
With another herd after he knew that his herd had become infected, or were
Fhey actually mingling with his herd before it was realized that that herd was
Infected? )

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It was both. It was reported that they were
reported as being infected, but as to whether or not the farmer himself knew
that T cannot tell you. There would be no report of them having been infected
at the time this happened. :

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Hetland.

Mr. HerLanp: I do not know if I should ask Dr. Taggart this question,
but I would imagine that quite a number of people would be interested in

One meal. Is the bone meal made up so that this disease would not get into
the meal which was shipped all over the west? And what about the meat
Straps? Are they protected so there would not be any danger?

. The WrrnEss: Mr. Chairman, I think any information on that should
Properly come from the veterinarians, on the methods of sterilization and
handling. I would prefer not to attempt to answer that question.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. The day before yesterday, when Dr. Taggart was giving evidence,

I asked for three pieces of information or three returns to be brought in, in
corl‘nection with the 207 cattle, the 145 sheep, and the 50 swine at the Burns
plan't on December 28, when the first quarantine was imposed. That infor-
Mation has not come in as yet. My first question was: what was the disposal
i’f them, so far as live animals are concerned? My second gquestion was—
Presume this is the thing we have here now which shows the meat which

‘ Went out of that plant during that period; and my third question was in con-

Nection with any livestock which went into the plant subsequent to January 17,
When the quarantine was lifted. I wonder if Dr. Taggart has those answers?
—A. I have not any further facts on that particular situation at the moment,
Mr, Chairman. But I was under the impression that those facts all were on

€ record. However, we will re-check and if they are not, perhaps we
could segregate out from the documents a special statement showing the intake
and the out-go of livestock at that particular plant.

Q. We have had quite a bit of discussion on it, and I do not think it was
clear in anybody’s mind as to exactly what happened to that livestock; and I
3sked particularly at that time for those three returns and three pieces of
formation and it was promised that they would be brought in on the next
way, which was yesterday; but they have not come in as yet. At the time

€ Wwere told there were 52 shipments from this area to various places in
a'~°'1‘H=1_'uthewan. But later it was said that there were 52 head of catt]e, not
2 shipments that were made; that was part of the ambiguity in connection
With that thing and that was the reason I asked for definite returns to be
fought in showing the disposition of those animals. I think we should
ave them.—A. At the time that question was raised I produced a statement
Whlch. I think is on the record in the proceedings of the first day, showing
€ disposition of all the cattle moved out from the Burns establishment.

Mr. Jurras: You mean alive?
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The WirNess: I mean alive; that is to say, during the period from '

November 1951 down to the end of February 1952. Now there were two state-
ments that made up that information which I produced, including the record as
to the shipment from the Saskatchewan Co-operative Stockyards, even though
- it was not directly related to the Burns shipment. Now the only thing I can

do is to assume that the cattle which were not shipped out of there must have

gone through the plant for slaughter.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. We did not get the number of cattle shipped out of the area, or the
sheep or swine. You were talking, to begin with, of 52 head of cattle. But
eventually you said it was 52 shipments made, and we never found out what
those shipments consisted of.—A. There must be some misunderstanding and
I shall endeavour to get it straightened out because I must have misunderstood
the request. We will re-examine those figures and try to put them in shape
so that we can supply the information that is wanted.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Decore.

By Mr. Decore:

Q. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Dr. Taggart a question in connection
with a Canadian Press release as it appeared in the Globe and Mail of the
1st of May. This is the heading:—

Might be guilty of delay in foot and mouth case, deputy minister.

Then further on it says that he—referring to the deputy—disclosed that
there was a lapse of more than two weeks in his report to Mr. Gardiner who
was absent at that time on the west coast. I was present at that time during
the first days of the proceedings and that was not my impression. So I have

been wondering whether I was right or wrong in my impressions.—A. Mr.

Chairman, I noticed that report. I suppose I have no right to quarrel with what
the newspaper reporters report. But I think that I told the committee when
I was examined on that point that I had my first clear knowledge of the fact
there was a disease in Regina or in the Regina area described as vesicular
stomatitis, on or about the 2nd of February.

Mr. BROWNE: Would you mind repeating that, please?

The WiTnEss: I said that I had my first clear recollection of having infor-

mation about this disease being in the Regina area in the early days of February-
Now I checked back on the matter and I find that the minister was away from
Ottawa from the night of the 2nd until the morning of the 29th. For a
considerable part of that time he was at the west coast. Again, it is not my
duty to inquire what the minister is doing when he is away, but I was
informed that he was on holidays on this part of the journey; and in the absence
of the minister the acting minister, Mr. Winters was here and he was in Ottawa
from the 2nd of February until the 16th, and during that time I had several
conversations with Mr. Winters. The first one which is recorded was on the
11th of February. And subsequently, the reports came in from Regina from
Dr. Childs expressing real concern about the possibility of this thing being more
than stomatitis.

Mr. BRowNE: I ask the witness what report is he referring to specifically
there? What report are you referring to specifically there?

The WiTnEss: The report from Dr. Childs.
Mr. BROWNE: Yes? X :

The WiTnEss: He wired, either that or there was a telephone conversation
as well. On the occasion when it became necessary to quarantine the are2
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formally as a precaution, I reported to the Prime Minister and action was
taken immediately on the recommendation that I made. Now it is still quite
possible that the committee may wish to charge me with negligence in not
having reported to my minister, but I did so when I realized the seriousness of
the situation towards the 18th of February, and I telephoned to Mr. Gardiner
and informed him of developments. In all cases up to that time and in all
conversations up to that time I reported that this disease there which had been
diagnosed earlier as vesicular stomatitis was becoming more alarming and there
appeared to be a possibility that it was foot and mouth disease. That is why I
reported that in conversations with people to whom I was responsible, but I did
not report.that it was foot and mouth disease. However, I said it looked so seri-
ous from all the reports I had received that we had better regard it as foot and
mouth disease. I said we had now better take all the precautions that would
be taken if it were foot and mouth disease, and they were taken,

By Mr. Harkness: 0
Q. That would be from the 11th to the 18th?—A. On the 18th when the
actual move was made to close in.
Q. On the reports—
The CHAIRMAN: Just a second. Mr. Decore is not finished.

By Mr. Decore:

Q. My reason for asking this question is that I recollect a question put to
t?e deputy minister by Mr. Browne, when he wanted to know if communica-
tion had been made to the minister and in what way, and you said it was made
to him by letter; and the other question put to him was: why was not this
communication made sooner; I presume by wire or by telephone, and the
deputy made a statement that he felt he had been guilty of delay in advising
the Minister of Agriculture of what had transpired. I thought it was in connec-
tion with the wire or telephone.

Mr. CHARLTON: Mr. Chairman, I think that probably I was the one who
asked the question. I remember distinctly saying to the deputy minister: when
Was the first intimation by anyone that this might possibly be foot and mouth
and he definitely stated: the 1st or 2nd of February.

Mr. Drcore: No!

Mr. CHARLTON: Oh yes, sir. I did not say definitely “foot and mouth
disease”,

Mr. Decore: That is different.

Mr. CHARLTON: Do not misunderstand me. I asked the deputy: when was
the first intimation that this might be foot and mouth? And he said definitely:
the first or second of February. He did not say definitely “foot and mouth”;
but he said that was his first intimation, and that it had been mentioned to him
by some of his officials. As I understand it today, Dr. Taggart, you are saying
now that you did not know until the 18th?

The WirnEss: Oh no, Mr. Chairman. As I think I have said several times,

_the first intimation about this disease that I remember distinctly having received

Came to me in the very early days of February; and at that time it was reported
to me that it had been diagnosed as vesicular stomatitis, and that the symp-
toms of that disease resembled at least superficially those of foot and mouth;
and therefore there was automatically a doubt that it might be foot and mouth;
and it was on the basis of that report to me— i

Mr. ARGUE: There was a sufficient doubt in your mind?
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By Mr. Decore:

Q. Which you reported to the acting minister at that time, as soon as you
perceived or thought that it might be foot and mouth?—A. No, Mr. Chairman,
I did not report immediately to anybody because, as I told you, my own minis=-
ter was away; but I discussed the matter with Mr. Young and later with either
Mr. Young and Dr. Childs, or with Mr. Young and Dr. Hall. I am not suré
whether all three were present, or just two at a“time; and the evidence that
was available still led the veterinarians to believe that it was vesicular stoma-
titis. Therefore we just took all precautions, as I was informed, to check, to
identify, and to hold the position, without any further discussion with anybody
else. That is my recollection of what happened during those days.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Harkness, and then Mr. Jutras.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. At the first meeting we had of this committee you were asked when you
first reported this outbreak of disease to Mr. Gardiner and you said it was on
the 18th; and then I asked you if you had reported it to the acting minister
before that, and you said that you had reported it to the acting minister a week
before; but you have now just said that you reported it on the 11th, to the
acting minister. Now, I also took from what you said, that you reported it on
the 11th, and from that time on you had very strongly in your mind the possi-
bility that it might be foot and mouth disease. Is that correct?—A. When this
disease reached that stage, my assumption was in discussing the thing with
other officials of the department that we were to take all precautions that could
be taken on the chance or the assumption that this would be or might be foot
and mouth. Now, the weight of evidence at that time still appeared to indicate
that it was not, but nevertheless there was sufficient doubt in the situation to
regard it with great apprehension and to take whatever precautions could be
taken short of actually saying it was and declaring it to be foot and mouth
disease—which appeared to everybody at that time an extremely dangerous
thing to do while the weight of veterinarian opinion was that we had vesicular
stomatitis only. .

Mr. ArRcUE: What date was that?

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. When you discussed this matter with Mr. Winters the acting minister
on the 11th, and subsequently, you discussed with him the possibility that it

was foot and mouth disease—you must have done so because you said I think"

that you were then taking precautions that would be appropriate if by any
chance it did develop that it was foot and mouth disease—although it was still
thought that it was not?—A. The premises on which this disease had been
found, as I was informed, had been quarantined and we went all through that
evidence. Then, shortly after, and I do not remember the exact date, but during

that period of time Dr. Childs went to Regina to give it personal attention and,

if necessary, to take further action—which of course he did. :
The situation there was that from the 7th or 8th of February until the 18th
was a period of great uncertainty as to whether this might turn out to be foot

and mouth disease. That was clear in the minds of the people with whom I was

in contact.

Q. You said a moment ago that during this period from the 11th on you
took precautions which would be appropriate if this developed to be foot and
mouth disease although it looked as if it were not foot and mouth disease at
that time. I would like to ask what those precautions were. Was any quaran-
tine imposed at that time? I would think one of the most appropriate precau-

tions, if it was thought there was a strong possibility that it was foot and mouth
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disease, would be that quarantine should be put on?—A. My understanding is
that individual quarantines were applied or in effect on the premises concerned
and that seemed to be all that could be done under the circumstances without
coming to a decision which nobody was prepared to take at that moment—
no veterinarian adviser was prepared to take that position.
Q. In the period from the 11th to 18th you say individual quarantines were
in effect. There was no quarantine in effect during that period on the Burns
plant?—A. No, I think the Burns plant had been released previously and the
quarantine was not reimposed until the 17th.

Q. Yes, I think it was the 17th?—A. According to the information that is
on hand the Burns plant was free of this particular disease.
3 Q. During the period from the 11th to the 17th there was no quarantine
in effect on the Burns plant. Was there a quarantine during that period on the

‘Waas farm?-—A. This is on the record Mr. Chairman—the exact dates of the

application and lifting of those quarantines.
Q. Is it not a fact then, that during the period generally speaking there

‘Were no quarantines in effect in spite of the fact that you had become seriously

alarmed at that time that it might be foot and mouth disease?—A. As I said
the record of the application and lifting of the quarantines is here. I have
not it in my mind but it is in the record in front of us.

- Q. Perhaps I had better phrase the question a little differently. In
View of the fact that you were at least seriously alarmed that this situation
might develop into foot and mouth disease, during the period from the 11th
to the 17th, did you consider the imposition of quarantine?—A. I did not
Personally consider that question of further quarantines. They had been
applied or were being a’pplied from time to time by the veterinary people. That
Wwas in the hands of the veterinary people and it was not my responsibility
to deal with the matter of quarantine.

Q. I would think the primary thing here was quarantine and if that
Was not done; and if you say appropriate precautions were taken in case
it did turn out to be foot and mouth disease, just what were those precautions?
—A. The precautions the ‘veterinarians were taking were continued check
and inspection against possible spread of the disease, maintenance of quarantines
Wherever they were warranted or appeared to be warranted, and the final
action that was taken was the application of the general quarantine on the
18th of February when the disease had still not been diagnosed as foot and
mouth disease—and it was not so diagnosed until nearly a week later.

Q. The actual fact is that during that period the only precautions that
Wwere taken were continued inspection of certain herds?—A. Now again the
record may not bear me out but I think during that time samples were
t::lken from animals and directed to the Hull lab for confirmation or for technical
aid in diagnosing the disease.

Q. I must say I would hardly look upon the actions that were taken as
appropriate precautions when considerable discussion was going on and the
alarm being spread that it might be foot and mouth disease.

By Mr. Jutras:
Q. I am not sure my question should be directed to the present witness

. Or to Dr. Childs but at any rate I will let the witness decide. The thing that

is foremost in the minds of those of us in Manitoba, being neighbours of
SaSkatchewan, is to what extent is the control airtight over the quarantine
area at the present time? I wonder if it would be possible to have a clear
Picture of the control that is presently exercised over this area to protect those
outside?—A. That is the present movement of livestock outward from the
Quarantine or buffer zone?
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Q. That is one of the points, but as far as protection is concerned so
that people will know that they are protected as far as is humanly possible,
for instance, is it still permissible to remove cattle from that area under
permit or otherwise?—A. No—to take them out of the area?

Q. I mean to take them out of the whole area?—A. No.

Q. Is it permissible to remove things other than animals, such as trucks
and cars that may be coming out of the quarantine area?—A. Well, Mr.
Chairman, I would like to suggest that there is a whole serious of regulations
"~ and controls in effect in both the quarantine area and the buffer zone. There
is a considerable number—I do not know how many at the moment—of
police officers, and a large number of veterinarians on the job to enforce those
regulations. Now the control of that area is in the hands of the Health and
Animals division office in Regina and Dr. Wells is in active charge of that
control program. That includes not only detection and destruction of diseased
animals but all measures of that sort, and also all other ancillary measures
needed to control traffic, people, the movement of animals and things like
that which might carry infection.

I am not in a position to give the details exactly of what regulations are
in effect and I think it would be better to get that information from Dr. Wells
when he comes here next week.

Q. May I make a suggestion? I think this is possibly the most important
question of all at the moment so may I suggest to the witness that the depart-
ment prepare a written memorandum, if you like, setting out clearly the whole
story on that score—the story of all the protection that is afforded.

I know that if you produce all the regulations there will be a tremendous
pile of them but some of them may not mean very much; it may be very hard
to get at anything. I think the department would be rendering a real service
if they would digest this thing and draft it clearly to give us a complete idea
of the protection we have—‘“we” being those that live outside the area—
particularly regarding movement.

I noticed in the early stages that certain vehicles were permitted to g0
out, and under circumstances such as that I think it is important for us
to know exactly what the regulations require of them before they can move.
We should know the complete story on it.

There have been so many things said on it that it is very hard for me
at any rate, and others apparently, to know exactly what the story is on
that score. It would help all of the people in the neighbouring provinces if
that could be done—A. I am quite sure that can be done and it will be done
if the committee wishes it.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Sinnott?

By Mr. Sinnott: ,

Q. Mr. Taggart, how long have you been with the department that you
are now with?—A. In my present position?

Q. Yes?—A. Since the 1st of March 1939.

Mr. ARGUE: 19497

The WrITNESS: I beg your pardon, 1949.

Mr. SINNOTT: When was the first information you got of the stomatitis
disease—in January? »

Mr. HARRNESS: He told us the 2nd or 3rd of February.

The WiTnEss: In the early days of February 1952.
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By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. I have here a wire from Regina, Saskatchewan dated the 28th of
December:

! “One hundred and thirty seven steers and seventy heifers of which
fchxrty head are exhibiting symptoms of infectious vesicular stomatitis
in Burns and Co Feed Lots Establishment Twenty Three E. Premises
quarantined and report by Dr. N. V. James being mailed to you. Healthy
animals allowed to be slaughtered.

(SGD) “N. D. CHRISTIE”

Do you know anything about that report?—A. I presume—I do not remem-
ber the exact document—but I presume that would be to Dr. Childs office
from Dr. Christie.

Q. Was this report made known to you at that time?—A. No, no; not that
I have any recollection of at all. As I have said before my first recollection
of having been glearly informed of the existence of this disease was in the
€arly days of February.

Q. When did Dr. Childs first inform you of this wire?—A. I do not suppose
I was ever informed of that particular wire, but if I was it would be long
afterwards. It would be a matter of examining back into the records—and
that particular wire would not normally come to my attention.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Wright?

By Mr. Wright: ' -
Q. Mr. Taggart, you have stated that it was February 2 you were
first notified officially or any other way—A. About that date. I do not know
myself the particular day.
Q. As I understand it you stated a moment ago that from that date on
every effort was made to check, identify, and hold the disease. Did you issue
any instructions to any of your departments with regard to the method with
Which they would check, identify, and hold the disease?—A. No, no, Mr.
; hairman, I did not issue any special instructions on this at that time. I merely
inquired of the measures that were being taken and whether proper precau-
tions were being taken, and I was assured that they were being taken.
Q. You were satisfied yourself they were being taken?—A. The point
Was, the position did not appear to anybody who reported to me at that time
to be a serious situation.
Q. And you had no doubt in your own mind as to whether this was
Vesicular stomatitis or a more dangerous infection?—A. I had no real doubt
about that because I did not know enough about the disease to have a doubt.
I‘knew that the external symptoms bore some resemblance to foot and mouth
dlSease, and that was about that for the time being.
Q. And as a result of your knowledge they were the same, you did not
take any particular precaution or give any particular instructions?—A. No,
None whatever, except to make inquiry as to whether precautions were being
taken, and I was assured that they were. ,
Q. Were you told at that time what these precautions were?—A. Not in
detail, no.
Q. You did not inquire about the detail?—A. No.
. Q. Yet you say you were satisfied with them, although you did not
Inquire as to the detail?—A. Yes; I must confess, Mr. Chairman, I cannot now,
from the nature of things, inquire into details of that kind and decide
Whether they are adequate or otherwise. They are in the professionial and
technical field and it is not possible for any one person to rule on detail of that
Sort in so many different fields.

57029—2
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Q. I would not expect that you would in a great many cases, but in a case
where there apparently was doubt as to whether this might be a more danger-
ous and infectious disease than it was, I would think that some inquiries would
have been made or some instructions issued.

Mr. QUELcH: When the minister draws up the details of all the measures

taken in the quarantine area, as referred to by Mr. Jutras, I wonder if he -

would also report just exactly what is meant by quarantine of an individual
farm. I take it that the cattle would either be confined in a barn or a corral, or
would it be that the cattle were confined to a pasture. If that would be the
case, there would still be chances of contamination of stock in adjacent fields,
from cattle walking up and down the line roads, and possibly cattle contacting
each other with their noses over the fences.

The WiTNESS: My understanding is that specific instructions are given to
an individual, and instructions are not the same in all cases. Dr. Wells, I am
sure, can tell you what the practice is in different circumstances in those areas,
but it is my understanding that specific directions are given to individuals
concerned as to what he may or may not do.

Mr. QueLcH: Will you include that in your report that you make out?

The WiTNESS: That can be produced without any difficulty, but whether it
can be produced _in a single document of that kind I am not sure.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Mr. Taggart, did you tell us that the first intimation you had of this
disease was February 2 or February 7?—A. -Around the 2nd of February, and I
am not nailing myself to that particular day because I have no means of
identifying that day.

Q. And you say you were aware the disease was reported as stomatitis,

and knowing, as you say, something of the outward appearance, that you did
have a suspicion—I believe you used the word “suspicion” a few minutes
ago—that it might have been something else. That is correct, I believe?—
A. Well, I am not very sure, Mr. Chairman, of the implication there, but any
suspicions that I had were based solely on the information given to me,
because I have no personal knowledge of this disease nor of the foot-and-
mouth disease, either, for that matter.

Q. Mr. Young is head of the Production Service?—A. Right.

Q. Did you discuss it with anyone else before the 17th, shall we say?—
A. Oh, yes, subsequently, and within a few days I had discussed it with Dr.
Childs, Dr. Hall and Mr. Young.

Q. When did you first discuss that with Dr. Childs?—A. I am not sure
of that date. It would be within a few days after the first knowledge I had
of it.

Q. And when did you discuss it with Dr. Hall previously to having dis-
cussed it with Dr. Childs, or after?—A. I think probably that I discussed it
first with Dr. Childs and Mr. Young, and later with Dr. Hall and Mr. Young.

Q. Just roughly, what were your discussions with these gentlemen, as you

recollect them?—A. Just a repetition of the early discussions as to the reportS-

that this disease might, conceivably be foot-and-mouth.

Q. Who said it could conceivably be?—A. We all talked about that.

Q. You all talked about that?—A. But the conclusion of each discussion
was, “Well, on the evidence so far it cannot be”. There was no disposition at
that stage to conclude that they had foot-and-mouth.

Q. In your discussions with Dr. Hall and Dr. Childs and Mr. Young, did
any one of those ever suggest that perhaps a test should be made of cattle
that the regular animal inoculation tests should be made other than the horseé

inoculation tests? Did anyone suggest to you the possibility that perhaps
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that tests should be made?—A. I do not remember discussing the technique
of diagnosis in any detail with these men. ]

Q. In any detail?—A. I was concerned to know whether the disease was
SPreading and whether there was any probability of more serious trouble
developing.

Q. Was Dr. Mitchell in on any of these discussions?—A. At a later date,
I Wwould have had discussions with all the men, Dr. Hall, Dr. Childs, Dr.
Mitchell and Mr. Young, between the early part of February and the 12th or so.

Q. You had discussions with Dr. Mitchell on the 12th?—A. Dr. Mitchell
Would have been in some part of the discussion.

. Q. And when you were discussing the matter of the outbreak of the disease
With Dr. Mitchell, can you recollect whether he suggested that perhaps the
laboratory in Hull should be used to analyse material from the infected
animals?—A. I do not recall that suggestion coming from Dr. Mitchell. There
Would be no reason why he should make that suggestion because the laboratory
Was there, available, and had been used on many occasions for diagnostic
Purposes. -

Q. Of course there would be a fairly good reason. The first outbreak was
on November 26 and no test were made to find out whether it might be foot
and mouth disease?—A. Dr. Mitchell, so far as I recall, made no such suggestion.

. Q. Then on the 13th February a telegram went out from Dr. Hall reporting
& conversation he had with Dr. Carlson. That telegram went to Dr. Christie
. In Regina, asking that materials be sent into the Hull laboratory. Were you
aware that such action might be taken, or were you aware only after that
action was taken?—A. By Dr. Hall?

Q. Yes, did you know about it at that time?—A. No.

Q. When did you first become aware that Dr. Hall had instructed that
Material be sent to the Hull laboratory?—A. Considerably later, I should think
It would be as late as the 18th, or a date like that.

Q. Well, now, in looking over your experience as deputy minister since
you were here, and the experience you had in this disease, do you feel, assum-
Ing this disease has cleared up now as we hope it is, if there should be outbreaks
WO years from now, say, of stomatitis, something similar to the outbreak
on the Waas farm, and it was brought to your attention, what would you do?

Mr. Decore: What does your book say on that?

The WrTnESS: It is a difficult thing to say what one might do two years from
NOW, but I think it would be safe to make this observation, that the people
Concerned with the control of the disease would certainly profit from the
€Xperience they had during this one.

By Mr. Argue: {

Q. You would imagine they would send the material to the laboratory in
Hull or take field tests to determine whether it was foot and mouth disease,
an'd the type as was finally done towards the end of February?—A. I should
think they would take the best possible action, and it might be quite different
from what appears today.

Q. That is not quite the question. I said, if a disease appeared to be the
Same what action do you think should be taken in the future. I think that is .
a Teasonable question, and I think it is an important question, to see that we

O not go on at another time for months before we know what we are dealing
With.—A. As I suggested, Mr. Chairman, I think the thing that would be done
Would be that all those concerned with the disease would take every measure

at seemed to be sound and reasonable and certainly would draw on the
€Xperience of the present outbreak.

Q. One of the first things they would do in your opinion would be to
°h§0k the materials at the Hull laboratory?—A. My opinion would support

€ use of any approved device or method.

57029—23
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Q. Including the good laboratory you have in Hull?>—A. That is a perfectly
obvious thing to do.

Q. To test it in Hull?—A. It might not be in Hull.

Q. To make field tests in the field similar to the tests that were made
in Hull?—A. Well, the procedure that they attempted to follow in Regina
was to make the field tests.

Q. Field tests amongst a number of animals in February?—A. And whether
‘they might attempt to repeat that in future outbreaks, is difficult to forecast.

Q. If a situation like this is brought to your attention again sometime
in the future, would it be your opinion that such tests be made along w11:h
other precautions?

Mr. DECORE: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman. What is going to
happen two years from now is probably important, but in order to explain
what devices would be used would probably take a whole half-day, so I
do not thing that is in order at all.

Mr. SiNNOTT: What about the time limit?

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Argue has one more minute.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. I think the suggestion that the tests should be made in Hull should
be answered quickly, and as far as 1 understand the answer I believe it is
the deputy minister’s opinion that everything possible should be done, and
that very likely one of the things that would be done would be proper field
tests.—A. That seems highly probable to me if intelligent people are still in
control.

Q. Still in control! Then do you think, in your opinion did the veterinary
director general use every possible precaution throughout the history of
this disease?

Mr. STEWART: I do not think that is a proper question. On a' point of
order, Mr. Chairman. I do not know that one executive of the government
should be asked a question as to the efficiency of another one. That is for
this committee to decide after we hear all the evidence. I think it is very
unfair to ask one witness in the department whether the other fellow did
everything that should have been done. We will decide that in the committee.

Mr. ARGUE: We will decide on the basis of the evidence, and I think oneé
of the most important pieces of evidence is the opinion of the work of that
official by the deputy minister.

The CHAIRMAN: Your time is up Mr. Argue.

Mr. ArRGUE: I had asked a question and I think I am entxtled to an answel‘
and then I will sit down.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It is not a proper question.
Mr. ARGUE: I think it is a very proper question.
Mr. STEWART: It is a question that this committee will decide.

Mr. ARGUE: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman. This committee has
to decide who was inefficient and who was efficient, who was to blame—
and somebody is to blame—and that is what this committee is set up for
and the only way the commitftee can come to a sound conclusion is to have
every possible bit of evidence from witnesses, and I suggest with respect,
Mr. Chairman, that the best possible evidence we could get is the opinion of
the deputy minister as to one official.

Mr. DECORE: We can then go a step further. Probably this witness canl
give us his opinion of the minister. Of course, we know your opinion
the minister. ;
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Mr. ARGUE: I have a high opinion of the minister in a great many ways.
Mr. Chairman, are you going to rule that was an improper question?
The CHAIRMAN: No, Mr. Taggart will answer your question; then, Mr.
Cardiff and Mr. Gour.

: The WiTNEss: Mr. Chairman, all I can say is that I have every confidence
In Dr. Childs and his organization. It is an extremely difficult thing to
stand in public and pass judgment on a particular man and I would beg
that the committee do not compel me to do that in too great detail. But
We had an organization there headed by experienced veterinarians who had
tome up from the bottom; not Dr. Childs alone, Dr. Hall and Dr. Wells and
D_r. Rose and Dr. Stewart; all men with experience and knowledge. We had
Similarly experienced and able men in the field. Now, any person who has
to work with a human organization knows that all men in the organization
are nat equally able, and we all know that there are spots in every organization
that are weak because of the man who happens to be in a particular spot.
If we had perfect men, and particularly if we had a perfect minister and
perfect deputy minister, we would have a perfect organization down below.
We had we thought as good an organization as we could get.
Mr. ArRGUE: Do you still think so?

The WiTness: We had competent men in the field in charge of this work.
Now, judgment might be passed afterwards, as a matter of hindsight; but I
must confess I do not know what else I could have done in the circumstances
but to continue the confidence in these men that I had at the time and still
have. That is as near as I can come to answering this question.

Mr. Carpirr: The question I had intended to ask Dr. Taggart might per-
haps better be directed to the veterinary director general himself. But I
Wwould like to say this, I do think that when he made the statement himself
that he might have been guilty of negligence in not notifying the minister
earlier; personally, I do not think that makes very much difference; but as I
See it, it goes much further than that and I do think that there was a certain
an’}ount of negligence on somebody’s part, and who that somebody is we are
8oing to find out if we can before this committee is over. I had intended to
ask Dr. Taggart some questions, but I will ask those quesetions later on. I
do not know that he is the right man to whom to direct those questions. When
I get the right man I am going to put some questions to him and I want
straight answers because I am going to put straight questions.

Mr. Gour: Mr. Chairman, the witness, Dr. Taggart, has been very close
to this thing throughout. He has a general knowledge of everything that
happened, and he knows the employees who are responsible. This did happen
anfi this emergency arose in the west. I am sure Dr. Taggart knows some-
thing about how this thing has developed iin other countries. That is a thing
Which just comes so quickly that many times it is there before you know
What is happening. That was the case in our country and it was also the case
In Mexico and the United States, and in Great Britain. As far as I am con-
Cerned, I desire to express every confidence in the manner in which the situa-
tion was handled. There are a great many things which can happen without
the deputy minister knowing all the details about them. I have every con-
fidence in Dr. Taggart and I am satisfied with the evidence he has given
here about their regulations and everything that happened. As I understand it,
Not only the federal department here has responsibility but that some measure
of responsibility also rests with the province, and I am quite confident that
S0 far as both those agencies are concerned they did what they thought was
best at the time, and it did not become apparent until the last moment just
What type of disease they were dealing with. As far as I understand it they
Made every effort to find out what the disease was and they all agreed that it
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was the disease known as stomatitis; and it was not only one or two of them, [

but there were six or seven or more in the field at the same time concerned
with the same inquiry and they were all agreed on the fact that at that time
it did not appear to be a serious contagious disease. You will recall the evi=
dence on that point, and also the fact that in most cases, in the early stages at
least, the cattle got better; but it finally became established that the disease
was a serious one, and as soon as that became apparent effective steps were
taken to deal with it.

Mr. BRowNE: Mr. Chairman, on a point of order, this gentleman is making

a speech, I suggest that he should be asking questions.

The CHAIRMAN: I think there have been quite a few of the members who
have spoken at this stage and I think that it is only fair as this is the first
time that he has had he floor to let him continue.

Mr. Gour: I am only taking my ten minutes.

Mr. BROWNE: You have taken up time enough now. I suggest, Mr. Chair-
man, that speeches are out of order.

Mr. Gour: All right then, I will ask questions.

By Mr. Gour:

Q. Dr. Taggart, are you satisfied with the work that was done up to the
time that you were advised that this was foot-and-mouth disease; were you
satisfied that everything had been done to find out what kind of a disease it
was. You were satisfied of that, is that right, doctor.—A. Well, as.I said MI‘
Chairman, in reply to your previous question, I had confidence in the organi-
zation that had been built up over the years, of competent experienced men.
I also appreciate than when you come to look backwards you can see where
something else might have been done in the light of subsequent experience.
It is much easier to do that than it is to decide what ought to be done at the
moment of decision. :

Q. And you came to that decision after you had received advice from

your chief veterinary, Dr. Childs, and from Dr. Mitchell and Dr. Young; is’

that right?—A. Right.

Q. I wanted to ask you that question although I know that it has been

asked a number of times; I also know that some questions have been asked as
many as ten times. And I want to ask you this, Dr. Taggart. After you were
advised, when the time came, you advised the minister, but before doing
that you made quite sure as to what it was? Is that right?—A. Correct, yes-

Q. Is that right?—A. Yes.

Q. And after that you took the matter up with your staff, the employees
of your department, to make sure that everything would be done that could
be done, and you were quite satisfied that the officers concerned knew what
should be done and they were given every opportunity to do everything
- possible to find out what it was?—A. That is correct.

Q. And you authorized them to do everything, or anything needful to
deal with the matter? Is that right?—A. I think that is correct.

Q. Therefore, I am satisfied with what was done and I am satisfied with

what Dr. Taggart did. I am confident that the steps taken will establish a

measure of confidence among the farmers of the country and will be an
assurance to them that from now on everything is going to be done that
possible can be done to stop the spread of this disease. I am quite confident
that Dr. Taggart has seen that everything possible that could be done was
done to get the situation under control throughout the country, and the
people of the country will be satisfied with what you have done up to now.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Catherwood:
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By Mr. Catherwood:

Q. I have questions that I would like to ask Dr. Taggart, Mr. Chairman,
because he is the man in charge of the application of government policy.
II} view of all that has been said I am wondering if the department have
glven consideration to asking for assistance, or to getting someone from England
to come and assist in combatting the disease in the Regina area?—A. Dr.
Childs could give you more detail about that than I could, Mr. Chairman;
but we had Sir Thomas Dalling, the head of the British Veterinary Service,
come out here last summer—and he came out at our expense, in part at
least—and our men had a very thorough review of the situation. We have
hfcld doctors on our staff in the U.K. I was there in mid-June when I met
Sir Thomas Dalling and had a conversation with him. Dr. Mitchell I am sure
1_138 close contact with the veterinary people, especially the research people,
in ‘the U.K. I think all our contacts there have been very good, the information
80ing in both directions has been complete and the co-operation which has
been given has been of the best; but we did not ask for any special personnel |
to be sent out to Canada in connection with this outbreak. We got material,
and, of course, got all the information that was requested.

Q. I have one other question that I would like to ask Dr. Taggart: in
the matter of the quarantine area, has the quarantine been strictly enforced.
I see no mention of the Department of National Defence ever having been
asked to assist in enforcing the quarantine in the affected area. Has any
assistance been asked for and are they assisting at the present time?—A. We
have the assistance of the police in enforcing the quarantine and all the regula-

‘tion associated with the control, but not the army, we did not ask for the

army to assist us.

By Mr. Wood:

Q. My question perhaps should be directed to Dr. Childs, but I was
8oing to ask the witness if he was: satisfied that all the infected areas were
fully quarantined in a manner that cattle outside the quarantine area cannot
Contact cattle inside the area; also, are the cattle in the closed, affected area
Segregated from the buffer area. It seems to me the cattle are apt to be
left running free, and I was wondering if adequate precautions had been
taken?—A. I would like to suggest again, Mr. Chairman, that Dr. Wells will
be here next week, also Dr. Carlson and Dr. James; they will be here and
they are actively on the job and they could give you the information
about that which I could not possibly; so I suggest it might be well to reserve
these questions of a specific nature concerning administration of the con-
trols of the quarantine and in the buffer zones for the men who are actually
on the job and have personal knowledge.

By Mr. Stewart:

: Q. In connection with that may I ask you this, how many outbreaks of
this disease have they had in England? Do you know, roughly? You said that
there were 7 in the United States. Do you know how many they have had
In England?—A. Mr. Chairman, it would only be a guess that I could hazard,
b_Ut when I was over in England I knew they told me that they had something
like 100, or maybe more than 100, in the year preceding my visit there.

Q. And your statement there is that in England they have the most
outstanding men on this disease that there is in the world; is that correct?—
A. Yes, they certainly have good men.

Q. And in the United States they also have good men?—A. I believe so.

Q. And they have had 7 outbreaks, or 9 outbreaks in England with these
€xperts in charge of things and with serums and with all their tests; is that
Correct?—A. That is correct, I believe.
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The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions for Dr. Taggart? If there B
are no more questions for him I see that Dr. Childs is with us.

Mr. CHARLTON: I have just one question that I would like to ask Dr. Tag-
gart, if you will permit me.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Dr. Taggart, you said that you did not know anything about the disease g
even being stomatitis until the first or second week in February.—A. No. ‘
Q. And up until that time you said that you had received no information
that it might be foot and mouth disease—well, Dr. Taggart, you did ask Dr.
Childs and Dr. Hall about this around those dates, did you not?—A. By the

1st of February or during the early days of February, yes.

Q. During the first week of February?—A. Well, yes.

Q. And it was in your mind about that time that there might be the
possibility of foot and mouth disease; and then you went on to say that the
administration thought they had taken about all the precautions which
could be taken, so far as you were aware in view of the possibility that it might =
be foot and mouth disease? Is that true? Immediately you found out yourself
that there was a chance of foot and mouth disease? I am trying to say this:
the moment you found out that it might be foot and mouth disease, you took
all the precautions within your power to see that the disease was treated as
if it were foot and mouth disease?—A. Well, Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I
could attempt to clarify my position? “What I thought I said or what I intended
to say was that my first knowledge of this disease which broke out at Regina
and was diagnosed as vesicular stomatitis—my first knowledge of that disease
came in the early days of February; and at that time when it first came to my
attention I was told that the symptoms resembled at least superficially those of
foot and mouth; that suggestion associated foot and mouth in my mind with
vesicular stomatitis of course; but I was not convinced, as far as I was
concerned, that we had foot and mouth until I got final confirmation on the
24th or 25th of February; but there were in my mind growing doubts and there
were apprehensions in the veterinary staff, particularly in the last week before
the final confirmation, but I never admitted, so far as I was concerned, mentally
that we actually had foot and mouth until the final confirmation of it. .

Q. I did not even suggest that you admitted it.—A. I did not admit it
to myself, I mean.

Q. Even though you did not admit it to anyone else, you had the idea
in your mind that there was a possibility, because of the very fact that there
were similar symptoms to foot and mouth disease. Now, the thing I want ‘
to say is this: would you have gone on statutory leave two days after you i
found that out?—A. Well, Mr. Chairman, I very rarely go on statutory leave; ‘
I think if I do go, I do not record it. Perhaps that is the explanation.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. There is one question which has not yet been asked. A number of
representations have been made to me, to ascertain the facts, and it has to
do with certain purebred bulls belonging to the dominion government which
were kept in the Regina Livestock premises at the Regina fair grounds. Does the !
minister know or have any information that in November and December there
were a number of purebred bulls kept there for artificial insemination pur-
poses?—A. Just in a general way; I know that those bulls are there, and that our
livestock branch has a barn or part of a barn—perhaps a whole barn—and
that they are under the care of officers of the livestock branch.

Q. I am sorry, but I could not hear you.—A. I know that we have that barn
and have had it for many years on the Exhibition Grounds, in which we
harbour or house bulls which belong to the branch.
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Q. They were there from November to February, were they not?—A. I
Presume they were there, until they were slaughtered, during the fall and
Winter months. I presume that.

Q. These bulls, these dominion government bulls were slaughtered towards
the end of February?—A. I have not got the date. That is on the record, but

I have not got the date in my mind.

Q. But you can provide it. What would be the date, possibly?
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: The 2nd of March,

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. The 2nd of March; and when did those Dominion government bulls
become contacts with animals that were subject to stomatitis or whatever
the disease was?—A. I believe that is on the record too, but I cannot give
Yyou the answer.

Q. But you can furnish it?—A. It is on the records that were turned in
Yesterday, I think. .

Q. Can you say when the contacts took place between those bulls that
Were kept there for artificial breeding purposes?

The CHAIRMAN: I think probably these questions had better be asked of
Dr. Childs.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: All right.

The Witness: All I know is what is in the records, and those records were
Produced yesterday and I believe they have been circulated.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Just what is that record with regard to these bulls?—A. These premises
Were visited on January 31, according to the data I see on this list; 10 bulls
Were inspected and several exhibited symptoms and lesions of stomatitis.

Q. That is the item “Dominion Livestock Division, Regina, January 3177
—A. That is right. -

Q. And it says: “Visited premises inspected 10 bulls several exhibiting
Symptoms and lesions of stomatitis. Man in charge instructed as to treatment
and premises quarantined. On inspections Feb. 4 through Feb. 9th found
‘bu.lls slowly recovering. Four animals have symptoms of foot rot and are

€ing treated by being placed in a foot bath containing warm water with
291 disinfectant for 1 hour each day. Vesicles in mouths are healing and
animals are starting to feed better each day. Subsequent visits disclose that
Séveral of these animals developed very sore and swollen fetlocks and in
€ coronary region and were quite lame. It appears that animals had
€en suffering from foot rot since last fall. Disinfectant treatment hastened
recovery.”—A. That ‘is right.

Q. And those animals were destroyed?—A. Yes, on March 2.

Q. Now, my question is this: during the month of December is it not
a fact that there were distributions of semen from these animals to various
Parts of the country?—A. There will be a record of that distribution but I
have not got it here.

Q. But that could be produced?—A. Yes, from the records of the Livestock
branch, These records which we have are veterinary records only.

Q. In the distribution of this semen, which was distributed during the
Period of November, December, and in January, if these animals were suffering
from foot and mouth disease, would there or would there not be any danger
_f1'0m the distribution of semen from those animals infecting others?—A. That

IS a éeterinary question and I would not attempt to answer it.
. T see.



188 STANDING COMMITTEE

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Anderson.

By Mr. Anderson:

Q. I wonder if I might ask a question? What about Indian Brahma bulls
being brought into Saskatchewan?—A. There are Brahma bulls in southern
Alberta. I have very little knowledge of the situation, but I believe they were )
brought to southern Alberta some years ago probably from Texas. But I have
very little knowledge of the situation. q

The CHAIRMAN: If there are no other questions—

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Dr. Taggart, has any consideration been given in the department to
merging, or placing under one head, the Department of Pathology and the
Contagious Disease Branch, and in your opinion would that result in closer
cooperation between those branches?—A. That has been considered, Mr. Chair- ‘
man; it was, in fact, the case prior to 1937 and 1938, when the present struc- -
ture was set up. But the decision was then made and it has since seemed to be
a sound decision, to bring the research services under one administration, and
the enforcement and regulatory services under another. That condition
prevails throughout the Department of Agriculture and I might say throughout
other departments of government as well. You must decide on one form
or other of organization in a particular situation and in this case these services
have been grouped according to function. They both belong to the Depart-
ment of Agriculture and there is no reason at all why there should not be
complete cooperation among the branches or divisions, as the case may be.

Q. Would it be your opinion that if they had been under one head there
would have been any different result in regard to this foot and mouth disease,
or are you satisfied that there was the fullest co-operation between these ;
departments in respect to this outbreak?—A. I have no knowledge whatever
of any lack of co-operation between these two groups, and 1 have been in 2
position to see it, if it were true. 7

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Sinnott.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. With respect to the bulls which were referred to by the member for
Lake Centre, were any of those bulls recently imported?—A. I cannot answer
that question. My opinion would be that they were not imported bulls; but -
I cannot answer it for sure. We can find out the identity and the description
of those bulls if anybody would like to have it. .

By Mr. Ross:

Q. On the same question, would the deputy minister mind getting us
information as to the number of shipments of this semen and the dates
during the months of this year, following the 1st of January?—A. I think
that could be produced. I do not know the nature of the records they keep,
but we can examine the records.

Q. T think that your officials would have the records and could gef us
the numbers and the places they were shipped to, and the dates following the
1st of January of this year.

 emmmn

By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. May I speak on a question of privilege, Mr. Chairman? I was called
out for a long distance telephone call from British Columbia from people
representing 90,000 or 100,000 head of cattle who are very much alarmed about
this. I think the minister is still here. They telephoned me just now and they
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said that a wire was sent to Dr. Taggart today, from these gentlemen, and
that there will be another one sent this afternoon. They were given to
understand in the province of British Columbia when they lifted the embargo
that any cattle shipped in from Alberta or elsewhere—I must leave Saskatchewan
out of the picture right now—would be for immediate slaughter. That was
the only reason the embargo was lifted.

4 At the present time I am informed that a carload has been shipped in
}nC}uding feeder stock, and 2 carloads of it were shipped to Chilliwack, which
1S In the Fraser Valley, and were turned out to pasture within the last 48
hours. The minister can swallow those 90 to 100,000 cattle; and we know
that the British Columbia veterinaries were pulled out of there and sent to
the prairie provinces; and unless there is a fulfillment of the agreement—
as I said, my message will be confirmed by wire to-night, the phone call
Wl'lich I got over'long distance is to be confirmed by wire to-night—and unless
this agreement which was entered into by yourself on behalf of the depart-
ment is enforced, then the embargo in British Columbia will ‘go on again
tomorrow morning. That is how serious we think it is in British Columba.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall we have Dr. Childs now? Is that agreeable to the
committee?

Mr. CruicksHANK: No. I think I am entitled to speak for the cattle
growers of 90 to 100,000 head in the province of British Columbia which
m?ludes the Canadian Federation of Agriculture and how serious they think
this is at this hour in the province of British Columbia; and I am informed,
although 1 may be incorrectly informed over the telephone, but it will be
anﬁrmed by wire to-night, that this has gone to the deputy minister by wire
Within the last 24 hours. I want to know now what steps are being taken
to fulfill that agreement in order that I may contact the Minister of Agri-
Culture for the province of British Columbia within the next ten minutes.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Might I attempt to answer the question. One
of the reasons why the matter has not been dealt with up to the moment
1S because we are sitting here. We cannot be in two places at one time. I
am not complaining about that at all but that wire came in just as we were

Coming into this room, and just as soon as we get out of this room we will
; be_ dealing with it again. It is not a matter between the deputy and the
 Minister, it is a matter between the minister and. myself. If the arrangements
entered into are not being strictly carried out they certainly will be carried
out from the time we find there has been a break—if there has been a break.
That will be looked into immediately and I will get in touch with the minister
as soon as I leave this room.

Mr. CruicksHANK: I have a further question.

As I say I have heard about telephone messages here and other memos
but it is my explicit instruction to be confirmed by wire tonight and air mail
tomorrow, it is my understanding over the telephone—I was called out of this
Meeting by my secretary five minutes ago—that two carloads were turned out
to pasture in Chilliwack. I want to know now, and surely the minister has
8ot authority to tell me now, that no further cattle will be sent into the
Fraser Valley or the province of British Columbia to be turned out to feed.
Surely the minister has authority to say that?

This agreement, I am informed, was entered into in good faith by Mr.
Bowman with your department. It was that cattle would only be shipped in
for immediate slaughter, but they have been shipped to feeder pasture.

I want to know, and I want the press to know about this. Surely somebody
has the authority to say there will not be one more head of cattle shipped in
he'l‘e to be turned out as feeder stock—until such time as the province of
British Columbia agrees to it?
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Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I can give the honourable that assurance now—
there won’t be any cattle shipped in there to be turned out to pasture without
the consent of the minister of the province of British Columbia. That was my
understanding at the beginning.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: And it was his.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: It was only cattle going in for slaughter, cattle
from Alberta, that were to go into British Columbia. I will find out whether
there have been any go in as you say.

It may be due to the fact that at the time the understanding was given
it was impossible to take under the regulations for quarantine cattle at any
packing plant or any stockyards. When they went in they went in for slaughter.
It did not matter whether it was at Calgary, Vancouver, Winnipeg, or where
it was.

We had very strong pressure put on us by everyone in Alberta to have that
restriction lifted in so far as certain packing houses in Alberta were concerned.
The lifting of it may have resulted in this very thing happening because any-
body can go to any stockyards in Alberta, buy cattle, and take them out.

That was done because the farmers in Alberta—feeders and others—were
insisting on it being done. This has all been in the press—the correspondence
back and forth. The wires were published in the press before we made the
decision. We finally made the decision which made it possible for that to hap-
pen. That was done on the wish of the people there rather than here—and if
some cattle got out of those yards and were taken to British Columbia it is
something we can check on.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Would the minister say what power he has under the
law to carry into effect a proposition such as he has just enunciated? What
power do you have under the law?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Under the law?
Mr. DIEFENBAKER: What is your authority?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Under the law I do not suppose we have any
power, but we have had meetings of the provincial ministers of agriculture
here and we have entered into certain understandings with them. So far as
they have raised embargoes we have been able to carry out the understandings
up to now. :

Perhaps I should not say we have not any power—maybe we have power,
but I know that it would take us at least three or four months to establish the
fact that we have or have not the power and we cannot wait three or four
months.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Hear, hear.

Mr. HARKNESS: ‘You do not need to worry about those Alberta cattle, Mr.
Cruickshank, they are clean anyway.

Mr. CruicksHANK: Oh, well, I want to know.

Mr. CHARLTON: I would like to ask the minister one question on the subject.
Are there any live cattle coming east of Fort William into Ontario—any live
cattle coming east of Winnipeg?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: As far as I know there are none coming east
of Winnipeg. 2

Mr. CHARLTON: I would like to be sure?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am sure of it—but I cannot make you any
more sure than I am sure.

Mr. CHARLTON: You do not “think”, you are sure, are you?
Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am satisfied there are not.
Mr. CHARLTON: How come they went into B.C. but cannot come east?
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Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: One of the reasons they are not coming past
Winnipeg is that we put an embargo against them coming past Winnipeg as
part of the quarantine to begin with.

Our difficulty with Manitoba is that they will not slaughter anything that
comes into Manitoba from farther west, so there is no place to slaughter cattle
from the eastern part of Saskatchewan—and they cannot be slaughtered. Those
beople there are in the worst condition of anybody in Canada and'they are
Mmaking less noise about it. There is no place they' can get their cattle
slaughtered because we have not sufficient water in towns like Yorkton and
Melville to make it possible to slaughter them there. They have to ship them
back to Regina or Edmonton.

As far as cattle coming down to Winnipeg are concerned when they get
there they must be slaughtered, but so far Manitoba will not even permit us to
send them there for slaughter. The only cattle slaughtered there are Manitoba
cattle. I do not think there are any cattle other than Manitoba cattle being
slaughtered in Manitoba.

We are trying to get that settled; and British Columbia had a similar
regulation at one time but they have taken it off after discussion with us. Now
my friend suggests to me that they might put it back on and if they do that
it will be because of some misunderstandings—

Mr. CruicksHANK: I want to correct the minister and he should not
Put words in my mouth. I said if any more are permitted into British
Columbia for fattening, you will get a wire this afternoon cancelling the
agreement,.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Well, we have some wires this afternoon that

have not seen. I will see them as soon as I get out of here.

Mr. ArRGUE: I would like to ask the minister this: Are these arrangements
You have with the province of British Columbia and other provinces in
W{‘iting or are they just verbal agreements you have with the agriculture
Ministers?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: There are telegrams, there are letters, and
there have been discussions of one kind and another with regard to the trading
In livestock. Some of them were discussions here at the conference.

Mr. SinnorT: Before we rise, we are dealing with something now that
should be expedited as quickly as possible for two reasons: first, to stamp
out the disease, and second, we have the officials here. Would it be possible
to sit tomorrow morning?

Some MEMBERS: No, no.

Mr. WricHT: I would like to ask the minister one question. With regard
to the embargo in Manitoba is it a fact that their embargo is maintained
bECal_xse of the dominion embargo on any stock going through Winnipeg?

Mr. Ross: Would you repeat that?

Mr. WricHT: Is the present embargo that is in force by the Manitoba
Sovernment the result of the embargo which the’dominion government has
Put on stock coming through Winnipeg, and would the Manitoba government
be brepared to change their attitude if that embargo were lifted?

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I am speaking now from memory. The records
an perhaps be obtained to indicate exactly what the position is but the
Manitoba embargo, as I remember it, is to the effect that none of the animals
Coming in there are to be slaughtered in the Winnipeg plant. They say that
if you can find a way to get around the Winnipeg plant and send the animals

- On further they are not going to complain about it; but they do insist on having

a certain amount of meat go out of Winnipeg or out of the St. Boniface plant
TO the east before permitting cattle other than Manitoba cattle to be slaughtered
In the St. Boniface plant.
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The CHAIRMAN: Now, it is six o’clock. What is your pleasure w1th respect
to meeting tonight at 8?

Mr. SINNOTT: I move that resolution. I know it is important and if the
others do not agree it is all right with me, but we are down here to do a job
and I do not care if we sit all day tomorrow and all day Sunday.

The CHAIRMAN: It is moved by Mr. Sinnott that we meet at 8 o’clock this
evening.

Mr. HARKNESS: He did not move that at all.

The CHAIRMAN: Oh, am I wrong?

Mr. SinnoTT: I did not know you were coming back tonight but-I will
move that we come back at 8 o’clock.

The CHAIRMAN: I was going to ask the committee’s opinion about coming
back tonight and I'understand that you would so move?

Mr. SINNOTT: And tomorrow afternoon?

The CHAIRMAN: Well, we will take the evening and then decide about
tomorrow. You are moving that we meet again tonight. All those in favour?

Carried.

We will adjourn until 8 o’clock tonight.

EVENING SESSION

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please, gentlemen. Mr. Hetland has the floor.

Dr. Thomas Childs, Veterinary Director General, called:

By Mr. Hetland:

Q. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Dr. Childs a question that I asked

Mr. Taggart. Now, there is a lot of bone meal being sold in the west, meat meal
and meat scraps. Is there any danger of spreading the disease through that
source?—A. Very little danger, sir. Bones that are converted into bone meal,
meat meal and so on, are all cooked, either in pressure tanks or in what they
call melters, cooked under seal to make them sterile, so there is no danger
from that source of spreading the disease.

Q. What about crows eating certain refuse or something. Is there any
danger of crows carrying this disease in their feet from one farm to the other?
—A. There might be some little danger, mechanical carriers, but I recall when
the outbreak in Mexico commenced I was very concerned about the migratory
birds moving from the south to the north—we know they go down to Mexico
and feed during the winter season. So I consulted with the United States
Bureau of Animal Industry, with the chief, Dr. Simms, on this, and he informed
me in writing that during their outbreak in California in 1929, at the coast—
that outbreak by the way was started from raw meats or scraps coming in on
a South American ship and being distributed in the raw state to hogs. Anyway,
he informed me that there were thousands and thousands of gulls around those
parts at that time when they had that outbreak, and they had no eyidence of
the gulls ever spreading this disease although they were all over the place,
though I think they could, as mechanical carriers, and that seems reasonable.
They would have to carry the virus, but they would not carry it far because it
would be diluted in water and washed off. I do not think the danger from that
source would be too great.

Q. I was going to ask you the question, how long could cattle go along in
a herd without catching the disease if some cattle in that herd had been cured?

SN |
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For instance, say in a pasture. I suppose that would be a certain amount of
guesswork?—A. It would be a guess, yes. To start with, they would have to
¢ome in contact with the live virus.

A Q. But you were saying that that virus dies after a certain length of time
In an animal?—A. Yes, I believe that, but animals can be carriers, of course.

Q. It still could be alive?—A. Yes, it might, as I mentioned last night.
There might be some little abscess formation due to secondary infection. The
Virus might be held in that lesion and a breakdown might occur at some future
time and might allow the virus to escape.

Q. Within 11 months or so?—A. Probably before that, in most cases.

Q. Then there was some suggestion about the case at Ormiston. I think
.that was traced to a bone being thrown out in a yard?—A. That is the
Information.

Q. Now, don’t you think, Dr. Childs, that it would be a good idea, after
Possibly you have taken all these precautions, to advise people who buy meat
from any source for any purpose, if they would boil or cook all bones that
have come with that carcass?—A. Yes, that has already been done, sir.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Dr. Childs, in the file tabled yesterday, which came into my possession

today, on the first page it states that a report was made to you from Regina.
tstates: «. . . However, realizing the danger of relying on a field diagnosis in
a disease of a vesicular nature such as this it was decided to contact Dr. Childs,
Veterinary Director General for further direction and advice. Following this
Phone call Dr. N. V. James was detailed to quarantine the premises . . .” That
as reference to the Waas premises. You apparently gave some instructions by
bhone as a result of this call. Have you any memorandum of those instructions,
Or were they confirmed by a letter later on?—A. I am certain if they were,
nstructions were sent for sure. I am not certain just whether that was con-
firmed by memorandum or not. :

Q. That is, there were written instructions that went out as a result
of that phone call?—A. Yes, I believe they went in the form of a telegram, if
My memory is correct. y

Q. We will check that later.—A. I am not sure, I am just speaking from
memory now.

‘Q. As a result of those instructions, apparently two horses were vaccinated
On the Waas farm on the 2nd December?—A. I think you are wrong there. If I
Mmight correct you, I think it was on the 3rd. '

Q. Either the 2nd or the 3rd, two horses were vaccinated there. December
Is right. Did you give instructions for the vaccination of those horses?—A. I
believe I did. :
_ Q. Why did you give those instructions for the vaccination?—A. To estab-
lish whether it was dangerous or not. ,

Q. What were you suspicious of when you gave instructions? In other
Words, what would this vaccination determine?—A. It is not vaccination,
noculation,

Q. T am not familiar with these technical terms.—A. That was to establish
8s evidence that it was not more serious than stomatitis as was so diagnosed.

Q. What other disease than foot and mouth disease would this inoculation
determine?——A. Vesicular diseases, vesicular stomatitis.

Q. The vaccination of a horse would determine whether it was vesicular
Stomatitis or a more dangerous virus disease?—A. That is what we hoped for.

Ou will understand in many of these cases you do not get the results you hope
for Sometimes. :
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Q. No, but there was some suspicion in your mind, I presume, when you

asked that the inoculation be made, that this might be foot and mouth dis-
ease?—A. No, I would not say that—just as a matter of precaution as support
for the clinical diagnosis our men had made.

Q. Well, is there any other disease that this would indicate, other than foot
and mouth disease. I understood—maybe I am wrong, I am not a medical man—
but I understood that when you inoculate a horse you do it for the purpose of
 determining whether this is actually vesicular stomatitis or a more dangerous
virus disease. —A. Surely.

Q. And that more dangerous virus disease is foot and mouth disease. There
is no other more dangerous virus disease than vesicular stomatitis for which
this test would be a proof other than foot and mouth disease?—A. Yes, there is.

Q. What other disease?—A. There is a more dangerous virus than foot
and mouth disease, namely, rinderpest.. It was to support the clinical diagnosis
of Drs. Carlson and Hunter and James that they were dealing with vesicular
stomatitis.

Q. And not a more dangerous virus?—A. Yes.

Q. What is a more dangerous virus disease other than foot and mouth
disease?—A. Rinderpest.

Q. I am trying to determine whether this test on the horses at the Waas

premises was made for the purpose of actually determining whether it was foot

and mouth disease or not.—A. The test was made to support the clinical diag-
nosis of James, Hunter and Carlson, which, if test was positive would indicate
it would support clinical diagnosis that we did not have foot and mouth
disease. Does that answer you?

Q. Yes, that is what I expected that was for. Unfortunately, the horses

showed lesions.—A. Unfortunately, yes.

Q. And as a result of that, your fears were naturally allayed.—A. That
would be correct.

Q. Were there any other horses on the Waas farm?—A. I am not certain.
I have not looked into that.

Q. Well, the report here says five horses.—A. There is a piece at the bottom
of that form giving a space for other species.

Q. It says here five horses.—A. Then five it was.

Q. And none of the other horses showed any symptoms, either then or
later, except the two that were inoculated?—A. That is correct.

Q. There were two people who came to the Waas farm, one of whom was
Mr. Woods, and his herd became infected some ten days later, I think about
the 11th or 12th, according to the record here, and you then made another test
with a horse on the Woods farm according to the record. That horse did not
show any lesions. That is correct? According to the report here?—A. I believe
that is so, yes.

Q. Would it not indicate anything to you, with a horse showing lesions
that there might be a suspicion? I would take it from the first report on the
Waas farm that had these 2 horses not shown lesions, you might have made

-some further tests?—A. That would be correct.

Q. That would be a correct assumption; and you would probably have
carried out more complete tests. Now, on the 12th when these horses on the
Woods farm failed to react to the inoculation, why did you not then order 2
more thorough examination?—A. It would seem that was the place to do ity
but we already had considered that we were dealing with vesicular stomatitis,
and that could have been a miss; it does not always work out one hundred
per cent in all these inoculations, and injections, of any kind. For instance, t0
digress for a moment, to make clearer what I mean: on the 18th of February I
started animal inoculations at Regina on the legislative grounds in an unused

‘barn which was well isolated. The animals were brought in from 20 miles

~
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or more outside. There were 2 cattle, young cattle, one just short of a year and
one maybe a little older; and 2 pigs about 3 or 4, or 3% to 4 months, maybe a little
more, but they were about 85 to 90 pound pigs and we had fresh material col-
IGCted and harvested from lesions from one of the infected premises, I do not
recall at the moment which premises it was; but my instructions were to harvest
fresh: material and get it right from the vesicles, if possible. He did that by
using a syringe, which is the proper way to take it, provided they can find a
vesicle which has not burst. We would use a sterile syringe, and the fluid
Would be withdrawn, and we would get a good sample.

: Well, I personally supervised those animals myself, with respect to this
noculation. We used an intra-muscular inoculation, not on the tongue, and
there was a good reason for that. I was not, however, able to stay for the full
observation of these animals, but just to show you how these things will go,
to indicate how they will go, none of those animals came down in the time I
Was there, the remaining 2 days. I looked at them twice a day myself, and
others did too: and one of them came down only 7 days later, you see, one
of the cattle.

Mr. CruicksHANK: I do not like to interrupt a private conversation you
are having with Mr. Wright, but we would like to hear some of this down here.
The WirNEss: Am I not speaking loudly enough?
Mr. CruicksHANK: No. I cannot hear a word.
The WrirnESs: My goodness! I wish you had checked me up sooner. Shall
I repeat it?
The CmamrMaN: No. Carry on.
) The WriTness: That test indicates how these inoculations and injections
will go; they are not always 100 per cent. Undoubtedly the virus was there;
€re may have been vesicular stomatitis along with it, and the presence of it
Mmight have inhibited the action of the foot and mouth disease virus. I do not
Ow that, but it might have. But that was the way it turned out; and none
of the others developed at all, either the 2 pigs or the other cattle beast showed
any symptoms; and it was 7 days before this one showed symptoms, and I
Saw that syringe, and the needle put into the muscles, and I saw the fluid go in.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. When were the hogs inoculated?—A. I think at that time I marked it
down; it was about 6:30 on the evening of the 18th of February.
Q. There was no hogs inoculated before that?—A. No, not as far as I

know,

By Mr. Wright:
Q. In other words, there is more than one method of making tests than just

: _using the horse alone?—A. Oh yes, there are a good many more methods.

Q. And more thorough methods were not used until the 18th of February
Or the 15th of February?—A. That is correct.

Q. When the tests were made?—A. That is correct.

Q. You have indicated that the original tests were made to determine
Whether it was a more dangerous disease than vesicular stomatitis, and the
More dangerous disease being foot and mouth disease. I can well appreciate
the fact that when the horse reacted in the first place you would be thrown
°.ﬂ the trail and perhaps not feel justified in making a more thorough investiga-
tion. But when on the second trial the horse did not react, and when this is
a d1§€!ase which is primarily a horse disease, which a horse will take quite
Teadily, I can scarcely credit that there was not some neglect of a more thorough
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test, after the Woods horse failed to react after the inoculation. waever, that

is all gone and past. On February 11 you stated that you took your leave?—
A. I commenced my statutory leave, that is right.

Q. And you stated that on that date you consulted your superior or senior
officers before you took your leave?—A. That is a regular procedure, always, yes-

Q. Who was the senior officer whom you consulted?—A. That would be

Mr. Young, Director of the Production Service.

Q. Was there any discussion with Mr. Young or anyone else before you
' took your leave with regard to this outbreak in Saskatchewan?—A. No, no;
there was not.

Q. Mr. Young had known about that outbreak in Saskatchewan before you

took your leave?—A. Yes, I would say so; and of course at that time we did not
think we had anything there more than stomatitis, or I certainly would not
have taken my leave; I would have been out there long before that.

Q. On February 11 there already had been the second outbreak, if we
may call it that; the first one took place in November or in the early.part of
December; and then there was a fresh outbreak; but apparently there was not
much of a spread of the disease. Apparently it had been spreading, but nobody
notified you of it—A. In some cases, that is true, such as the Hanley herd.

Q. Then again, there was a fresh outbreak which took place around
February the 1st or 2nd, when more herds were being infected, and they
reported it by February 12, I believe, and another horse was tested on the farm
of K. Haun.—A. Yes.

Q. On February 12; did that horse react to the virus?—A. No, I do not
believe it did; there is no record of its reacting. -

The CHAIRMAN: You may have one more minute, Mr. Wright.

By Mr. Wright: '

Q. Well, apparently this second outbreak had actually taken place and
was in process of being investigated when you took your leave on February 11.
At ahy time during the outbreak did you consult with the Pathological Depart-
ment with regard to whether the inoculation of a horse was all that should
be done, or whether there might be any further tests made that might determine
more accurately what the disease was?—A. No, I do not recall consulting
with the Pathological division at that time.

Q. Would they have more knowledge along those lines than your depart-
ment did?—A. They would have more knowledge in conducting laboratory
tests, for sure, oh yes.

Q. Yes, but at the same time they would have more knowledge of con-
ducting tests and this whole disease having been spreading, there might have
been some consultation with the Pathological department with respect to tests;
but of course that is just a layman’s idea—A. It is a point well taken, I would
say. They are specialists in their field; that is their work, that is one line of
their work. I have a couple of dozen different lines of work, of course.

Q. That is why I asked the minister or the deputy minister whether there
was full co-operation between the two departments?—A. I can assure you, Sils
there is most cordial relations between myself and the director of the iaboratory-
I consider him to be one of my best friends.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Quelch and then Mr. Hetland.

By Mr. Quelch:

Q. I would like to ask Dr. Childs if there is any form of inoculation or any
other form of medical treatment that is considered to give to cattle to inoculate
them against foot and mouth disease? I understand that a certain drug has
been used in a number of countries, and might I ask how effective it might be?—
A. Yes sir, there is a vaccine used in most countries of South America, that
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is in the cattle raising countries, and in European countries such as Switzerland,
Belgian, Holland and Germany. I am not certain, but I think they use vaccines
in Denmark as well: I am not sure that they use them in Norway although all
these countries have had their outbreaks of foot and mouth disease and during
the past six months or so it has really reached perhaps you might say a pendemic
over there, a real scourge. This little break we have here is very small; I am
not minimizing what the effects will be; we know that long before it ever
appeared; but these vaccines are used freely in European countries. The result
of course is that the disease has never been cleaned out. Of course, their
8eographical situations are such that unless they all not together and cleaned
it out, none of them could remain free very long, you understand; they are so
closely connected geographically and there is so much international movement
back and forth; but they do use these vaccines. They were used freely in
Mexico during this outbreak in Mexico. They started off by slaughtering cattle,
and with radical methods as we are doing here; but they met a great deal of
Opposition and they found that diseased animals were not being reported, but
Were being hidden, and so on; and in fact, some of the people were actually
shot by the natives down there for coming and looking over the cattle and
deStrOYing them as they thought for nothing.

Vaccines were used down there; but the best they could secure—and they
Produced those vaccines in a new laboratory which was set up in the vicinity
of Mexico City—I was not down there myself; but the best they could say
of the vaccines which were used down there—and they had the best of labora-
tories and workers they could get to produce those vaccines—they could only
Say that they gave a relative immunity, a fair degree of protection for a
Matter of four months; they could not trust them beyond that. Any massive
€xposure would Break them down. Of course, in an attack of foot-and-mouth

Isease and the recovery of an animal from that, to the best of our knowledge
and according to the best research workers, the immunity is not good for
more than a year from a natural infection.

They are using vaccines freely over in Holland; in fact they pioneered
Fhere in producing vaccines. Now, it was a very expensive procedure, mak-
Ing these vaccines because it meant sacrificing an animal to inoculate it and
Tecover the virus from the infected animal, so it was expensive procedure and

ere would not be so many doses of vaccine secured from the one animal,
Which was slaughtered to harvest material for vaccine.
Q. Could it be secured from an animal which had it and recovered, or
Would there be disease in that case?—A. They had to inoculate the animal with
€ virus and grow the virus in the animal. That is the source of the
Vaccine,
. _However, within the past three years—I think in the summer of 1949—
n Europe, in Holland, a worker there, Dr. Frenkel, a scientist, developed a
Method of producing vaccine in larger quantities and more cheaply by set-
Mg up his laboratory in an abattoir. As cattle were slaughtered he secured
fresh tongues and he went to considerable work and pains to develop equip-
Ment to strip the mucuous membrane from the tongues, sort of shave it off,
Macerate it, and inoculate it with the virus, growing the virus in a laboratory
Instead of growing it in the animal. He grew it in this animal tissue. I
Pelieve he has had considerable success with that. But that vaccine, although
1t can be made in quantity and cheaper, much cheaper, is only protective for
a certain length of time. It does not give lifelong immunity. They must go
ack and inoculate again for protective immunization.

In Switzerland they have been using vaccine for years. Of course, that
IS a very well ordered country and it is not so accessible for commercial move-
@ent of livestock or people either. They can look after their boundaries a
little better than most European countries.
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They have been able to keep the disease pretty well under control by
restricting the inward movement of susceptible animals, by strict quaranting
and by use of their own vaccine. They have been fairly successful. 1

However, vaccine does not confer lifelong protection and, strange to say,

i

these countries doing the most with vaccines, supposed to have top ﬂight,
scientists of the world handling these things, are the countries that have

the most foot-and-mouth disease today.

Britain, of course, is situated in a very bad spot geographically, it is
regrettable to say. You have the continent there within close range. There
is a great deal of tourist traffic and, of course, there is a great deal of bird
life moving from the continent to Britain. They, of course, blame it on the
birds. They have had more outbreaks in the past year than during any of
the recent years.

I believe there have been 29 different outbreaks within the last few weeks
according to the most recent information I have,—and we get this information
from over there as soon as an outbreak occurs. We know about it becausé
they cable us right away. They have had two outbreaks in Scotland just in the
last few days and Scotland has been comparatively free of this.

Mr. SinNoTT: I think we are getting far away from the point we are after.
Mr. JuTras: No.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the doctor is trying to answer Mr. Quelch’s ques-
tion. ) i

Mr. QUELcH: I want to follow it up with another one.

The WiTness: I will finish in just a moment. I just wanted to give you

a word picture of how vaccines are produced and their values. :

During the last few days or a week there have been two outbreaks 1R
Scotland. One occurred in the northeast over in Aberdeenshire and the other
I have not had time to pinpoint on the map. I do not know just where it is..

Of course, in addition to the birds Britain has been for many years gettu{g
supplies of chilled and frozen meat from South America where the disease 15
endemic. My information was, when I was over there, that outbreaks usually
occurred in pigs on the premises first—from scraps of infected meat and meat
juices fed uncooked in swili.

It is into pigs first and cattle next.

Have I answered your question about vaccines?

Mr. QUELcH: Yes, but I cannot see why the member for Springfield says
this is not relevant. As a cattle raiser I think it is important to have thesé
vaccines and inoculations, in order to make the animals immune from the
danger of foot and mouth disease. I would also not consider the fact that it was
effective for three or four months to be a deterrent because there are other

vaccines which are only effective for a short period of time. I am not sure of the .
name but last year we had an outbreak of hemorrhagical septicemia in ouf

district. The veterinarian inoculated for it and he said it was effective for four
months. It is quite expensive but he thought it worthwhile. I may be wrong i
the name but he described it as a form of pneumonia. The animals slobberé
and became stiff but they were cured after a while.

It it possible to secure the vaccine in this country, and if not how long would
it take to manufacture it? Would it not be possible to produce it in conjunctio®
with packing plants where they could get the tongues or some other cheaP
method, and would you not consider any rancher who has valuable cattle well
advised to go to the expense of vaccinating in order to try to save his cattle
from infection? ;

The WiTness: No, I would not consider it advisable.

Mr. QuELcH: Why? Is it too expensive?

&4 ol
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4 The WrtnEss: Well, you may be masking the infection and holding it in
ere,

There is another feature to it too. It would be very, very dangerous to
have the virus around anywhere in the country to produce the vaccine. I would
like to point out, if you have the patience, why that is so.

. When the outbreak occurred in Mexico there was a hue and cry for vac-

Cine in the United States and. for them to do this and that.

The CHATRMAN: A little louder.

The Wirness: Have I not enough power yet?

The CHATRMAN: No, speak up.

The WiTNESs: There was a great cry for vaccine for protection. There was
a bill introduced into Congress for a matter of $30 million to provide facilities
for studying the virus of foot and mouth disease alone. The United States would
Not have it anywhere on the continent—absolutely refused to permit it. The
Simple reason was that it would be harbouring the virus and they could not be
Sure that the virus would not escape.

. They made arrangements to take over an island called Prudence Island—
Just south of Rhode Island—to build facilities there. I understand there was
about foyr miles of water between the island and mainland. That was tentatively
agreed to and this appropriation of $30 million, I believe it was, was for the
Construction of the facilities. That has never been done. Sentiment is alto-
gether against having the virus on the continent at all for fear that it will
€scape. If it ever escaped and you started vaccine, it is my opinion and it is the
OPInion of others who are much better versed in this than I—although I have
8lven it a lot of study, believe me—that you would be living with the disease
the first think you knew.

Our outbreak here is rather minor. It looks gib and the repercussions are
terrific—anq nobody knows that better than myself. It is quite possible that
Most of you gentlemen here have never given foot and mouth disease much
consideration until this outbreak occurred. That is quite likely, but I, and others
Such as I, have given it a lot of consideration.

Have I answered the question, sir?

The CuarMAN: Mr. Hetland is next.

By Mr. Hetland:
Q. I just want to ask you a question, Dr. Childs. Is it possible for an animal
to have stomatitis and still have foot and mouth disease at the same time?—A.
elieve it would be possible for both viruses to be present at the same time.
ave no reason to think they could not be present because the animal is
SUsceptible to both.

Q. That leads me to another question. Would it be possible when you are
e}.(amining an animal to pinpoint the stomatitis and still miss the foot and mouth
dlsease?~A. It might if you confined your tests perhaps to one or two animals.
tp ases like that you would need to go over a wider field. Also, in very recent

Mes there has been a serum developed that will help indicate what is present.

Of course, in dealing with a thing such as foot and mouth disease I will
admit that every known test should be employed until you are certain about
. As 1 have mentioned before here, if we had the foresight as we have
the hindsight we probably would have gone after it—we know we would

Ve gone after it much more quickly than we did.
Q. Dr. Childs, you know of course that last year there was a lot of

 SPoiled feed in the country—hay and low grade grain. Would that have a

end_ency to put you off too while you were testing those cases?—A. Yes,
POssibly; because in certain parts of the country, particularly the west, we
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inquired into that and veterinarians had reported trouble from feed spoilage, |

mouldy feed and such like. There is no doubt that that condition was
present.

Q. Another point and I am through. Where does stomatitis come from?
Is that caught from another animal or some place that we do not know?
Where does it come from? Is it caused through feed or something?—A. No,
I would not say that feed causes it. The virus must be present. We do
not know where it might come from—we do not know all about these things.
Even the research workers who are putting in full time study on these
matters do not know all about it. They do not know where it comes from.

There must always be some kind of a carrier to bring it in contact with
a suitable host. The virus may live in nature, in things we do not know about,
or that I certainly do not know about—or in other animals. There may
be animals that normally carry the virus but never show the disease—but
they may be carriers just the same.

Q. They must have caught it from some other animal at some time?—
A. Or it might be from a mechanical carrier by indirect contact.

Q. Would it not be something like the tuberculosis germ?—A. No, &
virus is a quite different thing from tuberculosis bacteria.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Argue, then Mr. Cruickshank.

By Mr. Argue: , ;

Q. Dr. Childs, you do think differently now with hindsight, as you term it.
With regard to your tests, what different tests would you make, and what
different things would you do?—A. What different things would I do?

Q. Yes.—A. Well, if I had thought for a moment that we had foot and

mouth disease, as I said, I would have been out for everything we did and

we would have made field tests through the whole species of animals t0
make sure—sheep, swine, young cattle and a couple of horses. Someoné
might say why don’t you have guinea pigs and you also ought to make the
egg test. I do not think we would have gone to those things.

Q. I think it was agreed that if the species of animals you mentioned had
been innoculated early in December the country certainly would not be in
the mess it is in now. I believe that is correct?—A. Might I interrupt?

Mr. STEWART: You are making an assertion, that is not a question.

Mr: ArcuE: O.K., that is my opinion.

The WITNESS: You say if we had done this in the first of December the
country would not have been in the mess it is today?

By Mr. Argue:
Q. Yes, early in December.—A. There is another way of looking at that

and if you will look over the reports you will see the diagnosis of stomatitis

was made December 2nd. Calves from the Waas herd were taken to Burns
premises—they were taken down to the Burns’ premises the 22nd of November;
and the infection was taken to the Hanley herd on the 27th or 29 of November:

That was a week or 10 days before it was even reported to the officials !

infection had been taken to the Burns’ premises and to the Hanley herd ten
days and over two months respectively before our boys knew about it, they
did not know about the Hanley herd, until the 19th of February. It was
never reported to anybody that it was there. That is where the start was

from. Of course, we grant you that if we had suspected that it was foot _.

and mouth disease at that time we would have done these tests instead ©

what we did; but it never occurred to anybody that it could be possible, We ‘_
did not expect it at all or the possibility of its being the serious disease lt‘.
was. We did not expect it was sabotage, we did not think it was sabotagé
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at all, we had no reason for thinking that. Had we suspected it was what
it turned out to be we would certainly have made more tests; but we would
have still had to catch up with unreported infection, implanted in the Hanley
herd November 27 and the infection, in that group around the Hanley
Premises and we would need to have caught up with some stock that was
sold from there. We would have still have had to catch up with it. But
I may tell you here that the economic repercussions would have been identically
the same as they are. That is not trying to excuse anything or help us out;
because regardless of whether the disease is stopped in the first animal that
is infected—and that is all that is reported, we must report these things,
we can’t hide them—the next day the United States would have applied
the embargo; and that was just along the line of what happened.

Q. Of course if you had known that it was foot and mouth disease early °
I think your action at the Burns’ plant would have been a great deal different;
there would not have been carcasses with the head of it condemned and the
Test of it approved for human consumption. You would have done differently
in that respect?—A. Oh, undoubtedly the plant would have been closed that
much sooner.

Q. Yes, and you mentioned that there might have been sabotage; what do
you mean by that? Was somebody not obeying your regulations?—A. No, I
didn’t mean that. I believe the virus did get in unintentionally, innocently. We
have no reason to think otherwise.

Q. Yes. I am inclined to agree with you there. I asked Dr. Taggart a
Question this afternoon and he referred me to you. Is there any possibility that
any of the carcasses that showed the disease and most of which were approved
for consumption went to parts other than Saskatchewan points? Was there
any way of identifying that to find out whether these carcasses had gone out?
Would that be on some of the forms that are listed here?—A. We have no
Tecord of what went out of the Burns’ plant. We haven’t that record.

Q. Yes.—A. If you don’t mind we will deal with that later on when the
gentleman who looks after that end of the work is here. But I would mention
here that as soon as we did put a quarantine on the Burns’ plant nothing went
out after that in the line of meat, and all the meat in there that was suspected
Of.carrying that disease we seized and treated just the same as the infected
animals, it was put in the hole with them.

Q. What was the date of the quarantine you mentioned, that last one?—A.
Burns?

Q. Yes.—A. You mean on the cattle.

. Q. You said something about shipments going out of that plant?—A. That
IS on the 18th, you mean?

Q. But on the shipments that went out of that plant before the 18th is
there any possible way of knowing whether or not some diseased carcasses,
Parts of those carcasses, were shipped to points such as Montreal or Van-
Couver?—A. Yes, some may have gone out.

Q. There may have been some?—A. Yes. We did all we could to guard
against that. Now, sometime within the past day or so, I have made mention
that with the organization we had in the country, with our observor reporting

‘Service we got reports on the situation. One of the first things I did when we

decided that we had to do something—I may tell you that I was satisfied in
My own mind on the 17th, after the look I had around in Regina that it was
foot and mouth disease. I have seen this disease years ago. I promply placed a
Quarantine—I might as well explain to you what I did, we took all the safe-
8uards we could. One of the first things done was to close the Burns’ plant, and
that other plant, the other little plant, the Inter-Continental, and close them

‘elg’ although there was never any infection in there a quarantine was put into
ect,
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Q. This is on the 18th of February?—A. On the 18th of February. I might
tell you, gentlemen, I was very busy a day or two—and nights, also—I did
not get much sleep at that time. There was quite a lot to do, gentlemen. On
the 18th we placed these quarantines in effect. This meant of course
blocking off all the main avenues, all the avenues we could think of-—and we
thought of this long before—by which the disease might escape, by which
the virus disease might escape from the infected area. Mind you, I was getting
out on a limb here, I could not prove yet that it was foot and mouth disease;
and that is something to do—as you might say, throwing a monkey wrench
into the watch. As I say we quarantined these packing plants.  Then, realizing
of course that the movement of livestock was from west to east, and south,
that Winnipeg was the bottleneck because they have to pass through there,
I promptly had our district veterinarian at Winnipeg put a quarantine on the
stockyards there and prohibit animals from leaving those stockyards; and of
course that meant that they had to be slaughtered, go direct to slaughter. There
was another reason also for doing that. On the 18th, after investigating things
around and about we found that there had been a German immigrant here on
the Waas farm, and he had to be found, and for that purpose we had the
assistance of the mounted police to help us find the man. We then found that
the man had left the Waas place; but as soon as I knew that I thought, well,
what is going to happen next. So the thing to do was to trace him and we
hoped he was still in the vicinity, but he was not. We found that he had gone
over to McLean, Sask. and bought a bus ticket or ticket, and the ticket was
purchased for Winnipeg; and all this time, too, there was the possibility that if he
was a saboteur, or even a carrier of the virus, as he might do in his finger nails,
things could get into a devil of a mess. We got his description from the
immigration department, but that was of very little help to us. We found that
he was a dairy worker, but the description was not very helpful. I thought, now
the man is further down, working in some herd down around Winnipeg, in
some dairy herd, and the devil knows what has gone wrong down there. So
of course in addition to having this quarantine and prohibition put on immedi-
ately we of course alerted our chief veterinarian there to get every available
man on it, everyone he could raise, and to inspect and look over these dairies
and see if this man was around there; and the police also were on the trail
down there, but he wasn’t there. They had to trail him further, and that was
done. And, of course, we put on a modified quarantine on all the packing
plants and stockyards that might possibly be involved in order to prevent further
movement of cattle from areas that might be infected; such as Prince
Albert, Saskatoon, Moose Jaw; and, of course, the Regina stockyards were
closed up tight. 3

Q. We have been very fortunate so far. Would you think the danger of
any possible foot and mouth disease resulting from the shipment of meat from
the Burns’ plant to other parts of Canada is now over?—A. Yes, I feel fairly
safe on that; I feel fairly safe.

Q. I have one other question.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: You have more than your ten minutes.

Mr. ARGUE: I do not think I have. I have put a few questions and I think
the questions are all very short and the answers have been very full and
very informative. '

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Dr. Childs, you mentioned that an immigrant might have brought this
disease to Canada, very likely, in an innocent way. We all know that Canada
has been receiving thousands of immigrants from various European countries
where foot and mouth disease is prevalent. Did you at time advise any depart-
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ment of government to take steps to disinfect immigrants and their belongings
coming into Canada before those steps were finally taken after the outbreak
of disease?

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: Mr, Chairman, might I ask a question? I promise to be
very brief. He answered no.

The Wirness: I would like to elaborate on that.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: Just a minute.

The CHAIRMAN: The witness is just going to elaborate a little and then it
will be your turn, Mr. Cruickshank.

The WiTNESS: I will just be a moment.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: A moment?

The WITnNESS: A minute, sir, we will say. We did not think of that because
that method of disinfecting and fumigating immigrants’ clothing and personal
effects was not put into effect anywhere except during recent times at Iceland
where they had a few bitter experiences, I believe. The United States never
employed this method, and they, of course, have many more immigrants than
we have. "They do not, unless they have put it into force in this last week or
so. But we can see the danger now with the speed of modern methods of
transportation, and the terrific epidemic they have over there. But there is the
tourist business, and the traveller, also, coming from those countries, although
the farm workers would be the dangerous ones.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: I promise to be very brief, Mr. Chairman, at the request
of some members. I am going to speak a little slower than I usually speak.
Someone says to speak louder. I have never been accused of not being loud
enough. I am not going to rehash what has happened in the past, Mr. Chairman,
unless I am provoked. I am not worried about the mistakes that have been
made in the past, and plenty have been made. Now, it has been referred to
immigration, and, my God, we have even put up with Newfoundlanders and so
we can put up with some immigrants! I am being a little briefer than I
pbromised, Mr. Chairman. I am not going to rehash the statements that have
been made. I have expressed myself in those things, but that is not going to
help the future. But I did ask a question from Dr. Childs yesterday, and I
would like an answer. I asked a question yesterday, from; January 1 to
February 23 were any frozen or fresh cattle shipped to British Columbia and,
if so, to which districts.

The WiTnEss: I did not get that quite clearly, sir.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

Mr. CruicksHANK: I think I was laud enough. I asked this question yester-
day, Mr. Chairman, which I think is plenty of notice. From January 1 to
February 23, were any frozen or fresh cattle shipped to the province of British
Columbia? I said frozen or live cattle—I beg your pardon—and if so, to which
districts.

The WITNESS: We have no record of any such shipments, sir, except the
one on January 25, that is the fancy stuff, the boneless stuff, that is the offal.
We have no records of any shipments out there except that one of January 25.
That is, that fancy meats and pork ribs.

By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. Yes, and I.also asked yesterday, Mr. Chairman, what that was because
I, frankly, do not know myself and I could not get an answer from the deputy
minister today. Apparently he did not know what “fancy” means. 6120 pounds.
What does that mean? Now, the next item means pork ribs and I know some-
thing about that, Dr. Childs, because I buy them sometimes. What does that
“fancy” mean, though?—A. That, in packing house language, means fancy
meats, such as hearts, livers and such like. Certainly no bone.
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Q. Yes, but from what animals?—A. They might be from beef or mutton.

Q. Or cattle?—A. Or cattle.

Q. Well, what were they from?—A. They would probably be mixed.

Q. Can you get that information for me, and also where they were dis-
tributed? I understood the witness this afternoon to say, and yesterday, that
this disease could not spread from this fresh meat or bones. I want to know
what “fancy” means there. It does not mean a thing to me, but you say it
might be from cattle, it might be from mutton, it might be from pigs.—A. Yes,
sir.

Q. I hope it is not Saskatchewan horsemeat.

Mr. HARRNESS: That would be safe. _
Mr. CrRUICKSHANK: The only thing they tested was horses.

By Mr. Cruickshank: :

Q. Where was it distributed in British Columbia? I asked this question
yesterday. Surely with a staff—I do not want to delay the time, and I am
watching the clock, I do not want to take up the time of the committee—but
I asked for this information yesterday and surely with a staff it should be
available. If it is not available tonight, when can I get it?—A. Well, I do not
know as we can get that now, just where it was distributed—from the Burns
packing plant in British Columbia I presume it would go to the consumers in
the city of Vancouver, Westminster.

Q. Well, Mr. Chairman, as I understood, the statutes were read by Mr.
Stewart yesterday, and I think if I am correct in what he said they are compelled
by law, and I can be corrected if I am wrong, they are compelled by law to keep
a record of the distribution of this. Am I not right in that?

Mr. STEWART: No, I read the provincial statutes. The provincial govern-
ment can regulate them on that.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: I am presuming that the province of British Columbia is
at least one step ahead of Saskatchewan and that we have that regulation there,
too.

Mr. STEWART: They do not show any evidence of it.

By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. Surely the records must be available, and they are avaliable, surely, to
your department. Quite frankly, what I am interested in knowing, Dr. Childs—
I am not suggesting that there was any disease in this shipment, I do not
know, I am a mere layman.

Mr. HETLAND: It could not have any disease. They are boneless.

By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. Just a minute. Mr. Hetland has taken up 18 minutes tonight, so I think
I am entitled to take up the rest of my time for my questioning, and I do not
come from Saskatchewan. Surely your department can find out for me where
the shipment went. I presume you are going to get this information for me.—
A. We can try, of course. It went to Burns in Vancouver, but I would clarify
this a little bit. Bones from infected animals are dangerous because the virus
gets into the marrow, but meats that are boneless, that would be hearts, livers
and so on, the changes that take place in that product will not permit the virus
to live very long if the environment of the virus changes a little away from
the exact state in which it ordinarily lives, either acid or alkaline, so that the
meat that is ripened, or hung for a while, will not be dangerous on that account.
This consignment I would not consider dangerous at all.

Q. No, but, Dr. Childs, the frozen meat shipped between January 1 and
February 23, that frozen meat would be dangerous, would it not?—A. No, we did
not ship any to Vancouver in that time except this one.

n
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Q. The one shipment?—A. Yes, the one shipment.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Cardiff has the floor. Then Mr. Sinnott.
Mr. BROwNE: Can I come after Mr. Sinnott, then, Mr. Chairman?
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

By Mr. Cardiff:

Q. This afternoon when Mr. Taggart was giving evidence, he admitted
perhaps he was a little bit negligent in respect of reporting to the minister at a
certain time. Would you, Dr. Childs, admit that you have been negligent at
all in regard to the diagnosis of this disease in Saskatchewan?—A. No, I would
not admit of having been negligent.

Q. You hold a very 1mportant position with respect to the livestock of
Canada, do you not?—A. Yes, sir, which I appreciate.

Q. And it is you whom the veterinarians in this country look to for advice
as to direction in regard to contagious diseases and the more unportant and
dangerous kinds, is it not?—A. Yes, that is so.

Q. Well, would you tell me thls Why would it take you two months to
decide whether you should take a test of this disease? Why would it take two
months before you decided to take that test? Why would it take you two
months to decide whether it was necessary to take a test?—A. I believe I have
answered that question in various forms several times before. We did not think
we were dealing with anything serious.

Q. You were dealing with what you thought was wvesicular stomatitis?
—A. Sure enough.

Q. Is that not similar to foot and mouth dlsease very closely related to it?
—A. It has some similarity.

Q. Well, if you were not absolutely sure, would it not prompt you to
take a test and be absolutely sure that you were dealing with a very contagious
disease?—A. I was satisfied we were dealing with simple vesicular stomatitis
or we certainly would have gone further, and quicker, -with the tests.

Q. You were satisfied, yes, but you did not know until -you took a test,
you could not be sure, and I cannot understand, knowing as you did the
circumstances and knowing things as you did, that you did not exert yourself
to the point of taking a test and making sure there was not any slip-up on
this. I cannot understand that it took two months to decide to take a test
to find out what disease you were handling, or trying to handle—A. You will
recall that we took a test on the first place that had this so-called vesicular
stomatitis infection. The records show that there were lesions produced in
inoculated horses, and from then on, that was December 2,'it was contacts and
of course, if our foresight at that time had been as good as our hindsight is

‘now, we would have got along.

Q. I admit that; but I still won’t admit that it should have taken you 2
months to make sure that you were right; and if you will admit to me that
you were negligent, I will quit asking you questions.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Sinnott.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Dr. Childs, how long did you say you have -been in the Department of
Agriculture?

The CHAIRMAN: Order please! -

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Dr. Childs, how long did you say you had been in the Department of
Agriculture?—A. Since September 25, 1925.
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Q. Have you at any time discussed the disease of foot and mouth with
your minister or your deputy minister?—A. Yes, if not before, we have done
so very recently, in February.

Q. Have you at any time previous to that?—A. I could not recall discussing
this, but it was quite likely we did because back through the last few years—
yes, we have discussed foot and mouth disease and for this reason; we found
it necessary and advisable and we considered it necessary to establish certain

restrictions and prohibitions on imports of livestock and other materials from’

other lands on account of foot and mouth disease being present in those
lands or else we were not sure that it was not. Yes, we have discussed foot
and mouth disease.

Q. In other words, you have taken previous precautions?—A. Yes sir!

Q. Do you know the provincial vetermanan in each province in Canada?
—A. Yes, I know them all.

Q. Do you know a Dr. Johnson in Saskatchewan?—A. Yes, I know Dr.
Johnson.

Q. When did you come to know Dr. Johnson?—A. I could not say for

sure when I first met Dr. Johnson. I believe it was a few years ago, but I cannot.

say for sure when I met him. Most certainly it was when I was out in
Saskatchewan.

Q. Do you know how long Dr. Johnson has been a practising veterinarian?
—A. I could not say for sure but at the present time I understand he is the
provincial veterinarian in Saskatchewan.

Q. Did you have any direct phone calls from Dr. Johnson in connection
with this outbreak in Saskatchewan?—A. No.

Q. You did not at any time?—A. No.

Q. When you went to Saskatchewan in February, did you discuss vesicular
stomatitis with Dr. Johnson?—A. In February?

Q. Yes?—A. Yes, we discussed stomatitis and that was on the 18th. We
had a discussion and we discussed it with Dr. Johnson and with Mr. Horner,
the deputy minister of Agriculture, and with Mr. Brocklebank.

Q. Do you recall what took place at that time?—A. Well, yes; I had the
unpleasant job of breaking the news to those people at that time that I thought,
~ in fact I was convinced, that we had something worse than stomatitis present.
And they were incredulous.

Q. Were Dr. Johnson’s opinions the same as yours, that it was something
worse than stomatitis?—A. I do not recall whether or not he offered an opinion
on that.

Q. And as veterinary in Saskatchewan, Dr. Johnson thought that he had
things pretty well in hand until you came out there?—A. I could not say that,
I do not know just what he thought on that; but I am convinced that he was
not seriously concerned about anything around there, nor was anybody else.

Q. How often have you ever been called upon before to determine stoma-
titis by the various provinces in Canada?—A. I have never been called to any
of the provinces before during my time here.

Q. You say you have never been called.—A. Not from Ottawa, no. °

Q. You got a wire from D. N. Christie, dated December 28, which said:
“137 steers and 70 heifers of which 30 head are exhibiting symptoms of infec-
tious vesicular stomatitis in Burns and Co. feed lots establishment 23E.
Premises quarantined and report by Dr. N. V. James being mailed to you.
Healthy animals allowed to be slaughtered.” And then you wired back on the
29th: “Retel make certain no livestock leaves Burns feed lots except for
immediate slaughter at Burns Packing Plant. If possible ascertain source
infection.” Now I gather from your wire back to him that you were worried
as to what was taking place at that time. Is that right?—A. Yes, I was certainly
concerned.

o
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Q. And then we did not hear anything more until the 15th of February,
when you sent this message: “Understand Dr. Hall in collaboration with Dr.
Mitchell has issued instructions for collection and forwarding to laboratory
Hull material from animals suffering from infectious vesicular condition. Those
instructions definitely countermanded. Definite diagnosis must be made on
premises where disease exists. Understand another horse has been inoculated.
Hold quarantines tight and await results horse inoculations. Self on statutory
leave when instructions collect material for laboratory examination issued by
Dr. Hall. Wire acknowledgement immediately.”—A. I did not issue the
instructions to collect material for the laboratory; I did not give those instruc-
tions. They ‘'were given as indicated, while I was away on statutory leave. "

Q. And even though this case was serious, you were away on statutory
leave?—A. Yes, surely.

Q. In your position, being in charge-of a very very serious matter like
this, how in the world could you go on leave at that time?—A. We did not
consider this condition serious up to this time, the time I went on statutory
leave.

Q. N ot even after you wired and said “make certain...”—A. I did, that is
for sure.

Q. That was on the 29th of December.—A. I thought you were talking
about the 15th of February just now.

Q. This is your wire of the 29th of December “make certain no livestock
leaves Burns feed lots.”—A. Yes, that would be correct.

Q. Who determined how long you would be on leave at that time?—A. I
was not on leave at the time you are speaking of there, the 28th of December.

Q. No, but you say you were on leave here, on the 15th of February.—A.
Yes.

Mr. STEWART: You are mentioning December.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Who determined how long you would be on leave, in view of the fact
that this serious disease had broken out?—A. We did not know of any serious
disease at that time.

Q. Do you not think in a man of your capacity, knowing as you do of this
big responsibility, that of taking care of the department which you have, that
it was a dereliction of duty for you to go on leave at that time?—A. Perhaps I
should have forgone my statutory leave. As a matter of fact I have lost it.
I hoped to get in 2 weeks and they would be the first 2 weeks in a period of
2 years that I have had statutory leave; and as I indicated before a number of
times, we did not think that we had a serious condition on there, or I certainly
would not have “went” on leave.

Q. When did you inform your minister or your deputy minister of ‘this
outbreak?—A. The telegram was filed about 11:30 on February 17; and I
believe it got away from Regina in the early mormng of the 18th. But we did
not say “foot and mouth disease”.

Q. Well, we will come to that later. What about the infected bulls that
we heard about this afternoon?—A. Of course, if I may make a remark or
two here, I discussed this with the deputy minister and the director, and it
would be on the morning of the 16th, yes. I believe it was the morning of the
16th, before I left for Regina, in view of the communications and Dr. Carlson;
we came to the conclusion that it was more serious than we had thought. That
is why I dropped my statutory leave right there and moved west to the scene.

Q. Who is this Dr. Hall and this Dr. Mitchell?—A. Dr. Hall is my assistant.

Q. And Dr. Mitchell?—A. Dr. Mitchell is director of the Animal Disease
Research Institute over in Hull, Quebec.
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. Q. When you were on leave for those 3 days, did these men not take over,
and did they not think it was serious enough to collect the material which you
mentioned?—A. Dr. Hall looks after these things when I am away, yes.

Q. During the time you were away the 2 men took on that job. I would
have thought it would have been good policy for them to get this virus down
here and sample it.—A. Dr. Hall takes over my work when I am away, not
Dr. Mitchell. There are 2 separate services altogether.

Q. Did Dr. Hall give those directions?—A. I believe so.

Q. That is fine. Now, what about this Willie, this farm hand who
was at one time thought to carry this disease as a carrier; how long would
this virus live on human beings’ clothes?—A. Oh, possibly 30 days or something
like that; it would depend of course what was carrying the virus; if the virus
was incorporated in dust or dirt in a dried condition, it would last longer perhaps
than if it was just exposed on cloth or shoes; ordinarily it will last I believe
around 30 days on boots carrying mud or manure or such like.

Q. If you suspected him, don’t you think it would have been a good idea
to send him back to the very same farm that he worked on in Germany and
go over this whole performance and put it into a clean herd to see if that was
the source of infection?—A. Of course I would not have the authority to do
that.

Q. You would not have the authority to do that?—A. No.

Q. At any rate 'you were certain in your mind that this immigrant was
not the carrier of that disease?—A. I beg your pardon?

Q. I say that you were certain in your mind, at any rate, that this immi-
grant was not the carrier of that disease?—A. No, I am not certain either way;
but that was a most likely source. We could not find any other sources of how
the infection might have been introduced.

Q. What about these birds which hang around cows all the time, which
are known as cow birds? Would you call them a serious source or carrier?

The CHAIRMAN: Order, the doctor did not hear the question.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Possibly these fellows who are farmers do not understand it but these
birds that follow the cows all summer, known as cow birds, do you think
they would be a serious source of carriers?—A. They could be, sir.

Q. Catching flies around cattle?—A. If they were lighting on infected
animals they could be a source of spreading—mechanically, that is.

Q. Just one or two more questions and I am finished.

The CHAIRMAN: You have got about two minutes.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. You say that if you had to do this over again you would act a little
sooner? Do you not think, Dr. Childs, that the Department of Agriculture
had you for that purpose already?—A. Yes.

Q. Now that the horse is gone it is time to lock the door.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: The cow is gone.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Don’t you think you have just been a little bit derelict in your duty
in not acting sooner?—A. Of course we would have acted sooner if we had
suspected we had something serious.

Q. Of course, being head of the department it was up to you to determine
that long before. In fairness to the country—and I am looking out for the
people of this country and I want to find out what is what here.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Blame the Liberals.
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Mr. SinvoTT: We are not going to blame the Liberals, we are not going
to blame anybody but I can ask Dr. Childs another question.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Hear, hear.

Mr. SinnvoTT: If it had been a Liberal, Conservative or C.C.F. government
you would have done the same thing? Right? You have no interest in
politics?

The Witness: None whatsoever.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Hear, hear.

Mr. SINNOTT: Don’t you think you should have acted a little sooner?

The WITnNESS: Yes, looking back we should have acted a little sooner no °
doubt, but that is hindsight, of course.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Browne?

By Mr. Browne:

Q. Dr. Childs, please sit down.—A. Thank you.

Q. Do you remember making an annual report each year to the mlmster‘7
A. That is right, sir.

Q. Do you remember the report you made in 1950—and I am going to
quote some of it to you. Here is the quotation: ‘“As the danger of foot and
mouth disease being introduced into Canada from countries where this disease
is permitted to exist is always present, and has been enhanced during recent
years by the ease and rapidity with which transportation may be effected by
air, the presence of this disease in countries with which Canada has trade
relations is a matter of deep concern.” Do you remember saying that?—A. I
wrote that, that is correct.

Q. “...it is imperative that the greatest vigilance bée exercised at all times
to prevent this disease from being introduced into Canada by regular trade
channels.” Do you remember that?—A. Surely.

Q. “Uncooked, chilled, or frozen meats, or meat food products from
countries where the disease exists are particularly dangerous and no products
of this nature are accepted for entry to Canada.” Right?—A. That is right.

Q. Are they being accepted from provinces where that disease exists—into
other provinces?—A. They are not being accepted.

Q. All right. Do you remember making your report of 1951?—A. Yes.

Q. Let me read this to you: “This disease has never gained a foothold
in Canada, consequently Canadian livestock, that is cattle, other ruminants,
and swine, can be considered as being decidedly vulnerable. Therefore, the
introduction of this disease into Canada would likely be attended by greater
than average mortality, and greater than average impairment to productive
capacity of infected animals, if such animals were permitted to survive.” Did
you make that statement?—A. Yes, it was written—composed—by myself.

Q. Now, sir, you then agree that foot and mouth disease is a very serious
disease?—A. Oh, certainly.

Q. Well, then it is not of the utmost importance that not a moment should
be lost in diagnosing that disease—not a moment should be lost in diagnosing
it?—A. No, we should not wait once we think we have it.

Q. You were informed, were you not, on December 3rd, 1951, that a
vesicular disease in which cattle were shown to be lame and had symptoms
which are the same as exist now existed in the Regina area? Right? There is a
report here from Dr. Carlson and I will read it to you: “It was decided to
contact Dr. Childs, veterinary director general, for further direction and
decision.” Where you not notified then?—A. That is the report.

Q. Is that right? You were notified then?—A. Surely.

Q. ... following this phone call Dr. James was detailed to quarantine the
Premises and keep a close watch on neighbouring premises.—Now, sir, I take it
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you were given the symptoms these cattle in that area showed at the time,
were you not? When they asked you for advice did they give that to you?—
A. As written on that report. ¢

Q. Do you want me to read them or will you accept them as they are
here?—A. Read it.

Q. “...vesicular condition affecting the hoofs of several cows followed
by drooling at the mouth...the infection first noticed...spread rapidly
through the herd. ...quite severe erosions of the tongue and mouth...

drooling saliva quite freely. All temperatures taken were normal. Six cows
_exhibited erosions of the teats which were quite sensitive...several of the
cows showed reddening of the muzzle and nostrils... tentatively diagnosed
as infectious stomatitis.”” That is enough to identify the information that was
given to you?—A. Yes, that is enough to read.

Q. Now I think you have told other members there is some difficulty
in distinguishing between vesicular stomatitis and foot and mouth disease?—
A. Yes.

Q. Some difficulty. Well, then you have in Hull an Animal Disease
Research Institute where they can make a test which could determine that
exactly. Is that not so?—A. Yes.

Q. Then why were not the facilities of that research institute availed of
on December 3rd?—A. I think we have been over that before, sir, but you
will recall also—-

Q. I do not want you to recall anything else. I want to know why those
facilities were not availed of on December 3rd?—A. All right, I will tell you
as well as I can. We had two men there that checked over those animals—
Drs. Carlson and James. - Carlson had seen foot and mouth disease in Mexico,
he had also had a special course down here in those diseases; and Dr. James
had seen the epidemic of vesicular stomatitis that appeared in Saskatchewan
in 1938 and 1939.

Q. Let me interrupt you a moment, Dr. Childs?

Some MEMBERS: Let him finish.

The WiTNESS: They were both familiar with the diseases.

Mr. BROWNE: I want to point out the report said “tentatively diagnosed...”

The WITNESS: They were both familiar with those diseases.

Mr. HETLAND: Both experts.

The WitneEss: They were both familiar with those diseases. Of course,
having men like that tell me that it was vesicular stomatitis—

By Mr. Browne:

Q. “...tentatively diagnosed...” they were not certain?—A. Yes.

Q. That is why I say: Why were not the facilities of the research institute
availed of to determine what the disease was?—A. It was tentative until
they made the field tests on the horses. That, of course, further supported
their diagnosis that it was vesicular stomatitis.

Q. Why were those facilities not availed of?—A. There was no tem-
perature. Those animals had no temperature and we did not think there
was anything more serious than vesicular stomatitis. If we had we certainly
. would have gone all out on tests, both field and laboratory—both in the west
and down here too.

Q. Now, that was December 3rd. Did you not think it was desirable to
have that distinction made between stomatitis and foot and mouth disease
as quickly as possible?—A. We thought we had made the distinction.

There was no examination made at the research institute until the 16th of

February—two and a half months after December 3. Now, was it not desir-
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able to have it made quickly? You would not call it quickly on February 15—
two and a half months after December 3. You would not call that quickly?—
A. The field tests are supposed to be good.

Q. Now, in view of the extreme danger of the spread of infection was it
not an error in judgment not to have sent in specimens of the tissues and fluids
of those animals that were suspected—even if it was only vesicular stomatitis?
—A. Yes, looking back at it now we might have gone further afield with those
things—no doubt about it. However, we were lulled into a state of mind that
this was a simple vesicular stomatitis.

Q. Do you know from what animals the specimens which were eventually
sent in by Dr. Carlson on the 15th of February were taken?—A. I believe they .
were taken from Burns.

Q. Now you know, Dr. Childs, that all cattle that were infected or that
associated with cattle that were infected from November at the Waas farm
right down to this date have been shot. All the cattle, infected or that associated
with infected cattle have been shot? Is that right?—A. I believe that to be true.

Q. Therefore the department now regards it as a very serious thing. Why
did you not regard it as serious in December?—A. Well, we did not have—

Q. For these cattle here the quarantine was lifted. Let me read to you.
“L. T. Waas . . . put in quarantine December 3, quarantine lifted December 8.”

Do you think that was a sufficient time for quarantine?—A. The animals
Were reported as fully recovered.

Q. Do you think that was sufficient time? On March 13 they were all
slaughtered—those same animals?—A. Sure they were; yes.

Q. Are you not convinced now this was foot and mouth disease from the
vVery beginning?—A. Not necessarily.

/ Q. Well, where do you say the foot and mouth disease began?—A. We think
it began at Waas’s, yes.

Q. That was in November?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, that is the question I asked. Are you not convinced that was foot
and mouth disease from the beginning?—A. I am not altogether convinced
because there was a possibility that both vesicular stomatitis and foot and
mouth virus were present. :

Q. You think in the same animals?—A. Could be.

Q. They could have both diseases?—A. I do not see why not.

Q. Well supposing they have, is it not doubly serious? Both contagious
diseases existing in the same animals and you let it go on. Don’t you think it
Was doubly serious?

Now, sir, let me draw your attention to the fact that this disease you say
might be both stomatitis and foot and mouth disease yet there is no record of
any letter of instructions from you from January 4 until February 157 Is
that right?—A. That is correct. ,

Q. And you went on your leave on February 11?—A. Yes.

Q. As soon as you went on your leave did not Dr. Hall give instructions
that specimens be taken immediately?—A. I believe the day after I went on
leave—on the 12th Mr. Carlson’s message came in. We have been over this
Several times before. I would remind you. Mr. Carlson’s message came in saying
that disease was taking on greater malignancy, his telephone message.

Q. Dr. Carlson?—A. I believe. v )

Q. Then Dr. Hall gave him instructions to take steps to obtain specimens
of tissue and fluid?—A. Yes.

Q. Then you came into the office on the 15th, and did you then tell Dr. Hall
that you disapproved of that procedure?—A. I believe so.

Q. You said yesterday that you didn’t think you had?—A. I don’t recall
Saying that I didn’t think I had.

57029—4
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Q. Did you go to your home that night and from your home ’phone a mes-
sage to the Canadian National Telegraph Company countermanding that order?
—A. Yes, I did.

Q. Wasn’t that a mistake on your part?—A. No.

Q. So the Burns’ specimens which came as the result of Carlson’s conversa-
tions over the telephone with Dr. Hall were the ones which definitely deter-
mined that this disease was foot and mouth disease?—A. They were.

Q. And if your message to Dr. Carlson had got through in time these speci-
mens would not have come?—A. They would not have come, no. I would have
been out there making field tests.

Q. But you were out there in January?—A. Yes.

Q. Why did you not make the field test then?—A. There was nothing to
make field tests on at that time.

Q. This disease was known to exist from the 18th of December, was it
not?—A. Sure enough.

Q. It was known that these herds had the disease in December when you
were out there?—A. Yes.

Q. And these herds had to be destroyed in the same way as the others
were?—A. Yes.

Q. Why?—A. They had to be destroyed because of the fact that they might
be carriers, possibly were carrying the virus in some form, or some of them.
We could not take a chance with them.

Q. Now, Dr. Childs, coming back to the situation at Ottawa. In view of the
results of Dr. Mitchell’s examination of that tissue and these blood specimens,
were you not in error in countermanding the instructions to Dr. Hall to send
it in?—A.. No, I do not think so.

Q. I put it to you that you were in error because they supplied proof that
foot and mouth disease was in Canada and nobody knew it up to that time.—A.
But you will recall that we did not get verification, official verification of this
until the 24th.

Q. I have only one more question. Don’t you think that every effort should
have been made to identify the disease; at any rate that every effort should
have been made to identify the disease, and then when it was identified there
should have been publicity given to it immediately?—A. Would you repeat that,
sir? :

Q. Don’t you think that every effort should have been made to identify the
disease and that full publicity should have been given to the fact that the
disease was there?—A. Yes. Looking back, of course,” we would do things
differently if we had to do them over again. As to the publicity, once the news-
papers got the word there was plenty of publicity; and I might say folks,
gentlemen—

Q. I have a couple of more questions.

The WiTtNess: If I might—

Mr. DEcoOrE: You might let him finish his answer. .

The CHAIRMAN: He was giving his answer.

Mr. BRownNE: When was the first publicity given the first press release?

The Witness: I might say here that we have been terribly hampered in
our work since by the excessive publicity that was given to this, very much so.
On the 18th of January when I started to make these moves that tied up this
thing, these essential moves—

Mr. CHARLTON: February.
The CHAIRMAN: Yes, February. £

Thé WitnEess: February, I beg your pardon and I thank you for correcting
me, Dr. Charlton. Within an hour or so we had the newspaper reporters barging
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in, This was a time of stress when everybody needed all their wits and the time
at their disposal. The boys were just trying to get done what needed to be done.
We had that publicity right away. They were barging in, coming in—and you
cannot blame them, it was something new—but nevertheless the publicity that
has been given to us in various quarters has hampered us a lot in our work. For
instance, we have been flooded with letters and communications from all direc-
tions offering cures, preventatives, giving advice, eriticism—and commendation
in some cases—some very recently, and so on. We got plenty of publicity once it
became known that it was foot and mouth disease. It has been very highly
advertised.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Charlton, and then Mr. Decore.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Dr. Childs, you have had considerable experience with both vesicular
stomatitis and foot and mouth disease? You have seen foot and mouth disease?
—A. Yes.

Q. And I understand that you have seen a considerable amount of vesicular
stomatitis during the time that you have been with the department?—A. Yes,
that is so.

Q. You have seen a lot of it?—A. Yes.

Q. And you can tell it pretty well, you can tell the difference between
the two diseases?—A. Yes, I believe I can, on close examination; but, doctor,

" I would not depend on that altogether.

Q. No, I realize that, doctor; and that would be your reason for disagreeing
with the authors Hagen and Bruner to whom Mr. Argue referred when he
asked you whether you agreed with what they said in their book and you said
that you did not. You stated that you disagreed with these text books to which
Mr. Argue referred last night?—A. I do not recall saying that I didn’t agree
with them.

Q. And they said that it was impossible to diagnose this disease, as I
understand it, without animal inoculations. That is what I understood, but
mind you, I might be wrong. I understood that Mr. Argue -asked you if you
agreed with that statement and you said that you did not.

Mr. Laing: He said not entirely, not 100 percent.

Mr. ARGUE: He said he did not agree.

Mr. CHARLTON: If the honourable member on my right would let the
witness answer the question.

Mr. DeEcorg: I do not think that is what the witness answered yesterday;
he said that he did not agree entirely. You said that he said yesterday that he
disagreed.

Mr. ARGUE: He is here and he can speak for himself.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. I think Dr. Childs can answer for himself.

The WirnEss: I have lost track of it I am afraid. If you don’t mind repeat-
ing, Dr. Charlton.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Mr. Argue asked you last night if you did not agree with Hagen and
Bruner, the authors of this book in which it says (page 670) “when the disease
occurs in cattle only special inoculations are required definitely to differentiate
this disease from foot and mouth disease.” Now, do you agree with that
statement?—A. Yes, I do agree, almost fully. Yes.

Q. You agree almost fully?—A. Yes, that is to verify the clinical diagnosis.
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Q. To verify your clinical diagnosis.—A. To support it, sure.

Q. And you said a'moment ago that you could tell by clinical examination
the difference between the two diseases?—A. Yes, but I qualified that by saying
that I would not depend on that; I would go further and take specimens in
the case of foot and mouth disease.

Q. You would go further than that?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you at any time, Dr. Childs, ever speak to your officials in the
field, did you ever tell them that you could tell it, or intimate to them that
animal inoculations were not absolutely necessary?—A. No. I never told any-
body that, I never mentioned that to anybody, that animal inoculations were
not necessary; in fact, I consider animal inoculations a very important part
of the diagnosis.

Q. Did you allow your officials in the field to go ahead and make animal
inoculations whenever they consider it necessary?—A. No, I would want to

+ keep control of that.

Q. You would want to keep control of that?—A. Oh yes.

Q. Now, I see here, on February 23rd a wire to you, from Dr. Wells:

“Suggest you phone Storey re stomatitis southern Alberta Stop In view
lack of developments test animals here will you approve supplementary animal
inoculations here Stop Unless negative decision received near future I feel
general farm to farm inspection in quarantine area urgent Stop Additional
staff needed if farm to farm inspection instituted Stop Please advise”. Now,
Dr. Wells thought farm to farm inspection was urgent but he did not go ahead
with the animal inoculations until he had consulted you?—A. That is correct.

@. Did you permit it?—A. Yes.

Q. Then, on the next page I see you sent a wire—yes, you did.—A. I might
say, Dr. Charlton, at that time Dr. Shahan, foot and mouth disease research
specialist of the Bureau of Animal Industry at Washington, had arrived at
Regina and he had recommended that these field tests be carried on again—I
have gone over that already, you know—three of the animals had not reacted
or had not come down with the disease during that time, three of the animals
which were inoculated on the 18th.

Q. These animals were injected on the 17th or 18th?—A. It was on the
18th.

Q. Now, here is a letter which I would like to bring to your attention. I will
read it:—“As you were advised over the telephone today, we have received
a report of sickness in cattle at Beechy, Sask. The roads to Beechy are entirely
blocked. It is possible, as you have suggested, to send a man by train from
Saskatoon. However, a trip of this nature by train would take four days and,
unfortunately, we have not sufficient staff to permit a man four days for one
call. The only other alternative is to have a veterinary officer travel in by light
plane. Such transportation is available for rent and can readily be arranged for
by Mr. L. B. Thomson, Director, P.F.R.A., who is in the habit of using this
mode of travelling.

It is realized that you suggested the call could wait for a few days in the
hope that the roads would be open.”—It is dated February 26th. Would you
suggest that an investigation of that type could wait for a few days?—A. Yes,
in the case, knowing the terrain as I do and the distance, this report came in
from the centre of infection. I thought it could wait but you will find if you
read on that if the roads did not open we would send him in by plane.

Mr. CHARLTON: But you suggested we could wait.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you going to be much longer, Mr. Charlton?

Mr. CHARLTON: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Stewart just wants to ask one question before we
adjourn, or are you not particular about it, Mr. Stewart?

Mr. STEWART: Well, one of the other members asked me a question to ask.
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By Mr. Charlton:

Q. To be fair to Dr. Childs, I want to read a part of the next letter he wrote
to Dr. Christie in reply to that wire, and here is the part that is so effective:
“A delay of only a few hours in dealing with an essential feature of the work
could well cost the Canadian public many millions of dollars.” This is where ]
he says to go ahead and use the plane—“could well cost the Canadian people
many millions of dollars.”

Now, on the one hand you say it would not make much difference to wait
a day, and on the other hand you say a delay of a few hours would be very
costly. i

Now, another thing, in the case of the second horse inoculation, one horse
was inoculated on December 12 at the Woods farm, the third horse was
inoculated on February 12 on the Haun farm. None of these horses gave a
positive reaction, did they?—A. They did not. But if I might cut in here, if
you will permit, three of the animals that we inoculated with fresh virus on
the 18th never did react, susceptible animals.

Q. Yes, I know, but the very fact that these two animals did not react—
would that lead you to believe that it was foot and mouth disease?” Would not
that lead you to believe that there was foot and mouth disease, doctor, when
they did not react?—A. Not necessarily, because these were contact animals
from Waas, and our men there had diagnosed that as vesicular stomatitis. They
Were experienced men and, furthermore, the horse inoculation there was
positive, or so reported.

Q. They diagnosed the first one because there were positive reactions in
the horses. They diagnosed that vesicular stomatitis because there were
positive reactions in the horses that were inoculated, and yet on the second and
third horses that were inoculated there was no reaction, and still you kept to
the same diagnosis. Here on January 2, the report signed by Dr. James on the
farm of R. Clifton, says:—“I visited the above premises and inspected two
horses and two’ cattle and found that up to the present time the horses have
not become infected although they are stabled in stalls adjoining stalls occupied
by the two cows which are exhibiting very severe symptoms: of stomatitis.”

Now, when you studied that report, Dr. Childs, that is on Januray 2, would
that not appear strange to you that two horses in adjacent stalls to two cattle
that were infected showing very severe symptoms of stomatitis, which were
showing in these cattle—would that not lead you to believe it was foot and
mouth disease?—A. It is not as good evidence as in some of these herds that
Were affected. Some of the cattle in infected herds never showed any symptoms
Whatever. f

Q. Oh yes, I know; but these cattle were stabled in stalls; and the horses
Wwere stabled in stalls adjoining cows which were exhibiting very severe symp-
toms of stomatitis.

The CHAIRMAN: Before you leave, gentlemen, I think we should decide on

. the next meeting. Shall it be on Monday morning?

The WiTNESS: I am willing to go on, sir, if you wish.
The CHAIRMAN: You mean to go on to-night?

The WITNESS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: That is entirely up to the meeting.

Mr. Wyrie: Mr. Chairman, I move that we adjourn to meet on Monday
morning at 11:00.

The CHAIRMAN: It has been moved by Mr. Wylie—

Mr. WrigHT: Before we adjourn there is a question I want to ask with
regard to the calling of witnesses. I think the witnesses should be called
before Monday.
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The CHAIRMAN: I was going to make a statement about witnesses for
Monday. But I shall put Mr. Wylie’s motion first. It has been moved that
we adjourn to meet again on Monday morning at 11:00. All those in favour of
the motion? Those contrary?

Agreed.

Now, I have been advised that Dr. Hall is not yet back, but I believe that
he could be here on Monday afternoon; however, Dr. Mitchell could be on hand
on Monday morning. Is it agreed that we have Dr. Mitchell, the pathologist,
here on Monday morning?

Agreed.

Dr. Carlson and Dr. James will be here ready for Tuesday. I have got
that advice. And Dr. Wells will be here for Thursday. Dr. Carlson has to
go back to Regina, I understand, on Tuesday night.

Mr. WRIGHT: I wanted to raise the matter of calling two witnesses who are
not on your list, Dr. Hewitt, B.S. of Regina, a private practitioner there who
came into contact with some of these herds, and constable W. Sherman, who
made the report which was asked for in the House, when Mr. Garson stated
that he could not table the report, but that the constable might be called
before the committee to give evidence. I would like to request that these 2
gentlemen be called.

The CHAIRMAN: We will look into that.

Mr. ARGUE: On a question of privilege, Mr. Chairman, I think it is important
to the members of the committee, if we are not to have too much repetition, to
have the minutes of proceeding printed as quickly as possible, and I wonder
if you could look into that point and see if we could not have all the evidence
up to date before us before Monday.

The CHAIRMAN: I shall do so.

The committee adjourned.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Monbpay, May 5, 1952.

* am, the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J. Bater, presiding.

@? } The Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met at 11 o’clock

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Bennett, Black
(Chateauguay—Huntingdon-Laprairie), Bryce, Cardiff, Catherwood, Charlton,
Corry, Cruickshank, Decore, Diefenbaker, Fair, Gardiner, Gauthier (Lapointe),
George, Harkness, Hetland, Jutras, Jones, Kickham, Kirk (Antigonish-
Guyshorough), Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth), Laing, MacKenzie, Major, McLean
(Huron-Perth), McWilliam, Murray (Oxford), Murray (Cariboo), Quelch,
Stewart (Yorkton), Sinnott, Whitman, Wood, Wright, Wylie.

: 'In attendance: Dr. E. E. Carlson and Dr. N. V. James, Health of Animals
lvision, Department of Agriculture.

Dr. Carlson was called, heard and questioned.

.During the questioning of the witness by Mr. Wright, a point of order
havlng been raised, the Chairman ruled that a letter from which Mr. Wright
Was quoting, and on which he was basing certain questions, must be tabled.

Mr. Wright refused to comply with the Chairman’s ruling.
Mr. Murray (Cariboo) then moved that the letter be read by the Clerk.
And the question having been put on the said motion, it was agreed to.

Whereupon Mr. Wright again refused to table the letter in question and
Stated his intention of appealing the Chairman’s ruling to the House.

Mr. Charlton tabled a circular letter dated April 18, 1951, from the Veteri-
hary Director General addressed to all Canadian veterinarians on the subject
of Foot and Mouth Disease, which is printed as Appendix A to this day’s min-
Utes of proceedings and evidence.

- On motion of Mr. Stewart, at 1 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until
O'clock p.m. this day. i

AFTERNOON SITTING
B The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. Arthur J.
ater, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Anderson, Argue, Bater, Bennett, Bryce, Cardiff,
Catherwood, Charlton, Corry, Cruickshank, Decore, Diefenbaker, Dumas, Fair,
ardiner, Gauthier (Lapointe), George, Gour (Russell), Harkness, Hetland,
uf_raS, Jones, Kirk (Antigonish-Guysborough), Kirk (Digby-Yarmouth),
Alng, MacKenzie, Major, McLean (Huron-Perth), McWilliam, Murray (Cari-

g;’ol)_, Quelch, Ross (Souris), Stewart (Yorkton), Sinnott, Whitman, Wright,
Ylie, : ‘
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In attendance: Dr. E. E. Cérlson and Dr. N. V. James, Health of Anima
Division, Department of Agriculture.

Examination of Dr. Carlson was continﬁed.
Dr. Carlson was retired. I
Dr. N. V. James was called, questioned and retired.

At 6.45 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, May 6, at 1
o’clock a.m. : : ¢ :

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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'~ Member for Acadia, I would just like to read you a telegram. I get telegrams

EVIDENCE

May 5, 1952.

.} g 11.00 a.m.

'.I‘he CHAIRMAN: Order please, gentlemen. When we adjourned on Friday

€vening last it was suggested and I think settled that we would have Dr.
itchell with us this morning, but I will read to you a change which I
think perhaps should take place this morning:—“When Dr. Carlson and Dr.
James of Regina, were instructed to come to Ottawa to appear before the
fommittee on Tuesday, May 6, airline accommodation was not available for
th_e required time. However, they were able to secure accommodation on an
r Force plane which arrived in Ottawa late Saturday. Consequently these

Veterinarians are now in Ottawa and can give evidence today if the committee
S0 desires. In order that they may return to their duties at Regina, it is
Suggested that the committee hear them immediately and defer calling Doctors
Mitchell and Hall until later today or tomorrow. This arrangement would
enable these men to return to their duties at Regina a day earlier than would
be the case if they do not appear before the committee until tomorrow.

Dr. Wells has been notified to be available to appear before the committee
not later than Thursday.” .

Will someone move that that be concurred in.

Mr. QueLcH: I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if before we hear witnesses we
could have a report from the Minister of Agriculture about any other outbreak
of foot and mouth disease?

The CHAIRMAN: We should deal with the motion first. All in favour of the
motion?

Carried.

Mr. WricHT: After this witness is Dr. Christie going to be called?
The CuarMAN: I have no idea, I cannot say who may be called.
Mr. StEwART: That is up to the steering committee.

The CuaRMAN: Yes, it would be up to the steering committee, to suggest
Whom we would call. ;

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, if there is nothing else of a preliminary
Nature I would ask for the production of an itemized statement showing the
filsposal of meat, beef and hides and so on, from the Burns’ company plant
0 particular, during the period of the quarantine; then, secondly, a record of
“all shipments which have been made of live bulls from Regina during the
Period December, January and February—prior to their destruction. - I ask ,
that because I think it would be most important to know whether or not any
‘Of this semen has been shipped out; and, particularly, I understand that some
of them that suffered from the disease in December were subsequently sold
and used to breed.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, in answer to the honourable

Svery morning from either Dr. Wells or Dr. Christie and others who happen
to be here at Regina, with regard to new cases; and this one reads as follows:

One new infected premise uncovered in Weyburn area this evening.

That was on May 4.
' 22 cattle 89 swine involved. Owner Sam McGonicgal purchased calf
from infected premises of George Johnston.- No other contacts expected.
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And now, respecting the other question which was just raised by Mr.
Diefenbaker, I think in so far as it is possible to do so that the information
with regard to such matters should be obtained from the officials who are on
the stand from time to time. Thése men are here this morning from Regina,
right from where the matter is being handled, and they have had something
to do with the questions which have been raised, and I think, so far as
possible, the information should be obtained from them.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: The reason for asking for that information was because
if we knew that we would have what was the cause of any spread to that
farm and it might save time.

' Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: The only thing about that is this: I think I
would have some doubts—and I hope the honourable member will take the
same position as I take myself—I would have some doubts about the advis-
ability of putting either on the table of the House or on the table of this
committee the breedings in connection with these bulls. The individual knows
who had the bulls bred, and I think there is so much involyed in that that I do
not need to go into an explanation about it. There is so much involved in that,
there could be very strong exceptions taken. That is why I ask that.the matter
be not pressed at this time. There may be a time that it should be pressed.
It can be allowed to stand until we have the information the officials have
on it. I suggest that it would be better to wait until we are in a better
position to see just what happened there.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, as far as that goes I do not thing the
farmers are concerned. I would not want to cause them personal embarrass-
ment and, of course, I am not going to press for the information for the very f
reasons advanced by the minister; but it certainly does strike one that this
might be the cause of this kind of thing happening during that period between
the 1st of December and the end of January. In the circumstances one would
certainly want to ascertain what had happened, and also to what extent infec-
tion may have been spread. I would like to have the information from the
time these bulls were first found to be diseased, which I understand was quite
early in the period; and, why from that day on any official of the Department
of Agriculture allowed shipments’ of semen from these particular animals.
One would think, to an ordinary layman, that would amount to the most
serious dereliction of duty, and the less said about it the better at the moment.

Mr. WriGHT: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask the minister if he has any
objection to tabling all the regulations present in force in the quarantine area
with respect to the prevention of the spread of this disease, and also what the
regulations are in the buffer area. I think that is pretty important that we
know what these regulations are so that we can determine whether we think
they are sufficient or not.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I thought, and if I am not right then the offi-
cials who happen to be sitting here now can tell you when they are on their
feet—I thought these men would know this better than anybody else and that
would be better than putting on the record all the details of what the position
is, because these things do change more or less from day to day; new prob-
lems develop, and they deal with them with the authority they have now, and
have been dealing with them; I think they could tell the story much better
than any documents put on the record. If, after they have told the story,
something else is wanted we will do something about that later on.

Mr. WricHT: Usually the regulations are issued by the department.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Well, they know it better than anybody else;
some may be issued by them rather than by the department. ;

Mr. WRIGHT: But, Mr. Minister, we must elicit that information from them
in our questioning on the regulations. If the regulations are tabled then wé




Yoot

AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION 221

would have all the details and know what all the regulations are. I think
they should certainly be before this committee regardless of what evidence
they may give, and then we will be in a better position to judge whether
Proper action is being taken, and we cannot do that without knowing what
the regulations are. Not to have the regulations before us when we are
questioning the witness does not seem to me to be common sense.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I do not have any objection to that, I was just
considering the best method of producing them. What I am suggesting is
that these men will know what the regulations are.” They will have copies
of them. It is all right for them to be read and presented to you. If you do .
not want to get it that way and prefer the other way, the way I was suggest-
Ing, I have no objection to either way.
~ Mr. WrigHT: Well, Mr. Chairman, I think we should have those regula-
tions before us when we are questioning these witnesses.

The CHAIRMAN: Louder, please, Mr. Wright.

Mr. WriGHT: I think we should have the regulations before us when we are
questioning the witnesses. It is very difficult to know what actions are being
taken or what action should be taken unless we have the regulations ‘here
to go by.

Mr. JuTras: With respect to your last question, Mr. Wright, I am assured
by an official of the department that they have the regulations here and I
understand that the proper official of the department is quite prepared to
Present them. :

_ Mr. WricHT: I think we should have them before us when we are ques-
tioning the witnesses. That is my personal view of the matter.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I might say, Mr. Chairman, that Dr. Carlson
tells me that he is in the position to give you a very clear review of all the
regulations as to what they are doing, and if you are not satisfied with what
Is here we will get the complete regulations for you.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, is it the pleasure of the committee to call Dr.
Carlson? :

Dr. E. E. Carlson, Assistant District Veterinarian, Regina, Saskatchewan, called:

The WITNESS: Mr. Chairman, Honourable Mr. Gardiner and gentlemen; I
am assistant district veterinarian under Dr. Christie at Regina and have been
Since the present outbreak started and I am prepared to endeavour to answer
any questions that are within my scope and within my ability to do so.

Mr. WRIGHT: Dr. Carlson, could you give us a statement of just what
happened out there from the start?

Mr. STEwWART: I would suggest, Mr. Chairman, that Dr. Carlson first give
the committee, so we will have as we would in any matter, a complete record
of how long you were with the department, your qualifications, and so forth.

Ou may be a little sensitive about that, but let us know how long you have
been with the department and so forth, so the committee may know what
Weight to attach to what you say.

The WITNESS: Gentlemen, I have been with the department for 22} years
largely in Saskatchewan, connected partly with field work and partly with
Meat inspection; I would say about half each. During the last five years I

ave been Dr. Christie’s assistant in Regina, and as Dr. Christie’s assistant I
ave been in charge of inspecting packing plants within the province; and
haven’t had a great deal to do with field operations except that any assistant
4S8 on occasion to be a Jack-of-all-trades more or less.
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Now, the story of our difficulties out there. I suppose it is better to begin
at the beginning of the story. I was one of the first, along with Dr. James, to
visit these premises where this vesicular condition first started. As the records
would indicate I personally received a telephone call from Dr. Hunter to the
superintendent at Regina reporting that he had a vesicular condition; and it is
always understood of course, that vesicular conditions are to be reported for
further investigation to determine the scope of the outbreak. As soon as
possible I contacted Dr. James and with Dr. James visited the Waas premises.
This vesicular condition resembled, to us, stomatitis. I think my report will
indicate that I suspected infectious stomatitis.

Mr. ARGUE: What date would that be?

The WriTNESs: That would be December 3rd—pardon me, December 2nd.

The CHAIRMAN: December 2nd?

The WITNESS: Yes. We made a thorough investigation of these cattle and
at the time I did not think there was any evidence; owing to the mildness of
the condition, we did not suspect foot and mouth disease. As you know,
specimens were not taken, because we have a ruling in the department which
I think has been explained to you, that specimens are not to be taken of a
suspected foot and mouth or vesicular condition. We did not suspect foot and
mouth disease because of the very mild nature of the disease. Now, on the
following morning, which was, of course, the morning that it was reported
to Dr. Christie and Dr. James were detailed to take over the investigation, Dr.
James of course handled it from there on; now, I did not enter the picture
again until later on in February when I visited with Dr. James on a premises
north of Regina and saw a pig with foot separations, which didn’t look a bit
good. Then is when I suspected foot and mouth disease.

Mr. BrRYCE: What date was that?

The WITNESS: That was February 12th. And I believe that resulted from
the phone call to Dr. Hall the following day. Specimens were procured the
following day and forwarded to Ottawa resulting, as you know, in the positive
diagnosis. Now, the clinical picture up until that time would not indicate
foot and mouth disease. You must bear in mind the geographical location,
the fact that we have never had foot and mouth disease in Canada before; and
it would have been preposterous for any veterinary to suspect foot and mouth
disease—naturally, he would have been quite a hero. He would have gained
the headlines of the papers had he stated that he suspected foot and mouth
disease had it been found to be correct. That would be just like holding a
ticket on a winner in the derby; certainly, he ‘would be extremely lucky.

Now, the disease at the present time does not bear the clinical picture
that it did at that time. There is no comparison whatever. I am speaking
about the clinical basis of what is seen in the field. Now, the diagnosis of
a vesicular disease is a very, very difficult thing. You just do not run around
and say it is this and it is that; it takes a laboratory diagnosis to confirm these
things when the clinical picture is not too clear. You speak of field diagnosis,
that can also be tricky too; because Dr. James in his field diagnosis, field tests
got blisters in horses. Now, these blisters in horses would indicate that it was
not foot and mouth disease; so you can see there was no cause for alarm as
far as we were concerned at that time.

Mr. WRIGHT: I would like to ask the witness—
Mr. STEWART: Let him go ahead and finish his story.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, I think we will let him try to finish giving us the
whole of his story.

The WITNESS: Speaking of diagnosis as you know, we are not experienced

in this country with foot and mouth disease. Experienced men would have

‘an .
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been the last to criticize us on this diagnosis. We have Americans in the
Regina area at the present time and they have offered no criticism of what
we have done, they think we have done a remarkable job out there.

Mr. ARGUE: Let's deal with what we have here.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: You are asking for these records and you will
have them.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Surely that is not evidence—

The CHAIRMAN: Order.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, I object to a member of this
committee to all intents and purposes offering remarks which are very objec-
tionable with regard to a witness on the stand and what he is saying. We should
hear his evidence first, and when we have heard it through make our decisions
based on that. You are not in a police court now. All you are trying to do
is make political material out of it.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: We are at least trying to get justice. The statement was
made by the witness as to what somebody else has said without offering any
proof in support of such statement. I would say to the committee this: we
want the evidence. The witness in giving his evidence said that they con-
sidered calling in other people and that there was somebody there who told him
it is all right; when as a matter of fact evidence may indicate that it was all
wrong. Statements of that kind are not evidence.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: On a point of order: just be a little patient and
don’t break in every time you feel that way, pay attention to the witness on
the stand.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Mr. Chairman, in making statements of that kind the
witness is not giving evidence.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: He is entitled to the protection of this committee
and I mean to see that he gets it—

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: I want the facts, Mr. Chairman; that is all. You want
protection.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I think that is what he is giving you, he did
refer to the opinions of certain American officials who happened to be out there.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: That is what I objected to.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: All my honourable friend wants to do is to paint
a political picture as a result of these sittings; nothing else, nothing more. The
reference before this committee has to do with foot and mouth disease, but that
is something entirely different. Let us get on and deal with the disease and
not deal with our political views. I have something to say to my honourable
friend.

Mr. DiereENBAKER: The minister doesn’t want political views because he
if afraid of being embarrassed by them.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: My experience has extended over a long period.
My honourable friend will have considerable difficulty proving his views that
I am afraid of political embarrassment, but this is not the place to do it. We will
do it in due course but here, now, I do not think the witness, to use a
stronger term, should be insulted by a member of this committee.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: On a question of privilege. There is no question of insult
. or anything of that sort. I may say that never a word has passed my lips
about gross negligence in this case. I have been listening to the evidence
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and I do not want to prejudge this—and that is why I have not said after listen-
ing to the witness that the evidence does reveal gross negligence or apathy on
the part of the witnesses. I am not saying that at the moment but, certainly,
the witness should not be telling that somebody else said they were satisfied
with what happened.

Mr. JuTRAS: On a point of order. As the minister says this is not a court.
The member refers constantly to evidence and only pure evidence being
allowed before the committee. I am not a technical person but I want to know
about this disease. I want to know about the opinions of those who are supposed
to know—Ilike the opinion of a prominent veterinarian from the United States.

I think it is important to the question and I do not think we should limit
the witness exclusively to evidence. I think we should have opinion.

The WITNESS: It has always been evident to me that any criticism comes
from people who least know the disease. The more you know the disease
the least you will be likely to criticize. It is one of the most difficult diseases
to deal with. It plays tricks on you and it appears with different clinical
pictures.

You must bear in mind this is the first time we have had it. I can show
you literature from the United States on one outbreak which took five months
to diagnose. They are fellows who have had twelve outbreaks or thereabouts.

I can show you a pamphlet by the United States Department of Agriculture

“quoting the 1932 outbreak of foot and mouth disease in southern California in

which 18,000 pigs were destroyed, 40,000 some odd cattle, and a few goats.
That diagnosis was incorrect. It never was foot and mouth disease, and some-
body would like to eat the pamphlet but I suppose it was published and distri-
buted before the diagnosis was properly made. That is how tricky foot and
mouth disease can be.

I submit that there are only a handful of men in the world who know all
that there is about foot and mouth disease—if they do know it all and I doubt
that—and they are still studying it. I submit there are very few men on this
continent with sufficient knowledge of foot and mouth disease to get down to
basically criticizing on any scientific basis.

By Mr. Laing:

Q. Can you explain to us Type “A”—there is reference to type A here. Is
that a mild type?—A. Not necessarily. It is one of the milder types but the
types vary in severeness.

Q. How many types are there?—A. “A”, “O”, “C”—there are new ones,
varying new ones dug up constantly from time to time.

Q. You referred to the clinical qualities being changed since the start?

Mr. CrRUICKSHANK: Louder.

By Mr. Laing:
Q. You referred to the clinical appearance being changed at the present
time?—A. Oh, definitely.
Q. Is it more severe?—A. Oh, yes, absolutely, it is. The foot lesions are
very pronounced.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Diefenbaker?

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Just a few questions in regard to what the doctor says about laboratory
tests being the only way in which the matter can be determined.—A. That is
the definite way—the only proper way.

Q. The only proper way?—A. Field tests are used but they can kick back
on you—at least that is my professional opinion; but I may be wrong.
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Q. It is your professional opinion based on fine experience in a fine public
service that the only way in which determination can be made final is through
laboratory tests?—A. That is the way I would like to have it made.

Q. And field tests and these other visual examinations do not finally deter-
mine whether or not it is foot and mouth disease or ordinary stomatitis, do
they?—A. When you have an outbreak it possibly would.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. When you have an outbreak and you are just
working on that outbreak it possibly would.

Q. When it is just an isolated case here and there it requires laboratory
tests?—A. I would prefer that. .

Q. Did you receive instructions from Dr. Childs not to have laborafory
tests taken?—A. I did not personally, ‘sir.

Q. Did anyone in the office in the month of December or January receive
those instructions from your knowledge or information?

Mr. LaiNGg: That would be hard for him to say?

The WriTnEss: I understand Dr. Christie did, but it has always been my
understanding, sir, in the twenty-three years I have been in the service, that
we were never to send specimens. That dates back as far as I can remember.
I cannot prove it in writing but it has been my understanding that vesicular
diseases were not to be submitted for laboratory diagnosis because of the
danger of transportation.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Now, on the danger of transportation, as someone has said it is always
easy to look back and say we could have done differently; that we always have
better backsight than foresight; but had you not officials going back and forth
from Regina to Ottawa? Did you not have them during the period December
and January?—A. Yes, I suppose we did.

Q. Dr. Childs was out there in December?—A. I cannot recall it in
December.

Q. He was there in January though?—A. Yes.

Q. You saw him in January did you not, when he was out there?—A. Yes.

Q. And I put it to you on that occasion you raised the question of this
being possibly foot-and-mouth disease of a mild nature"——A At that time
we did not suspect foot-and-mouth disease.

Q. Did you not mention it in any way?—A. I do not believe I men-
tioned foot-and-mouth disease. We did not discuss the words foot-and-
mouth disease—that was a taboo word.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Foot-and-mouth disease was always more
or less a word we did not discuss.

Q. The use of the word foot-and-mouth disease was more or less taboo
in the department?—A. Because of it having international and trade com-
plications.

Q. You would not want to come to a conclusion of foot-and-mouth
disease on an international basis, and also on the basis of danger to the
industry in the country and to the whole cattle industry? That would be
the reason you did not even want to think of the possibility of it coming
into our midst?—A. You would be very cautious about speaking about
foot-and-mouth disease in a country where it was never known to exist.

Q. That being so, would it not have been so easy, as these cases arose
in January, so easy with officials going back and forth to Ottawa, to have
sent samples down for examination by Dr. Mitchell?—A. Yes, using hind-
sight; yes.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Using hindsight it would have been.

Q. And even using ordinary common sense at the time would that not
have been a precautionary measure that ought well to have been taken?—
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A. We are sorry now that it was not taken but we do have a rule that samples
cannot be sent.

Mr. MugrraY: Could it have been done safely?

The WiTNESS: I guess it is not too safe. They do not permit it in the
United States. A man down there would be fired if he sent samples.

Mr. ARGUE: You are sending them all the time now?
The WITNESS: Yes, because Dr. Mitchell is prepared now to get them.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. That is the strange thing about it. Since it has been established as
foot-and-mouth disease you are shipping samples down all the time?—A. Yes,
under great care.

Q. Before it was established as being foot-and-mouth disease you had to
be so careful about any samples that were sent for fear of the disease being
distributed by breaking of the containers in other parts of the country?—
A. Yes, that is correct. y

Q. Now, as an outstanding veterinarian, can you tell the committee
whether or not semen distributed from infected animals or those having
had contact with infected animals is a dangerous thing to the spread of the
disease?—A. It could possibly be so but I think that has all been checked.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. I think all that was checked—all possible
contacts in respect of semen or a contact of any kind—they were thoroughly
looked into and checked.

Q. Is it not a fact that early in December some bulls kept by the Depart-
ment of Agriculture developed symptoms of what appeared to be stomatitis?
—A. Nothing to my knowledge. :

Q. Not to your knowledge?—A. No, sir.

Q. In the event that those animals had those symptoms would you con-
sider it a safe thing to be distributing semen from animals that either had the
disease or had been in contact with it?—A. I would say at that time, sir,
you were not dealing with foot-and-mouth disease.

Q. No, no, but— —A. It would depend on the disease you suspected at
that time. Possibly with other diseases it would have been perfectly safe.

Q. One thing you have to be sure of is to make assurance doubly sure
that this disease be not spread. That is one thing—every precaution should
be taken that it be not spread if it is foot-and-mouth disease?-—A. That is
correct.

Q. And not having taken these laboratory tests without which you can-
not determine it you would require greater precautions? Even though at
that time you, by visual examination, concluded it was stomatitis? Would
that not be right?—A. I did not quite get the question.

Q. Did you have any fear that this might be foot and mouth disease?—
A. In February, sir.

Q. Not before?—A. No.

- Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Not fear—I was not entirely satisfied that we
had made a proper diagnosis but I could not say I feared foot and mouth
disease. : r

Q. How could you be sure‘you had made a proper diagnosis when the only
way to determine whether it is a mild case of foot and mouth disease is by
laboratory tests?—A. You could not be sure but the symptoms were very
mild and, on account of the geographic location, you would not expect foot
and mouth disease. Only by hindsight could you expect foot and mouth
disease. .

Q. I have only one more question. I ask you whether or not on February
4, 1952, some farmers communicated with you in Regina and asked you
whether or not there was any possibility of this being foot and mouth disease?—
A. With me, sir? ;
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Q. Yes, on the 4th of February?—A. Is the letter addressed to me or to
Dr. Christie?

Q. No, by conversation—in conversation?—A. I do not recall anything
like that, sir.

Q. You do not recall it?—A. No.

Q. Now, then, is there any danger of spreading foot and mouth disease
as we now know it to be by the shipment of hides from Burns and Company
during the period January and February?—A. It would be possible.

Q. And what about the tallow and offal and the like?—A. I would not
say the tallow—because it is sterilized in its manufacture.

Q. But from the offal?—A. Yes—a possibility—but most offal is cooked.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Most offal is cooked so I would say the danger
there would be very, very slight.

Q. If it was uncooked but frozen and shipped to other parts of the
country?—A. If fed to an animal—otherwise it would be very unlikely. These
things do not go out as animal feed.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Wright.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. You stated, Dr. Carlson, that laboratory diagnosis was necessary to
determine a vesicular disease?—A. No, I did not. To differentiate and to
make a proper diagnosis—not to determine it. We had already determined
on our first visit that we had a vesicular disease. To determine the nature of
it it would be necessary to make a diagnosis.

Q. Was that diagnosis made?—A. In February, sir.

Q. But you knew you had a vesicular disease on the 2nd of December?—
A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. And you did not attempt to make any diagnosis before February?

Mr. STEWART: What was the answer?

Mr. WRicHT: The witness has stated there was a vesicular disease and it
was necessary to have a diagnosis to determine the particular vesicular disease
that it was.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: But he did not say that he had not made any
diagnosis.

Mr. WricHT: He has stated he made no diagnosis until February?
The Witness: Laboratory diagnoses, sir.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Laboratory diagnoses?—A. That is correct.

Q. A laboratory diagnosis is necessary to determine what the wvesicular
disease is?—A. Field tests will do it but laboratory diagnosis is considered to
be preferable.

Q. There is a letter here of December 15 and it states: “A horse which
was experimentally inoculated with material from mouth of a diseased cow so
far shows no lesions of aphta or stomatitis.”

That horse, not showing any lesions after having been inoculated with the
virus of vesicular stomatitis, you would naturally think there would be some
suspicion that this was not vesicular stomatitis?—A. That is Dr. James’ report
is it not, sir?

Q. Yes. You knew of this, of course?—A. I do not think I have read
all the reports. I have been so busy on field investigations.

Q. At that time you, as assistant head of the department, did not know
that the horse was inoculated or what the result was?—A. I probably knew
at the time. I knew the Waas horse had been inoculated but these reports
all go to Dr. Christie.
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Q. Under the circumstances, do you not think it would have been advisable
to have had some confirmation as to what the disease was—on December
12th—A. Yes but the matter at that time was entirely in Dr. James’ hands. I
had a great deal of confidence in Dr. James being able to arrive at a decision.

Q. Later on it states that a report was made. I have not got a copy of
it here but the report was made that this was not—that you did not think
this was a more infectious disease. When you made the statement that
this was not a more dangerous infectious disease what had you in mind?—A. I
think you should talk to the man who made the reports. It is not my report.

Q. It is not your report but these reports are submltted to you?—A. I
think you should ask Dr. James.

Q. Very well, we shall ask Dr. James then with respect to that.

There were two horses inoculated on the Waas farm on December 2 I
think it was, either the 2nd or the 3rd but the 2nd I believe?—A. That was by
Dr. James too. g

Q. By Dr. James?—A. Yes.

Q. Why, in your opinion, would those inoculations take place? If I called
in a vet. to my farm, having a bunch of cattle that were sick, and if he
wanted to take some of the virus that those cattle had and inoculate my
horses, it seems to me I would want to know why and I would question him?
I would bring him out there to cure my cattle, I think, and not to infect my
horses? He would have to give me some explanation as to why he was going
to take some virus and infect my horses?—A. No doubt an explanation was
given and the owner was quite willing that the veterinarian go ahead.

Q. What would that explanation be, Dr. Carlson?—A. Well, Dr.. James
probably asked that he run field tests to determine what kind of disease he
had; but I suggest you let Dr. James explain the conversation that took place.

Q. What would the inoculation of a horse determine in a case where there
was vesicular stomatitis?—A. It would determine whether it was vesicular
stomatitis or foot and mouth disease—or it would give some clues at least.

Q. Then there was some doubt? You would say there was doubt in the
veterinarians mind as to whether this was a more dangerous disease or not?—A.
No doubt.

Q. When he made that test. He was not expecting—we have been told that
nobody ever thought of foot and mouth disease and I cannot understand why
those tests were made unless there was some suspicion that there was a more
dangerous disease—and it was to determine whether that was a more danger-
ous disease that these test were made.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, on a point of order, the witness
has three times now stated that these investigations were carried on by the
next witness. He is going to be here as soon as you are through with this
witness and why not ask him the question? Why ask someone else to comm1t
himself on that information?

Mr. WricHT: What I am trying to determine is whether anyone who
was a senior official in the department accepted any responsibility for these
reports being made.

Mr. STEWART: Why not ask them that?

Mr. WRicHT: This is a senior official of Dr. James’ department. We had
Dr. Christie, who was a senior official to Dr. Carlson, and it seems to me that
these reports are given by veterinarians and they must go through the hands
of some of these senior officials who see them, and must accept some respon-

.sibility for them. The responsibility cannot be entirely placed on the veterin-

arians who make the diagnosis. They send reports and they go through a lot
of senior officials’ hands who should have checked on them. That is what I am
trying to determine—whether any check was miade by any senior officials
in this department after Dr. James’ reports were made as to whether there were
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proper precautions being taken and if we are not allowed to determine that,
I do not see there is much use in this committee sitting.

3 Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I would not say you are not allowed to examine
into it, but I do want to point out that the other man is here to give direct
evidence.

The CHAIRMAN: You have one more minute, Mr. Wright.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. I was trying to determine whether these reports were actually looked
over by yourself?—A. They are submitted to Dr. Christie. I was not connected
with the field reports. I was there after the field reports. "

Q. Dr. Christie is the man who would be responsible but not yourself?—A.
Yes; and then they are submitted to Ottawa. ;

Q. I was trying to determine who was responsible. Well, when we made
inquiries here the hon. minister said we had better wait until the officials from
the west came down as they had the answers. Apparently the officials here did
not know the answers. I wanted to determine whether the officials out there
had. These samples now are being sent through the mails or express?—A. By
air express, sir.

Q. By air express?—A. Yes.

Q. That was all I wanted to know.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Might I explain one thing as to procedure? We are
fighting the disease out there. Either Dr. Christie or Dr. Carlson must be on the
ground. We cannot have the whole staff away from there. It was not possible
for both Dr. Christie and Dr. Carlson to be away and it was thought that Dr.
Carlson, his assistant, could perhaps give reasonable information to you now.
There is not any objection to having Dr. Christie here later, but Dr. Carlson will
have to go back to Regina before we can bring Dr. Christie on. We must have
someone out there with this disease developing.

Mr. WrigHT: I think that is a perfectly normal request. Just one further
question I want to ask the witness before I finish.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. There have been some questions asked as to whether the provinecial
people made inquiries or did anything during the early stages of the disease.
Now, you say you have been with the department for some twenty-two years
In Saskatchewan?—A. That is correct, sir.

Q. Then, you would be familiar with what has taken place in the past in
the province of Saskatchewan with respect to contagious diseases?—A. I believe
I am familiar with some phases of it. _

Q. Well, I have a statement which states that the—“Dominion responsibility
for contagious diseases is well established and recognized by all provincial gov-
ernments”. You would agree with that?—A. Yes, under our Animal Contagious
Diseases Act we have—

Mr. STEWART: Let the witness finish his answer.

The WitnEss: I was saying under the Animal Contagibus Diseases Act we
have our scheduled diseases for which we are responsible.

By Mr. Wright:
Q. Is vesicular stomatitis one of them?—A. No, it is not scheduled.
Q. Is foot and mouth disease one of them?—A. Yes, it would be, certainly.
Q. The Department of Health of Animals division guards its jurisdiction
very strictly—
Mr. StEwaART: Now, what statement is this?
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Mr. WRriGHT: I am making this statement and asking the witness if it is
right or not.

Mr. STEWART: You are quoting somebody else.

Mr. WRIGHT: I am quoting a statement.

Mr. STEWART: Well, I think the committee should know what the state-
ment is.

Mr. WricHT: I am asking this witness if that is right.

The CHAIRMAN: Your time is up but I will let you complete this question.

Mr. WRrIGHT: ‘“For example, our provincial veterinarian at one time
published a statement with reference to what he thought to be a bovine type of
encephalomyelitis appearing in cattle in the southwest. When this statement
by Dr. R. P. Waechter, the then provincial veterinarian, came to the attention
of Dr. N. D. Christie of the Dominion Health of Animals division in Regina, Dr.
Christie immediately contacted our deputy minister and Dr. Waechter was called
‘on the carpet’ and we were very definitely told that contagious diseases and any
statements made in connection therewith came under the complete jurisdiction
of the Dominion Health of Animals division and that the function of the pro-
vincial veterinarians was to report any suspicious cases to them and that any
announcement to be made would be made by the Dominion Health of Animals
division.”

Mr. STEWART: Now, on a point of order, if my friend is going to read from
some letter he-has got from Saskatchewan I think the committee is entitled
to know who it is from if he is reading this quotation and put it before the
committee.

Mr. WriGHT: I do not have to put the letter on the table, but I am prepared
to say who it is from.

Mr. STEWART: Well, who is it from?

Mr. WricHT: It is from the Minister of Agriculture in the province of
Saskatchewan.

Mr. STewaRrT: Well, I think the committee should have the whole letter
before it.

Mr. WricHT: It is a statement and I am asking this witness whether that
statement in regard to what occurred on a previous occasion with regard to a
contagious disease was correct or not, and it was not me who started this.

The WiTNEss: I am afraid I cannot answer that because I do not know the
first thing about the incident in question. I never heard of it before.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. You never heard of it before?—A. No, if you could give me the date
of the letter —

Mr. DEcore: Mr. Chairman, on a point of order, he has read part of that
letter. I think the whole letter should be put in the record. I think it is only
fair it should be. He has a letter from the minister and we would like to know
what that letter contains.

Mr. STEWART: On a point of order, I submit that in a committee or in the
House where a letter is read and put to a witness as in this case—in any court
you would have to put it in and I think my friend from Lake Centre would agree
with me and here you are reading part of it which the committee has never
seen and there is very valuable information in it. The committee would like
to have that information and I think the whole letter should go in. If we are
going to read part of a letter I think it should go in.

The CHAIRMAN: I would rule that the letter be tabled.
Mr. WrIGHT: I do not submit to your ruling if that is your ruling.
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Mr. ArRcUE: Mr. Chairman, before you make your ruling, as I understand
the rules in the House, which I imagine cover the committee too, I am entitled
if I wish on my own to read an extract from a letter and I am not required to
submit that man’s name, but if the name is submitted voluntarily, as it has been
submitted voluntarily this morning, there is nothing in the rules that I know
of that requires me to table that letter from which I am quoting a part. The
man who is reading himself will take the responsibility as to whether the part
he is quoting from the letter is correct, but it is his letter and it is up to him
What he does with the letter which is addressed to him personally and not by
the committee or anyone else.

Mr. MURRAY: We have a letter from the Minister of Agriculture of the.
Province of Saskatchewan before us bearing on this subject and it is of public
Interest that it be read by the secretary of the committee to the committee.

Mr. QuELcH: On a point of order, I think the statement made by the hon.
member for Assiniboia is correct. The member has a right to read the letter
but if he is challenged he must be prepared to vouch for the authenticity of
the letter, but he is not required to table it provided it is a private letter.

Mr. JuTras: I am not quite sure of the rule, but I recall an incident that
took place years ago in the days of the Hon. Ernest Lapointe when a letter was
read in the House by the member for North Battleford. She objected to tabling
the letter and the minister asked to have the letter tabled. She had read part
of it and the ruling was at the time, I believe, that I know she had to produce
the letter and lay it on the table. That will be recalled by a few of the members
here who will remember this incident. Once a member has read from a letter
he should table the letter. ;

Mr. QueLcH: I want to point out that that member at the time was not
familiar with the rules; otherwise she could have objected to tabling the letter.

Mr. CRUICKSHANK: On a point of order we were given the same rules as the
House, 1 think, as Mr. Jutras points out, only I know it better than he does
because I read a letter and the speaker ruled that I had to table it.

The CHAIRMAN: There was a motion made by Mr. Murray and, I think,
Seconded by Mr. Sinnott, that this letter that Mr. Wright has and which he has
read from be read by the secretary and put into the record.

Carried.

Mr. WRIGHT: Mr. Chairman, I appeal the ruling to the House and I refuse
to table the letter in committee. ;

Mr. StEwaRT: Well, there is one document we cannot get.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Mr. Chairman, before you leave that, may I
refer to a ruling in the House the other day on a point of order?  The other day
When I was asked to table the documents which have been tabled here and
tabled elsewhere I read the rule from Bourinot and I am not posing as an
authority on rules because I have always maintained that the rules of Bourinot
are common sense and if you have a lot of common sense you do not need to be
reading the rules all the time and it is common sense, of course, when a man
feads part of a letter it ought to be put on the table. If you will read Bourinot,
Page 251, the first paragraph, starting near the top of the page and read down,
You will find the last sentence on the page says that even when it is privileged
In so far as the minister is concerned, that if he reads from the document, then

€ must table it. Even if it is privileged under all the rules of the House, if he
}c‘eﬁds from the document then it becomes a public document and he must
able it.
: Mr. QueLcH: Mr. Chairman, again I refer to Beauchesne and in Beauchesne
1t quotes the precedent that a person does not have to table a letter he has read
57137—2
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in view of the fact that it is a private letter but he has to vouch for the authen-
ticity of that letter but is not required to table it. )

Mr. STEWART: I point out this letter or document is neither private nor
confidential and I venture to say it is not confidential because I can see the letter
from here.

Mr. WRIGHT: It is a private letter whether the hon. member’s eyesight is as
good as he thinks it is.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Now, Dr. Carlson, in connection with your qualifications, I believe you
omitted one thing. Weren’t you one of the men who was sent down to Mexico
to study this particular disease—foot and mouth?—A. Yes, to observe.

Q. And you spent some time down there?—A. Several weeks—two weeks,’

I believe.

Q. You were appointed in what year to the Department of Agriculture?—
A. 1929, sir.

Q. That was at the time of the so-called “hungry thirties”?—A. That was
the start of it, I believe.

Q. And you served then under what is known as the “Bennett regime”?—
A. Yes, I believe I did, sir.

Q. And you also knew at that time a very estimable man who was later
made deputy, that is, Dr. Barton?—A. I cannot say I was personally acquainted
with him.

Q. You knew he headed the Department of Agriculture under the Bennett
regime?—A. Yes.

Q. And Dr. Barton was appointed by the Bennett regime as deputy" Any-
way, that is of record. Now, these instructions that were issued in connection
with the sending in of any tests to the laboratory, those applied under Dr.
Barton, didn’t they?—A. I would not know, sir. All I can say is that I have
understood that we are not to send samples. Where it originated from or where
it is in writing I cannot say.

Q. But it had applied for many.years before the present Minister of Agri-

culture became minister?—A. For twenty-three years, that I know of. That has
been my understanding; I may be wrong.

Q. Now, you said that there was a great difficulty of diagnosis in connection
with this disease?—A. There always is, sir.

Q. And at the start of this disease certain animals having been found
diseased were examined?—A. That is correct.

Q. And early in December, from then on, those animals generally on these
places that you did investigate began to improve?—A. They recovered, sir. Dr.
James’ report will indicate that.

Q. That was the general picture as far as you men were concerned, that
there was an improvement in the whole situation from early in December on
until the end of January?—A. That is correct.

Q. And no new cases for a period of approximately three weeks?—A. I
think Dr. James could possibly give you that picture better than I could because
he was on the spot investigating.

Q. And you say in connection with this particular foot and mouth disease
that there is a great difficulty of diagnosis?—A. Indeed so.

Q. And that there are a number of other diseases akin to it?—A. Quite
a number that you could be suspicious of.

Q. Well, it is something the same as with human beings; the doctors often
diognose wrong?—A. There are diseases that are not even of a vesicular nature
that will give you symptoms on diagnosis—I mean, tongue lesions and tempera-
tures and so forth.
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Q. And you say one of your objects was to make sure there was no false
alarm before you found this was foot and mouth disease?—A. It would be
fairly serious to diagnose as foot and mouth disease when it did not exist.

Q. Now, from the time that you were first made aware of this disease,
did you and the other officials out there take every step possible to stop the
spread of it no matter what disease it was?—A. I understand that individual
quarantine was put on in each place.

Q. And your whole object at that time was to stop any spread and you
took every step necessary as far you knew?—A. That is correct, sir.

Q. And in that you cooperated with the provincial Department of Agricul-
’{)ure—there was cooperation between you?—A. Yes, very close—always has .

een, sir.

Q. And there were no suggestions from the provincial Department of
Agriculture or its officials that you were not doing enough?—A. Not that were
brought to my attention, sir.

- Q. And the feeling between you and them was harmony and you got
on all right?—A. Very well, sir.

Q. And as far as you know, you took every step possible to stop the
Spreading of that disease no matter what disease it was?—A. I would say so.

Q. And was there any conflict at all between you and the provincial
€mployees?—A. Never at any time that I know of.

) Q. They did not come to you, any of them, and say, “Here, you are not
'0Ing enough on this thing,” or “You are falling down on the job” or anything
like that?—A. No.

Q. And you say as far as sending those samples in is concerned, that rule
applied in your department many years ago?—A. As far as I know it did. That
Was my understanding.

Q. And before this present government came into being?—A. We were
gg\’_etr permitted to send samples of that nature until we were instructed to

1t .

Q. And the same rule applies in the United States?—A. It applies right

NOW in the United States and very forcibly.

Mr. QueLcH: Mr. Chairman, I want to avoid asking any questions that have
already been asked, but I want a little clarification on one or two points.

By Mr. Quelch: :

Q. On December 2 you wrote a report and I want to read briefly from
that report. First of all you did outline a situation on the farm and then you
had this to say:

However, realizing the danger of relying on a field diagnosis in a
disease of a vesicular nature such as this, it was decided to contact Dr.
Childs, veterinarian director general, for further advice.

From that could we presume that you had in your mind that Dr. Childs might
Want to take additional measures, that he might want samples to be sent?

A. Additional measures were taken. Dr. James was instructed to run
field tests on horses which he can explain to you.

Q. Then field tests were made on horses December 8, two horses which had
developed stomatitis, is that correct?—A. That is Dr. James’ problem again.
I Understand that they did, that they showed lesions.

Q. You would no doubt consider that that in itself fairly well substantiated
your feeling that the disease was stomatitis?—A. Yes.

Q. Is there any possibility that the disease, that the disease on the Waas
M might be a different type of disease from what you first saw; is there
any possibility of there being two outbreaks there in the same herd, as between
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what you first saw and what you saw later on?—A. There is the possibility
I suppose that there might be degrees of infection; but that is very technical
and I could not answer. Some scientists might believe that theory of two
types; but, as far as I am concerned, I don’t think so.

Q. Dr. James’ report will show that he first thought this was stomatitis
and later on, after the inoculation was made on the horses, they did develop
stomatitis; is that correct?—A. Yes. Dr. James can explain that to you, again.

Q. I suppose when that happened then you would be inclined to think
there might be an outbreak, that the outbreak might be more serlous"———A 1
knew, of course, what it was then.

Q. I notice on February 16th two horses on the Moore farm, stabled
alongside two cows badly infected. I suppose that in itself would confirm the
feeling that there was stomatitis?—A. That is quite right.

Q. When you made your report on the 12th was there any other reason
then that the disease looked more serious?—A. Yes, on that particular day I saw
the pig with foot separations. Up until that time we had had no pigs or sheep
infected.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Sinnott.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Dr. Carlson, I understand that you are the supervisor in Regina?—A. No,
S,

Q. Are you the supervisor in Regina?—A. Scarcely supervisor, I am
assistant to Dr. Christie; and, of course, we all do some supervisory work.

Q. Then you are second in command to Dr. Christie? And second in
command to Dr. Wells?—A. No, no, Dr. Christie.

Q. Dr. Christie is above you?—A. Yes.

Q. You take your instructions from?—A. From Dr. Christie, sir.

Q. In other words, he is your immediate superior?—A. Yes.

Mr. SINNOTT: Mr. Chairman, before I ask any further questions I would
just like to make one comment about this letter. The Minister of Agriculture
has been asked during this investigation to table many letters which were
considered privileged and has done so; but I note that when the vote was
taken a few minutes ago, the member for Lake Centre did not vote against
the motion to have the letter tabled. I would like to comment on his behalf
that he also would like to have this letter tabled that is now in the possession
of the member for Melfort.

Mr. Laing: Is the honourable member saying that that letter should be
tabled?

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. You say that the field diagnosis of vesicular stomatitis is not very
satisfactory, is that right?—A. Well, I suppose it can be considered satisfactory,
but I would prefer to have it diagnosed in a lab. I understand that in the
States they use field diagnosis simply because they haven’t a virus laboratory
and it is against their law to have one.

Q. You have been an inspector in the packing plants for how many
years?—A. Oh, quite a number of years, sir, off and on during the past 23 years.
I have been at the packing plants.

Q. Were you the person who established the disease in the Burns’ yard?
—A. No, sir.

Q. Who is the man who established that?—A. Dr. James was the first man
to be called in.
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Q. Dr. James?—A. He was in the Burns’ feed lot.

Q. The Burns’ feed lot, yes.—A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell the committee where you got your instructions or orders
not to send vesicular stomatitis samples to Ottawa or Hull?—A. No. As I
understand it, I have always understood that we could never send them, but I
have nothing to show in writing.

Q. They must follow some regular established rules in the veterinary
service?—A. It has been a long time established rule, as far as I am concerned.

Q. But I understood you to say that it was an established fact that in
the case of vesicular stomatitis samples would not be sent by air or in any
other way?—A. No vesicular disease.

Mr. SinnorT: That is all.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Mr. Chairman, I would like Dr. Carlson to tell the committee what
training he himself has had with regard to foot and mouth disease, he was in
Mexico two weeks about a year ago. What other training have you had?—
A. That is all, except what I got right on the job. You must remember that we
have never had foot and mouth disease in Canada.

Q. Did you not attend a course about a year ago in the Animal Disease
?esearch Institute part of which covered foot and mouth disease?—A. That is

orrect.

Q. Could you tell us about where that course was and what it was like?—

- It was a short course held under Dr. Mitchell over here in Hull pertaining
to various diseases and the submission of specimens.

Q. At that time were any instructions given to the group sitting in on these
classes as to the procedure to be followed in sending samples in?—A. How to
Send them in, yes.

Q. Including foot and mouth disease?—A. All specimens.

Q. Then, why did you feel that it would have been so dangerous to send
the Samples to Hull laboratory with the knowledge and specific training you
had, to send those samples so there would be no breakage in transit?—A. It is
iUSt the understanding of the department that there was a possible danger, and

Suppose there was—they could be packed, of course, in sawdust.

Q. Did you not feel that the instructions you were given in that course were
Sufficient that there was very little if any danger of samples breaking?—A. I
Would think so, yes.

Q. I mean, in transit?—A. Yes.

Q. Well then, why would there be any hesitation in sending samples for
Proper lab tests if there was little or no danger of those samples breaking on the
Way down east. We were told that the reason the samples were not to be
Sént was because there was danger of breaking. If there is no real danger
({f breakage why were these samples not sent earlier?—A. I work on instruc-
lons, and our instructions were not to send samples down here.

Q. Did it at any time occur to you, previous to the middle of February, that
the samples should be sent to the Hull laboratory?—A. I would have liked to
Send them from the first.

Q. Did you enquire from anybody as to whether you might be able to send
these samples east?—A. No, I did not.

Q. You felt, yourself, that these samples should be sent, and you inquired
of your superior officers?—A. T admit I would have liked to send them.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: He didn’t say “they should be.”

Mr. ArRGUE: The witness said—he hadn’t finished his statement—that he
Would have liked to have sent samples.

The WiTNESS: Yes.
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By Mr. Argue:

Q. You mentioned Dr. Hewitt having visited the Waas farm with you,
did you not?—A. I don’t think so.

Q. Did you have Dr. Hewitt visit the Waas farm with you?—A. No, I don’t
think so. Dr. James might explain that to you—not to my own knowledge.

. Q. Did you have any conversations with Dr. Hewitt within the last three
months?—A. Oh yes, on many occasions.

Q. Did any of those conversations occur in the month of December?—A. I
don’t recall. I had met Dr. Hewitt so often that I could not recall any specific
date.

Q. Well, in your earlier conversations with Dr. Hewitt after this disease
broke out do you remember whether he suggested to you that this' might be
foot and mouth disease?—A. I do not think he did, sir; I cannot recall that
he referred specifically to foot and mouth disease.

Q. When was the first date that the bulls of the federal department in Regina
appeared to have something wrong with them?—A. Dr. James can explain that
to you. He was on that. I was not. I had nothing to do with them what-
soever.

Q. You were not in the pens where the bulls were at any time durlng
January?—A. No sir.

Q. You do not yourself know when these bulls first— —A. No, Dr. James
I think I can tell you about the bulls.

Q. Tell me this, have you any knowledge of the cattle that were ill at the
Burns’ plant?—A. I never saw the cattle in the Burns’ feed lot. Dr. James had
that under his control at all times.

Q. Did you see any other cattle there at the Burns’ plants?—A. Later on,
when I took specimens from the cattle on the Burns’ stockyard; that was on
February 13th and 14th.

Q. That was the first time?—A. Yes.

Q. That you visited the plant or feed lot?—A. I was in the plant but never
back in the feed lot.

Q. Did you see any carcasses exhibiting symptoms of stomatitis?—
A. Carcasses, no; I saw tongues with some scars on them.

Q. When was it that you saw these scars on the tongues?—A. Sometime
in January, sir; I believe it would be about the middle of January.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: I understand that you are talking about some-
thing else. I wonder, if as soon as you have finished, the doctor would establish
the difference between the feed lot and the holding lots. There is a difference
between the two, they are not the same thing.

Mr. ArRGUE: I have just one further question, if I may ask that, then I will
be finished.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. I believe you told the committee when you were first making your
presentation this morning that there were only 5 or 6 doctors in the world who
knew all or nearly all that could be known about foot and mouth disease?—
A. I believe so. I imagine that would be so.

Q. 5 or 67—A. Yes.

Q. Are any of these doctors Canadian citizens or Canadian residents?—
A. I do not think so.

Q. We have not one of the top specialists in foot and mouth disease in
Canada?—A. I would not say so, sir.

Q. When this disease is being studied here who would be considered as
the Canadian authority on foot and mouth disease? What authority did we
have?—A. I don’t think we have any supreme authority; that is, one who is
generally recognized on a world wide basis. I do not think there is one in
Canada as far as foot and mouth disease is concerned.
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Q. When you were dealing with this disease, vesicular stomatitis, when you
ﬁ;‘st diagnosed it, who did you look to for advice as to how to deal with this
disease; who did you think would be the veterinarian authority who was
competent in this field?—A. Dr. Childs would be my first one, and I would
naturally look to him for instruction.

: Q. And he himself, Dr. Childs, is well acquainted with foot and mouth
disease?—A. You would have to ask Dr. Childs that. I could not answer
for him.

Q. You have no opinion as to whether he is an authority on it or not?—
A. I have every confidence in Dr. Childs in every respect; but as to whether
he is an authority, I would rather you ask him.

Mr. DECORE: Mr. Chairman, there was a rule made in this committee that
the letter referred to quite a while ago be tabled. I notice now that both the
letter and the member who referred to the letter have dlsappeared from this
committee. I was just wondering how you enforce the rules in this committee.

Mr. BrycE: Mr. Chairman, speaking to this point of order. In leaving the
room the honourable member was not running away from anything, he would
not run away from anyone here. I rise to assure you he has left the room for
& very good purpose. I can assure you he will be back. If you are still on the
point of order, I think the chairman should read 316 which deals with it.

Mr. DEcore: The committee decided that the letter should be produced
and I think you should enforce the rule, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. BRYCE: The chairman will take care of the rules.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Laing, and then Mr. Cruickshank.

By Mr. Laing: i

Q. Dr. Carlson, the first trouble that existed in the general area was about
the first week in December?—A. Correct.

Q. When you were called to the Waas farm there was 1nfect10n on the
Waas farm?—A. Yes.

Q. How many private veterinarians are there in the general area"—-A
What do you mean, sir, by the general area?

Q. Well, the general area in which the outbreak occurred?—A. There are
four practicing private practitioners in Regina, and one just outside.

Q. There would be others in the area included in this buffer zone as well
as the quarantine area?—A. Oh, yes indeed, sir.

Q. At any time did any private veterinary suggest to the departmental
officials that the disease was more serious than stomatitis?—A. Not to me, sir.
: Q. And you have heard of no suggestion by private veterinaries regarding
1t as indicating something more serious than stomatitis; in other words, the
private veterinaries were of the same opinion as the departmental officials, that
1t was stomatitis?>—A. I would think so, that is my impression.

Q. Looking back now, is it your private opinion—you don’t need to answer
this if you don’t want to—that it was originally foot. and mouth disease or
did you think it might very well have been stomatitis at that time, and when
we had the attacks later in February?—A. No, I think that it was foot
and mouth disease in a very, very mild form.

Q. You did think that it was foot and mouth disease in December"—A
But very mild.

Q. Could it possibly have been more than stomatitis, or foot and mouth
disease?—A. I don’t think so.

Q. You think it was foot and mouth disease from the moment of the
outbreak?—A. I think we have to admit that now. ;

Q. Would you agree with me that at the present time your sole
duty, apart from it being down here, is to concentrate on the disease and its
eradication?—A. That is right, sir; and we will do that.
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Q. I would like to discuss with you, if you would be agreeable, some
aspects of the regulations—and if it is embarrassing to you I will not press
it—would you be prepared to do so?—A. I may not have the full story about
all the regulations, or the investigations that were made, and so on; but
Dr. Childs and Dr. Christie will clear you on that.

Q. I only say that because I think this committee and the people of
Canada would like to be assured that every possible measure is being used
to contain the outbreak.—A. We feel sure that every possible measure is being
taken, sir.

. Q. Now, we had some evidence previously that an outbreak—I think that
it was at Ormiston—had been due to a quarter of beef which had been
frozen for some time and released to a farmer who took and either canned
it or used it and the bone was thrown out, and it was suggested that the bone
in the yard lead to the start of the disease in that area; do you think that
is entirely possible?—A. Yes, that is the main evidence there, that was the
only possible clue which presented itself at the time. Now, it is not conclusive
it is rather circumstantial.

Q. When the minister spoke the first thing this morning we had reference
to another outbreak in the Weyburn area, apparently due to an infected calf.
Can you assure us that the enforcement of the regulations are such at the
present time that there will be no trouble with calves and there will be no
shipments of quarters of beef and bones and meat and the like; that the
regulations at the present time are adequate to cope with that sort of thing?—A.
Every precaution is being taken to apply these regulations. You will have
to make allowance for the possibility of human error.

Q. That is right—A. And somebody may make a mistake, but it would
be unintentional.

Q. There is no room today for the movement of infected stock from one
herd to another herd in the area?—A. There is no possibility of that being
done in the quarantine area, but in the buffer zone I understand they can
go by permit after rigid inspection. .

Q. What about the transfer of food shipments?—A. There is no marketing
of them; as a matter of fact, the quarantine of stock is very rigidly enforced.

Q. And both quarantine and control are in the hands of the police for
enforcement, is that right?—A. Yes. The R.C.M.P. are giving us police patrols.
On the infected farms now we place our own guard.

Q. You are familiar-with packing houses?—A. Yes.

Q. Do any of these packing houses put any scrap or manufacture bone
meal?—A. Oh, yes. =
Q. And are they shipping out any of that material at the present time?—
A. No. :

Q. No shipments are permitted of meal or beef scrap?—A. There are ship-
ments permitted of certain things which are considered safe as the result of
sterilization.

Q. Let’s get down to that. Have you permitted the shipment of bone meal
or beef scrap from parts of the country where foot and mouth disease has been
active?—A. None.

Q. Why?—A. Because of the possibility of introducing it.

Q. Even that which has been sterilized, and so on?—A. Dr. Childs can
answer thaf better than I could.

Q. But you know they are permitted?—A. That is right.

Q. Would that be on account of the jute packing more than the contents?—
A. I think it would be on account of both.

Q. But nevertheless you have seen instances where authority has been given
for the shipping of these materials?—A. Only certain types of materials are
permitted to be shipped.
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Q. Beef scrap and bone?—A. I did not say they are permitted. I wouldn’t
be sure. I haven’t been on that.

Q. Is there any raw bone meal ground in any of these plants?—A. Yes, in
a few, I think.

Q. Is that being shipped out today?—A. Not from Regina.

Q. It is being retained right within the plant?>—A. That is right.

_ Q. Within the area—well, I would like to make sure; I think the com-
mlttee, and I am sure the public today want to know that every possible measure
1s being taken to contain this thing and to eradicate it, including the transfer
of meats, and so on. Now, you don’t need to answer this if you don’t want to.
I. but it to you that possibly you might have thought there was going to be very
little gained or it was not assisting your campaign not to establish provincial
embargoes. You do not need to answer. But it seems to me that those who are
concerned with the setting up of provincial embargoes and so on would like to
be assured that every possible measure is being taken to contain the disease
and eradicate it. But you are satisfied?—A. I am satisfied that is the case.

Q. How many veterinaries are there now occupied in control?—A. Some-
Where around 60 veterinarians at various times.

Q. And you have the assistance of the police so far as transfer of things
are concerned? How is that working out?—A. Very good, sir.

! Q. And then I wanted to ask you this, how many policemen are you
uSH_lg?—A. I would not know that, sir. I would not know just how many
gﬁ}clce there are. Every detachment is alerted and then there are specials

on.

Q. Every possible measure is being taken, to the best of your knowledge,
and there is no doubt about the cooperation between federal and provincial
men in this regard too?—A. There has been wonderful cooperation right
through.,

Q. To see that this thing is eradicated?—A. Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Cruickshank.

By Mr. Cruickshank: .

Q. Mr. Chairman, I would like to congratulate the witness. He is by far
the most intelligent we have had appear before this committee yet. There is
one thing I cannot understand about this container business. I do not know
What form the container takes but I do know that at Chalk River we ship
Stock which contaminates if it were just touched. But we shipped it. So why
they could not ship some of this stuff safely down from Saskatchewan I don’t
know, Now, with respect to Saskatchewan I read in Maclean’s about the
stuff there—I am not going to give you names—there were some people who
brought liquid in in ordinary bottles and it did not break. However, I was
asked to speak on behalf of the member for Westminster and the member for
Burnaby—Richmond, and for the Fraser Valley, because they represent some
90,000 to 100,000 head of cattle, mostly in dairy herds. We produce about

0 per cent of the milk consumed or produced in the province of British
Columbia and what we are concerned with, and the people whom we represent
are concerned about, is not so much what happened in the past; but I am
Speaking on behalf of these other members too—we are not lawyers and we

. are not diagnosticians or druggists—we represent the dairy operators of the

Province of British Columbia. I for one, am speaking for them. They cannot
Speak for themselves as they are not members of this committee but we do
represent them. We are not lawyers, we are not bankers, we are not drunkards
Or anything else, but we represent these dairymen in the province of British
901umbia. We realize and we believe that there has been gross negligence
In the past and we want to know what is going to be done here, but what
We are interested in is much along the lines of what Mr. Laing said—we want
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to know about the Fraser valley. I realize we have no figures on it but we
want to know if there are any precautions being taken that there will be no
spreading in the province of British Columbia. The east can speak for itself
and we are not sure that those precautions have been taken in view of what
the witness has just said.

If our information is correct, feeder cattle were shipped in from a certain
prairie province to the Fraser valley in the last two or three days. We do not «
think under present conditions that that should ever have happened. We had
the assurance of the minister last night that it would be discontinued as of
that hour but what we are particularly interested in now is if in your
opinion—and very much along the lines of what Mr. Laing said; I am not
going into technical details—but are you satisfied—as we understand it, you
are the only man in Canada who has any knowledge at all of this foot and
mouth disease; certainly the witness before did not know whether this was
foot and mouth disease or T.B. as far as I could understand it—from your
information you are satisfied that every possible precaution is being taken
now to prevent the spread to the province I represent, British Columbia?—
A. I do not think any further precautions could be taken. I can assure you
of that.

Q. The other suggestion that I had is from Mr. Alex Mercer, whom the
minister knows, who happens to be general manager of the largest co-operative
dairy in the Dominion of Canada. I got this last night. They said: “For
God’s sake it has happened, the damn disease has happened and it has spread
and is spreading. Don’t let it spread any more and get men such as the wit-
ness you have now to keep it where it is now in Saskatchewan. See it does
not spread any further.”

By Mr. Hetland:

Q. Dr. Carlson, when a veterinarian takes a test to determine a certain
disease, can he take a test without suspecting another disease?—A. Oh,
certainly.

Q. Now, you were saying about this Waas farm. I though you said some-
thing that we would have to admit possibly it was foot-and-mouth disease
on that farm. Now, did you take a test or someone take a test of those two
horses?—A. That was Dr. James.

Q. Did these horses react?—A. That is right, sir.

Q. Can a horse take foot-and-mouth disease?—A. No.

Q. They must have had stomatitis then?—A. Unless the reaction was
most unnatural. As I understand, field tests have a weakness; things can go
wrong with them. What. happened in this case I am not prepared to say.

Q. Well, you suspected stomatitis because of these horses?—A. That is
right, sir, and that allayed all fears that it was anything but stomatitis.

Q. Now, these United States vets coming up here, I am quite interested
in what you said a while ago. Did they say you had taken all precautions
necessary and that you had done everything possible that could be done at
the time?—A. Yes, I heard no criticism at all, sir.

Q. Because, there may ‘have been some stomatitis there, as far as I am.
concerned, even though we had foot-and-mouth disease, I would suppose. Now,
if sabotage was intended would not that be a good place to start with the
- foot-and-mouth disease where you had stomatitis?—A. That would be a good
way of spreading it indeed.

Q. Because it would stop any fears of foot-and-mouth disease where
you had stomatitis?—A. Yes.

Mr. FAIR: In connection with the statement about feeder cattle being
shipped into British Columbia from Alberta, I read in the Citizen this morning
that those cattle were shipped in from northern Alberta and when they left
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our province they were destined for immediate slaughter at Vancouver. This
statement has been made by Mr. Longman, the Deputy Minister of Agriculture
for Alberta, and he also stated that as soon as they cross the Alberta-British
Columbia boundary, then it is the responsibility of the British Columbia gov-
ernment, but they were not sent from Alberta as feeders.

By Mr. Cardiff:

Q. I would like to ask the witness one or two short questions. You made
a statement a while ago that your instructions were not to send samples for
tests. You made the statement that you were not supposed to send any
samples for testing?—A. That is right.

Q. Do you think it was more dangerous not to send than to send them,
as it turned out? Don’t you think the fact that you did not send them for at
least two months prior to the time you could have sent them indicates that it
would have been rather safer, as far as cattle were concerned, to have sent
them?—A. Yes, using hindsight, sir, that is correct.

Q. There was not anything happened when those samples were sent? The
disease was not spread by sending samples?—A. I hope not, sir.

Q. And you admit that it would have been much better had the samples
been sent on the start and you had known exactly what you were up against
rather than wait two months?—A. Yes, as I say, using hindsight.

By Mr. Jutras:

Q. I have a very short question. I think you mentioned a while ago
that our regulations with regard to sending specimens were the same as they
were in the United States?—A. That is right.

Q. Well, how do they determine foot-and-mouth disease in the S'ca’ces‘7
A. They depend only on field tests and then send certain specimens to Eng-
land and a man takes them over directly—a man carries them on his person
and takes them to England. That is what I understand.

Q. The horses are not supposed to react to that at all?—A. They are not
Supposed to, no, sir.

Q. And yvet in one of the first cases you had on December 2, as it was
mentioned, two horses were inoculated and they reacted?—A. Dr. James will
explain that.

By Mr. Murray:

Q. This is only a small question but I want the size and make-up of this
sample. How large a specimen are you required to send?—A. Well, the
Specimen itself is very small but it is packed in a vial and immediately frozen
Wwith dry ice and alcohol, and the unbreakable vials made of plastic are packed
in a thermos bottle and the thermos bottle is packed in a carton full of sawdust.
You must be very careful in sending those samples because the virus does not
live too long if it gets heated. It should be frozen.

Q. Well, I suppose the underlying reason that these are not to be shlpped
is to provide against train wrecks and plane crashes?—A. I suppose that is the
idea and human error, that they may become lost in transit.

By Mr. Charlton: :
Q. I understand you have been in the department about twenty-two and
one-half years?—A. That is right.
Q. You have been assistant to Dr. Christie for the last five years?—A. Yes.
Q. You mentioned in your ‘evidence that you had understood in all the
time you had been with the service that it was your implicit instructions
not to either take samples of a vesicular disease and send them to Ottawa or
any place else?—A. That has always been my understanding, sir.
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Q. You do not recall ever having seen it in writing?—A. No, I cannot
say I do, that far back.

Q. Did you ever see it in writing recently?—A. I believe it is on our
instructions for Animal Health Emergency Organization.

Q. Well, I quote from this letter dated Ottawa, April 18, 1951:

Dr. Childs states very definitely that a diagnosis must be established
on the premises where disease is found. Under no circumstances what-
ever should samples or specimens be picked up for laboratory examina-
tion or animal inoculation.

Diagnostic procedures where indicated must be carried out on the
premises where disease exists or is suspected to exist.

Now, in your opinion how would it be possible to make a diagnosis if under
no circumstances whatever any samples or specimens may be picked up for
laboratory examination or animal inoculation?—A. Well, does not the next
paragraph tell you that it has to be done on the premises? I think that refers
to animal inoculation off the premises.

Q. “Diagnostic procedures where indicated must be carried out on the
premises.”—A. Well, “they should never be picked up.” It does not say they
can be picked up on one premises and taken to the other.

Mr. STEWART: Well, on a point of order, I think if the witness wants to
see this he can see it.

The WITNESS: I think I have seen it.

Mr. CHARLTON: Well, I would like to see this whole document placed
right on the record.

Mr. ARGUE: What is it?

Mr. CHARLTON: It is instructions from the Department of Agriculture,
Circular 1951-32, Ottawa, April 18, 1951, and under the signature of “T.
Childs, Veterinary Director General.”

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Will you read the date of it again?

Mr. CHARLTON: April 18, 1951, and it is “To all Canadian veterinarians.”
I myself received it.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: Well, there is no objection to every member of
the committee having a copy of that.

Mr. CHARLTON: Well, there should not be any objection, Mr. Chairman,
because it is an issue from the department and I think it should be on the
record as long as I have it returned, please.

The CHAIRMAN: That can be done, I understand.—(See Appendix A)

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Now, you have said, Dr. Carlson, that you should take a lab diagnosis
to confirm the disease?—A. That is my personal opinion. .

Q. Well, after all, that is worth a lot. You do not know—at least you have
said that you did not know—where the instructions came from that these
samples were not to be picked up?—A. Not previous to this.

Q. You said that Dr. Christie had been informed not to send samples
in. I understood you to say this morning that Dr. Christie had been told
not to send samples in?—A. Well, he would have this circular that you got.

Q. You think that is the only place he got that information? You do
not know any other place where he got the information?—A. No.

Q. You also said that sometime during your questioning you were not
just satisfied that a proper diagnosis had been made at the start. Now, you
have since confirmed that by saying you are now satisfied that it was foot
and mouth disease that was in the Waas herd?—A. I think so.
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Q. You are satisfied on that?-—A. I am, personally.

Q. Now, these two horses, or at least the pigs, you said there was no
infection in pigs until February 12?—A. That is when it was first brought
to my attention.

Q. That is the first time you had seen pigs infected?—A. That is right.

Q. Dr. James reported one infection on January 19, but you did not
know about that?—A. Did not hear about it, sir.

Q. What would you think had you seen a report come in with the word
“aphthous” mentioned on it?—A. Aphtha fever is another term for foot
and mouth disease.

Q. And if you had seen that report you would have probably been-a
little more fearful?—A. The word “aphtha” itself does not mean “foot and
mouth”; it means mouth, I think. “Aphtha” itself does not mean foot and
mouth disease. :

) Q. Well, on two occasions “aphthous” was used—I do not think this
1S proper for you—*“aphthous condition” and this was under date of December
14 and the next on December 14 again, which is referred to by Dr. James
again—‘“lesions of aphtha or stomatitis.”—A. But the word “aphtha” itself,
you very seldom hear it.

Q. Yes, other than referring to foot and mouth disease, is that not
correct?—A. That is correct.

Q. So that the person who used that term obviously must have had
Something in his mind or he would not have used that term. As I understand
1t, you have been instructed not to use the words “foot and mouth disease,”
1s that true?—A. That is true.

Q. Who gave you those instructions?—A. I cannot even say that, sir,
€xcept that we have always been cautious about it.

Q. About using the words “foot and mouth”?—A. Yes, it is just an
understood fact; I cannot produce it in writing. I think it is just common
sense,

Q. Well, of course, as has been mentioned here, hindsight is a lot better
than foresight, but don’t you think in your own mind that it would be better
to have used it and discovered the disease at the time, even though it would
cause a lot of trouble and +it had been a mistake—even it would be better
to have perhaps had a mistake and have caused some economic difficulties
than to have waited for two and a half months to prove that it was foot
and mouth disease with the impending difficulties and seriousness of the
situation that could be brought on in that two and a half month period?—A. I -
am not sure about that. I think this so-called delay in diagnosis had very
little to do with the spread of the disease around Regina, if anything. I think
you can trace back now. I think Dr. Wells has a chart where you can trace
back on all but four premises to the original infection like links in a chain.

Q. It was your report, Dr. Carlson, as I understand it, where the first
Outbreak was around Weyburn district, I believe, your case of the bone?—
A. That was at Ormiston.

b Q. That was your own report?—A. That was my own observation. But
1t is not conclusive that that did the trick. It was the only clue and it is
an interesting clue.

Q. It is possible it did?—A. It is quite possible.

Q. Is it possible that the disease could have been diagnosed early in
December?—A. No, I do not suppose that outbreak could have been then.
I would not know.

Q. Now, I understand there were two horses inoculated on December
3—one on December 12 and one February 12, and then, of course, there were
the two horses and two calves inoculated on February 18 or 17—around
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that time. Now, on those inoculations only the first two animals that reacted
gave a positive reaction, is that not true?—A. What date was that, sir?

Q. December 2.—A. Yes, as far as I know.

Q. They were the only two horses that gave a positive reaction?—A. Yes,
I think so.

Q. What in your mind happened in the case of the one inoculated on
December 12 and the other one inoculated on February 12?—A. Who did these
inoculations—Dr. James? In December, was it?

Q. I presume it was Dr. James. I am looking it up; I presume it was.—A.
Well, looking back, I guess we had foot and mouth disease then.

Q. But having had no reaction would not that be suspicious to you?—A. I
would think so, yes.

Q. It would, wouldn’t it?—A. Yes. |

Q. On another case there were two horses standing right beside two cows
definitely infected with the disease and those two horses did not show any
symptoms. That was early in January, I believe, that the two horses were
standing right beside the two cows who were showing very great signs of
infection, very good signs, and the two horses standing in the stalls right
next to them never had shown any signs of infection. Would that not lead you
to believe that it was also foot and mouth?—A. It would be suspicious.

Q. Then on February 12 did you not make a telephone call to Dr. Hall in
the office?—A. Yes.

Q. For which we are very thankful now, Dr. Carlson, because had it not
been for that telephone call the disease might not have been diagnosed as yet.
You did make that telephone call and I understand that you intimated to Dr.
Hall that the disease was mow in your opinion getting worse and that you
thought somehting should be done?

Mr. STEWART: On a point of order, I do not think this is a proper question.
The questioner is a veterinary himself and he makes a long statement which is
not evidence. If you would ask the witness questions it would be all right, but
you are making a long veterinarian statement yourself as an authority and then

you are putting it to the witness and then you are putting it on the record and -

then you are letting the witness make a short statement.

Mr. ARGUE: We have had ten statements in this committee that were not
ruled out of order. ;

Mr. CHARLTON: Mr. Chairman, I am asking the witness if he did make that
remark. 1

The WiTNess: Yes, I did.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. What did you say in that telephone call, would you mind telling us?—A.
I told him I was alarmed.

Q. Did you know at that time that Dr. Childs was out of the office?—A. No,
I did not.

Q. Did you direct the telephone call to Dr. Childs or to Dr. Hall?—A. To
Dr. Childs.

Q. And you had no information—that was the first time you saw Dr.
Childs in Regina after the disease outbreak?—A. I do not recall the date. I
cannot recall the date that he came but it was early in February, about
February 16.

Q. Was that the first time you saw him?—A. I saw him in January.

Q. You saw him in January?—A. Yes.

Q. You did not see him earlier than that?—A.. No, I do not think so.

Q. And you did not at any time, you were not at any time interviewed by
reporters or the minister, for instance, or anyone where you could have said that
you were a little bit suspicious of foot and mouth disease?—A. No, indeed not.
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Q. At no time previous to February 12?—A. That is right.

Q. Were you ever suspicious?—A. I was suspicious on February 12.

Q. Dr. Carlson, you sent in a report on December 2, that is, the first day,
and the report has been quoted before:

Realizing the danger of relying on a field diagnosis of such a nature
as this, I decided to contact Dr. Childs.

And I must ask you in all fairness were you afraid right then or you would
not put that in your report?—A. I was dubious until Dr. James got the blisters
on the horses and then my fears were allayed when those blisters appeared.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Charlton, before you go any further would you kindly
refer to the particular page or the number or answer so that the reporters can
get it, please?

Mr. CHARLTON: No. 1 report of December 2 at the bottom of the page.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Now, another question, Dr. Carlson, you have had a great deal of
experience with foot and mouth disease?—A. Not a good deal.

o Q. You have probably had the most of anybody in Canada?—A. I don’t
now.

Q. You were in Mexico, you took a short course and so on?—A. I would

like to say, though, that in Mexico I was not studying lesions of the disease.

Q. You did study methods there, quarantine and eradication and so on,
Which have been very helpful? Ordinarily, Dr. Carlson, how long do you
expect it would take for the positive symptoms to show up in a horse inoculated
With this virus?—A. Two or three days, I would say.

Q. On the first test after the horse was inoculated on December 3 and
nothing showed up until December 8, could that have been anything else that
Caused those reactions?—A. It is quite possible. Looking back it is quite
possible.

Q. I asked you before, Dr. Carlson, if you saw the minister when he was
in Saskatchewan at all?—A. In February, yes I saw Mr. Gardiner in February.

Q. Early February?—A. I cannot recall the date. It would be Ilate
February.

Q. You did not see Dr. Childs there until January 7?—A. That is right.

Q. Dr. Childs did not go out there at all or do you know if he contacted
Dr. Christie?—A. I would not know. I did not see him out there.

Q. Would you say that horses on ‘the premises would be good subjects to
inoculate for diagnosis?—A. Not necessarily. You would have to establish
Whether they had had it before or had any immunity.

Q. Was that done?—A. No, but the scars on the tongue would tell you.
A careful examination of the horse would tell you whether it had had it
Tecently or not by the scars on the tongue which are difficult to determine but
it can be done.

Q. But you are not sure whether that was done or not?—A. I am not
sure, no.

Right Hon. Mr. GARDINER: As a matter of privilege, the question was asked
the doctor as to whether he saw me and the doctor suggested he saw me on
One occasion and then it was indicated that he saw me in February. Then

€ says he was not sure of the date.

By Right Hon. Mr. Gardiner:
Q. Is it not correct that the only time you saw me was when I was there
and interviewed the packing house men?—A. That is right.
Q. That was after we discussed the matter in the House on the 3rd, 4th
and 5th of March. I went to Regina after that. You remember the last day
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in the House I said that I was going to Regina. I went to Regina and the first
occasion upon which the doctor saw me was when I was out there on that
occasion. You did not see me before going out then, doctor?—A. That is right,
sir.

By Mr. Decore:

Q. I only have one question. I think you said that the delay in diagnosis
of this disease had very little to do with the spread of the disease around
Regina?—A. That is right.

Q. Can you explain that further?—A. Well, if you chase the infection as
it originated in Waas’ herd, or contacts at other places, the chain was pretty
well set up away ahead of the diagnosis by even December 2, when it was first
reported. Most of the links of the chain are there before December 2. I think
there are only four premises in the Regina area not included in the links of
that chain. '

By Mr. Argue:
Q. What are those links?—A. I cannot recall. I have them here some

place.
Q. Could you give us that information?—A. There was the bones and the

one at Weyburn, Mike Delarue. Of course, since this was made out we suspected
Albert Clements, R. I. Brickley, J. M. Moore and C. Clark.
Q. Are those all in the Weyburn district?—A. No, in the Regina area,

very close to Regina.
Q. Those are the four not in the chain?—A. There is no evidence on those

four on how the infection got there.
@. The Ormiston one was supposed to have been from the Burns plant?—

A. That is right.
Q. And it may not have come out of the Burns plant after December 27—

A. Possibly.

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. Was the bone in a raw state?—A. We are just guessing it was a bone,
but it is evidence. When you are tracing down things you have to look for
all the evidence you possibly can.

Mr. STEWART: I move we adjourn.

Mr. WricHT: Mr. Chairman, before we adjourn I want to raise a point of
order with regard to the tabling of a letter which I was quoting from. That
letter is marked personal and confidential, it is not to myself; it is to a third
party and I therefore cannot table the letter.

Mr. STEWART: Well, if it is personal and confidential why has my friend
got it?

Mr. WricHT: If I made a mistake, it is my mistake and I am perfectly willing
to take the responsibility for any mistake.

Mr. STEWART: I will take the word of the hon. member. I mentioned it was

not a personal or confidential letter, but he says it was. I am willing to accept -

the hon. member’s word.

Mr. Bryce: You were reading the wrong letter. I wanted it tabled and it
was not personal and confidential but you say it was and if it is to a third
party I cannot see how it can be used.

Mr. WRIGHT: It is to a third party and if I should not have used it, I take
the personal responsibility for reading it. As far as I am concerned it is very
personal but that is the circumstances and, as I said, I cannot and will not
table a personal and confidential letter to a third party. If it had been to
myself that would be a different proposition.
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Mr. STEWART: Have you applied to the third party for his consent and has
he refused it?

The CHAIRMAN: I think we had better take that up at the next meeting.

Mr. WRiGHT: With respect to the ruling regarding the table of cor-
ll‘%s;pondence it is quite clear. I read from Beauchesne’s Second Edition, page

“It has been admitted that a document which has been cited ought to
be laid upon the table of the House, if it can be done without injury to the
bublic interest. The same rule, however, cannot be held to apply to private
letters or memoranda. On the 18th of May, 1865, the Attorney General, on being "
asked by Mr. Ferrard if he would lay upon the table a written statement and
a letter to which he had referred on a previous day, in assuming a question
relative to the Leeds Bankruptey Court, replied that he had made a statement
to the House upon his own responsibility, and that the documents he had
refe_rred to being private, he could not lay them upon the table. Lord Robert
Cecil contended that the papers, having been cited, should be produced; but
the Speaker declared that this rule applied to public documents only.”

Mr. STEWART: Clearly that rule does not apply here because here a member

- Comes in not with his own letter to claim privilege for that letter, but he

Comes in with a letter to a third person purporting to be confidential. That rule
inES not apply to a third person, and the only person who can claim privilege
IS the person to whom that letter belongs. You are the party bringing the letter
Which is written to a third party—

Mr. Mugrray: Due to the official character of the letter I think it is out of
that category. It is from the Minister of Agriculture to a member of this
Ouse and therefore it is a public doeument.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: Just on that point of order. As a matter of fact, even if it

Was admissible which is most doubtful, rulings have been made in the House.

ere is a ruling made in the case of Mrs. Neilson and I remember that so
Well. Later that ruling was revoked and the ruling was not followed. Whatever
he ruling may be, the committee has no power anyway and can only report
the matter to the House. Under citation number 548 this matter is decided
by the Speaker and certainly cannot be decided in the committee—because
We say things here which are sometimes unsaid in the House; and the House is
N control no matter what the situation is.

There has been considerable discussion about documents in the last few
days and personally, on the basis of what the member for Melfort says, I think
he rule is very much in doubt as to whether production is necessary. That is
POF a matter for determination by you, Mr. Chairman, or by this committee,
It is a matter for the House.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, Mr. Stewart moves that we adjourn. May I suggest
four o’clock?

The committee adjourned.

AFTERNOON SESSION

May 5, 1952.
4:00 p.m.

The CrairMaN: Order, please.

Befo,}-e proceeding with the evidence I would just like to advise you that
on the mimeograph sheet recording the factual reports of inspections there are
two slight corrections which should be made in the chart which gives details
of the infected premises and which was read into the record by Dr. T. Childs.

57137—3
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A mimeograph copy of this chart is in the hands of each committee member

and it may be desirable for each to correct his copy:
1. With reference to Mr. L. T. Waas, the record should indicate that this
herd was examined by Drs. Hunter, Carlson and James on December 2nd.

Number 2. With reference to Mr. H. Barre, January 23rd, the report should

read as follows:

“Following report by Dr. Hewitt, Dr. James, accompanied by Dr. Dosch,
Dr. Hewitt’s assistant” ete. You will note that this is a substitution of Dr.
Hewitt’s name for that of Dr. Hunter which was inadvertently typed on this
report.

Dr. E. E. Carlson, Assistant District Veterinarian, Regina, Saskatchewan. recalled:

The CHAIRMAN: Now, are there any more questions for Dr. Carlson?

By Mr. Diefenbaker:
Q. I have just two or three questions arising out of the examination. What
are the three main virus types of hoof and mouth disease?—A. I think they call
them A. O and C.

Q. And there was an outbreak in Britain was there not, in November?—

A. I understand there was.

Q. Yes, and you immediately got a report of that; you get reports of the
outbreaks of foot and mouth disease anywhere in the world, do you not?—
A. Dr. Childs would, I imagine.

Q. It didn’t go to you?—A. We would hear about it in the ordinary course
of events, sir.

Q. Yes, and the outbreak in Britain was. of what variety?—A. A, I believe.

Q. Of A; and that is a very virulent form of the disease, is it not?—A. Well,
it can be very virulent sometimes, I think it is not generally.

Q. What was the nature of the outbreak here in Regina?—A. Type A, sir.

Q. Pardon me?—A. Type A.

Q. Now I am reading from the London Times of April 13th, and I just ask
you whether this is correct, it says, the disease broke out in Germany in oOr
about September or October and now was it quite a serious outbreak?—A. I am
not sure, but that is my understanding.

Q. But you knew there was an outbreak there that swept Germany, the

low countries and France during August, September and October of last year?
—A. That is correct.

Q. That is right?—A. That is correct, yes.

Q. And then I ask you about this A virus. Do you know whether or not
it was an outbreak of very potent and virulent characterlstlcs" Is that correct,
or not?—A. The one in England, you mean?

Q. Yes—A. I understand it was quite virulent over there.

Q. Now, I will read you this; the outbreak was the A type virus with the

unusual characteristics. The outbreak began on November 14th, on the east
coast, it was clear that this was of the same type as the German epidemic—
that too, was an A virus type in England?—A. Yes.

Q. And the A virus was the virus in Regina, is that correct?—A. That is
correct, yes.

Q. Normally the outbreak in Mexico—what was the type in ngico?——A'
Type A, sir; but they had one outbreak of type O in Mexico.

Q. Pardon me?—A. They had one herd in Mexico with type O at the same |

time.
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Q. Yes, it mentions that too. Now, if it had not been that Dr. Childs had
gone on a vacation there had no suggestion up to that time that there should
be a sample taken; not until Dr. Childs went on vacation?—A. That is correct.

Q. And as soon as he went on vacation did you get a message from Dr. Hall?
—A. That is right. I think that evidence was brought out this morning, sir.

Q. And up until the time Dr. Hall phoned there was no suggestion by you
or anyone in Regina that this might be foot and mouth disease, was there?—A.
Not to my knowledge.

Q. And you knew, did you not, that Dr. Childs was very opposed to any

- samples being shipped?—A. I would not say he was very opposed to it.

Mr. STEWART: Just a minute now. I think the witness should be allowed to
complete his answer.

Mr. DIEFENBAKER: All right.

By Mr. Diefenbaker:

Q. Did you ever phone Dr. Childs?—A. On the 3rd of December, sir.

Q. Pardon me?—A. Dr. Christie phoned him on the 3rd of December, I
didn’t phone him personally.

Q. Were you present at the time of that phone call?—A. Yes, I was.

4 Q. What part of the conversation did you hear? You heard what Dr. Christie
said, or part of it, on that occasion?—A. I can’t recall the exact words, sir, except
that we desired some assistance out there and we also informed Dr. Childs of
the situation and to get instructions as to how to carry on from there.

Q. Was there any suggestion made at that time, Dr. Carlson, that there
should be a specimen taken?—A. No, not to my knowledge.

Q. Now, did you talk it over with Dr. Christie at the time, in January, as to
Whether samples should be taken?—A. I could not say that we specified that
Samples should be taken. We discussed the possibility of getting a proper
diagnosis.

Q. Of getting a proper diagnosis?—A. Yes.

Q. Now to get a proper diagnosis you would have to take samples, that is
the usual practice?—A. The usual practice, yes. _

Q. Well, when was it that you and Dr. Christie discussed together the need
or the desirability of having a proper diagnosis, was that early in January
When that took place?—A. I would say in December we talked that over.

Q. All right then, it was in December; that would be about when in
December?—A. The day we made the phone call would be about the first.

Q. Pardon me?—A. The day we made the phone call to Ottawa was Dec-
ember 3rq, I believe.

Q. Now then did you after that date discuss with Dr. Christie the desirability
of Something being done to secure a definite diagnosis?—A. Oh, no doubt we did
on several occasions, probably on numerous occasions,

Q. Now, is it not a fact that the only thing that held you back was the fact
that you had no instructions from headquarters in Ottawa and that you had to
Wait in order to confirm a proper diagnosis?—A. Yes, with respect to the
collection of samples.

. Q. Yes, and that would be the only sure way of making an analysis and in
that way determining what the disease was?—A. The only sure way, yes.
Q. Because of the fact that no one dared—no one mentioned foot and mouth
dlSease——these inspectors, they went from farm to farm; they went from farm
to farm trying to investigate this matter and see what was taking place in
January and also in December, they visited different farms?—A. That is right,

. James did that mainly. :
" Q. Pardon me?—A. Dr. James was attending to that.

Q. And were you not also to some extent?—A. No, I was not. »

Q. I thought there was a correction made by the chairman a moment ago
that you were out to one farm.—A. I was to one farm, yes.

57137—3}
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Q. Well, were you in the Burns’ company plant at Regina?—A. Yes.

Q. And did you not go out to the Waas farm?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. And is it not a fact that it is very, very easy for a person to carry this
disease from place to place?—A. Without taking the usual precautions, yes.

Q. And what other precautions did you take after leaving the Waas
farm?—A. We wore rubber boots.

Q. Pardon me?—A. We wore rubber boots and cleaned them thoroughly,
by disinfection.

Q. And do you wear rubber boots 4t all times?—A. Indeed we do, sir.

Q. Pardonime?—A. Indeed we do.

Q. When you went out there the first time to the Waas. farm did you wear
rubber boots?—A. I certainly did.

Q. Now, in Mexico—I have a statement here and I will just ask you
whether it is true—in Mexico as soon as you go into a place that is within a
15 mile radius of an infected herd, you go into a farmer’s place and the first
thing you have to do is to be disinfected thoroughly, both your boots and your
clothing; and before you leave the place you have to be disinfected again; is that
right?—A. That is correct.

Q. When you leave the farm your boots and so on have to be thoroughly
disinfected again?—A. That is right.

Q. And those were rubber boots too, were they not?—A. That is right.

Q. And. so wearing rubber boots itself without disinfecting them would
not be an effective precaution?—A. That is right.

Q. So that when anyone goes to a farm he has to undergo disinfecting both
when he arrives and before he leaves the place?—A. We always disinfect, yes.

Q. Was that done in this case?—A. Yes, we used disinfection.

Q. Where did that take place?—A. The wearing of rubber boots—

Q. Where did you put your boots into disinfectant, was it at the farm?—
A. At the farm, sir.

Q. When you arrived at the farm and again when you left?—A. That is
right.

Q. And that is the same as is done in Mexico?—A. You don’t have to.go to
Mexico to see that. Wherever an outbreak of such a disease is feared you
have to use those disinfecting precautions; you have to wear full rubber
clothing, boots, coat and hat, and you have to disinfect thoroughly both before
you go on to the premises and before you leave them to guard against the
spread of the infection.

Q. To guard against the spread of the infection?—A. Yes.

Q. All right. Just one other sentence: coming back to these bulls in
Regina, these prize bulls; did you ever see any of these bulls when they were
infected with any disease?—A. No, I did not.

Q. You never went out to them?—A. No, Dr. James was handling those.

Q. Dr. James was handling those; would he not report to you as assistant
to Dr. Christie on occasions?—A. To Dr. Christie, his reports would go in
through the normal channels.

Q. And that would be the normal channel, through you?—A. No, through
Dr. Christie. I look after the meat inspection end of it. Dr.. Christie looks
after the field end of it.

Q. There is one thing, Dr. Carlson, I would like to find out. There are no
documents, no instructions from Ottawa, or any letters from Ottawa, between
the 5th of January and the 12th of February. Did not people ever get instructions
from Dr. Childs, or any departmental official in Ottawa, during that period?—
A. Not that I can recall sir.

Q. You don’t know?—A. As pertaining to this particular question, do you
mean? )

Q. Yes—A. There is a constant flow of correspondence and reports, sir,
of all kinds, as you understand.
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Q. Reports would be going to Ottawa?—A. Yes.

Q. But did you see any letters or any instructions in writing from either
the deputy minister or Dr. Childs in January or February, between the 5th of
January and the 12th of February?—A. I don’t recall any at this time, sir.

) Q. I see. Now, on the 15th of February Dr. Childs sent you a wire—this
1S page 24—I understand Dr. Hall in collaboration ' with Dr. Mitchell had
Issued instructions for samples; and you got this wire:

Understand Dr. Hall in collaboration with Doctor Mitchell has issued
instructions for collection and forwarding to laboratory Hull material
from animals suffering from infectious vesicular condition stop those
intructions definitely countermanded stop definite diagnosis must be made
on premises where disease exists stop understand another horse has been
inoculated stop hold quarantines tight and await results herse inoculations
stop self on statutory leave when instructions collect material for labora-

tory examination issued by Doctor Hall stop wire acknowledgment
immediately

Was that wire received by Dr. Christie, so far as you are aware?—A. Yes, I
Would say so, sir.

\ Q. Did it surprise you that there should be a countermanding of Dr. Hall’s
Instructions about taking these specimens?—A. I suppose I would be a little
Surprised all right.

Q. Because as you said a moment ago, even in December you knew that in
olidejl‘ to determine with finality what the disease was there had to be such
clinical examination in Hull in order to determine its finality?—A. Preferably
that way, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Two more minutes, Mr. Diefenbaker.

By Mr. Diefenbaker: :

: Q. Now then, did you discuss this matter with Dr. Christie when these
1I§St1‘uctions were received?—A. I could not recall the exact words of any
discussion, sir. :

Q. You were both surprised, expressed surprise?—A. I would not be
able to speak for Dr. Christie.

Q. Well, speaking for yourself?—A. I said that I was a little surprised, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Sinnott.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Dr. Carlson, before lunch I was going to ask you for some information
In regard to these inspections that were made; were you the man who attended
0 these inspections?—A. I did the investigations on the premises, yes.

Q. T refer to the scraps of meat at this farm where the infection was
SPread?—A. Yes, I made that investigation.

Q. Do you recall whether these scraps were thrown out to the dogs so
that they could carry them around? Were they in a place where the animals
could walk over them?—A. They were thrown right out to the dogs, and the

0gs carried it around into the barn and all over the place.

Q. And you say these portions, these scraps were infected?—A. They were
Possibly infected, sir. I was explaining this morning, that it was about the
only suspicious evidence we had, it was only a clue which we ran into at the
time, but it was interesting and the only clue we got.

Q. Did you inquire where the farmer got the meat from?—A. We made
hundreds of inquiries and it was only about on the third day that this farmer’s
wife suddenly recalled that she had canned this quarter of beef. ‘

Q. You are satisfied that the scraps came from this quarter of beef from
this infected animal?—A. Well, that is what they told me, that is ahout the
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only clue we had and while the evidence was circumstantial that is what we
concluded.

Q. In any event, that is your view. Now, did I understand you to say
before lunch that in the United States there is a law against the laboratory
testing of virus specimens?—A. That is what I understand, yes.

Q. And is it a fact, do you know, that there is an act of congress against
it there.—A. I do not know about that, I could not say. I believe, however,
that there is only one leading diagnostic laboratory for foot and mouth disease
and that is at the Research Institute in Great Britain where they carry on
practically all the research in that field in the world. It is right in the centre of
Great Britain, and I imagine they receive various samples probably from all
over the world at that laboratory.

Q. And do I understand you to say that there is an act of congress in the
United States against that sort of thing being done there?—A. Definitely, I
believe there is an act of congress under which they are not allowed to set
ene up.

Q. Then, if I understand what you say correctly to have sent those samples
to Hull would have been establishing a precedent in Canada for the whole
of North America; however, there would be practically no danger in sending
these specimens properly packed down to Ottawa by air; I think that is what
you said this morning; but it would be establishing a precedent in Canada of
something which had never been done before, whether it was right or
wrong, in shipping those samples to Hull?—A. I believe so.

Q. In other words, we have a chance now, of finding out these diseases
such as we never had before, and which we would not have had if this had not
happened?—A. That is right.

By Mr. Jutras:

Q. Mr. Chairman, my question is along the same line. I was going to
ask my question by referring back to the letter of Dr. Childs at page 68, just
referred to by Mr. Diefenbaker. If I understand Dr. Carlson correctly, the
practice followed in Canada is exactly the same as the one followed in the
United States?—A. Up until recently, yes.

Q. And is it not a fact too that the department here, the government, has
tried to follow the American system of control very closely.—A. I believe so.

Q. And as has just been mentioned, it is the practice in the United States,
there is a definite understanding over in the United States, that no sample, no
specimen is to be taken away from any farm?—A. That is right.

Q. And take it to any other place?—A. That is the way I understand it, sir.

Q. Does that not in a way explain the wire from Dr. Childs?—A. I would
say so, yes.

Q. And then apparently it was countermanded, and as you said before, it
has always been the general policy of the Department not to have samples
sent in in that way; I mean, there has been a standing regulation in Canada
not to have any specimens taken away from the farm?—A. That is right. There
is this point, you must remember with all due respect to all practising vete-
rinarians, if you allowed everybody to procure specimens and forward them
to the labs from here and there and all over the country, somebody would
make a mistake. :

' Q. When this wire was dispatched on February 15th, had the specimens
left Regina at that time.—A. That is right, sir; they had left by air express
on the night of the 14th.

"~ Q. So actually this wire had no practical effect?—A. The specimens were
already on the way.

Q. Then, as a matter of fact, the specimens were already under way, the
Saskatchewan specimens on which the diagnosis of the disease was finally
established?—A. Yes.
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Q. And they left there on the 15th of February?—A. Yes.

Q. And it took from the 15th of February to the 25th of February to
diagnose the disease in the Hull laboratory?—A. Yes. I might explain that.
I don’t think it usually takes that long. If I remember correctly, Dr. Mitchell,
who made the tests himself, wanted to make a double check to be absolutely
certain. :

Q. But in any event this wire was just a repetition of a standing order
that existed in the country for over twenty years, and in effect the wire had
no practical effect whatsoever because it came through too late?—A. None
whatsoever.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Mr. Chairman, in the Animal Contagious Diseases Act section 25 says
that when an inspector finds an infectious contagious disease he shall report
and so on. Would you say that vesicular stomatitis is an infectious disease
‘under that section?—A. It is not an infectious disease under the Act but it is
an infectious disease.

Q. Would you say it is reportable or that it is a disease which should be
reported?—A. Not once it is established, no.

Q. Who in your opinion is responsible for the control of vesicular stoma-
titis?—A. Well, the provincial authorities if they so desire—otherwise I
believe that is usually left in the hands of the practitioners and, in response
to treatment it usually runs its course.

Q. If it is a disease that is usually left to the provincial authormes and
ordinary practitioners, why did the federal authorities stay in the field?—A.
We were instructed to do so by Dr. Childs in order to prevent any further
Spread.

Q. And it was not suggested by you or by anyone else at the time that
this disease that broke out early in December should be turned over to the
provincial authorities?—A. No.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Under what authority was the Waas place put under quarantme"——A I
think the Act gives you authority to quarantine under any suspected disease—
until you more or less establish—

Q. In other words it was quarantined under the dominion contagious
diseases act on the authority of the dominion?—A. If Dr. James quarantined
it would certainly be under The Animal Contagious Diseases Act because he
is employed by that department.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. You mentioned this morning that as far as you know and as long as
you had been with the service this sending in of samples ruling had been
present?—A. That was my understanding. ‘ '

Q. That was the reason there had not been any samples sent down
previously, as far as you know?—A. That is right.

Q. Here is a bulletin or pamphlet put out by the Dominion Department of
Agriculture, bulletin No. 131, written by Dr. A. E. Cameron, Chief Dominion
Veterinary Inspector published in 1930—that was just the year after you joined
the service was it not?—A. That is right.

Q. Dr. Cameron was since acting Veterinary D1rector General was he
not?—A. Correct.

Q. This pamphlet written by Dr. Cameron has on page 8 full and concise
information as to how such specimens or laboratory tests should be taken?—A.
Yes.
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Q. Full and concise information there. Admitting it is dangerous the
details are here as to how they are to be taken and how they are to be sent
in. Now, in your opinion, Dr. Carlson, was that a very dangerous procedure,
actually?—A. Not under proper care, no.

Q. I mean in view of the fact that we send so many things by plane these
days—much more dangerous things than this virus?—A. I think that point
was brought out this morning, sir.

Mr. LainGg: By Mr. Cruickshank.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. So it is not as dangerous as it might be presumed that it was—to take
a chance on sending these samples in according to this? As I understand it
Dr. Cameron was veterinary director general until Dr. Childs took over in
1946?—A. That is true.

Q. Having written this pamphlet do you think that Dr. Cameron would
have had the objection to having these samples sent in that Dr. Childs appeared
to have?=—A. I am not certain—but apparently not.

Q. Well, having sent out instructions or having written the book and
described in detail how they were to be taken, naturally you would expect
it?—A. That is right. I imagine any instructions or rather any specimens
sent under those instructions would be done by a special order. You would
not do it haphazardly by yourself.

Q. Of course not, and there is definite restriction as to what a veterinarian
or inspector who is doing the work shall do?—A. That is right.

Q. It is obvious, as you stated a moment ago, that if every veterinarian
was allowed to take samples that would be most dangerous?—A. Certainly.

Q. Now, Dr. Carlson, you said this morning that you were essentially in
charge of meat inspection at the plants?—A. That is right.

Q. That is your part of the job. Do you see all these reports that are sent
in?—A. Those reports go directly to Ottawa—the 16/21’s you are dealing with
are mailed by the inspectors directly to Ottawa.

Q. You do not see them at all?—A. Unless I happen to go over to the plant
and have a look at them.

Q. Unless you happen to go have a look?—A. That is right.

Q. From the time the quarantine was put on the Burns plant on December
28th, were you advised at any time between then and the 12th of February
when you were asked to send samples to take any inspectors in that plant and
check over any of those lists?—A. Oh, indeed.

Q. Were you at any time advised of any particular part of a body that
was condemned?—A. Yes, I was.

Q. Mind you, I do not profess to know anything about these things, having
never worked in a plant—I would not know. What do you mean by the term
“stomatitis heads”?—A. That would be an inflammatory area involving the
mouth.

Q. Around the lips, inside the cheek?—A. Yes, any place in the oral cavity.

Q. “Stomatitis tongue”?—A. That would mean a scar or some definite
inflammation.

Q. “Erosion tongues”?—A. Erosion tongues are very common—caused by
barley beards and many things.

Q. Any scar?—A. Yes, erosion means what it says—shght erosions.

Q. “Stomatitis heads” and ‘“stomatitis tongues” would mean scars
presumably caused by stomatitis?—A. By inflammation.

Q. Would stomatitis ordinarily cause as much inflammation as foot and
mouth disease?—A. Oh, yes, some stomatitis would cause far more.

Q. Are the scars as deep in stomatitis?—A. Yes—but they heal very
rapidly.
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Q. In the case of stomatitis?—A. Stomatitis or foot and mouth disease.

Q. Which scar would be the deeper of the two—that in stomatitis or in
foot and mouth disease?—A. I would say stomatltls Using it as a general term,
the word “stomatitis” covers a wide field.

Q. Oh, yes, it is quite a broad term for inflammation of the mouth?—
A. That is right.

Q. Ordinary infectious stomatitis, but what I am trying to say is would
you say infectious stomatitis would cause a deeper scar to the tongue that
would foot and mouth disease?—A. Are you talking about vesicular stomatitis?

Q. Yes?—A. There is no difference in the lesions in vesicular stomatitig
and foot and mouth disease. They are indistinguishable to the naked eye.

Q. Then there would not be any particular significance to the faect that
there were a good many stomatitis heads and tongues condemned in the plant
during that time?—A. We knew we had what we thought was infectious
.stomatitis or vesicular stomatitis at that time.

Q. There would not be any significance to the fact that there was a good
deal of these things condemned?—A. Not a bit. We knew that we had them
there and it just fitted in with what we had in the field.

Q. Well, I think I mentioned to you this morning or asked you this
morning if it would not have been better to bring these horses in from
outside?—A. Preferably.

Q. Rather than taking them from the premises?—A. If I were conducting
a field test I would bring the animals from as far away as I could get them.

Q. As far as you know was that ever done?—A. Not in this case but
later on it was.

Q. In the tests on December 2nd it was not done, nor in the tests on
December 12th—only on February 12th?—A. I understand it was not, although
Dr. James will probably clarify that.

Q. It was on the subsequent tests taken on February 17th?—A. Yes.

Q. Another thing, are the animals so inoculated, young animals or old
animals?—A. As young as you can get them, sir.

Q. On the premises. The ones inoculated on the 2nd of December, the
12th of December and the 12th of February?—A. You would have to ask
Dr. James about that.

Q. It was Dr. James who d1d the inoculation?—A. Yes.

Q. We will ask him about that.

By Mr. Hetland: ‘ .

Q. I was interested in you saying that you were mildly surprised—was
that what you said?—A. I think so, yes.

Q. When Dr. Childs countermanded the sending of this virus?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you not think that could be so ordered when the law for twenty-
three years was that this virus was not to be sent. I am thinking of what
the press is going to say when you say you were surprised?—A. It is under-
standable, knowing that the order was countermanded.

Q. That is the point I want to make clear.—A. It was quite understandable.

Q. Why should you be surprised if it was understandable?—A. Naturally,
you are surprised or slightly surprised to receive countermanding orders. I do
not mean it in the sense that it probably appears.

Q. You could easily understand Dr. Childs’ attitude?—A. When you sit
down and study the situation you realize how he arrived at that.

Mr. DEcORE: My question is along the same lines. Why were you surprised?
I am still not clear there.

The practice we have in Canada is the same as that in the United States—
that is you are not supposed to transfer these samples from the premises for any
distance. Why were you surprised or slightly surprised?
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The WiTNess: Well, may I put it this way? When one official of yours
issues one order and then another issues another, then naturally you wonder
what is going on, don’t you? Until you see the daylight you would wonder.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. On that question, you were not surprised at the effect of the order
but at the two contrary orders coming within some three days?—A. Which is
quite understandable.

Q. Which you understood later and which had no effect on the tests being
. made or delayed?—A. No.

Mr. HETLAND: Would not the word “wonder” be better than “surprised”?

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. Can you tell us how far the Burns feed lot is from the Burns packing
plant? There are a lot of different views in the committee as to how close
they are?—A. They are contiguous. They have a stockyard where they accept
cattle for slaughter and the feed lot is contiguous to it.

Q. Just a fence between them?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. How many vets altogether examined these cattle, that is private, and
governmental—both provincial and federal—before this situation developed
on the 12th of February to more serious proportions?—A. At least six.

Q. At least six?—A. I would stand correction on that.

Q. That includes the private veterinarians and Hewitt was one of them?—
A. I believe so. -

Q. He was employed by the provincial government?—A. No, he was a
private practitioner. There was Dr. Waechter, Dr. Hunter, Dr. Dosch, and
Dr. James.

Q. Up until the time this situation developed seriously late in February
they were all agreed that this was not the serious disease, foot and mouth
disease?—A. That is my impression.

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. Did you inspect the animals in the feed lot?—A. No.

Q. You had nothing to do with them?—A. No.

Q. None of those cattle ever went into the plant to be slaughtered?—A. Not
‘until later on.

Q. Tell me what happened later on?—A. Dr. James can tell you about that
because as they recovered he released some I believe.

Q. They could have been suffering from the disease if they had been in
contact with other animals that did have it—and I am not saying what disease
it was—either one disease or the other?—A. Dr. James will tell you what he
released.

Q. Yes, but I am asking you as a veterinarian. They could be suffering
from the disease although they did not show any symptoms.—A. They could be
carrying it.

Q. They could be carrying it?—A. Yes, that is possible.

Q. You said that was possible.—A. I suppose it is possible, yes.

By Mr. Harkness: :
Q. I am looking at this return called factual data from reports and I
presume you are familiar with it?—A. With some of them, although Dr. James
did most of the investigation.
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Q. In connection with the Burns Company stockyards it states that
on January 14:

3 steers and 3 heifers in feed lot showing lameness—appears to be
ergotism but no traces of ergot in hay and chopped grain being fed.
These lame steers and two of the heifers slaughtered—post mortem
examination diagnosed foot rot responsible for lameness.

How was that diagnosed as foot rot? I will just read the whole thing?

On January 17 all animals inspected and in good health. The feet
and rumens of a number of cattle slaughtered in the plant showed
lesions and were given post mortem examination by Drs. Childs,
Carlson, Dryden and James. It was their opinion that foot lesions
were caused by bacillus necroforus. . .

—A. Bacillus necroforus, yes., That is a foot rot infection. It is a common
soil borne disease which causes a number of ailments and foot rot is the
main ailment it causes.

Q. I was going to ask you how you made the diagnosis was responsible
for the lameness?—A. It was just a general opinion. It was not a laboratory
diagnosis but it was an on the spot diagnosis.

Q. You made no laboratory tests. You just looked at the carcasses after
slaughter?—A. The clinical evidence pointed to that disease.

Q. And you decided it was foot rot?—A. That is right.

Q. Is there anything in the appearance in the foot of an animal which
has foot and mouth disease which differs from the outside appearance of an
animal that has foot rot?—A. Quite a bit. You learn from experience but it
is rather difficult to explain. Foot and mouth is a vesicular condition but foot
rot is not. It is just a general inflammatory condition with no wvesicles
produced. It is obvious to a veterinarian but it is difficult to explain.

Q. And none of those vesicles were apparent in those animals?—A. That
is right. If there were any vesicles apparent the diagnosis for foot rot
would never have been made.

Q. Going on from there through this thing, there are quite a number of
reports further on. Here is one for Alec Duck, and it says: “. . . new cases
have developed swellings in the legs and sores between the toes which
would appear to be foot rot.” Then there is the report on the dominion live-
stock division about these bulls. “Four of these animals have symptoms of
foot rot and are being placed in a foot bath containing warm water.” Then
there is K. Haun. “. . . a few cows exhibited swellings and soreness in the
feet above and between the hoofs.” Susequently, “ . . .still had sore feet and
separation of the hooves at the heel.” Do you ever have a separation of the
hoof from the heel with foot rot?—A. You can with any inflammatory condition.

Q. Now, when you got all these cases of animals that were lame and
animals with sore feet which you diagnosed apparently in all cases as foot
rot, did it not occur to you that possibly it was not foot rot—particularly
when taken in conjunction with the vesicles on the tongues of these animals,
and so forth?—A. These reports are all by Dr. James and I would rather you
direct that question to Dr. James.

Q. It strikes me that all these reports referred to these sore feet which
in every case are spoken of as foot rot. I do not quite understand why
they were just written off immediately as foot rot instead of being related
directly to the vesicle condition that was apparent in these animals’ hooves?—A.
Inflammation of the foot, sir, will occur in vesicular stomatitis. The foot can
be involved frequently. :

Q. At any rate this did not make any impression on your mind or make
you suspicious that it was foot and mouth disease rather than foot rot?—A. As
1 say those are Dr. James’ comments and I would not like to answer for him.

Q. You saw these reports?—A. Some of them, yes.
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By Mr. Cruickshank:

Q. T am asking for some information. I asked some questions on Saturday,
I do not know if you were present then or not?—A. No, I was not.

Q. I will go on now with the question I asked then about this beef that
was shipped from the Burns plant on the 25th of January to Vancouver. From
the information I am given it was distributed to the general public. That does
not mean a thing in the world. What I would like from you, sir, in your
opinion would it be possible to spread this disease from the 6,120,000 pounds
and 2,800,000 pounds of beef liver? This was distributed after the first fear
~ of foot and mouth disease from Regina from the Burns plant on the 25th of
January?—A. Highly improbable, I would say, sir. Possible but highly
improbable.

Q. But possible?—A. Your spare ribs have no bone marrow.

+Q. Not spare ribs—beef liver?—A. I would say no.

Q. Now, the information given in the last session was that a piece of raw
meat thrown out—A. Well, that is possible, but do you think a piece of raw
liver is going to be thrown out?

Q. Is it possible; that is all I am asking for your opmlon"—A Yes, possibly,
faintly possible.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any more questions?

By Mr. MacKenzie:

Q. Just one question I was going to ask. In all this cattle disease, how
many actually died as a result of the disease?—A. I believe there is the odd
very young calf which is to be expected but mortality has been negligible.

By Mr. Quelch:

Q. Dr. Carlson, once the disease was diagnosed as foot and mouth disease
and while you were waiting for an opportunity to slaughter cattle, were they
confined to a barn or yard?—A. Indeed they are confined, to the barn if possible
and police control put on.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any more questmns" If not, it w111 give Dr.
Carlson an opportunity to get back tonight.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. I have just two questions. You said earlier on December 3 when the
horses were tested on the Waas farm there was some discussion as to whether
this was a more dangerous vesicular disease than stomatitis. That was why the
tests were made?—A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. And if the horses reacted you naturally thought that in all probability
it was vesicular stomatitis?—A. That is right, sir.

Q. And on December 12 another horse was inoculated on another farm?—
A. That was by Dr. James, sir.

Q. And those horses did not react to the inoculation. The point I am
wanting to establish is, was there any discussion between Dr. James and Dr.
Christie or yourself with respect to the fact that those horses had not reacted
to the inoculation?—A. Not with me, sir.

By Mr. Quelch: ¢
Q. Dr. Carlson, when the barns and yards were cleaned out what happened
to the manure? I asked that question of a witness before and he said that
the manure from the barns and yards of the infected area had been spread
across the fields.—A. No, that is not true, sir. It has been burned where
possible and buried where possible. You have to size up the situation, the
quantity on hand and the means of disposal. Some of those problems are not
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just so easy to explain. Every premises is usually dealt with on its own merits.
Every precaution is taken to dispose of possible infection.

By Mr. Sinnott:

Q. Do you use power sprayers for cleaning?—A. Yes indeed, we use power
sprayers. We were up against a very great deal of difficulty as you will under-
stand, due to the frost and frozen manure and so on, but we had to wait
until the weather broke. In the meantime we did a temporary job in a lot
of those places and covered up what we could until we could do it properly.

By Mr. Fair:

Q. Does the quarantine require that the farmer and his family and help
do not leave the farm until the quarantine is lifted?—A. That is the quarantine
we have now, but in the case of Ormiston I personally provided the farmer with
groceries, ordered his fuel oil and got the school books for the children from
the school, so that he remained on the premises.

Q. I was just wondering if there was a possibility of the farmer or his
family or help moving about and carrying the disease?—A. We tried to stop
that as much as possible.

By Mr. Major:

Q. If you had taken a sample a few weeks earlier do you think we would
have had less spread of the disease or if you had waited for a sample for
another two weeks later would we have had more spread?—A. It is hard to
estimate. It is hard to guess what would happen; we would only be guessing.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. Well, would you have taken any more precautions than you did
take? I understand you took every precaution possible?—A. Up until that
time, yes, by quarantine.

By Mr. Cardiff:

Q. The question I wanted to ask was, I wondered what compensation was
paid for the hens destroyed and fowl and buildings, if any?—A. I had nothing
to do with compensation. That was under a special appraisals committee and
I am afraid I cannot answer it.

Q. Who would I get that information from?—A. Well, I believe Mr. Coles
was the one appraising in Regina, but there was a committee set up under
the chairmanship of George Robertson of Regina.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. Dr. Carlson, in reply to a question by Mr. Stewart you indicated that
every precaution has been taken for quarantine for vesicular stomatitis. Do
you mean by that that no more vigorous enforcement of quarantine is imple-
mented in the case of foot and mouth disease?—A. Indeed not, sir. The first
quarantine is to prevent the movement of livestock off the farm which is done
in any event.

Q. A much more stronger quarantine is put into effect when you know
it is not vesicular stomatitis?—A. Yes, there are real teeth in the quarantine
put on now.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. And no doubt you would undoubtedly have done it. Had you realized
whether it was foot and mouth disease or not you would not have approved
the shipment of carcasses exhibiting stomatitis for food consumption?—A. Once
foot and mouth disease was established the plant ceased operation entirely.
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Q. Very certainly there were other steps you would have taken—more

rigorous quarantine in relation to the Burns plant if you had known you were
dealing with foot and mouth disease?—A Certainly.

By Mr. Stewart:

Q. But I understand that the provincial authorities with whom you were
dealing did not insist on any stronger quarantine than you were putting on?
—A. Not to my knowledge, no.

By Mr. Ross:

Q. You said that you and your colleagues were protected by wearing
rubber gloves and using disinfectant and so on. So far as you know does
that apply to those who were policing those quarantined areas? Were the same
precautions taken?—A. When the outbreak was diagnosed everyone had to
take these precautions. Even newspapermen and photographers were given a
lye bath and so on.

>

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Did it improve the newspapermen?—A. It did not help them a bit.

By Mr. Ross:

Q. Was this carried out prior to the finding of this foot and mouth disease?
Was that carried out when you thought the disease was only stomatitis?
—A. Well, your precautions would not be on the scale they are now. You
would have used ordinary disinfectant.

Q. In January and December the police and farmers would not be pro-
tected like that?—A. There were no police then. The police were not helping
with the quarantine work until the disease was established. We had our own
quarantine enforcement.

Q. You people yourselves would not take the same precautions?—A. Not
quite so stringent, but we always take precautions. A good veterinarian would
always take precautions.

Q. But they were very different from those on that day in February when
you were satisfied as to what the disease was?—A. Then they became more
stringent, of course.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Were the quarantine precautions taken initially? You have told us
they were taken for foot and mouth disease but were they taken under the Act
and where did you have your authority in the federal Act to place these
quarantine measures if it was not for one of the definitely listed disease?—A. I
think you will find in the regulations there where you have any suspected
disease that you can quarantine for suspicion until you establish what it is.

Q. Would you take it that section 24 of the Act is the part of the Act under
which you establish these quarantine regulations, the Animal Contagious
Diseases Act, 1945—

Whenever an inspector finds or suspects infectious or contagious
disease to actively exists, he shall forthwith make a declaration thereof
under his hand—

And so on, with regard to quarantine. Would you take it that is the part
of the Act under Wthh you use your authority to establish this quarantme"—A
That is right.

Q. So that under the federal Act, infectious diseases do not apply, your
authority does not apply merely to those diseases that are spelled out but
rather applies to any infectious disease?




o

AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION 261

Mr. STEWART: Now, the Act speaks for itself. This witness cannot give
evidence on the law.

Mr. ARGUE: I think it is a fair question.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. You have authority under the Act to quarantine and take certain steps
in regard to infectious diseases other than those diseases specifically mentioned?
—A. Sometimes under the Act you may have to exceed your authority a little
bit to do the job.

Q. I suggest to the witness that the authority was not exceeded in any way .
because (c¢) under section 2 of the Act says:

2. (¢) ‘infectious’ means communicable in any manner;

And then (d) says:
(d) ‘infectious or contagious disease’ includes, in addition to other
diseases generally—

So I take it within this Act as it now stands you have full power to deal with
any infectious disease?—A. A fairly supreme authority, I would say.

By Mr. Wright:

Q. In the outbreak before you had determined what this disease was
by the test on the horses, you had quarantine. Then, after the test on the
horses, I see here when the quarantine was lifted it states in Dr. James’ report:

I am now satisfied that we are not dealing with a dangerous infectious
disease and would recommend that the quarantine of the owner’s live-
stock and premises be terminated.

That took place on December 8 and it was much later than that when the
Burns plant became infected. There was no discussion as to whether it was
your responsibility or the provincial responsibility in regard to placing the
quarantine on the Burns plant?—A. Not that I recall, sir.

Q. You went right ahead and placed the quarantine on?—A. I did not, but
Dr. James did.

Q. And there was no discussion as to whose responsibility it was?—A. Not
that I recall.

Mr. WyLiE: Mr. Chairman, I have not asked any questions today at all—
not this morning nor this afternoon, but I ma sure that Dr. Carlson has given
the Committee on Agriculture a very large amount of useful information—some-
thing that we did not have before. He has been on the stand for three hours
and I think that the place for Dr. Carlson with his capabilities is back out in
Saskatchewan. I do hope that we can let him go soon and get away.

Dr. N. V. James, called:

The WiTNESs: Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I have been
employed by the federal Department of Agriculture, Health of Animals division,
since 1929—the same day that Dr. Carlson joined the service—and my activities
in the department have taken me pretty well all over Canada but mostly in
Saskatchewan—several years in Winnipeg, several years in Saskatoon, several
years in Regina.

At the present time I occupy the same position there on contagious diseases.
Previous to that I was in private practice for a number of years in Manitoba

. and in the army for four years in the first great war. I do not know if I can
‘elabofate on that all. In my experience I have had quite a lot to do with
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stomatitis. I have had outbreaks of stomatitis, one particular one when I was in
practice in Manitoba in horses and cattle. The treatment at that time was
the same as the treatment we are administering in Saskatchewan. The animals
all recovered without any mortality.

In 1938 and 1939 we had stomatitis in Saskatchewan while I was with the
service. These animals were treated in the same way, horses and cattle, and
we had no fatalities at all. The animals all recovered so that I became quite
familiar with stomatitis.

In the present outbreak, in company with Dr. Hunter and Dr. Carlson on
our visit to Mr. Waas’ premises, we were convinced that we had stomatitis
there. We treated the animals in the same manner and the animals all recovered
with no losses whatever. Seven pigs running with the cattle, feeding out of
the same trough and at liberty to run anywhere they liked on the farm did not
develop the disease, which you would expect had it been foot and mouth disease.

After that the reports will show that the neighbours, Mr. Woods and Mr.
Smith came over to assist Mr. Waas in doctoring his cattle when he first called
a private practitioner and they undoubtedly carried the infection to their pre-
mises. In their cases the animals were treated in the same manner and the
animals all recovered without any losses. I was taken off all other kinds of
work and detailed to look after these premises by Dr. Christie, my superior
officer.

In all the time that we were treating animals there no live animal
carried the disease from any premises to any other premises, they never got any
infection from one farm to another by animal contact, until we finally dis-
covered we had foot and mouth disease; on the quarantined premises we had
several premises where the disease broke out later on with the same results
all the way through, we treated the animals and they recovered. A little bit
later on we began to get a more virulent type of disease; that is I might say in
the case of three or four herds we did not get vesicles on the teats; we did get
a little bit of sore foot, which you might get in any herd of cattle in Saskatche-
wan. We did not have extensive lesions like you would expect to find in the
foot and mouth disease; the animals recovered from this foot soreness by being
treated with antiseptics. Later on, when we got down to the herd of Mr. Haun
and Mr. Duck and Mr. Wagner, we found that the cases were more difficult to
treat there. The animals feet became more sore and more difficult to treat,
although the treatment of the cases in the animals progressed favourably, it
took a little bit longer, but still they healed up, we had a little more trouble
healing the feet up. The same was true all the way down the line. We had no
doubt, I was quite satisfied that in any herd that had this infection we would
put them back in full production—they were feeding well and gaining in weight
and gaining in milk production—in 10 or 12 days, or a couple of weeks..On the
whole we were pretty well satisfied that we had the animals recovering. That
is about all I can say about our efforts along that line.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions for Dr. James?

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Did you, Dr. James, at any time feel that specimens should be sent in
to make a more thorough diagnosis of this disease?—A. Not until it became
more difficult to treat them. I was satisfied that we were doing everything
necessary.

Q. You are aware, are you though, as a professional man, that it is impos-
sible to tell for certain whether you have vesicular stomatitis or foot and mouth
disease without a proper laboratory test?—A. Yes, it is a very difficult thing
to determine.

Q. But, certainly, that is the only sure way of making a diagnosis?—A. Yes.

|
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Q. You operate under the Animal Contagious Diseases Act; is that right?—
A. Yes.

Q. Are you aware of the prdvision of that Act, the Act under which you
operate?—A. Yes.

Q. And would you say that the power there is under that Act to enforce a
quarantine, is based on section 24, which I read a few moments ago; because a
disease is an infectious disease therefore quarantine may be used?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you at any time since you made your first visit to the Waas farm
and made a reporf on this disease send in any report directly to the minister;
did you report to the Minister of Agriculture directly?—A. I made my report
to my immediate superior, Dr. Christie.

Q. Are you aware of the provision of the Act, section 25, subsection 1,
Wwhich says: ; '

Whenever an inspector makes such a declaration of the existence
or suspected existence of infectious or contagious disease of animals, he
shall, with all practicable speed, send a copy thereof to the Minister.—

A. I am aware of that. :

Q. Why did you not send a copy of your report to the minister as
provided in the Act? '

Mr. STEWART: It does not say, “directly”.

The CHAIRMAN: No.

Mr. ARGUE: It says that he shall send a copy of his report directly to
the minister. :

The WiTness: It has never been our custom to do that, we make our
reports to our superior officer and he reports to the next in line.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. It has never been suggested to you that in order to livé up to the pro-
Visions of the Act you as an inspector are required very definitely to send
a copy of a report of an infectious disease directly to the minister?—A. Well,
Wwe are out in the field and we send our reports in to the officer to whom
We are responsible, and he in turn sends it on to Ottawa directly from our
head office in Regina.

Q. He sends it to Ottawa, but as I have already pointed out, in this
instance it should have gone to the minister, a copy should have been sent
to the minister are you aware of the fact that the Act provides that that
shall be done?—A. I report directly to my senior officer, Dr. Christie, and he
makes a report to Ottawa, to his chief.

Mr. ARGUE: I suggest, Mr. Chairman, there has been a serious breach of
'_the law as applied to contagious diseases. I am not a lawyer but that section
18 perfectly clear to me, that if any inspector finds infectious or contagious

disease of animals, he shall with all practical speed send a copy thereof to the
Mminister.

Mr. STEWART: In all fairness to the witness and departmental practice you
are not going to condemn this witness because he did not send it direct to the
minister. When he sends it through his senior officer to the head of the
bran_ch at Ottawa he has discharged his responsibility; he is not expected to
:end it to Ottawa to the minister direct, surely. You are blaming the witness
or it.

Mr. ArGUE: Ultimately the minister, after weeks, nearly a month went by,
before he finally got it.

57137—4
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I am not blaming this particular witness, Mr. Chairman, because we
have heard evidence already and there was no report for weeks sent to
the minister. We already have that on the record.

officer.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Those are the instructions you have?—A. Those are the instructions
we have. If we go over the head of our superior officer, our district inspector,
we would be rapped over the knuckles for it.

Q. And who was your superior officer?—A. Dr. Christie.

Q. That is my understanding, and through Dr. Christie it would go to?—
A. It is our understanding that we have to report to the officer under whom
we work.

Q. When was the quarantine applied to the government bulls in Regina?—
A. January 31st.

Q. Was there any evidence of disease? Did you see any disease yourself,
was any report made of any disease among those bulls before January 31st?—
A. No, exception, for instance, early last fall we had foot rot among these
10 bulls.

Mr. STEWART: On that other point, does not the Act also contain a
definition of the word “minister”?

Mr. ARGUE: I was looking for it but I didn’t see it. It may be there,
I did not see it. 3

Mr. STEWART: If you will give me the Act I will check it for you.
Mr. ARGUE: I did not see it in the Act.

By Mr. Argue:

Q. Was there any vesicular disease among these bulls?—A. None at all.

Q. Did you see them from time to time during the month of January?—
A. I did, yes. In the first place a short horn bull was brought in from one
of the pastures. These government bulls are sent out to the P.F.R.A. pastures
to be placed there and they are brought in from time to time and exchanged
and sent back again. This bull was brought in because of foot rot. This bull
was turned in to Regina last fall, in November; and, its feet were in very bad
condition with foot rot, and this bull was allowed to run loose in the paddocks,
that is how paddocks got infected. Other bulls also who were turned into
this paddock became infected with foot rot and the foot rot went pretty well
through them all. We treated them for foot rot and they recovered.

Q. Have you discovered how the infection got into those bulls?—A. We
have not.

Q. There were no animals brought into that premise there from infected
premises that you know of?—A. No. Artificial insemination was conducted
there also in the case of these bulls, up until the time of the quarantine being
put on; and, naturally, there were females brought there for breeding purposes.

Q. And you think perhaps that is where they were infected?—A. Well,
I can’t find any evidence of any herd having sent any animals there which
were infected.

Q. Just one other question. Were government veterinarians going in and
out of that establishment, veterinarians who had been on premises of infected
herds?—A. No.

Q. You say yourself that you were in from time to time in January?—
A. Occasionally animals were tested there, that is animals brought in from
barn 9—they are put in barn 9 to be tested for T.B., and after they are tested,

they go from there into barn 10 after the test is completed. The moment it

The WiTNESS: We are not allowed to go over the head of our superior
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was known that I was working on this vesicular trouble we were having
I was instructed not to test any more animals for tuberculosis under any
consideration and to apply myself entirely to this branch of the work.
—stomatitis.

Q. Am I right that you yourself and other veterinarians who inspected
some of these infected herds, herds infected with stomatitis, did subsequently
80 into that establishment of bulls in Regina?—A. No, I was the only one who
was dealing with the infected herds.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Cardiff.

By Mr. Cardiff:

Q. I just want to ask one or two questions. At what time during the period
of this disease did you become disturbed as to what type the disease was—you
called it stomatitis, or whatever it was—when did you first think it might’ be
foot and mouth disease?—A. I can tell you that. On January 25th I quarantined
Mr. J. M. Moore’s herd. He had 19 cattle suffering from this trouble. I returned
again on February 11th. From time to time I heard from the owner of the
herd that the herd was recovering, doing all right, no particular trouble.
Then I happened to hear that some hogs had been sick. He had only 2 or 3

hogs at his place, and Dr. Carlson and I went out to this place and he told us
~ his hogs were all right, that the hogs had been sick a few days, but they had
Tecovered all right, everything was all right; also he had a couple of horses
that had gone off their feed and had become very listless. We examined the
horses, examined their mouths and found nothing wrong, they seemed to be
back on their feed all right. Just at that moment a couple of pigs ran out
across the yard and Dr. Carlson noticed that one of the pigs had separations
in the hoofs; and, of course, we became disturbed about that. That was the
first case where we can find anything wrong with pigs in that way.

Q. That was on February 11th, did you say?—A. Yes, February 11th.

Q. Are you sure that was the 11th?—A. That is the first one I saw.

Q. Then you became suspicious that they might have some more serious
disease?—A. Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Charlton.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Dr. James, you say you did not see any hogs or any pigs infected
until, what date?—A. What was that?

Q. What date was it that you saw the first infected pig, infected with
stomatitis, supposedly?—A. The first pig with stomatitis—January 29th,
C. A. Clarke.

Q. Was this herd you mentioned where you saw the pigs on two occasions?
—A. This was a separate herd altogether.

Q. Separate from the one you noticed on February 11th?—A. Yes.

Q. And what was the condition you saw then; was ‘that when you
saw the lesions?—A. That pig did not show any lesions, there were no
lesions at all.

Q. It was just sort of weak and showed signs of distress when it got up?—
A. Yes, and it complained when it got up, on its feet; squealed when it
Wwalked around; but otherwise in good physical condition. The pig was
treated by Dr. Hewitt, then it was discovered that they had some cows in
the herd which apparently were affected.

Q. There were 5 cattle infected in that herd?—A. Yes.

Q. But just the one pig?—A. Yes.

57137—43
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Q. Would you say that those symptoms; inability to eat properly, in';_f

the pig, and apparently its limbs were also affected; would you say at that
time that this animal was also infected?—A. Yes.

Q. And if you found it infected would that not make you a little curious?—
A. If I saw any lesions on a pig I would be curious, we have so many cases
of swine sickness in which you have pigs getting stiffened up and lame and
with no lesions and nothing around the mouth or nose I did not become very
worried about this pig; in fact, it was being treated by a private practitioner
and I took it to be a pig that had got a little bit stiff, but it had no lesions
which would indicate that the animal was in bad condition. I thought
probably it might have the same infection that the cattle had, but I still
didn’t find any symptoms.

Q. Now, doctor, you were one of the individuals who did the animal
inoculations were you not, up until February 17th; or was it up until .the
17th?—A. I inoculated at the Waas, Woods and Haun places, and them I did
the inoculations when Dr. Childs was there. On February 18th two young
animals two cattle and two pigs were brought in from away out, from
distant parts of the province, and in company with Dr. Childs, Dr. Christie
and Dr. Johnston, the provincial vet, and Mr. J. H. Coles, our senior livestock
man—

Q. That was on the 18th of February?—A. Yes.

Q. When was the first time you got a positive reaction; what was the
first positive reaction you had from those animals?—A. About.the 25th or
26th.

Q. The first reaction was the 25th or 26th?—A. Yes, but the only
reaction we got from those was the one steer that reacted. The same material
was injected intermuscularly into two cattle and two hogs and we only
got the one steer to react.

Q. Just the one out of 47—A. Yes. And then I was instructed to stay
away from there. As I was dealing with other herds around and it might
be carrying the infection and I didn’t go back. We put on guards who
watched the herd very carefully, but I did not go back, I did not see the report
and I did not see the reactions; that was all done by other officers; but only
one had a reaction.

Q. And that was one which had been inoculated on the 2nd of December
an Yinspected on the 3rd, 4th, 5th and 6th, and then you skipped the 7th?—

. Yes.

Q. And again on the 8th; what positive reaction did you find on these
horses?—A. On Saturday, December 8th I found vesicles on the horse’s
tongue. '

Q. But you found nothing else whatsoever?—A. No.

Q. What was the age of these horses?—A. Pardon me?

Q. What was the age of these horses?—A. Oh, 6 and 8 years old.

Q. 6 and 8 years old?—A. Yes.

Q. Were they in the same barn with the infected cows?—A. They were in

another section, in the stable.

Q. But in the same building?—A. Yes, in the horse stable, adjoining the

dairy stable. _

Q. And the infection, as we got the information, the horses had been on
that farm since at least the 26th of November?—A. I cannot say how long any
of the horses were there, the first time I saw them was on December 2.

Q. On December 2, and it was later found that the infection had been
brought to the Burns’ plant, was it not on the 26th—I believe that is the date,
that that was the date they went into the Burns’ plant? Now, having regard
to that, do you not think it a good idea to inspect horses that are on the premises

which could have been contacted by cattle which were infected?—A. I would
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fay this, that in getting horses to inject from the owners of the horses outside
of these premises, some of them objected very strenuously, they would not
allow the horses to be injected, in fact, did not want them to be injected. I
Wwould not actually object to such a request myself.

Q. They didn’t want to sell the horse to you?—A. No, I didn’t mention
buying them.

Q. Outside the premises?—A. Outside the premises. )

Q. Of course, that would be a very great help, would it not?—A.Well, the
horses were not available to us for injection. It would be asking a lot of an
Owner to go into his premises and take horses that have not been infected and
inject them.

Q. And you would not suggest that, would you?—A. I would not suggest
that at all.

Q. I am not suggesting that you wanted to get horses from other premises,
Iam suggesting that you get horses from the same premises, the premises that"
are infected, and keep them there.—A. I do not think that would be good
Practice at all. :

. Q. Pardon me?—A. I would not like to take uninfected horses on to
Infected premises and infect them there by inoculation. I would think I would
get a better reaction from bringing in horses from some farm that had not
been infected, had not been in touch with an infected herd.

_ Q. Did you do that with some of the horses you injected?—A. I certainly
did not, they belonged to the owner, right on the place.

Q. Yes, then you did not do what you thought it was best to do?—A. I was
not going to ask the owner to give me horses. I had no authority to do so.

Q. Now, Dr. James, I am trying to get information, naturally, but who
gave you the instructions as to where you were to inject the horses, what you
Were to do; and the instructions as to the injections?—A. Dr. Christie. I
broached the subject to Dr. Christie. He said to test the horses, or to let
?I‘.d Carlson do it, and we both agreed it would be a good idea, and I was detailed
0 do so.

Q. And you injected the horses?—A. Yes.

Q. So that you would have preferred to have been able to get young horses
from premises away from those on which the infection was suspected?—A. Yes.
Dr. Christie mentioned that at one time; but the unfortunate fact was that we
Just thought it was stomatitis and not so very important and that was not done.

Q. Could it be said then that you probably were biased in your views
When you thought it was stomatitis and it was not necessary to take the usual
Precautions probably that would have been taken had you not been quite so
Sure it was stomatitis?—A. Nobody was sure. ;

Q. That is the point, Dr. James, nobody was sure; I am suggesting that you
should have taken all the precautions you could possibly take in order to be
Sure. Now, it has been said here several times that a diagnosis could not be
Mmade without animal inoculation?—A. That is why I inoculated the horses.

Q. But you suggested yourself it would have been better to take horses
from outside rather than horses that were on the premises to inoculate, did
you not?—A. Yes. ;

Q. In the case of the horse on December 12, was that horse from the
Premises, that you inoculated on December 12?—A. Yes, that horse was on
the premises. That horse was brought in from pasture on Mr. Woods’ place
and I inoculated him. i ;

Q. Brought in from pasture?—A. Yes.

Q. Was he pasturing alone in the field?—A. No, with other horses.

Q. And with cattle at all?—A. No. :

Q. And he had not had access to any cattle at all?—A. Not that I know of.
He was in the pasture some distance away.
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Q. That horse did not show any reaction at all?—A. Just a slight reddened
patch where I scarified the tongue and inoculated him. I did not see any
vesicles.

Q. Did the horse inoculated on February 12 on the Hahn property show
any vesicles at all? That was the fourth horse, the third group that was

inoculated.—A. Yes, those horses were inoculated twice, on the 12th and

the 16th.

Q. The same horse was inoculated twice?—A. Yes, the same horse.

Q. You did not get any reaction from the inoculation on the 12th?—
A. Very little reaction.

Q. And you inoculated the same horse again on the 16th?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Jutras:

Q. Get any reaction then?—A. I got slight reaction, one like an intradermal
tuberculin reaction.

By Mr. Charlton:

Q. Do you think that would have given you any indication of a definite
reaction?—A. If I had got a reaction I would have suspected stomatitis.
Q. After inoculating him on the 16th?—A. Yes, I would.
Q. Now, on December 28 in reporting on Mr. Leonard Waas’ farm you
say: :
I also found that the two horses experimentally inoculated with
material from the sore mouths of the infected cattle are now showing
symptoms of stomatitis.

—A. That is right.
Q.
I am now satisfied that we are not dealing with a dangerous
infectious disease and I recommend that the quarantine of the owner’s
. livestock and premises be terminated.

—A. That is right.

Q. Now, Dr. James, in this other report of December 6 on the same herd,
part of your report reads thus:

The two horses which I attempted to moculate experimentally are
not exhibiting any symptoms or lesions of the disease so far and appear
quite healthy. I am now quite satisfied that we are not dealing with a
dangerous infectious disease.

How do you account for those two statements?—A. Well, the fact that the
cattle were recovering.

Q. They were injected on the 3rd, was it—the horses were injected on
the 3rd?—A. Yes.

Q. And on the 6th you write that they appear healthy and then three days
afterwards they appeared healthy and:

I am now quite satisfied—
You put “quite satisfied” there.
—that we are not dealing with a dangerous infectious d1sease

Then, on the 6th you say, “We are not dealing with a dangerous infectious
disease,” after the way the horses have reacted?—A. In reference to the first
statement there, the fact that the cattle were recovering and going back onto
milk production gave me the idea of writing that report.

Q. But you scarified those horses’ tongues yourself, did you?—A. Yes.

Q. With the diseased material from an mfected cow?—A. Yes.

Q. You did it to the best of your ablhty"——A Yes.

Q. And on the third day afterwards you found no reaction at all?—A. Yes.f
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_Q. How long ordinarily would you think it would take for that material
having been injected on the tongue of the horse to cause some symptoms?—A.
Well, you might get reaction any time, I might say, from eighteen hours
up to ten days.

Q. And if the material was a virulent type of material and taken from a
vesicle, you would naturally expect to get some reaction before five days?—A.
Yes, normally.

Q. Normally you would?—A. Yes.

Q. Then, having had no reaction I cannot still understand on the third

day when there is no reaction in the animal, in the horse, you are now quite
satisfied you are not dealing with a dangerous infection. Would that not be
evidence to prove that you were dealing with a dangerous disease?—A. My
reason for saying that was that the animals in the herd were all recover-
Ing without any further trouble. I was satisfied we did not have a dangerous
disease, not particularly because the horse did not show reaction but-simply
because the whole picture seemed to be of recovery and improvement. I
Was satisfied we were getting somewhere.
) Q. Now, again on January 2, remembering the fact that there were only
two horses, you injected the first two—you injected two with no reaction,
even the young horse of February 17 did not give a positive reaction, and
here on January 2 on the farm of R. Clifton you enter in your report:

Major disease infectious stomatitis.
And then you go on:

I visited the above premises and inspected two horses and two
cattle and found that up to the present time the horses have not become
infected although they are stabled in stalls adjoining stalls occupied by
the two cows which were exhibiting very severe symptoms of
stomatitis.

Now, how do you account for that statement, Dr. James?—A. Well, they did
not become infected.

Q. They just did not become infected?—A. No.

Q. They were standing right beside the two cows?—A. Those two cows
recovered and went back to normal.

Q. They recovered?—A. They both recovered.

Q. That is possible, is it not, with foot and mouth disease?—A. Well, I never
thought that animals would recover. I thought we would get a long period of
emaciation, ulcerated feet, sore mouths, that would pull animals down. These
animals did not lose weight, they went right on as if nothing had happened.

Q. What is the average of type A virus with' animals with foot and mouth
disease?—A. Five per cent. :

Q. You would not expect the cattle to be off too long, would you?—A. Well,
there are different virulences in type A. On type A one set of virus is not
as virulent as another of the same type.

Q. But did you not have in your mind a much more serious disease than
was probably evident in this stomatitis outbreak? You thought foot and mouth
was much too serious and you thought it was not so serious?—A. I was quite
satisfied with all these recoveries taking place that we did not have foot and
mouth disease. I was not much alarmed until I saw the hogs developing
vesicles in their feet and then I was alarmed, but not before that.

The CHAIRMAN: I think your time is about up, Mr. Charlton.

By Mr. Jutras:

Q. Dr. James, as a layman I thought it rather confusing that this disease
of foot and mouth is not supposed to be a disease that can be taken by horses.
Now, I find that, for instance, on December 1 you inoculated two horses as a
field test and the two horses developed the symptoms of the disease?—A. One
developed very marked symptoms, the other very, very slight.
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Q. I find that even on January 25, at the very end of January on the
Moore farm, the owner reported that two horses had become very listless and
off their feed for some days but were then apparently recovering. In your
opinion is that more or less the same thing that happened on the Waas farm?
—A. Of course, the Moore horses were not injected. Those horses just became
sick themselves and Dr. Carlson and I examined those horses and found they
were perfectly normal. The owner reported that two or three days before they
had gone through the same symptoms as the cattle—stood around listlessly and
would not eat. They then came back on their feed again.

Q. I am going to ask your opinion but you do not have to answer if you
do not wish. In your opinion is it possible that some of those cases were really
cases of vesicular st